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Insurgency and counterinsurgency in the developing world were crucial aspects of the global 

Cold War.  Economic, political, religious, and social factors created tensions at the 

international, national, and local levels that drove conflict.  Scholars can gain an increased 

understanding of these characteristics through the study of historical examples, such as the 

Cuban-inspired insurgency against the government of Peru.  The leaders of the Cuban 

government wanted to export their revolution throughout Latin America and turn the 

Peruvian Andes into the Sierra Maestra of South America.  As a result, members of the New 

Left in Peru began an insurgency in 1962.  By 1966, the Peruvian security forces had quickly 

and efficiently eliminated the insurgent threat.  Most literature on the Peruvian Cold War 

experience of the mid-1960s argues the New Left failed due to internal mistakes.  I combine 

recently uncovered documents and reinterpret the existing literature to show that it was the 

competence of the Peruvian security forces, not the incompetence of the insurgents, that 

resulted in a government victory. ‘Victory’, however, is an elusive term, there were numerous 

outcomes, some positive, some negative, which had a profound impact on Peruvian society 

and hemispheric security.  This dissertation examines these understudied events and seeks to 

explain their significance in the context of Latin America’s Cold War story. 
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Introduction 

Insurgency and counterinsurgency in the developing world were crucial aspects of the global 

Cold War.  Economic, political, religious, and social factors created tensions at the 

international, national, and local levels that drove conflict.  Scholars can gain an increased 

understanding of these characteristics through the study of historical examples, such as the 

Cuban-inspired insurgency against the government of Peru.  The leaders of the Cuban 

government wanted to export their revolution throughout Latin America and turn the 

Peruvian Andes into the Sierra Maestra of South America.  They found willing partners 

among the members of the New Left in Peru who began an insurgency in 1962.  There were 

three components to the insurgency:  Hugo Blanco’s Frente de Izquierda Revolucionario 

(Revolutionary Left Front, FIR), Hector Bejar’s Ejercito de Liberacion Nacional (National 

Liberation Army, ELN), and Luis de la Puente’s Moviemento de Izquirda Revolucionario 

(Movement of the Revolutionary Left, MIR).  By 1966, the Peruvian security forces had 

quickly and efficiently eliminated the insurgent threat.  Most literature on the Peruvian Cold 

War experience of the mid-1960s argues that the New Left failed due to internal mistakes.  I 

combine recently uncovered documents and reinterpret the existing literature to show that it 

was the competence of the Peruvian security forces, not the incompetence of the insurgents, 

that resulted in a government victory.  ‘Victory’, however, is an elusive term, there were 

numerous outcomes, some positive, some negative, which had a profound impact on Peruvian 

society and hemispheric security.  This dissertation examines these understudied events and 

seeks to explain their significance in the context of Latin America’s Cold War story. 

I approached the research process in the spirit of the recent multi-archival scholarship of 

Tanya Harmer, Thomas Field, and Aldo Marchesi, which takes an international view of Cold 

War events in Latin America.1  While one cannot write a truly global perspective of the 

events until Chinese, Cuban, and additional Soviet archives are made available to researchers, 

I was able to consult the UK national archives at Kew, the Mitrokhin archive held at 

Churchill College in Cambridge, and the Czech national security archive in Prague, in 

addition to Peruvian and US archives.  During a 2018 research trip to Lima, the Peruvian 

government released 119 national intelligence documents to me.  These previously 

unexamined documents provide convincing evidence that changes the historiography 

 
1 Tanya Harmer, Allende’s Chile and the Inter-American Cold War (Chapel Hill, NC: The University of North 

Carolina Press, 2011); Thomas C. Field Jr., From Development to Dictatorship: Bolivia and the Alliance for 

Progress in the Kennedy Era (Ithaca, NY: Cornell University Press, 2014); Aldo Marchesi, Latin America’s 

Radical Left: Rebellion and Cold War in the Global 1960s (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2018). 
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concerning the Peruvian security service’s understanding of the insurgent groups.  This 

research is significant on many levels and is an important case study for those interested in 

development and counterinsurgency, as well as for the wider audience concerned with the 

Cold War in Latin America.  In 1975, former Central Intelligence Agency (CIA) officer 

Philip Agee wrote, ‘Suppression of the MIR will be regarded as a classic case of counter-

insurgency effectiveness when good intelligence is collected during the crucial period of 

organization and training prior to the commencement of guerrilla operations’.2   This was a 

noteworthy prediction by Agee, but this event has not become a classic case study for 

effective counterinsurgency.  One aim of my research is to bring this episode out of the 

archives and place it among the historiography of the Cold War. 

My work sits at the crossroads of global history, area studies, and international history.  

Global Historians and Latin Americanists have been at odds for some time, but not to the 

same extent as the contentions between the Globalists and Africanists.3  Gustavo Paz places 

the blame on both sides and argues, “Most global historians seem to be at a loss when dealing 

with Latin America as a region participating in global historical processes”.  He continues, 

“At the same time, Latin-American historians have been slow in linking their research 

agendas to the emerging study of Global History”.4  These issues are apparent in Odd Arne 

Westad’s The Global Cold War, where he only allocates one half of a chapter to Latin 

America.5  In its simplest form, global history identifies worldwide connections.  I certainly 

do this with China, Cuba, the Soviet Union, and the US, but do not consider this to raise my 

dissertation to the level of global history.  Nor does it fit in the country-specific or regional-

based area studies historiography.  While I conducted extensive research in Peru and use 

many primary sources uncovered during that research, I draw a substantial number of sources 

from US archives.  Having ruled out global history and area studies, we are left with 

international history, of which this dissertation is firmly placed.6  International history deals 

with the political and military interactions between nations.  Although Peru is the central 

 
2 Phillip Agee, Inside the Company: CIA Diary (New York, NY: Stonehill Publishing Company, 1975), p. 440. 
3 Toyin Falola, ‘Writing and teaching national history in Africa in an era of global history’, 

Africa Spectrum, Vol. 40, No. 3, 2005, pp. 499-519; Matthew Brown, ‘The global history of Latin America’, 

Journal of Global History, Vol. 10, No. 3, 2015, pp. 365-386; Also see, Sebastian Conrad, What is Global 

History? (Princeton: Princeton University Press, 2016); Pamela Crossley, What is Global History? (Cambridge, 

UK: Polity Press, 2008); Thomas W. Zeiler, ‘The Diplomatic History Bandwagon: A State of the Field’, Journal 

of American History, Vol. 95, No. 4, 2009, pp. 1053-1073; Odd Arne Westad, ‘The new international history of 

the Cold War: three (possible) paradigms’, Diplomatic History, Vol. 24, No. 4, 2000, pp. 551-565. 
4 Gustavo L. Paz, ‘Global History and Latin American History: A Comment’, Almanack, Vol. 14, 2016, p. 119. 
5 Odd Arne Westad, The Cold War: A World History (New York: Basic Books, 2017). 
6 Marc Trachtenberg, The Craft of International History (Princeton: Princeton University Press, 2006). 
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focus of this study, engagements within the Cold War context move it from the national to 

the international.  My writing clearly incorporates elements of global history and area studies, 

but it is most closely aligned with the international history approach.  

The body of literature concerning the Cold War is as engaging and thoughtful as it is vast and 

deep.  Early scholarship focused on the causes of the Cold War and assigned blame to either 

the US or the Soviet Union.  The end of the Cold War saw historians racing to interpret the 

relatively few, when compared to today, available documents to draw conclusions as to why 

the Soviet Union collapsed.7  Now that we have some distance from the events and a large, 

albeit it not comprehensive, set of primary source documents, scholars are reinterpreting the 

original arguments in books that provide valuable insight into the conflict.8  These books 

mostly focus on high-politics and interactions between the Superpowers, and international 

security issues that tend to be fixated on Europe.  Another group of historians provide the 

valuable perspective of presidential leadership and decision making.9  A separate tranche of 

Cold War studies that began in the 1970s and which Westad consolidated in 2005 focuses on 

the importance of the developing world in the ideological struggle between communism and 

capitalism.  He wrote, ‘the most important aspects of the Cold War were neither military nor 

strategic, nor Europe-centered but connected to the political and social development in the 

Third World’.10  While he inspired a crucial segment of the historiography, Westad’s 

argument is less impressive when contrasted with the interactions between the Soviet Union 

and the US that prevented the nuclear destruction of the human race.  Nevertheless, the focus 

on the developing world was an important step in gaining a holistic understanding of the 

conflict.  An important battleground was the social and economic advancement of developing 

nations.  Modernization theory underpinned the US activities on this front and is well 

 
7 John Lewis Gaddis, We Now Know: Rethinking Cold War History (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1997). 
8 Westad, The Cold War; Campbell Craig and Fredrik Logevall, America’s Cold War: The Politics of Insecurity 

(Cambridge, MA: Belknap Press, 2012); Melvyn Leffler, For the Soul of Mankind: The United States, the Soviet 

Union, and the Cold War, 1st edn (New York: Hill and Wang, 2008); Melvyn Leffler and Odd Arne Westad 

(eds.), The Cold War, Three vols. (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2010). 
9 William Hitchcock, The Age of Eisenhower: America and the World in the 1950s (New York: Simon and 

Schuster, 2019); Melvyn Leffler, A Preponderance of Power: National Security, the Truman Administration, 

and the Cold War (Stanford, CA: Stanford University Press, 1993); Lawrence Freedman, Kennedy’s Wars: 

Berlin, Cuba, Laos, and Vietnam (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2000); Andrew Hoberek (ed.), The 

Cambridge Companion to John F. Kennedy (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2015); Aleksandr 

Fursenko and Timothy Naftali, One Hell of a Gamble: Khrushchev, Castro, Kennedy, and the Cuban Missile 

Crises 1958-1964 (New York: W. W. Norton and Company, Inc., 1997).    
10 Odd Arne Westad, The Global Cold War: Third World Interventions and the Making of Our Time 

(Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2007), 396; Also see, Melvyn Leffler and David Painter (eds), 

Origins of the Cold War: An International History, 2nd Edn (New York: Routledge, 2005); Paul Thomas 

Chamberlin, The Cold War’s Killing Fields: Rethinking the Long Peace (New York: Harper Collins, 2018). 



10 
 

described in the works of David Engerman, Nils Gilman, and Michael Latham.11   During the 

1960s, this theory was central to the US efforts to prevent the spread of communism in the 

developing world. 

The next sub-set of scholarship deals with the Western Hemisphere, and the main debate is 

the apportionment of blame for Latin America’s most bloody period, which we can generally 

categorize through the lens of two influential works.  The first is Hal Brands’ Latin America’s 

Cold War, and the second is Stephen Rabe’s The Killing Zone.  Brands argues that Latin 

Americans maintained agency and were involved in the crucial decisions that shaped the 

period.12  While Rabe’s position, set out in the subtitle The United States Wages Cold War in 

Latin America, holds that the hegemonic US was mostly responsible for everything that 

happened or did not happen during the conflict.13  Both ends of the spectrum have valid 

points, which, as we shall see, play out in 1960s Peru.  A second important question: Did the 

happenings in Latin America matter to the overall Cold War?  Rabe again clearly plants his 

flag and writes that events in Latin America ‘did not weaken the Soviet Union and lead to the 

liberation of Eastern Europeans’.14  In the case of Peru, this oversimplification discounts that 

the Peruvian counterinsurgency of the mid-1960s prevented another Cuba in the hemisphere, 

which allowed the US to focus its resources towards other pressing matters in its conflict with 

the Soviet Union.  Unfortunately, although understandably, the broad studies of the region 

rarely mention Peru, and when they do, they usually focus on the 1968 coup d’état or the 

Shining Path’s terrorist campaign during the 1980s and early 1990s.  Embry Riddle 

University professor Thomas Field’s book From Development to Dictatorship: Bolivia and 

the Alliance for Progress in the Kennedy Era was especially helpful as a guide on how to 

conduct international history properly.  Set in neighbouring Bolivia during roughly the same 

time, Field looks at the impact of development on national and local events.  There are some 

parallels with Peru as well as interactions among important individuals in the narrative.   

 
11 Nils Gilman, Mandarins of the Future: Modernization Theory in Cold War America (Baltimore, MD: The 

Johns Hopkins University Press, 2003); David Engerman, Know Your Enemy: The Rise and Fall of America’s 

Soviet Experts (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2009); Michael Latham, Modernization as Ideology: 

American Social Science and “Nation Building” in the Kennedy Era (Chapel Hill, NC: The University of North 

Carolina Press, 2000); Michael Latham, The Right Kind of Revolution: Modernization, Development, and U.S. 

Foreign Policy from the Cold War to the Present (Ithaca, NY: Cornell University Press, 2011). 
12 Hal Brands, Latin America’s Cold War (Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press, 2010). 
13 Stephen Rabe, The Killing Zone: The United States Wages Cold War in Latin America (Oxford: Oxford 

University Press, 2012); Also see, Stephen Rabe, Eisenhower and Latin America: The Foreign Policy of 

Anticommunism (Chapel Hill, NC: The University of North Carolina Press, 1988); Stephen Rabe, The Most 

Dangerous Area in the World: John F. Kennedy Confronts Communist Revolution in Latin America (Chapel 

Hill, NC: The University of North Carolina Press, 1999). 
14 Rabe, The Killing Zone, p. 193. 
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Specific to Peru, and like the general overviews of Latin America mentioned above, the 

scholarship focuses on major events, of which the New Left’s insurgency, and the early to 

mid-1960s, are not among them.  However, the following exceptions are noteworthy.  On the 

foreign policy and diplomatic front, Daniel Sharp’s edited volume set a baseline in 1972.15  

Lawrence Clayton takes a sweeping approach that covers relations between the US and Peru 

from the late 1800s until the late 1900s.  Finally, Richard Walter’s Peru and the United 

States, 1960-1975, offers a short chapter on the counterinsurgency that includes interviews 

with US Ambassador John Wesley Jones, who ran the Embassy in Lima from 1963-1969.  

Much work has been done concerning cultural and social issues in the Peruvian Andes that 

culminates in 2018 with Hugo Blanco’s We the Indians.16  These issues caused significant 

tension, as David Reynolds rightfully points out, ‘Perhaps the poorest and most fractured 

polity in South America was Peru, where divisions of class, ethnicity, and region were 

mutually reinforcing.  Here the whites–some 12 percent of the population, centred in Lima 

and descended from the Spanish conquerors–dominated an indigenous, largely Indian people 

living mainly in the Andean mountains’.17  A limited field of inquiry pertains to religion and 

spirituality, yet considering its importance in the social, political, and military aspects of life 

and decision making in Peru, it remains understudied.18  Although few, these works gave me 

a perspective and understanding that would not have been possible without them.  In sum, the 

secondary literature discussed above, which covers the breadth and depth of Superpower 

nuclear deterrence to rural life in the Andes, provides a backdrop for the events herein and 

allows for a nuanced analysis of the insurgency and counterinsurgency in Peru during the 

mid-1960s. 

 
15 Daniel Sharp (ed.), U.S. Foreign Policy and Peru (Austin, TX: The University of Press, 1972); Lawrence 

Clayton, Peru and the United States: The Condor and the Eagle (Athens, GA: The University of Georgia Press, 

1999); Richard Walter, Peru and The United States, 1960-1975: How Their Ambassadors Managed Foreign 

Relations in a Turbulent Era (University Park, PA: The Pennsylvania State University Press, 2010). 
16 Carlos Astiz, Pressure Groups and Power Elites in Peruvian Politics (Ithaca, NY: Cornell University Press, 

1969); William Whyte and Giorgio Alberti, Power, Politics and Progress: Social Change in Rural Peru (New 

York: Elsevier Scientific Publishing Company, Inc., 1976); Steve Stern (ed.), Resistance, Rebellion, and 

Consciousness in the Andean Peasant World: 18th to 20th Centuries (Madison, WI: The University of Wisconsin 

Press, 1987); Daniel Masterson, Militarism and Politics in Latin America: Peru from Sanchez Cerro to Sendero 

Luminoso (Westport, CT: Greenwood Press, 1991); Hugo Blanco, We the Indians: The indigenous peoples of 

Peru and the struggle for land (London: The Merlin Press Ltd., 2018). 
17 David Reynolds, One World Divisible: A Global History Since 1945 (New York: W. W. Norton & Company, 

2000), p. 467. 
18 Jeffery Klaiber, Religion and Revolution in Peru, 1824-1976 (South Bend, IN: University of Notre Dame 

Press, 1977); Gustavo Gutierrez, A Theology of Liberation (New York: Orbis Books, 1988); Milagros Pena, 

Theologies of Liberation in Peru: The Role of Ideas in Social Movements (Philadelphia, PA: Temple University 

Press, 1995); Susan Fitzpatrick-Behrens, Maryknoll Catholic Mission in Peru, 1943-1989: Transnational Faith 

and Transformations (South Bend, IN: University of Notre Dame Press, 2011). 
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A useful essay is Leon Campbell’s The Historiography of the Peruvian Guerrilla Movement, 

1960-1965 (1973).  He provides a well-researched and lucid review of the available literature 

at the time of its publication that is a useful starting point for an examination of Peru in the 

1960s.  Campbell offers four reasons why the guerrilla uprising failed.  These themes not 

only resonate throughout the publications of the 1960s and early 1970s, but they also carry 

over to the most recent studies of the events scholars have published as late as 2013.  First 

and foremost were the ideological differences on the Peruvian left.  Recent evidence has 

shown that Mao himself attempted to intervene in 1964 to encourage the disparate groups of 

the left to work together.19  Second, is the argument that the MIR and ELN did not secure the 

support of the population.  This argument is on shaky ground, and there is much evidence to 

the contrary.  Third, ‘the Peruvian guerrillas displayed confusion about the exact nature of the 

society which they were attacking, as well as a misunderstanding of the Cuban and Chinese 

models for guerrilla warfare which they professed to follow’.20  Like the second point, there 

is contradictory evidence to this argument.  Finally, political events at the national and local 

levels in the Andes coincided with the rise of the guerrillas and tamped down some of the 

angst among the population.  These four reasons, which have become the orthodox position 

of most observers of the period, are valid, but not adequate to fully explain the occurrences. 

A final explanation that emerges, but that the scholarship has not fully explored is the idea 

that the Peruvian security forces were responsible for the defeat of the FIR, MIR, and ELN.  

Campbell only mentions this in passing after he described the social-economic conditions of 

1963-1965 and wrote, ‘The Peruvian military effectively capitalized on these conditions to 

quickly defeat the guerrilla bands that year’.21  Only a few authors make vague references 

such as this, while the majority disregard the effectiveness of the military.  Retired Peruvian 

Army General Armando Artola Azcarate’s book is generally positive towards the army, 

although he does criticize high-level political decision making.  In his assessment of the 

failure of the guerrilla movement, Artola takes a common approach.  He attributes it to 

improper evaluation of the objective and subjective factors of Marxism combined with 

tactical failures of guerrilla warfare employed against the government forces.  Like the other 

authors, he does not give the Peruvian security forces credit for successful counterinsurgency 

 
19 CIA report, ‘Plans of the MIR for Revolutionary Action’, 12 February 1964, Lyndon B. Johnson Presidential 

Library (LBJL), National Security Files (NSF), Country Files, Peru, Box 72, folder 7. 
20 Leon Campbell, ‘The Historiography of the Peruvian Guerrilla Movement, 1960-1965’, Latin American 

Research Review 8.1 (1973): p. 46. 
21 Campbell, ‘The Historiography of the Peruvian Guerrilla Movement’, p. 46. 
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operations.22  In his 2017 book, Jonathon Brown goes the furthest of any observer of this 

period.  After explaining the MIR guerrillas ambush of a Civil Guard detachment, he wrote 

that Peruvian President Belaunde ‘declared a state of siege and turned the guerrilla zones over 

to the military.  The rebels may have been ready for the rural police, but they were no match 

for the army’.23  The Civil Guard was a division of the Peruvian National Police that policed 

rural areas.  Brown goes on to explain the positive attributes of the Peruvian officer corps and 

its counterinsurgency capability.  While Brown took the essential first step in identifying this 

vital theme in the historiography, his research was too broad to provide extensive evidence to 

support the point.  This is because his book took a regional perspective on the impact of the 

Cuban Revolution, and he was only able to dedicate limited research time and one chapter to 

the events in Peru.   

Anthropologists Michael Brown and Eduardo Fernandez published the only book in English 

on the subject, although they limit its focus to just one of the MIR fronts.  They engaged in 

more than a decade of research with the indigenous peoples of the central Peruvian Amazon.  

As a result, they offer an in-depth look into the culture, social structure, spirituality, and 

linguistics of the area.24  The book is a valuable contribution to the body of knowledge of this 

episode and provides a nuanced insight into MIR’s insurgency in the eastern slope of the 

Andes and Amazon basin. 

Jan Lust provides the most comprehensive account of the guerrilla struggle in Peru during the 

1960s.  Lust is originally from the Netherlands, where he completed a PhD in economics at 

the University of Amsterdam.  He moved to Peru in 1999 and taught at various universities 

and institutions.  He based his book on thirteen years of research that included multiple 

archives in Peru along with over ninety-five interviews of Peruvians who participated directly 

in the events.  These interviews provide a rich context to the narrative and the established 

understanding of the period.  He argues that the conditions that caused the revolution during 

the 1960s are still present today and that political leaders in Peru and the US should take 

notice.  The purpose of his book is twofold.  The first is to ‘present a historical reconstruction 

of the revolutionary fight that happened in Peru between 1958 and 1967’.25  In this aspect, 

 
22 Armando Artola Azcarate, Subversión! (Lima: Editorial jurídica, 1976). 
23 Jonathon Brown, Cuba’s Revolutionary World (Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press, 2017), p. 326. 
24 Michael F. Brown and Eduardo Fernandez, War of Shadows: The Struggle for Utopia in the Peruvian Andes 

(Los Angles: University of California Press, 1991). 
25 Jan Lust, Lucha Revolucionaria Perú, 1958-1967 (Barcelona: RBA Libros, S.A., 2013), 13. Spanish version: 

‘presentar una reconstrucción histórica de la revolucionaria que se llevó a cabo en Perú entre 1958 and 1967’. 
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Lust did a commendable job.  The second is to analyze the causes of the defeat of the ELN 

and MIR, here Lust follows the orthodox thinking and attributes the loss to the guerrilla’s 

failures.  If Lust’s analysis has a flaw, it is that he disregarded government documents, news 

articles, and other ephemera in favor of interviews, which precludes an objective look at all 

available sources. 

I uncovered most of the primary documents used in various archives in Peru.  The Centro de 

Estudios Histórico Militares del Perú (Centre of Peruvian Historical Military Studies, 

CEHMP) is a government-funded research center in Lima, which focuses on researching and 

publishing the military history of Peru.  Significantly, CEHMP holds the Hector Bejar file 

that includes 1,016 documents related to the ELN and the capture and trial of Bejar in 1966.  

These documents are critical to the reconstruction of the events surrounding the development 

of the ELN and its conflict with the security forces.  In 2018, the Peruvian government, 

through the Jurado Nacional de Elecciones (National Jury of Elections, JNE), declassified 

and released a series of 119 national-level intelligence documents to me.  The JNE 

documents completely change how scholars view the Peruvian government’s understanding 

of the insurgent organizations before the breakout of violence in 1965, especially concerning 

the so-called ‘northern front’, of which very little has been written.  The CEHMP, along with 

the Centro de Información de la Defensoría del Pueblo (Centre of Information of the Public 

Defence, CIDP), the Centro de Altos Estudios Nacionales (National Centre for High Studies, 

CAEN), and the Comisión Permanente de Historia del Ejercito del Perú (Permanent 

Commission of Peruvian Army History, CPHEP) hold a massive collection of military 

doctrine manuals, military unit histories, military journals and magazines that provided 

valuable details to how the events unfolded.  Finally, the Biblioteca Nacional del Perú 

(Peruvian National Library, BNP) collection of newspapers was an invaluable resource for 

understanding the broader context of the period.  Of note, through a careful examination of 

these newspapers, I uncovered a MIR urban terrorism cell that conducted a series of 

bombings in Lima in late 1965 and early 1966 as a last-ditch effort to keep the revolution 

alive.  Many scholars have curiously omitted these events.  These archival documents, along 

with the memoirs mentioned below, provide the foundation of this research project. 

Multiple archives in the US provide insight into the Cold War as it played out in Peru.  The 

Truman, Eisenhower, Kennedy, and Johnson presidential libraries form the foundation of 

research into this era and are crucial to understanding the strategies and policies of the 

respective administrations towards Latin America in general, and Peru in particular.  
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Significant to this project was the CIA’s 2015 release of the Presidential Daily Intelligence 

Checklists from the Kennedy and Johnson administrations.  These documents show the 

importance the CIA placed on the events in Peru, and I traced multiple reports that 

intelligence officers generated in Lima and that the CIA analysts in Washington included in 

briefings to Johnson.  The National Archives in College Park, Maryland (NARA) has 

multiple collections that pertain to this dissertation.  Record Group 306 has the 

‘Counterinsurgency in Peru, 1960-1966’ file that has numerous inter-agency documents that 

show how the US Embassy in Lima implemented government policies in the country.  

Record Group 263 has the CIA’s ‘Press information relating to Insurgency and 

Counterinsurgency’ collection that is a daily review and translation of Latin American 

newspaper articles concerning conflicts across the region.  Through a Freedom of 

Information Act request, I obtained multiple intelligence products from the Defense 

Intelligence Agency that describe the order of battle for Cuban and Peruvian intelligence and 

military units during the 1960s.  Finally, the US Army Special Operations Command released 

many heretofore unexamined documents concerning the activities of US Army Special 

Forces in Latin America.  Previous scholars and journalists have asserted that Special Forces 

participated in the counterinsurgency in Peru, but do not offer convincing evidence.  The 

Command’s documents, combined with US Army motion pictures uncovered in NARA 

record Group 111 as well as Peruvian military journal and newspaper articles, provide 

indisputable proof that they supported the Peruvian Army counterinsurgency efforts during 

the 1960s.   

Outside of Peru and the US, I consulted three archives.  The first was the UK National 

archive in Kew.  FO 371 has a few notable documents that look at the collaboration between 

the Ecuadorian and Peruvian security forces to prevent the MIR element in northern Peru 

from using the border area as a haven and from operating in the sea between the two 

countries.  The Mitrokhin archive held at Churchill College has the K22 file that is concerned 

with KGB operations in Latin America.  Working with a translator to examine the 

documents, I did not uncover any significant KGB activity in Peru during the 1960s.  

However, the documents provide context to the broader understanding of Latin America’s 

Cold War.  Finally, there is the Czech National Security archive in Prague.  During the Cold 

War, the Czech Intelligence service (StB) worked closely with the Cubans to support 

revolutionary activity in South America.  Colleagues with Brunel University in London and 

Charles University in Prague assisted me in navigating the archive and translating the 
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documents.  The combined Czech and Cuban ‘Operation Manuel’ was a significant 

facilitation network that supported the movement of guerrilla fighters across international 

borders in the 1960s.  While there is no single crucial document in these collections, they 

offer an international perspective, albeit limited to the events described herein. 

There are also many essential memoirs that former insurgents published concerning their 

participation in these events.  Hugo Blanco and Hector Bejar are two guerrilla leaders that 

survived their respective conflicts and later wrote about their experiences.26  These two books 

outline the development of their respective organizations and how they implemented very 

different insurgent theories in attempts to change the political landscape of the country.  In 

the early 2000s, many former insurgents published valuable memoirs about their 

experiences.27  Additionally, Cecilia Heraud wrote a biography of her brother Javier whom 

the security forces killed in 1963, that includes many of his poems, letters, and other 

writings.28  Other works of autobiography, biography, and testimonial biography, of political 

leaders who did not take up arms, provide useful context to the events.29  Unfortunately, no 

Peruvian security forces personnel wrote memoirs of the events.  Two former US government 

personnel have published memoirs that are germane to this study.  The first is Philip Agee’s 

recollection of his time as a CIA case officer in South America.  In his book, he provides a 

valuable yet controversial, contribution to the scholarship and outlines a CIA penetration of 

the MIR organization.30  Second is David Laughlin’s book about his time as a US Agency for 

International Development, Office of Public Safety, trainer, and advisor to the Peruvian Civil 

Guard counterinsurgency force.  He contributes a unique perspective from the tactical level 

about the battle against communism in rural Latin America.31  While accounting for the 

 
26 Héctor Béjar, Perú 1965: Apuntes Sobre una Experiencia Guerrillera (Habana, Cuba: Casa de las Americas, 

1969); Hugo Blanco, Land or Death: The Peasant Struggle in Peru (New York: Pathfinder Press, 1972); See 

also, Mario Malpica, Biografía de la revolución. Historia y antología del pensamiento socialista (Lima: 

Ensayos Sociales, 1967). 
27 Juan Cristóbal, Mar de mis entrañas (Lima: Arteidea, 2005); Walther Palacios, Memoria y Verdad. 12 de 

octubre: 50 aniversario del surgimiento del MIR en el Peru. 1959-2009, October 2009, Lust private collection; 

Ricardo Napuri, Pensar América Latina: Crónicas autobiográficas de un militante revolucionario (Buenos 

Aires, Argentina: Herramienta Ediciones, 2009). 
28 Cecilia Heraud, Vida y Muerte de Javier Heraud: recuerdos, testimonios y documentos (Lima: Mosca Azul, 

1989). 
29 Manuel Llamojha Mitma and Jaymie Patricia Heilman, Now Peru is Mine: The Life and Times of a 

Campesino Activist (Durham, NC: Duke University Press, 2016); Kathleen Weaver, Peruvian Rebel: The World 

of Magda Portal, with a Selection of Her Poems (University Park, PA: The Pennsylvania State University Press, 

2009); Hilda Gadea, My Life with Che: The Making of a Revolutionary (London: St. Martin's Griffin, 2009). 
30 Agee, Inside the Company. 
31 David Laughlin, Gringo Cop (New York: Carlton Press, Inc., 1975) 
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shortcomings of memoirs, I relied on these manuscripts to understand and explain the 

conflict. 

There is a vast social science literature that looks at revolutionary warfare, insurgency, and 

counterinsurgency.  Three books directly pertain to my primary argument.  First is Theda 

Skocpol’s States and social revolutions.  She argues that a revolutionary situation requires a 

“crisis of the state” to conduct regime change.32  While there was diplomatic tension between 

Peru and the US, and the Belaunde Administration was under domestic political pressure, it 

was by no means in crisis.  Secondly is Timothy Wickham-Crowley’s seminal quantitative 

work on guerrilla warfare in Latin America, which supports my primary argument.33  He 

asserts three variables must be present for a successful counterinsurgency, including internal 

financing of the military, the military’s solidarity with the government, and external military 

support.34  The Peruvian security services had sufficient internal funding and, in 1965, were 

loyal to the Belaunde Administration.  The US government provided limited, yet crucial, 

support to the Peruvian government in the preceding years to develop a formidable 

counterinsurgency capability.  In 2020, the International Research Network on the 

Revolutionary Left published an overarching theory on guerrilla movements in Latin 

America.35  Their approach remains ensconced in the orthodox factors for guerrilla failure, as 

described above.  Although they relied heavily on Wickham-Crowley’s work concerning 

peasant mobilization, they did not incorporate his variables concerning the military aspect of 

counterinsurgency.  As we shall see, Skocpol and Wickham-Crowley provide a broader view 

or revolution that underpins my thesis.  

The following three tables provide context that will allow the reader to understand nuanced 

concepts that permeate the following chapters. 

 
32 Theda Skocpol, States and Social Revolutions: A Comparative Analysis of France, Russia, and China 

(Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1979). 
33 Timothy Wickham-Crowley, Guerrillas and Revolution in Latin America: A Comparative Study of Insurgents 

and Regimes Since 1956 (Princeton: Princeton University Press, 1992). 
34 Ibid., p. 60 
35 Dirk Kruijt, Eduardo Rey Tristan, Alberto Martin Alvarez (eds.) Latin American Guerrilla Movements: 

Origins, Evolution, Outcomes (New York: Routledge, 2020). 
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Table 1 is a two-dimensional graphic representation of the political spectrum in Peru during 

the Belaunde administration that provides the reader with a visual reference of the major anti-

government groups.  The Partido Comunista del Perú (Peruvian Communist Party, PCP) was 

the traditional communist party and took direction from Moscow, although the Chinese 

attempted to assert control, its leaders worked closely with other national communist parties 

in the region and opposed armed insurrection.  In September 1962, Bejar’s ELN broke away 

from the PCP.  The Trotskyist Partido Obrero Revolucionario (Worker’s Revolutionary 

Party, POR) was the Peruvian division of the Fourth International.  Hugo Blanco’s POR-

offshoot Frente de Izquierda Revolucionario (Revolutionary Left Front, FIR) consolidated 

revolutionaries in Cusco and took up arms against the Peruvian government in 1962.  The 

Alianza Popular Revolucionaria Americana (Popular Alliance of American Revolution, 

APRA) was a leftist anti-imperialist and anti-feudalist organization.  Its leaders did not want 

to exchange US hegemony in the region for that of China, Cuba, or the Soviet Union.  They 

demanded independence for Peru and broader Latin America.  De la Puente and his followers 

left APRA in March 1962 and formed the MIR.  The ELN, FIR, and MIR constituted the 

New Left that sought to force political change through violence.  
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The reader will benefit from a brief overview of the revolutionary methods employed in Peru 

during the 1960s.  Table 2 shows the key differentiation between the methods and the 

respective groups that employed them.  The Soviet approach aimed to mobilize the urban 

proletariat to convert capitalist states to socialism and ultimately communism.  While the 

Soviet military doctrine called the Russian Partisan Directive of 1933 recognized the value of 

guerrilla warfare, it used guerrillas as tightly controlled partisans to conduct defensive 

operations in enemy-occupied territories, not as revolutionaries.36  The Soviets directed the 

communist parties in Latin America to work through the political systems, and although 

urban masses in the barricades clashed with security forces, the violence was not on the level 

 
36 J. Boyer Bell, The Myth of the Guerrilla: Revolutionary Theory and Malpractice (New York: Alfred A. 

Knopf, 1971), p. 15. Also, see Lawrence Freedman, Strategy: A History (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 

2015). 
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of the other two methods.37  Maoist protracted people’s warfare sought to mobilize the rural 

masses (stage I), initially to conduct guerrilla warfare (stage II), and then swell into a 

conventional army capable of attacking the urban centers and removing those in power (stage 

III).  Before beginning military operations, however, Mao’s concept called for an exorbitant 

amount of time, sometimes years, to politically indoctrinate the peasants and build a support 

structure for the combatants.38  Latin American revolutionaries did not have the patience for a 

long build-up period, so they developed the foco method.  The foco was the revolutionary 

core of dedicated fighters that went to the mountains and created the conditions for 

revolution.  While they did conduct limited political classes in the camps, proponents argued 

that the duty of the revolutionary was to make revolution, not discuss theory.  Action would 

beget recruitment, and the focos would grow into columns that could take on the conventional 

militaries of the respective state.  The Party would develop from the core of military leaders 

responsible for victory who would go on to lead the new government.39  Each of the methods 

offered advantages as well as disadvantages to the Latin American revolutionary, and I will 

explore these in-depth in the following chapters. 

 

 

 
37 Department of State, Director of Intelligence and Research, Intelligence note, Thomas L. Hughes to the 

Secretary, ‘Brezhnev Cautions on Foreign Issues’, 06 November 1964, p. 2, LBJL, NSF, Country Files, Latin 

America-Cuba, box, 24, folder 1. 
38 Mao Zedong, Mao on Warfare: On Guerrilla Warfare, On Protracted Warfare, and other Martial Writings 

(New York: CN Times Books, 2013), p. 185. 
39 Che Guevara, Guerrilla Warfare, Third Edition with Revised and Updated Introduction and Case Studies by 

Brian Loveman and Thomas M. Davies, Jr. (Wilmington, DE: Scholarly Resources Inc., 1997), p. 50; Regis 

Debray, Revolution in the Revolution: Armed Struggle and Political Struggle in Latin America (New York: 

Grove Press, Inc., 1967), p. 47. 
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Table 3 provides the three major aspects of counterinsurgency strategy and tactics the 

security forces employed in the 1960s.  The Peruvian Army’s 1961 Doctrine Manual of 

Revolutionary War and Counterrevolutionary War outlined the strategy and tactics the 

military should employ in the conflict with communist insurgents.40  The doctrine writers 

based the manual on US military doctrine and training from the period.  Counterinsurgency is 

the overall concept or strategy.  Civic action is ‘…any action performed by the military force 

utilizing military manpower and material resources in cooperation with civil authorities, 

agencies, or groups, which is designed to secure the economic or social betterment of the 

civilian community’.41  Counterguerrilla operations are employed ‘…to subvert, kill, or 

capture the enemy guerrilla force and prevent a resurgence of the resistance movement’.42  

Psychological operations are designed to ‘Divide, disorganize, and induce defection of 

irregular force [guerrilla] members; Reduce or eliminate civilian support of guerrilla 

elements’.43  I will use these definitions unless the text of a direct quote has a similar term. 

A final note on terminology.  For clarity, I will use the word ‘Campesino’ to describe 

individuals in the lower social-economic strata in Peru.  As anthropologist Jaymie Heilman 

showed: 

‘In Latin America, Campesino does not necessarily mean indigenous, as the racial and ethnic 

identities of men and women who call themselves peasants vary enormously across the continent. In 

Peru, there were and are impoverished agricultural laborers of African, Chinese, and mestizo (mixed 

European and indigenous) descent, as well as of indigenous origin, just as there have been many 

indigenous men and women whose economic lives were not defined by subsistence agriculture’.44 

 

The one exception to this rule is the indigenous Amazonian Campas Indians, which the 

reader will encounter in chapter five. 

In addition to the introduction and conclusion, I divide the body of this dissertation into five 

chapters, and briefly described them here: 

Chapter one examines economic, political, religious, and social factors on the local, national, 

and international levels.  After a brief introduction to the country, I describe the founding and 

 
40 Ministerio de Guerra del Perú, Manual de Doctrina de Guerra Revolucionaria y de Guerra 

Contrarrevolucionaria (Lima: Departamento de Operaciones y Instrucciones, 1961). 
41 Department of the Army, FM 31-15 Operations Against Irregular Forces (Washington, DC: Department of 

the Army, 1961), p. 18. 
42 Department of the Army, FM 31-16 Counterguerrilla Operations (Washington, DC: Department of the Army, 

1963), p. 20. 
43 Department of the Army, FM 31-15 Operations Against Irregular Forces, p. 17. 
44 Llamojha and Heilman, Now Peru is Mine, p. 11. 
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maturation of both APRA and the PCP.  The chapter then reviews the foreign policies of the 

US, Cuba, the Soviet Union, and China towards Peru.  I show that the Truman and 

Eisenhower administrations built the foundation of the Peruvian security forces 

counterinsurgency capability, for which many assign Kennedy the credit.  While the Soviet 

Union did not directly participate in the conflict, the reader must understand the international 

role it took and its stance in the so-called wars of national liberation in the developing world.  

The Cubans, and to a lesser extent, the Chinese, provided support to the MIR and ELN and 

their attempt to dislodge the Peruvian Oligarchy.  This support included ideological, 

financial, revolutionary theory, training in basic military skills and guerrilla warfare, 

communications, and intelligence tradecraft.  It is difficult to imagine that the MIR and ELN 

would have had any success without this international assistance.  This chapter provides the 

reader with a strategic view of communist involvement in Latin America in general, and Peru 

in particular, and establishes a basis for understanding the events of 1965 and 1966. 

Chapter two focuses on the development of the ELN and MIR, respectively, and reveals how 

the Cuban Revolution inspired them to break away from the PCP and APRA and take up 

arms against the government.  The first section outlines the Cuban policy and strategy for 

exporting its revolution across Latin American and the broader developing world.  The 

second section shows how the ELN was the darling of Ernesto Guevara because of its 

communist beliefs, and how the Cubans prepared them and sent them into battle first.  The 

second section explains how Fidel Castro and Guevara initially shunned the MIR leadership 

because they were not communist, and how De la Puente pragmatically shifted left along the 

political spectrum to garner Cuban support.  The Chinese were also instrumental in preparing 

the MIR for the coming conflict.  Despite the influence of the Cuban, Chinese, and Soviets, 

the Peruvian revolutionaries were able to maintain their agency and were not mere pawns in 

the Cold War.  They were independent actors fighting to improve the socio-economic 

conditions in their country.  Moreover, numerous members of the various communist parties 

in the region demonstrate agency when the defied Moscow’s orders and assisted the 

guerrillas. 

Chapter three looks at the development of Peru’s counterinsurgency capability and its first 

test in 1963 when Hugo Blanco instigated a Campesino uprising the southern Andean valleys 

called La Convencion and Lares.  The Peruvian government gained valuable experience 

during this campaign that they integrated into the preparation for the conflict in 1965 and 

1966.  The chapter also reviews both the Kennedy and Johnson administrations and considers 



23 
 

the overall policy for Latin America and then delves into the activities of the US Embassy 

personnel in Lima.  Kennedy’s push for a whole of government approach to 

counterinsurgency and support to friendly governments at risk of communist subversion 

increased the Peruvian security force’s capability to contest internal threats.  This focus drove 

the US Army, US Agency for International Development (AID), and the Central Intelligence 

Agency (CIA) to help the Peruvian government develop a formidable counterinsurgency 

force.  Although Kennedy and Johnson would like to have been able to claim success in the 

socio-economic development of Peru, the MIR and ELN hampered these goals and forced the 

US to take a hard line against subversion.  While small-scale military civic action projects 

positively impacted a limited number of Peruvians, high-level political issues stopped the 

Alliance for Progress from achieving its lofty goals.  As with the insurgents mentioned above, 

this chapter will show that the Peruvian security forces, despite significant US influence, 

maintained oversight of the counterinsurgency operations. 

Chapter four delves into the case of the ELN and the guerrilla front Bejar established in La 

Mar, which is in the central highlands.  Their first contact with the Peruvian police almost 

destroyed the group in 1963 as they raced to Cusco to fight alongside Blanco.  They later 

reconstituted and went into action again in 1965.  My research did not uncover any new 

significant primary sources.  However, a reinterpretation of the available documents supports 

the thesis that it was the Peruvian Army’s superior counterinsurgency capability, not Bejar’s 

strategy or tactics that led to the group’s downfall.  Following the destruction of the front in 

La Mar and Bejar’s capture in Lima, the remaining ELN fighters attempted to establish a new 

front in Puno along the border with Bolivia and to coordinate activities with Guevara.  

However, the Peruvian security forces soon learned of the preparations, and the ELN 

members dispersed.  Later, Juan Chang, Restituto Jose Cabera Flores, and Edilberto Lucio 

Galvan Hidalgo joined Guevara in Bolivia.  They died fighting with him in 1967. 

The last chapter outlines the MIR’s final preparations for war and its ultimate defeat at the 

hands of the security forces.  I divided this chapter into four sections based on separate rural 

and urban fronts.  Guillermo Lobaton Milla commanded the Tupac Amaru front in the central 

highlands, which was the most successful in terms of how long it lasted and its ability to win 

over the local people to its cause.  Luis de la Puente was the overall leader of the MIR was 

with the Pachacutec front in Mesa Pelada, which the second section examines.  While these 

two fronts have been the subject of many chapters and books, the remaining two are less 

well-known.  The third section looks at the Manco Capac front that Gonzalo Fernandez 
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Gasco established in Piura near the border with Ecuador.  Fernandez’s group was behind in 

its preparations at the onset of hostilities and did not engage in major combat.  However, my 

research at Kew uncovered documents that permit a deeper understanding of the front and its 

activities.  The final section looks at the MIR’s activities in Lima, which Guevara’s brother-

in-law Ricardo Gadea led.  The Milicias Urbanas Luis de la Puente (Urban Militia of Luis de 

la Puente) was the MIRs last attempt to further the revolution.  However, the Peruvian 

Investigations Police quickly penetrated the group and arrested its members.  Recently 

declassified Peruvian government documents allow for a reassessment and new 

understanding of the conflict and show that the security forces had much better insight into 

the MIR earlier in the conflict. 

While China and the Soviet Union had a part in the events herein, Cuba and the US were 

substantially more involved.  The Cuban strategy called for 100 Vietnams and for the Andes 

to be the Sierra Maestra of South America in reference to the location in Cuba, where Castro 

established his guerrilla army.  Lust convincing shows the importance of Peru to Guevara’s 

continental guerrilla project and argues that Peru, not Bolivia, was the key to it.45  The CIA 

understood this as well and wrote in 1960, ‘Peru is considered by the Cuban Government to 

be appropriate as the site of the first Cuba-type revolution in Latin America’.46  Both the 

Kennedy and Johnson administrations desired socio-economic evolution in Latin America, 

but the bottom line of their foreign policies was that they would not accept another Cuba in 

the Western Hemisphere.  State Department Policy Planning Council chairman Walt Rostow 

succinctly explained the US strategy to West Point cadets in 1963: 

‘The cost and brutal arithmetic of guerrilla war make it essential that American policy in 

vulnerable areas be geared to winning in Stage One. We must never permit them to come to a 

stage where they think the situation is objectively right to take to the streets and the hills. 

Virtually any amount of cost and effort that we can expend in these areas in Stage One is 

worthwhile, if one looks at the cost of letting a Stage Two operation like Vietnam get 

going’.47 

 
45 Jan Lust, ‘The Role of the Peruvian Guerrilla in Che Guevara’s Continental Guerrilla Project’, Bulletin of 

Latin American Research, Vol. 35, No. 2, pp. 225-239, 2016. 
46 CIA report, ‘Cuban Aggression and Subversive Activities in Latin America’, 26 October 1960 in Donald 

Robinson (ed.) The Dirty Wars: Guerrilla Actions and Other Forms of Unconventional Warfare (New York: 

Delacorte Press, 1968), p. 165. 
47 William Beecher, ‘Special Forces Make Gains in Curbing Latin Guerrilla Bands’, The Wall Street Journal, 18 

February 1964, p. 10. Rostow is referring to the stages of Maoist protracted people’s war, which the US 

government used as a model to understand and analyze insurgencies throughout the world. (See table 2 above.) 
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Rostow’s words were significant because he was Kennedy’s lead policy architect for the 

developing world.48  Journalist William Beecher added, ‘the $70 million the U.S. spends 

yearly in Latin America to try to nip communist insurgency compares to about $500 million 

spent in the Vietnam War’.49  In this respect, the Peruvian and US governments won the 

counterinsurgency and prevented the Peruvian New Left and the Cubans from implementing 

their strategy.  This low-cost success, at least in the narrow sense of defense funding, allowed 

the US to allocate resources to other areas in its Cold War competition with the Soviet Union. 

During the research process, three themes emerged that are present across the chapters.  The 

first is the question of agency, which engages in one of the significant arguments of the 

historiography.  Throughout the dissertation, there are many examples, both on the 

revolutionary and government sides, of Peruvians exercising primary agency as compared to 

Cuban, Chinese, Soviet, and US interlopers.  This information led me to place this case study 

closer to Hal Brand’s school of thought, as discussed above, rather than that of Stephen Rabe.  

Secondly, one can find the roots of liberation theology in both the New Left and the 

government personnel involved in the conflict.  Also, all the guerrilla commanders were 

raised in the Catholic religion, and many considered the priesthood as a means of social-

economic advancement.  Finally, very few females participated directly in guerrilla warfare, 

which is an anomaly considering the multitude of insurgencies during the Cold War that 

relied on females as fighters and leaders.  While most participated in auxiliary roles, my 

research identified two MIR female fighters who appear here in the historiography for the 

first time.  These findings do not directly support the main argument of this dissertation, but 

they help place Peru in the framework of the broader scholarship. 

Building on Brown’s work, my primary argument is that the Peruvian security forces 

conducted a successful counterinsurgency against the guerrillas, which outweighs the 

orthodox explanation that the guerrillas imploded due to internal mistakes.  While the four 

orthodox explanations each have merit, they are not sufficient to explain the outcome.  I 

approached this project by breaking the larger insurgency into six mini-insurgencies.  This 

allowed me to examine the respective guerrilla leader’s actions and security force 

commander’s actions independently, which showcased various counterinsurgency techniques.  

I directly confront repressive counterinsurgency techniques such as torture, extrajudicial 

incarcerations and killings, and punitive campaigns.  Further, I do not accept quid pro quo 

 
48 Freedman, Kennedy’s Wars, p. 41. 
49 William Beecher, ‘Special Forces Make Gains in Curbing Latin Guerrilla Bands’, p. 10. 
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escalations of violence or the excuse that since the guerrillas committed human rights 

violations, the security forces were justified in violating the guerrilla’s, or more egregious, 

innocent members of the population’s, human rights.  Scholars have understudied this 

episode of Latin American history for two reasons.  First, during the mid-1960s, international 

attention focused on the Vietnam War.  Second, the limited scholarly focus that South 

America did receive during this period centered on the 1964 anti-US riots in Panama, the 

1965 US invasion of the Dominican Republic, and in 1967 another revolutionary movement 

in neighboring Bolivia where the Bolivian Army killed Guevara.  Brown’s and Lust’s recent 

scholarship has illuminated the importance of Peru in the revolutionary struggle.  What 

follows is my attempt to add to the existing historiography and explain the significance of 

these events in the context of Latin America’s Cold War story. 
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Chapter one: Beginnings 

The people living in the Andean mountains in the region that is now called central and 

southern Peru have endured exploitation dating back at least to the early days of the Incan 

Empire (1438).  The Incan Royalty oppressed them, as did the Spanish, and later the Peruvian 

Oligarchy.  This led Eric Hobsbawm to conclude, ‘If any country is ripe for and needs a 

social revolution it is Peru’.50   Various would-be liberators have attempted, some successful, 

others not so, to mobilize the mass population to rise against their masters.  This historical 

context is critical for the reader to fully comprehend the events of the 1960s.  I will explain 

key events that shaped the history of Peru including the establishment of the Alianza Popular 

Revolucionaria Americana (Popular Alliance of American Revolution, APRA) and the 

Partido Comunista del Peru (Peruvian Communist Party, PCP), which were the forerunners 

of the insurgent groups of the 1960s.  This chapter will then review the foreign policies of the 

US, Soviet Union, and China towards Latin America and how the Cuban revolution impacted 

them.  Throughout, the I will provide context to the economic, political, religious, and social 

aspects of the period at the international, national, and local levels. 

Located on the western coast of South America, Peru is beautiful and varied.  The rugged 

Andean peaks separate the country into coastal, mountain, and rainforest sections.  These 

three regions, while providing ecological diversity have caused fissures in the social strata.  

To the north is Ecuador and Colombia, to the east is Brazil and Bolivia, and to the south is 

Chile.  Peru is rich in natural resources including oil, natural gas, copper, zinc, gold, guano, 

as well as fish in the Pacific and many inland rivers.  The coastal strip, or Costa, consists of a 

rocky desert plain with poor soil that is at some points up to thirty-two kilometres wide, but 

usually much narrower.  Fifty-two rivers flow through the valleys of the western slope of the 

Andes and into the Pacific Ocean, and many provide acceptable microclimates that support 

human life and agriculture.  The Peruvian capital Lima sits in the Rimac river valley and is an 

example of this phenomenon.51  Spanish conquistador Pizarro established Lima in 1535, and 

it is now the second largest desert city in the world after Cairo.   

The Andean highlands, or Sierra, create the central backbone that divides the country into 

three sections.  Peaks reach as high as 6,768 metres where there are glaciers and year-round 

 
50 Leslie Bethell (ed.) Viva La Revolucion: Eric Hobsbawm On Latin America (London: Little, Brown, 2016), p. 
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51 Paul Doughty, ‘The Society and Its Environment’ in Rex Hudson (ed.), Peru: A Country Study, 4th edn 

(Washington, DC: Library of Congress, 1993), p. 67. 
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snow in the highest elevations.  Most of this territory is inhospitable, but the lush river valleys 

provide life-sustaining vegetation and agriculture.  On the border with Bolivia, Lago Titicaca 

is a prominent feature of the high mountain plains and is the highest lake in the world at 

3,812 meters.  The eastern slope of the Andes transitions into the expansive Amazon basin, or 

Selva.  The vegetation grows up the slope to a height of 2,100 meters, and this area is known 

as the Ceja de la Selva, or eyebrow of the jungle.  The Selva is a hot, humid rainforest and is 

one of the most biodiverse regions on the planet.  Although it is rich in flora and fauna, it is 

very difficult for humans to adapt to life there.52  As later sections of this dissertation will 

show, these three diverse regions will be the progenitor of many issues between the people 

who inhabit them. 

While archaeologists have traced human life in Peru back at least 12,000 years, the Incaic 

period (1438-1532) established an important trend that persists to this day.  David Werlich 

described the pattern, ‘A small elite dominated the state and demanded almost absolute 

submission of the masses to its authority’.53  Additionally, Peter Klaren has argued that the 

achievements of the Incan Empire have, 

‘caused some twentieth century Peruvian scholars of the indigenous peoples, known as indigenistas 

(indigenists), such as Hildebrando Castro Pozo and Luis Eduardo Valcarcel, to idealize the Incan 

past and to overlook the hierarchical nature and totalitarian mechanisms of social and political 

control erected during their Incan heyday’.54 
 

Eric Hobsbawm, while not an indigenist per se, argued that the Spanish exploited certain 

features of Inca system to facilitate the oppression of the natives.55  In addition to scholars, 

revolutionaries such as Ernesto ‘Che’ Guevara have looked back uncritically at the Incas.  In 

a conversation with Mao Zedong in 1960, Guevara stated, ‘The case of Peru is interesting.  It 

has always had a custom of primitive communism.  The Spanish during their reign brought in 

feudalism and slavery.  But primitive communism did not die out due to that.  On the 

contrary, it survives until now’.56  Notwithstanding this selective use of history, the Incas 

established the authoritarian trend that continued with the Spanish and later the Oligarchy.  In 

response to this, there have been countless localized resistance movements and rebellions to 
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Socialist Empire: The Incas of Peru (London: D. Van Nostrand Company, Inc., 1961). 
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the central authority.  The rugged terrain perpetuated this trend in the Andean region.  

Werlich argues, ‘The small, dispersed communities always have been isolated and local 

power structures tenacious in protecting their independence from meddling central 

governments’.57  Most often, the isolation of the communities proved beneficial to the 

governing power and prevented widespread coordinated rebellion across the region. The 

downfall of the Incan Empire began in the mid-1520s, and civil war would weaken it and 

present a vulnerable state to European encroachment.   

Francisco Pizarro and a group of 180 conquistadors arrived in what is now northern Peru, 

armed with the sword and the cross, determined to seek out Incan riches and claim them for 

the Spanish crown.  They contacted the Incan ruler Atahualpa and arranged a meeting with 

him in Cajamarca a town in the central Andes.  Atahualpa and his followers did not perceive 

the Spanish contingent as a threat and allowed them safe passage into the central plaza of the 

town on 16 November 1532.  Pizarro captured the Incan King while his men fought and 

overwhelmed a force of 5,000 lightly armed Incas by employing Spanish superior military 

technology and tactics.  It took forty years for the Spanish to consolidate control over the 

region and during this period the Incas provided a stiff resistance.  Incan generals led raids 

and ambushes against the Spanish columns as they travelled through canalized mountain 

passes.  This was one of the first examples of guerrilla warfare in Peru.  Manco Inca deserted 

Cusco and set up a shadow empire in the small town of Vilcabamba to the north.  From there 

he raided and attacked the Spanish seriously challenging their foothold in the Andes.  This 

continued for thirty years until the Viceroy Francisco de Toledo decided to destroy the 

rebellion with the colonial army in 1572.  Werlich chronicled the event, ‘Tupac Amaru, a 

lineal descendant of Huayna Capac, and the fourth of the Vilcabamba emperors, was brought 

to Cuzco and executed.  Peru was quiet’.58  The Vilcabamba insurgency was perhaps the most 

significant episode of Peruvian resistance and most rebel groups that have followed harkened 

back to the fearless Tupac Amaru and his virtuous stand against the invaders.   

While the indigenous peoples fought many insurgencies over the years, the Spanish ruled 

until the 1820s.  After defeating the Spanish in his country, the Argentine General Jose de 

San Martin, repeated his victory in Chile and then turned his army towards Peru.  He arrived 

in Pisco in southern Peru via the sea in August 1820, and then captured Lima and drove the 

Viceroy and his troops into the Andes.  After an intricate political skirmish, San Martin left 
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the command of the patriot forces to Venezuelan General Simon Bolivar.  Bolivar led the 

initial phases of the war to destroy the remaining Spanish forces, but the politicians recalled 

him to Bogota.  He gave command of the army to his protégé General Antonio Jose de Sucre.  

Sucre defeated the Spanish troops and captured the Viceroy Jose de la Serna y Hinojosa at the 

Battle of Ayacucho on 9 December 1824, which ended Spanish rule in the Americas.  They 

routed out the last few vestiges of royalism over the next thirteen months.  Ironically, after 

centuries of rebellion against Spanish domination, the liberty of Peru was won by outsiders.  

In post-independence Peru, instability proved to be commonplace as the newly founded 

country sought to establish a constitutional republic.  Civil unrest in Lima combined with a 

push to reform the government instigated a coup d’état by Colonel Oscar Raimundo 

Benavides in 1914.  Klaren shows ‘The coup marked the beginning of a long-term alignment 

of the military with the Oligarchy, whose interests and privileges it would defend until the 

1968 revolution of General Juan Velasco Alvarado (1968-75)’.59  The Peruvian Oligarchy 

consisted of a small number of social-economic elite families who were very influential with 

the government from the 1820s until 1968. 

Since the Conquistadors arrived in Peru, the Catholic religion grew in prominence and 

became intertwined into the economic, military, social, and political fabric of the nations.  

Roberto MacLean argues, ‘No Western Hemisphere country can show an older, brighter, and 

more glorious tradition than Peru.  The Cross, together with the Sword, was one of the 

symbols of the Conquest, which opened the spiritual horizons of Latin culture and Catholic 

faith to our Fatherland’.60  Following independence, the liberators wrote into the constitution 

that the new government would select the leadership of the Peruvian Catholic Church, a right 

formally held by the Spanish Monarchy, thus gaining a certain level of control.61  The Church 

continued to defend the status quo until the end of World War II when it expanded its 

interests from being wholly concerned with the soul to seeking better material conditions for 

the poor.62  As I will show throughout the dissertation, while the Church did not, with a few 

isolated exceptions (See chapter five.), directly support the New Left, the roots of the 

liberation theology, developed parallel to the insurgent movements of the 1960s. 
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Popular Alliance of American Revolution, APRA 

Victor Raul Haya de la Torre was one of the most influential political thinkers and politicians 

in Latin America during the twentieth century.  He was born on 22 February 1895, in Trujillo 

a small city on the northern coast of Peru.  His family claimed to be of pure European 

descent, but Haya had bronzed coloured skin and a facial structure like the local Indians.  He 

grew up in an upper-middle-class home and obtained a good primary education.  Raised in a 

Catholic family, he briefly considered following in one of his uncle’s footsteps and becoming 

a priest.63  Haya matriculated at the University of San Marcos in Lima and began his studies 

there in 1917.  He became very active in student politics, and as the President of the 

Federation of Students of Peru, fought to reform the University system.  In 1919, he helped 

found the Federation of Textile Workers of Peru and was involved in the nascent labour 

movement.  He also helped establish the Popular University, which provided education to the 

workers and their families.  Haya became known for a high-level oratory skill and his ability 

to motivate large groups of people.  During this time, he began to form his political ideas that 

would go on to influence people across Latin America.64  His contemporary, José Carlos 

Mariátegui la Chira, the founder of the Peruvian Communist Party, surpassed him in intellect 

and writing ability.  Still, Haya had much more charisma and was a natural leader. 

Peruvian President Augusto Bernardino Leguía y Salcedo, who gained power by coup d’état 

in 1919, felt threatened by the student and labour movement and began to oppress them.  In 

May 1923, Leguía, in an apparent attempt to gain the support of the Catholic Church, 

dedicated the country to the Sacred Heart of Jesus.  This concerned Haya because his 

movement was competing against the Church for the support of the lower-class population.  

Haya was a key leader of the protests that followed, and the Leguía Regime arrested him and 

exiled him to Panama.  The Mexican Minister of Education Jose Vasconcelos invited him to 

Mexico City and hired him as an editor.65  Vasconcelos, who published The Cosmic Race 

introduced Haya to a group of revolutionary intellectuals that influenced his thinking.  On 7 

May 1924, Haya and a few fellow students founded APRA.  They designed this umbrella 

organization to cover all of Latin America, or Indoamerica as they labelled it, and each 
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country was to have a branch or division.66  As shown in table 1 of the introduction, the party 

was left of centre on the political spectrum.  Moreover, it was anti-imperialist at its core.  

Haya argued vehemently that the Soviet model of revolution was not appropriate for and 

could not be successful in Latin America.  Latin Americans must find their own way towards 

the revolution.   He wrote, ‘Observing closely the social and economic reality of 

Indoamerica, we cannot help but see a vast and new political problem whose solution is not 

found in and cannot be adjusted to the known European ideological molds’.67  APRA was 

inclusive of all classes and did not limit membership to the proletariat.  Over the next few 

years, he travelled widely in Europe, including the Soviet Union, and his observations 

confirmed that change would require his concept of a uniquely Indoamerican method of 

revolution.  Upon returning to Mexico, Magda Portal, a Peruvian poet and Secretary-General 

of the APRA cell in Mexico City, arranged for Haya to give a series of lectures at various 

universities.  She recalled that before the lectures, her political conceptions “were vague, 

unformulated, barely more than impulses towards solidarity with and campesinos’.68  These 

lectures demonstrated Haya’s ability to distil and   effectively communicate complex topics, 

while his charisma won over many Peruvian exiles in Mexico.  In 1930, Haya’s followers in 

Lima established the Partido Aprista Peruano, the Peruvian branch of APRA.69  As APRA 

grew, it garnered a large following among the rural lower-class and the urban working class, 

which put it at odds with the Catholic Church because APRA pulled many of the faithful 

away from the Church and to its ranks.  Moreover, as APRA developed into a significant 

force in politics and for socio-economic change, the Peruvian Communist Party also 

attempted to bring it down.70  These challenges, of course, were in addition to the friction 

between Haya’s group and the government. 

In 1931, the military junta that had ousted Leguía and allowed Haya to return to Peru and run 

in the presidential election.  Colonel Luis Sanchez Cerro won the election.71  The Peruvian 
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Apristas claimed the election was fraudulent, but the voting public elected a few APRA 

members to Congress.  Some of Haya’s followers wanted to revolt, but he convinced them to 

remain calm and wait for the next election, which he proclaimed they would surely win.  In 

1932, Sanchez banned APRA in Peru, removed its members from Congress, and arrested 

Haya.  On 7 July 1932, Haya’s followers conducted a demonstration against Sanchez in 

Trujillo.  The demonstration became violent and fighting broke out between the Army and 

the Apristas.  The Army killed many APRA members who had supposedly surrendered and 

claimed that APRA members had killed soldiers under similar circumstances.72  This 

solidified the enmity between the Army and the Peruvian APRA that would last for forty 

years.73  The CIA later wrote, ‘These incidents are the root of the enduring hostility between 

the PAP [Peruvian APRA Party] and the Peruvian armed forces…’  They continued, ‘…a 

religion of hatred which is kept burning by indoctrination of the officer corps and through an 

annual commemoration of the military martyrs in the Trujillo uprising’.74  On 30 April 1933, 

an assassin killed Sanchez, and General Oscar Benavides succeeded him.  Benavides released 

Haya from jail and allowed the APRA members to return to Congress.  This reprieve only 

lasted a few months, when Benavides outlawed the party again and caused Haya to go into 

hiding.   

Over the next ten years, Haya would outmanoeuvre the security forces by avoiding capture 

and thus build a mystique around himself that would endear him to his followers to an even 

greater extent.  In 1935, he published an article in the Argentinian periodical Claridad called 

‘Philosophical Synopsis of Aprismo’.  The article strongly criticized the methods of 

communism as practiced in Latin America.  He wrote, ‘…the historical determination of 

Marx is not a rule that imposes itself in all latitudes’.  And concluded, ‘Therefore, the history 

of the world, seen from the Indoamerican historical space-time will never be the same as that 

seen by a philosopher from the European space-time’.75  Writings and public attacks such as 

this caused the other elements of the Peruvian Left to abhor APRA.  Hector Bejar recalled 

that APRA ‘is the oldest party in Peru and the best organized.  It has a long tradition of 

struggle and has suffered the most murders, and the most deportations and the most torture 
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victims’.  Despite these seemingly positive comments, he continued, ‘The [Peruvian] 

communist party has always called the APRA fascists and has always had a very sectarian 

attitude.  But on many occasions the communist party has actually stood to the right of APRA 

… so this has something to do with the communist party’s great hatred towards the APRA’.76  

In Peru, APRA had enemies across the political spectrum. 

In 1945, the political situation changed again with the election of Jose Luis Bustamante y 

Rivero.  APRA returned to public life, and Haya came out of hiding.  However, by 1948 

conditions had shifted, and crisis ensued.  The political left gained sufficient power and 

forced a reaction by the Peruvian military that put General Manuel A. Odria in the 

Presidency.77  On 3 October 1948, dissident APRA members instigated a mutiny at the naval 

base in Lima’s port Callao.78  The uprising could have been successful, but Haya ordered the 

members to stand down.  In the repression that followed, Odria outlawed APRA, and Haya 

went into exile.79  As did many APRA members. 

Senior APRA leader Hilda Gadea, and future MIR supporter, went to Guatemala, where she 

met her future husband, Ernesto Guevara.  They debated many aspects of revolution, and 

Guevara questioned Gadea’s allegiance to APRA, instead of the PCP.  She explained her 

disapproval of the PCP because ‘they confused the masses and often entered into alliances 

with the right to reach a position of power, thus obscuring the goals’.80  In 1954, they 

discussed the topic of religion in Latin America and its implications concerning revolution.  

Guevara dismissed the Catholics because they were beholden to the Oligarchies.  Gadea 

insisted that they must be considered, and while the Church hierarchy would support the 
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governments, there was revolutionary potential among the masses.  Guevara finally 

conceded, ‘it was possible to count on those Catholics who abandoned their faith in the name 

of reason’.81  For Guevara’s future revolutionary activities, this was an important revelation 

given that a high percentage of Latin Americas were Catholic. 

Back in Peru, APRA members continued to meet clandestinely, and it survived as an 

organization.  Haya directed the Apristas to support former President Manuel Prado 

Ugarteche in the 1956 election.  Prado won and, in return, legalized APRA once again, and 

Haya came out of hiding.  Many APRA members felt that Haya should not have supported 

Prado because of the injustices he had caused them during his first term (1939-1945).  Luis 

de la Puente, who would later break away from APRA, wrote, ‘Unfortunately, the APRA 

arrived in 1956, doctrinally, politically, and morally castrated’.82  Not known for pragmatism, 

Haya argued that the critical thing for Peru at this time was following the political process 

and establishing democracy.83  This change also relieved much of the tension between the 

APRA and the Catholic Church, because as political scientist Carlos Astiz shows, ‘as APRA 

abandoned its revolutionary ideal and reached an understanding with the traditional upper-

class, the banner of reform was transferred to an array of left-wing organizations, which 

included the Communist party’.84  Most APRA members tolerated the so-called conviviencia 

(coexistence) with the Oligarchy that ensued, but the more aggressive did not want to wait 

and called for revolution.  In chapter two, I will explain this in detail. 

Peruvian Communist Party, PCP 

Jose Carlos Mariátegui la Chira, the founder of the original PCP, was perhaps the most 

important Marxist thinker in twentieth century Latin America.  He was born in Moquegua, a 

small town in southern Peru, on 14 July 1894.  His lower-middle-class family later moved to 

Lima where he grew up.  The social-economic status of his family exposed him to lower 

strata of Peruvian society in the Andes and the coastal regions and this would have a 

profound impact on him later in life.  At the age of fourteen he began working as an errand 

boy at the newspaper La Prensa.85  There he was exposed to the ideas of Marxism and 
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Socialism and left behind his childhood dream of becoming a Catholic priest.  Although he 

did not pursue a life in the Church, he never discounted its importance as an institution in 

Peru, and its potential use in the coming revolution.86  Despite only having an eighth-grade 

education, management quickly promoted him to writer and assistant editor.  He began two 

newspapers with a colleague called Cesar Falcon.  His writings in their two papers Nuestra 

Epoca and La Razon ‘took a pro-labor stance, [but] they did not espouse the revolutionary 

Marxism found in Mariátegui’s later writings’.87  However, his writing and activism were 

enough to draw the ire of the Peruvian President Augusto Leguía, who exiled him in 1919. 

He first lived and studied in France and then travelled to Italy, where he studied with the 

many prominent Italian intellectuals.  He witnessed social unrest and closely observed the 

Italian Socialist Party’s 1921 Livorno Congress.  Marc Becker asserted, ‘Although 

Mariátegui matured as a Marxist-Leninist thinker later in his life, much of his thought 

originated from his experiences in Italy’.88  The government allowed him to return to Peru in 

1923 when he began to support APRA.  The Leguía administration arrested him under the 

pretence of agitation and spreading communism in 1924, and again in 1927, after his release, 

he remained under close surveillance for the remainder of his life.89  In 1928, after a falling 

out with the APRA leaders, he established the Partiido Socialista del Peru (Peruvian 

Socialist Party, PSP). 

Under Joseph Stalin’s leadership (1927-1953) the Soviet Union had limited interest in Latin 

America.  Stalin paid little attention to areas outside of the Soviet sphere in Eurasia and 

conceded Latin America to the United States.90  This was due to practical reasons, not out of 

respect for the Monroe Doctrine.  Stalin did send emissaries to Latin America during the 

1920’s to shape the socialist organizations into communist parties under the concept of the 

united front that would join and serve the Communist International (Comintern).  During the 

Comintern’s Sixth Congress in 1928, it determined ‘Latin America had come within reach of 

Communist influence and was ripe for revolution’.91  In 1929, the Comintern held its First 
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Latin American Congress of Communist Parties in Buenos Aires, Argentina.  During the 

conference, the Comintern compelled Mariátegui to change the name of the PSP to the PCP 

under the threat of being labelled a Trotskyist.92  Following the conference, these groups were 

encouraged to begin rural guerrilla warfare, as well as strikes and agitation in the urban areas 

across Latin America.  The governments reacted and suppressed these uprisings, and the 

Soviets did nothing to assist.  Wayne Smith concluded, ‘By 1935, as a direct result of the 

tactics forced upon them by the Comintern, Communist parties throughout Latin America had 

been either shattered or driven underground – as in Mexico, Brazil, Argentina, El Salvador, 

and Cuba – or their influence had been reduced to almost zero – as in Uruguay, Chile, and 

Peru’.93  The Comintern’s inaccurate reading of conditions in Latin America forced it to take 

a hard look at how it could apply Marxist revolutionary theory to the region.  

Mariátegui passed away in the spring of 1930, leaving behind the nascent PCP and a spirited 

legacy as one of Latin America’s original Marxist thinkers.  Jeffery Klaiber characterized him 

as a ‘Spiritual Marxist’ and shows that, despite his political position, he remained connected 

with religion until the end of his life.94  His most influential written work was his 1928 Seven 

Interpretative Essays on Peruvian Reality, which other Marxist leaders and organizations in 

Peru and throughout Latin America have quoted extensively.  Three points stand out. 

Foremost is that while Mariátegui was a Marxist, he understood the limitations of Marxist 

theory and did not believe Latin American’s could apply it without adaptation in the complex 

world of the twentieth century.  He wrote, ‘I do not think it is possible to imagine the entire 

panorama of the contemporary world in one theory… We have to explore it and know it, 

episode by episode, facet by facet’.95  Vanden and Becker reflected on this passage and 

concluded, ‘one can reach an appreciation for the agility of the thinker’s mind’.96  Through 

his essay writing, Mariátegui shows how one could apply Marxist thought in Peru, and Latin 

America, to form a better way of organizing society that would be fair and just for all. 
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A second contribution is that Mariátegui understood the importance of the peasant as a 

potential weapon of revolution in Peru.  Attempts to exploit the peasants can be traced back 

at least to the Spanish conquest of the Incan empire but attempts to mobilize them often 

failed.  Mariátegui believed that if the peasants could be taught the virtue of an adapted 

version of Marxism, they would be willing to fight for it.  In his essay, The Agrarian Problem 

and the Land Problem he wrote, ‘We are not content with demanding the Indians’ rights to 

education, culture, progress, love, and heaven.  We start by categorically demanding their 

rights to land’.97  The land issue would be at the heart of the revolutionary period during the 

1960s as well as the later conflict in the 1980s and 1990s.  Revolutionary leaders, politicians, 

and military officers alike would use this issue for their own respective purposes.  However, 

Mariátegui was the first to understand and explain its importance. 

Finally, Mariátegui understood that the US expansion and a desire for regional hegemony 

would have a significant impact on Peru.  Vanden and Becker argue that Mariátegui directly 

applied Lenin’s concepts from his important work, Imperialism: The Highest Stage of 

Capitalism.  Mariátegui wrote:  

‘More than a great democracy the U.S. is a great empire.  The growth of the U.S. had to lead to an 

imperialist conclusion.  American capitalism could not develop any more within the confines of the 

U.S. and her colonies.  It manifests, for this reason, a great force for the expansion and domination’.98 
 

While European powers also exploited Peru, Mariátegui argued that the US was a more 

substantial threat.  He identified business and banking interests as well as subsurface mining 

concessions to be forms of economic supremacy.  These would manifest in the later tension 

between the Belaunde government and the US over the International Petroleum Company 

(IPC) and International Telephone and Telegraph Corporation (ITT) issues.  He compared the 

problems of land in the Andes to the industrialization of agriculture by US and UK firms in 

the coastal region.  He wrote, ‘The best lands on the coastal valleys are planted with cotton 

and sugarcane, not so much because they are suited only for these crops, but because they are 

the only ones that currently matter to English and Yankee businesses’.99  He goes on to 

explain that the focus on high-value crops nudges out others that are of sustenance to the 

local population and that the industrial aspect prevents small farm owners from prospering.  

He firmly believed that an anti-imperialist stance and a transition to an adapted form of 
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Marxism could solve these problems in Peru.  For these reasons and numerous others, many 

remember Mariátegui as one of the most influential thinkers Latin America has ever 

produced.   

Following the death of Mariátegui in 1930, Eudocio Ravines gained control of the Peruvian 

Communist Party (PCP).  Ravines was born in Cajamarca, Peru, in 1897.  He worked closely 

with Mariátegui to establish the PCP.  He was an adherent to the Soviet model and took 

instructions from the Comintern without question.  In the late 1930s and early 1940s, he 

travelled extensively in the Soviet Union.  Upon returning in 1945, he founded the weekly 

magazine Vanguardia, which became the primary organ of the PCP.  In his memoir, Bejar 

recalled that Ravines was a significant detriment to the development of the Left in Peru, and 

dogmatism and fear of dissent caused him to stifle discussion and debate.  Bejar wrote that 

Ravines was ‘possibly the most unscrupulous traitor in Latin America and he was able, while 

he headed the PCP, to practice a type of political liquidation that was completely 

unprincipled and without any kind of legality’.100  He goes on to compare Ravines to Stalin 

and accuse him of the political destruction of many important revolutionaries.  While the CIA 

did not make the direct Ravines to Stalin connection, in 1963 national intelligence estimate, it 

concluded, ‘The PCP has survived subsequent factionalism and purges in its continued 

adherence to whatever line Moscow dictates’.101  This speaks directly to one of the four 

orthodox explanations for the subsequent failure of the Peruvian Left and is indicative of the 

infighting that prevented it from becoming a viable force against the Peruvian government. 

The PCP had often worked in concert with the Peruvian government against APRA.  A 1963 

CIA report on extremist political groups in Peru assessed, ‘The PCP secured, first, official 

toleration for its labor activities competing against APRA (1930-1934), and then considerable 

freedom, though not legal status, in the 1939-1945 period, in return for helping elect Manuel 

Prado to his first term in office’.102  The report goes on to explain that the strength of the 

bond between the PCP and the government ebbed and flowed over the years.  When it was 

convenient for the government, they would use the PCP to check the power of APRA in the 

worker and student unions.  As an example, in 1963, the CIA concluded, ‘Whenever the PCP 

has not had official encouragement, as in the 1945-1948 and 1956-1962 periods, it has lost 
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ground to APRA in the labor movement’.103  This shows that the Left allowed the 

government to manipulate it, thereby preventing the consolidation of a homogenous 

movement. 

Soviet Premier Nikita Khrushchev’s secret speech to the Twentieth Congress of the 

Communist Party of the Soviet Union (CPSU) in 1956 had a significant impact on Peruvian 

revolutionaries.  Bejar recalled: 

‘In Peru, the Party’s whole ideological, theoretical, and practical structure automatically came under 

discussion.  The Stalinist cult was shaken to its very roots, and with it the infallibility of the CPSU.  

Subjects such as the validity of the CPSU’s positions, the immediacy or remoteness of the revolution 

and the role of social classes in it, the stages of revolution, and the Party’s role in it began to be 

debated’.104 
 

Stalinists, such as Ravines, were unsettled by the outcome of the Twentieth Congress and lost 

substantial influence over the PCP and the Left in general.  The CIA determined that younger 

members of the PCP were disillusioned with the party’s ineffectiveness and wrote, ‘Their [the 

younger members] program, advocating violent revolution and closer identification with the 

Castro and Chinese Communist positions, thus far has been rejected by old-line PCP 

leadership’.105  These were the first signs of the PCP’s coming breakup into multiple factions.  

The pro-Chinese members exploited this confusion, and as will be shown in chapter II, this 

was the beginning of their takeover that culminated in 1964. 

The Truman and Eisenhower Administrations 

In the early 1950s, the Truman Administration (1945-1953) built the foundation of collective 

security in the Americas.  President Truman approved National Security Council (NSC) 56/2, 

United States Policy Toward Inter-American Military Collaboration, on 19 May 1950.106  

This directed the Departments of State and Defense to begin planning for hemispheric 

defence.  The US Congress, through the Mutual Security Act of 1951 (MSA), authorized 

$38,150,000 to provide military assistance grants to other American republics.  The MSA 

stipulated that grants would be ‘in accordance with defense plans which are found by the 
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President to require the recipient country to participate in missions important to the defense 

of the Western Hemisphere’.107  On 14 December, Truman signed a finding that authorized 

Peru, among seven other countries, to begin the process to obtain funding.  Harold Tittmann, 

the US Ambassador to Peru, on 20 February 1951 in Lima, signed a bilateral Military 

Assistance Agreement (MAA) with Peru’s Foreign Minister Manuel Gallagher.  The 

agreement met the requirements of the Inter-American Treaty of Reciprocal Assistance, or 

Rio Treaty, and the MSA.  In lofty terms, the MAA explained that it was:  

‘in the spirit of cooperation prevailing among the American republics which makes it possible for 

them to concentrate, through self-help and mutual aid, upon increasing their ability to contribute to 

the collective defense of the Western Hemisphere, and, by serving as a deterrent to potential 

aggressors, contribute to the maintenance of world peace’.108   
 

The following year, Truman initiated the Military Assistance Program (MAP) on 22 February 

1952, when he signed the Mutual Defense Assistance Agreement with Peru.109  Lawrence 

Clayton described the MAP as the ‘linchpin of the modern relationship between the two 

forces [US and Peruvian] from then until the early 1970s’.110  Over the next two decades, 

subsequent administrations would expand the MAP and use it as a funding vehicle to prevent 

the spread of communism in the developing world. 

The Eisenhower Administration (1953-1961) was instrumental in preparing the region for 

successful counterinsurgency operations in the 1960s.  Stephen Rabe asserted that ‘President 

Dwight D. Eisenhower decisively established the Latin American policy of his 

administration’.111  Moreover, Thomas Allcock provides evidence that ‘undermines the 

notion that a fundamental reconfiguration of inter-American relations took place after 

Kennedy’s election’.112  On 18 March 1953, less than two months into his presidency, 

Eisenhower presided over the 137th meeting of the NSC and was directly involved in the 

drafting of NSC 144/1, which he signed that day.113  NSC 144/1, United States Objectives 
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and Courses of Action with Respect to Latin America, outlined the policy goals for defending 

the Western Hemisphere from communism.  The policy sought to use political, economic, 

and military means to meet its objectives.  It stated that Latin American states should be 

responsible for the internal security and external defence of their territories, and ‘U.S. 

military assistance should be designed to reduce to a minimum the diversion of U.S. forces 

for the maintenance of hemisphere security’.114  Between 1953 and 1961, the US provided 

Peru with grants and credits for defence totalling $46.9 million.115  By investing in the Latin 

American militaries, the administration hoped that they would act as force multipliers and be 

able to maintain their security, thus preventing the need for direct US involvement.  On 25 

June 1953, the US awarded Peruvian President Odria the Legion of Merit in Lima for his 

staunch anti-communist stance.116  In November 1953, the US Embassy in Lima established 

the Military Assistance and Advisory Group (MAAG) to direct the Air Force, Army, and 

Navy missions to Peru and serve as the coordinating element for military assistance.117  In 

1954, the US violated the Organization of American States (OAS) charter, and the CIA 

supported the overthrow of the democratically elected President Arbenz in Guatemala.  While 

critics suggested the purpose of the intervention was to protect private US investments in the 

country, Eisenhower insisted it was to prevent communism from gaining a foothold in the 

region.  Moreover, he decided the risk of communism outweighed the repercussions of 

violating international laws and treaties.  The administration firmly established its steadfast 

regional policy goal of anti-communism. 

During the mid-1950s, the US focused on economic development in Latin America to fortify 

the region against the spread of communism.  Peruvian national leadership was passed 

democratically from Odria to Manuel Prado in 1956 who would remain in power until 1962.  

The US Embassy in Lima reported, ‘that general satisfaction has been expressed over the 

 
114 ‘Statement of Policy by the National Security Council’, 18 March 1953, in N. Stephen Kane and William 

Sanford, Jr. (eds.), Foreign Relations of the United States, 1952–1954, The American Republics, Volume IV 

(Washington, DC: United States Government Printing Office, 1983), p. 9. 
115 NSC background paper, ‘Annex F to U.S. Military Assistance and Military Representation to Peru’, 1969, 

GALE, U.S. Declassified Documents Online, http://tinyurl.galegroup.com/tinyurl/8h49K8 (accessed 5 January 

2020).  
116 ‘Memorandum by the Under Secretary of State (Smith) to the Executive Secretary of the National Security 

Council (Lay)’, 23 July 1953, in N. Stephen Kane and William Sanford, Jr. (eds.), Foreign Relations of the 

United States, 1952–1954, The American Republics, Volume IV (Washington, DC: United States Government 

Printing Office, 1983), p. 11. 
117 ‘Memorandum by the Under Secretary of State (Smith) to the Executive Secretary of the National Security 

Council (Lay)’, 20 November 1953, in N. Stephen Kane and William Sanford, Jr. (eds.), Foreign Relations of 

the United States, 1952–1954, The American Republics, Volume IV (Washington, DC: United States 

Government Printing Office, 1983), p. 27. 

http://tinyurl.galegroup.com/tinyurl/8h49K8


43 
 

open, democratic and peaceful elections which the Peruvians believe sets a good example for 

Latin America and justifies the belief that Peru is firmly on the democratic path’.118  In spite 

of this positive trend, local and regional events in the late 1950s prompted a significant policy 

shift.  The first were vicious attacks against Vice President Nixon during his 1958 tour of 

Peru and Colombia.  In Peru, Nixon met with Prado to discuss economic assistance and pass 

on Eisenhower’s admiration for ‘Peru’s progress in consolidating democracy’.119  A large 

group of agitated students threw stones at him when he attempted to visit San Marcos 

University in Lima and prevented him from giving a speech.  The second event was Castro’s 

overthrow of the Batista regime in Cuba in 1959.  Eisenhower had treated Batista with benign 

neglect, and the US intelligence community underestimated the Rebel Army’s capabilities 

and did not anticipate the Sovietization of Castro.  These events drew the administration’s 

attention to the widespread anti-American sentiment in Latin America.  Rabe asserted, 

‘During its last year in office, the Eisenhower administration extensively revised the Latin 

American policy of the United States and initiated a decade-long effort to reform and 

modernize Latin American societies, in order to make them resistant to Communist 

subversion’.120  They added a cultural dimension, and expanded the economic, political, and 

military aspects of the policy.  For example, they increased civic action based on the Draper 

Committee recommendation that ‘the military establishments of our own and friendly nations 

have human and material resources for making important contributions to economic and well 

as to military phases of our foreign aid programs particularly in the underdeveloped areas’.121  

However, Allcock shows that this shift was not as jolting as it appears on the surface because 

multiple mid-level policymakers had been working towards this for many years.122  In 

addition to overt economic and political measures, Eisenhower authorized covert actions 

against Fidel Castro and Rafael Trujillo, the autocratic leader of the Dominican Republic.123  

The US government designed these efforts to show South American democratic leaders that it 
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would not stand for dictatorial regimes in the hemisphere.  By the end of his term, 

Eisenhower had set the stage for increased intervention in the region.   

The US experienced a severe recession in 1957-58, which contributed to a 44% decrease in 

copper prices and negatively impacted the Peruvian economy.  In response, ‘Prado promised 

to meet the economic crises with a program of fiscal stringency but was unwilling to pay the 

political cost of such measures’.124  Spending increased in 1958 by 12%.  With a $108.00 per 

capita gross national product, Peru fell to number seventeen of the twenty Latin American 

countries.125  Inside Lima’s power circle, military leaders signalled a potential coup d’état.  

Prado responded by naming Pedro Beltran, who had been severely criticizing Prado’s 

economic policies in the Lima press, to be the finance minister.  Beltran instituted severe 

financial restructuring and slowly began to improve the situation.  Technical innovations in 

processing launched Peru to the forefront of the fishing industry worldwide.  Prado also 

sought to improve the education and housing situation and implemented government 

programs along these lines.  Most significantly to the people in the Andes, he commissioned 

a study of land reform and submitted an agrarian reform bill to the legislature.  Hugo Blanco 

influenced this reform by his agitation for peasant rights in a remote valley near Cuzco, 

which chapter three examines in-depth.  However, in Congress, ‘conservatives tenaciously 

fought the bill while the left attacked it as insufficient’.126  The bill did not make it to Prado’s 

desk for signature before his departure from the presidential palace in 1962.  This example 

shows how hemispheric and local economic forces can impact national politics.  However, 

for the people of the Andes, the government did nothing to improve their lives. Moreover, the 

Truman and Eisenhower administrations’ attempts to use economic assistance to thwart 

communism had little impact. 

Cuba  

Fidel Castro’s march into Havana in January 1959 following the ouster of President 

Fulgencio Batista was a watershed moment in the Cold War and changed the political 

landscape of the Western Hemisphere.  The repercussions of this event still affect the 

Americas today.  It is critical for the reader to understand the Cuban revolution and the 

ensuing dynamics between China, the Soviet Union, the US, and Latin America to 
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contextualize Cuban influence in Peru.  In this dissertation, I will refer to the period from 

1953 to 1959 as the insurgency and the period from 1959 until the mid-1960s as the Cuban 

revolution.  This follows the line of contemporary thinking that the real revolution was 

Castro’s significant changes to the social-economic architecture of the country.   

There are many excellent histories of the insurgency in Cuba, but a few key points are worth 

noting here because they are essential factors to the events in Peru.  Castro’s insurgent group, 

the Movimiento 26 de Julio (the 26th of July Movement, M267), achieved victory for a 

multitude of reasons.  J. Bowyer Bell challenged the ‘guerrilla myth’ that Castro and Ernesto 

Guevara perpetuated.127  Moreover, recent work has shown the importance of the urban 

elements of the insurgency.  Julia Sweig shows how Frank País established the National 

Directorate.  Castro charged País with an almost insurmountable task, in addition to 

providing the logistical lifeline to the guerrilla fighters in the Sierra Maestra, they were to 

organize a program of resistance and sabotage across Cuba, all the while avoiding detection 

from an aggressive and oppressive security apparatus.128  Sweig adds that the M267 astutely 

employed the press, the Cuban diaspora, and the international community to apply pressure 

on the government in the United Nations and other international forums.129  One cannot 

overstate the National Directorate’s contribution to the successful overthrow of Batista.  

Steve Cushion provides a detailed account of the organized labour movement that fought the 

regime in parallel with the guerrillas.  He describes the nuanced interplay between local, 

regional, and national labour leaders as well as the relationship between the Popular Socialist 

Party (PSP) and M267.  Cushion makes a compelling argument that the general strikes 

between August 1957 and January 1959 were not spontaneous as others have described them, 

but that the insurgents integrated them into the broader strategy.130  Close observers of the 

insurgency have shown that the strikes were a vital aspect of the ousting of Batista, making 

this assertion a critical element to the re-evaluation of the importance of the labour movement 

and the pressure it placed on the government.  In Peru, the left-leaning political group APRA 

had insulated ‘Peru’s industrial proletariat from Communist influence’.131  APRA controlled 

the labour groups in Peru and did not allow Lima’s workers to participate in agitation events 

 
127 Bell, The Myth of the Guerrilla, p. 39. 
128 Julia Sweig, Inside the Cuban Revolution: Fidel Castro and the Urban Underground (Cambridge, MA: 

Harvard University Press, 2002), p. 15. 
129 Sweig, Inside the Cuban Revolution, p. 185. 
130 Steve Cushion, A Hidden History of the Cuban Revolution: How the Working Class Shaped the Guerrillas’ 

Victory (New York: Monthly Review Press, 2016), p. 214. 
131 David Chaplin, ‘Peru’s Postponed Revolution’, World Politics, Vol. 20 No. 3, April 1968, p. 393.   



46 
 

supporting the guerrillas.132  While it is difficult to quantify, Cuban labour work slowdowns 

and strikes, when coordinated with urban sabotage and guerrilla warfare, made a significant 

contribution to the downfall of Batista.  These complex and nuanced factors were not easy to 

package into a simple, straightforward theory of revolution.  Therefore, the revolutionary 

leaders set them aside and proffered the guerrilla myth.  As we will see, this simplification 

would prove to be a significant factor in the failure of the revolution in Peru.   

On 2 January 1959, at the Cespedes Park in Santiago, eastern Cuba, Castro declared ‘The 

revolution begins now’.133  When Batista fled forty-eight hours before the speech, he left 

behind a weak civilian-military junta under the leadership of General Eulogio Cantillo and 

Judge Carlos Piedra.  Castro called for a general strike across the island to destabilize the 

Junta and buy time for Guevara’s Rebel Army column that was marching on Havana.  

Guevara captured Havana later that day.  On 6 January, the US was the first to recognize the 

new government, and Eisenhower dispatched Ambassador Philip Bonsal to Havana two 

weeks later.134  Castro then made a long victorious procession across the length of the island 

and arrived in Havana on 8 January.  He officially became head of the revolutionary 

government on 14 February.  Castro rebuffed Bonsal’s overtures and attempts to establish a 

relationship.  On 17 April, the American Society of Newspaper Editor’s invited Castro to 

speak at the National Press Club in Washington.  Eisenhower sent Vice President Richard 

Nixon and Secretary of State Christian Herter to meet with him in an unofficial capacity.  

Following the meeting, Nixon reported to Eisenhower that Castro was ‘naïve about 

communism’, but cautioned ‘whatever we may think of him he is going to be a great factor in 

the development of Cuba and very possibly in Latin American affairs generally’.135  Castro 

was determined to honour his word that the revolution would rid the Cuban economy of 

foreign dominance and restore its sovereignty to the people.  Thus, began the first phase of 

Cuban foreign policy, which focused on gaining economic and military assistance from 

foreign powers, while Castro consolidated his power at home. 

Castro entered an elaborate chess match between China, the Soviet Union, and the US.  

While the US was the first to recognize the new government in Cuba, it would, in time, 
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become its greatest enemy.  The Soviets, although they had provided limited support to the 

insurgency, tread carefully with the new revolutionary government.  They did not officially 

establish diplomatic ties until May 1960, and even then, they remained concerned with the 

spread of adventurism in Latin America.  They did exert a slight level of control over Castro 

through economic and military support but found dealing with him tenuous.  Michael 

Erisman concluded that despite the fact that Castro needed Soviet assistance, ‘Cuba was quite 

cautious in moving toward the USSR, restrained by its fear of simply exchanging U.S. for 

Soviet hegemony’.136  Chinese recognition of Cuba also included caveats.  In 1961, a Chinese 

press release stated, ‘two years ago the armed struggle led by Castro won wide support 

among the people of Cuba’.137  This statement is significant for two reasons.  The first is that 

it recognizes the armed struggle, which directly contradicts the Soviet desires in Latin 

America for non-violent political change.  Second, it singles out Castro and not the PSP as 

the leader of the revolution.  While Mao initially lauded Castro, he held back a full faith 

endorsement of the revolution because it was not under the control of a communist party.  

The Chinese held to the principle that the military arm of the revolution must be subservient 

to the party.  Despite these philosophical differences, Mao was eager to work with the 

Cubans to further his challenge to the US in Latin America.  Castro would manoeuvre within 

the Sino-Soviet conflict to gain assistance and maintain his prominence among 

revolutionaries in Latin America and the broader developing world. 

Soviet Union 

Khrushchev changed the course of the Politburo’s policy towards the developing world after 

consolidating his control of the Soviet Union in 1957.  Stalin died in 1953, and Khrushchev, 

after much infighting, replaced him.138  In contrast to Stalin, Fursenko and Naftali explain, 

‘under Khrushchev, the Soviet Union looked for allies among the young nationalist leaders of 

what became known as the Third World’.139  During his time as the Soviet Premier, 

Khrushchev tightly controlled foreign policy and considered wars of national liberation to be 

a critical aspect of the struggle with the West.  While Stalin and Khrushchev differed on 

policy towards the developing world, they did have some continuity.  Vladislav Zubok has 
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noted that Khrushchev, ‘was both a ruthless practitioner of the crudest form of realpolitik and 

a believer in the eventual demise of world capitalism’.140  Khrushchev closely directed 

foreign policy, but two factors prevented absolute control.  The first was the massive size of 

the Soviet bureaucracy.  The second was that party diplomacy had an influential role in the 

decision-making process.141  In contrast to his overtures to the US during this period 

concerning disarmament and peaceful coexistence, Khrushchev employed proxy warfare in 

the developing world to undermine the West.142  During the Cuban insurgency, Khrushchev 

did support Castro, albeit very cautiously so as not to alert the US  The Soviets did not want 

the US to perceive they were opening a new geographical front in the Cold War.  The Soviet 

Committee for State Security (KGB) did not have contact with the Castroite revolutionaries, 

so they worked through a Czech Intelligence service agent based in Mexico City.  The Czech 

Intelligence service used eighteen Czech diplomatic missions throughout Latin America to 

support its operations.143  On 27 December 1958, the Kremlin, ‘Believing that the Soviet 

Union had an obligation to take risks to support revolutionary movements around the world’ 

sanctioned Prague’s support to Castro. 144  However, the approval came with caveats on the 

exact types of weapons and equipment that the Czech agent could provide along with specific 

security measures to protect Soviet involvement.  Irrespective of the type, quantity, and 

quality of the weapons, they arrived too late to have an impact on the conflict.145  Regardless, 

this is a clear example of the policy shift and that Khrushchev desired to expand Soviet 

influence in Latin America. 

A contentious relationship developed between Castro and Khrushchev that would have major 

implications for Soviet policy in Latin America.  The Soviets had as much difficulty 

evaluating Castro as did the US.  He clearly leaned left on the political spectrum but was not 

a communist.  He infuriated those who were watching him with his vague references to the 
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desires of the people and that the revolution would follow their lead.146  Castro’s younger 

brother Raul was a communist and developed the early relationship with the Soviets.147  

Many historians have argued that the US pushed Castro into the arms of the Soviets.  In 

contrast, others contend he was hiding his communist tendencies until he could consolidate 

his power in Havana and then naturally embraced the Soviets.  Christopher Andrew and 

former KGB officer and archivist Vasili Mitrokhin provide the most compelling evidence of 

this and point out that Castro never mentioned the term socialism in his speeches or writings 

until 1961.148  Regardless, by November 1960, Castro and Khrushchev finally met and 

exchanged a cheerful embrace at the United Nations in New York.  Castro famously 

announced, ‘Moscow is Our Brain and Our Great Leader’.149  However, this public display of 

solidarity would not end the friction between the Soviets and the Cubans. 

On 6 January 1961, Khrushchev gave a speech to the Communist Party of the Soviet Union 

(CPSU) at the Kremlin that explained Soviet involvement in the developing world.  He 

described three types of war: world wars, which they should avoid; local wars, which were of 

little consequence; and wars of national liberation.  He characterized the final category as ‘an 

uprising of colonial peoples against their oppressors that changed into guerrilla wars’.150  

Stefan Possony, one of the top experts on the Soviet Union, testified before the US Congress 

on 16 June 1961.  He explained that decisionmakers should translate wars of national 

liberation as ‘sacred liberation wars’ and emphasized that Khrushchev stressed the oppressed 

must gain ‘their freedom and independence only from struggle, including armed struggle’.151  

Moreover, Khrushchev stated, ‘The forces of the national movement are greatly increasing 

owing to the fact that one more front of active struggle against American imperialism has 

formed in recent years. Latin America has become that front’.152  Additionally, the CIA 

contended, ‘Indeed, one of the arguments that Khrushchev has made for the policy of 

peaceful coexistence was precisely that it would increase the number of unstable situations 
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which the Soviets could turn to their advantage’.153  These declarations show Khrushchev’s 

desire to spread revolution throughout the developing world to hasten the collapse of 

capitalism.  In the Western Hemisphere, Castro was at the centre of this initiative.   

There were advantages and disadvantages to the contentious Soviet-Cuban relationship.  The 

primary benefit was that Cuba provided for the establishment of communism in the Western 

Hemisphere.  Khrushchev, in a speech to the CPSU in Moscow, explained that Cuba was 

vital because it was ‘a catalyst for revolutionary power in Latin America’.154  Moreover, 

Herbert Goldhamer asserted: 

‘For a Communist government, more or less dependent on Soviet goodwill, to control one of the 

wealthiest republics in Latin America, one located in the Caribbean, which more than Central and 

South America has been viewed as an area of major strategic importance to the United States, was 

well beyond Soviet expectations or even hopes in the post-Stalin period’.155   

Khrushchev’s commitment to Castro would lead to the Cuban Missile Crisis in 1962, which 

was likely the most dangerous episode of the Cold War.  Historians have extensively 

chronicled these events, so we will not examine them here.  However, the fallout was a 

breakdown in the solidary between the Soviets and the Cubans, which resulted in another 

shift in Soviet policy.  The unsuccessful outcome of Khrushchev’s gambit in Cuba, his 

commitment to wars of liberation, and the drawbacks listed below would lead to his fall from 

the top of the Soviet hierarchy.  

The main disadvantage of the Cuban relationship was Castro himself.  He did not blindly 

follow instructions from the Soviets and was uncontrollable due to his erratic behaviour.  He 

also played the Chinese and Soviets off each other and took advantage of the coming Sino-

Soviet split.  As the CIA explained, ‘The most urgent Soviet task in these new circumstances 

was to prevent Castro from joining forces with Peking, with which he had much greater 

affinity in terms of revolutionary stance; and to deny him use of the emerging pro-Chinese 

Communist movement in Latin America as a revolutionary base’.156  However, he did not 

stray too far from Soviet influence because he needed its economic assistance.  The second 

disadvantage of the client state relationship with Cuba was that it was a financial drain on the 

Soviets.  This was significant because although the Soviet economy was relatively healthy at 
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the time, as the decade progressed, the Soviets discouraged the exportation of revolution in 

Latin America because they did not want the burden of a second client state.157  Andrew and 

Mitrokhin contend that ‘Castro continued to alarm the Centre [KGB Headquarters in 

Moscow]  by what it regarded as his excess of revolutionary zeal’.158  Moreover, Piero 

Gleijeses shows, Cuban revolutionary activity in Latin America ‘angered Moscow’, and this 

did not abate until Guevara’s death in 1967.159  Beyond the economic issue, Zubok argued, 

‘Conservation of the Soviet regime in its immediate post-Stalin stage under Khrushchev and 

beyond was based on a promise of peace and a better life for increasingly unhappy Soviet 

populace’.  He continued, ‘The confrontations over Berlin and Cuba had revived fears of war 

and led the Kremlin to renounce the goal of a historic victory in favor of strategic parity and 

cooperation with the United States’.160  As arms control became a top concern for the 

Kremlin, Soviet leaders did not want to provoke the US in the Western Hemisphere, which 

would upset the status quo.   

Khrushchev’s political enemies in Moscow used the failure of the Cuban Missile Crises to 

remove him from power and reduce Soviet involvement in the Western Hemisphere.  After 

his removal on 14 October 1964, the Soviet ‘collective leadership’, nominally led by Leonid 

Brezhnev, modified the policy towards Latin America.161  The main thrust was to counter US 

hegemony in the region, but they were also countering the influence of China in addition to 

keeping Castro in line.  The primary aspect of the policy was to encourage a return to united 

front activity led by the respective communist parties in each country.162  They also promoted 

nationalistic leaders who were against US meddling in the region.  The most nuanced aspect 

of the policy was the limited support for wars of national liberation.  They did not believe that 

another revolution like Cuba was possible in Latin America and did not desire to be 

responsible for one if it occurred.  Herbert Dinerstein explained that guerrilla movements, 

‘while hardly ideal from the Soviets' point of view, are tolerable as long as their thesis that 
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the guerrillas really have no chance of seizing power proves correct’.163  However, they 

needed to provide limited support for two reasons.  First, if they did not, the guerrilla groups 

would denounce them as bureaucrats who had lost their revolutionary desire.  Second, the 

aim was to keep the Chinese from gaining influence.164  The major drawback of providing 

support was that if they backed a group that was checked by US intervention, the West would 

perceive the Soviets as weak.  As such, the Soviets did not provide any direct support to the 

insurgent groups in Peru. 

Another important aspect of the Soviet foreign policy was cultural engagement.  Tobias 

Rupprecht uses Akira Iriye’s definition of cultural internationalism as ‘attempts to builds 

cultural understanding, international co-operation, and a sense of shared values across 

national borders through cultural, scientific or student exchanges’.165  Rupprecht shows that 

the Soviets had an advantage in this aspect of its foreign policy in Latin America over other 

areas of the developing world because they had begun outreach to Spain and then Central and 

South America in the 1920s and 1930s.166  These interactions resumed after 1957 and had a 

significant impact on the global south’s perception of the Soviet Union.  Goldhamer adds to 

Rupprecht’s argument by asserting, ‘The Soviet Union ranks second (to Spain) among non-

hemispheric countries in the number of Latin American students it receives’.167  His research 

also adds that Radio Moscow led China in total hours of broadcasting in Latin America.  

Furthermore, the Soviets broadcasted in Quechua, which was the second most common 

language in Peru after Spanish.168  These broadcasts likely reached a wider section of the 

populace when compared with educational and scientific interaction with urban elites.  

Cultural internationalism expanded Soviet influence in Latin America and was an adjunct to 

higher-level political and economic engagement during the 1960s. 

While the higher levels of Soviet bureaucracy quibbled over the level of ambition that it 

should apply to Latin America, the KGB filled the vacuum and took the lead.  Few authors of 

this period take account of the KGB’s involvement in the developing world in general and 
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Latin America in particular.  Andrew and Mitrokhin provide evidence that the KGB drove the 

Soviet Latin America policy based on a strategy developed in 1961, which the KGB 

articulated in Decision Number 191/75 GS.169  Rupprecht confirms that ‘While not inciting 

revolutions, the KGB was now, after the end of the Khrushchev reign, allowed [by Brezhnev 

and the collective leadership] to be much more active in Third World politics than the 

Kremlin and especially the foreign ministry’.170  In Peru, the ELN and MIR were preparing 

for war, but would not receive direct Soviet support.  There is no evidence of KGB 

involvement in Peru during the mid-1960s in the Mitrokhin archive.171  Former KGB General 

Nikolai Leonov, who was a Latin American specialist and rose to direct the Cuban desk of 

the Second Department, which was responsible for Latin America.172  In 1999, during a 

lecture at the Centro de Estudios Públicos in Chile, he was speaking about the situation in 

Peru when he arrived there in 1968 and stated, ‘In Peru we had no embassy, not even a 

deciphering office, no communications, nothing’.173  In comparison with other regions of the 

world, the Soviets were somewhat detached from Latin America.  As the situation in Peru 

developed, during the mid-1960s, the Soviets would have no direct involvement.  

Soviet engagement with Latin America ebbed and flowed throughout the Cold War.  Stalin 

essentially ceded the Western hemisphere to the US.  Later, Khrushchev sought to counter 

US hegemony in Latin America and provided limited support to revolutionary movements 

there as well as extensive aid to Cuba.  The KGB saw an opportunity in Latin America and 

became the de facto foreign office in many countries in the region.  Throughout this period, 

the Sino-Soviet split worsened, and the Chinese influence in Latin America increased.  As the 

Chinese sought to assume control of the world revolution in Latin America, they directly 

challenged the leadership of the Soviet-controlled Peruvian Communist Party.  I will now 

turn to China’s activities, which will provide insight into the later developments of the 

insurrection in Peru. 

People’s Republic of China 
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The Chinese foreign policy during the 1960s was complicated and multi-faceted.  A common 

theme in the scholarship is that the primary goal of the Mao Zedong’s Chinese Communist 

Party (CCP) was to secure its borders from outside influence or attack.  A second important 

factor is that Mao aimed to expand China’s influence beyond its borders and become the 

world leader in the communist revolution.  In addition to challenging the imperialist US, we 

will see that Mao directly challenged the Soviet Union during the 1960s.  Peru was critical to 

Mao because it was the first Andean nation to establish a pro-Chinese communist party, and 

its party became the most substantial Chinese communist movement in Latin America.  

Conclusive evidence from China’s engagement with Latin America, especially Peru, shows 

that during his time in power (1949-1976), Mao implemented a policy of world revolution 

that went well beyond the needs of national security. 

Several scholars have long suggested that Mao had ambitions beyond China’s borders.  

Shaun Breslin explains, ‘Mao’s main objective in all of his foreign initiatives from 1949 to 

1976 was to safeguard China’s borders, and then to restore its rightful position on the world 

stage’.174  This statement shows that there was more to Mao’s foreign policy than just 

protecting the border.  A second statement by Breslin also confirms this: ‘Mao was a Marxist, 

but he was a Chinese Marxist, and whether it aided his Chinese Marxism or not was the 

bottom line in all of his foreign policy’.175  J.D. Armstrong sums up the political thought of 

Chinese foreign policy in the early 1950s, ‘The Chinese world view encompasses a set of 

ultimate goals and values.  These include the belief in the value of struggle, particularly 

armed struggle, and the goal of world revolution via struggle against imperialism and 

capitalism’.176  Moreover, in a 1965 national intelligence estimate, the CIA asserted, ‘In this 

Third World, the Chinese not only aim to erode US strength but to displace Soviet influence; 

they seek to establish themselves as the champions and mentors of the underdeveloped 

nations’.177  These scholars together, combined with the CIA’s assessment, suggest that Mao 

was ideologically motivated to pursue revolution beyond its borders.  

China’s activities outside of the mainland included the export of ideological and 

revolutionary ideas to Southeast Asia, Africa, and Latin America.  Mao actively engaged in 
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these regions with the aim of shifting the balance of power towards the Communist bloc.178  

According to Peter Van Ness, Mao considered that Asia, along with Africa and Latin 

America, was an intermediate zone.  According to this concept, the US and other Western 

powers must control the zone before they could directly confront China or the Soviet Union.  

Van Ness shows that Mao believed the ‘U.S. imperialists are the most ferocious and most 

arrogant aggressors in the history of mankind’.179  Cecil Johnson asserts the Chinese, ‘believe 

that their ultimate goal, the attainment of victory for Communism on a global scale, can best 

be realized through fostering revolutions in Latin America, Asia, and Africa, thereby dealing 

a smashing blow to the rear of the main enemy, the United States’.180  China sought to stem 

the spread of Western imperialism and end feudalism in countries with revolutionary 

potential and also supported governments that aligned with its ideals.  It did this to stop the 

US from expanding its control in the developing world. 

Mao attempted to export his revolutionary model to Latin America to block US imperialism 

under the concept of the intermediate zone.  Key countries in this nexus were Bolivia, Brazil, 

Colombia, Cuba, and Peru.  Other countries that played a lesser role were Argentina, Chile, 

the Dominican Republic, Ecuador, and Mexico.  Peru first came to Mao’s attention during a 

meeting of the Global Communist Delegation at Qingzhen Hall in Zhongnanhai, China, on 19 

November 1960.  Guevara met with Mao, Lin Ping, and Zhou Enlai.  There, he explained to 

Mao that ‘In Colombia and Peru, the possibility for a great people’s revolution movement 

emerges’.181  Guevara went on to describe a nascent communist movement that was ready for 

expansion.  He used the recent communist party electoral victory in the Peruvian city of 

Cuzco to further his argument.  Guevara’s information may have influenced Mao to increased 

involvement in Peru.  Of the Andean nations, Johnson argues, ‘The Peruvian party, first of 

these to be established, was to become the largest and most influential of all the Latin 

American parties looking to Peking for guidance’.182  Peru became the critical Latin 

American country in Mao’s intermediate zone strategy.  
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The Chinese employed various means to spread its ideology throughout Latin America, 

including diplomatic and friendship delegations, trade relations, and academic exchanges. 

However, as China did not have official diplomatic ties with any Latin American country, 

except Cuba during the 1960s, these exchanges were limited.  An essential justification for 

building diplomatic relations was that China was attempting to dislodge Taiwan as the 

recognized government under the eyes of the United Nations, and it was looking for support 

from Latin American leaders.  The CCPs Central Committee engagement with Latin America 

can be traced back to 1956 when it attempted to develop ties with socialist and left-leaning 

groups and leaders in countries such as Cuba and Brazil.183  Other delegations led by senior 

CCP representatives travelled throughout Latin America to build diplomatic inroads.  Chinese 

documents show that two senior members of the Peruvian Communist Party (PCP) visited 

China in February and March of 1959 with a larger group of Latin American communists to 

attend a seminar concerning the Chinese revolution.184  A trip to Moscow preceded the visit.  

A CIA national intelligence estimate from 1963 identified the two Peruvians as Raul Acosta, 

the Secretary-General, and Jorge del Prado, the Secretary for Press and Propaganda.185  In a 

book he published in 1979, Jose Sotomayor Perez confirmed that Jorge del Prado was 

present.186  These events had little influence over Acosta and del Prado, who remained loyal 

to the Soviets while Sotomayor would go on to lead the pro-Chinese faction of the PCP.  Peru 

also sent the largest political delegation of twelve countries to China in 1960, with a total of 

twenty-six members.187  The China-Latin American Friendship Association had sponsored 

groups throughout Latin America and aimed to promote social and cultural understanding.  

The Peru-China Friendship Association was one of these chapters and was active in Lima and 

sent its leader to China in the fall of 1960.188  Trade was limited as a means of building 

influence in Latin America because of the similar nature of the economies of China and Latin 

America.  Johnson asserts, ‘The Chinese produce few of the industrial goods which the Latins 

require’.  He continues, ‘The Latin Americans produce few goods which the Chinese really 

need or cannot purchase elsewhere at lower prices’.189  On the educational front, China’s 

actions were strikingly similar to the methods of Soviet cultural internationalism discussed 
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above.  China sponsored cultural exchanges and provided Chinese movies and books in the 

Spanish language.  It also sponsored students from Latin American to travel to China to 

pursue education.190  The sum of this outreach allowed the CCP to share its ideology and 

provided a small increase in Chinese influence in the region. 

The Chinese also conducted clandestine operations that they hid from Latin American 

governments.  The main perpetrator of these activities was the Xinhua, translated as the New 

China News Agency (NCNA), which was subordinate to the Propaganda Department of the 

CCP’s Central Committee.  The NCNA did innocuous things that one could perceive as 

congruent with its name, such as collecting local newspapers and magazines to send back to 

the mainland.  In 1963, the CIA noted the NCNA, ‘working primarily through local 

Communist parties has established a network of correspondents in Latin America’.191  It was 

also responsible for broadcasting Chinese propaganda in the Spanish and Portuguese 

languages.192  This began in 1957 and by the mid-1960s was broadcasting two hours per day 

in Latin American countries, a much lower volume than what the Soviets broadcast.193  The 

NCNA acted as the de facto diplomatic arm in countries outside Cuba where the Chinese did 

not have official diplomatic ties.194  Along with this theme, they worked closely with the 

Friendship Associations to facilitate the travel of delegations to and from China.  On the more 

nefarious side, Johnson asserts, ‘They are known to have passed money to groups having a 

pro-Chinese orientation, particularly newspapers and magazines that are financially weak’.  

He continued, ‘Doubtless they also provide much of the money required by pro-Chinese 

Communist parties, movements, and front organizations in Latin America’.195  Although 

Johnson does not provide conclusive evidence of this assertion, it is indeed in the realm of the 

possible.  Moreover, a US Defense Intelligence Agency expert on the subject confirms that 

the Chinese used the NCNA to conduct operations, as explained by Johnson.196  In 1960, the 
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NCNA established its office in Peru.  The NCNA provided the Chinese with a mechanism to 

spread their ideology and influence throughout Latin America despite not having official 

diplomatic missions. 

Johnson offered three reasons why the CCP provided support to the Communist movements 

in the Andean region, specifically Peru, in the 1960s.  The first was a desire to influence the 

in-fighting between the pro-Chinese and pro-Soviet leadership of the PCP.  By 1965, the 

Sino-Soviet split was well advanced, and the Chinese regarded this as an opportunity to take 

control of the Communist movement in Peru.  Second, the geography of Peru, along with 

Colombia and Brazil, was perfect for guerrilla warfare, which was essential to Mao’s theory 

of the People’s Protracted War.197  Moreover, David Scott Palmer confirms that the 

population of the Andean highlands in Peru was ‘overwhelming indigenous and lived in 

extreme poverty’.198  This is significant because it increases the likelihood that a population 

will be willing to provide support to a revolutionary People’s War and ties a human element 

to the favourable physical geography.  Finally, Peru was semi-feudal, and a major portion of 

the population was agrarian peasants, which was very similar to the situation in China before 

the revolution there, making the idea of pushing a Communist revolution in Peru seem 

feasible, given that parallel circumstance.199  Palmer also confirms this assessment, ‘As for 

considerations to the rise of Maoism in Peru itself, one was a socioeconomic reality of a large 

rural peasantry, which comprised over 40 percent of the country’s population’.200  While 

these conditions would not prove sufficient to overthrow the Peruvian government, the 

analysis was compelling enough to warrant Mao’s attention to Peru. 

Johnson’s first point (that there was a desire to influence the in-fighting between the pro-

Chinese and pro-Soviet leadership) requires closer examination because it is crucial to the 

development of the PCP.  In 1963 Jose Sotomayor and Manuel Soria travelled to China and 

consulted with Mao on how to deal with the Soviets.201  The Peruvian Muscovites established 

the pro-Soviet version of the PCP before the pro-Chinese version that took the same name.  

The pro-Chinese leaders forced a merger of the two groups and then pushed the pro-Soviets 

out of the group altogether.  This occurred during the Fourth National Congress of the PCP in 
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January 1964.  The pro-Chinese element of the PCP went so far in its effort as to collaborate 

with the Peruvian police, providing them with information that led to the arrest of top pro-

Soviet leaders.  The pro-Chinese leaders justified this because, according to their view, the 

Soviets, under Khrushchev and then Brezhnev, had lost the revolutionary spirit and become 

power-hungry bureaucrats.  Further, the Soviets had instituted a policy of ‘peaceful co-

existence’ which was not acceptable to the Chinese or their Peruvian followers.202  The 

detailed level of interference by the Chinese, not merely supporting like-minded movements, 

but seeking to vanquish any Soviet influence, suggests a deep-seated desire to have the 

revolution in Peru follow a precisely Chinese path. 

Conclusion 

This chapter reviewed important events in Peruvian history that will be crucial for the reader 

to contextualize the insurgency described in the remainder of the dissertation.  I explained the 

early development of APRA and the PCP.  These groups became marred in the bureaucratic 

morass and ideological infighting and lost their revolutionary zeal by the early 1960s.  Thus, 

forcing the more radical elements to break off and form rural guerrilla fronts and urban 

terrorist groups to carry out the aim of political change in Peru.  The successful Cuban 

insurgency had a significant impact on the foreign policies of China, the Soviet Union, and 

the US towards Latin America.  Eisenhower built on Truman’s well-established military ties 

with Latin American militaries to prepare counterinsurgency forces to prevent another Cuba 

in the Western Hemisphere.  The Soviets sought to demonstrate support for wars of national 

liberation, but not at the level that it would upset the US  The Chinese took advantage of the 

Soviet’s hesitancy and began a hostile takeover of the Peruvian Communist Party while 

continuing its policy of blocking US hegemony in the Latin American intermediate zone.  

The next chapter will look at how the Cuban Revolution developed and how it exported 

revolution across the Caribbean and South America and supported the Peruvian New Left’s 

leaders. 
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Chapter two: Establishment of the ELN and MIR 

As described in chapter one, the Cuban insurgency was a watershed moment in Latin 

America’s Cold War.  Castro, in the resulting revolution, solidified control over Cuba and 

instituted a foreign policy that aimed to spread the revolution across Latin America.  The 

Cubans quickly developed a world-class intelligence organization that it used to train and 

support revolutionaries across the developing world.  In South America, Peru was a key 

country in the Cuban strategy.  As such, Fidel Castro, Ernesto ‘Che’ Guevarra, and their 

intelligence apparatus provided extensive support to the Peruvian National Liberation Army 

(ELN) and, to a lesser extent, the Movement of the Revolutionary Left (MIR).  This section 

will trace Cuba’s foreign policy and show how the ELN and MIR broke away from their 

respective parent organizations, and with Cuban assistance, developed into insurgent groups 

and prepared for war with the Peruvian government. 

The export of Revolution 

Castro was able to develop the Cuban intelligence services from an underground insurgent 

support organization into a world-class intelligence agency within a few short years.  Ramiro 

Valdes headed the Ministry of the Interior (MOI) and oversaw the intelligence apparatus.   

The MOI had two primary intelligence services known as the Direccion General de 

Intelligencia (General Directorate of Intelligence, DGI) and the Direccion General de 

Contra-Intelligencia (General Directorate of Counter-Intelligence, DGCI).203  Manuel Pineiro 

headed the DGI, which conducted the majority of the activities related to exporting the 

revolution.  Pineiro, commonly referred to by his nom de guerre ‘Barbaroja’ (Red Beard), 

was a close confidant of the Castro brothers and Guevara.  He was educated at Columbia 

University in New York, spoke fluent English, and was married to an American woman.  

While the Czech intelligence services had long-established connections with Castro, the 

Soviet Committee for State Security (KGB) quickly developed a rapport with the DGI, and 

along with the East German Stasi (secret police), they trained and mentored the young 

revolutionaries.  Castro took a keen interest in the intelligence services and often personally 

directed operations.204  The early years are fraught with follies and mistakes, but the young, 
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dedicated Cuban officers learned and adapted quickly.  However, the CIA dismissed them.   

Journalist Brian Latell wrote, ‘They simply were not taken seriously. After all, as the thinking 

went at CIA, how could an impoverished third-world country – a Caribbean one at that, and 

in the grips of a chaotic revolution – possibly compete with the best intelligence service in the 

world?’205  Benjamin Fischer, former Chief Historian of the CIA, confirms that the CIA 

underestimated the Cubans, in an article that serves as a damage assessment concerning DGI, 

KGB, and Stasi double agents.206  In the 1980s, after debriefing multiple defectors, the CIA 

would learn just how far the Cuban intelligence services had developed in the early 1960s. 

Cuba’s desire to export its revolution in Latin America was a primary driver of its foreign 

policy, and it expended vast resources to meet this aim.  Guevara explained, ‘As Marxists, we 

have maintained that peaceful coexistence among nations does not encompass coexistence 

between the exploiters and the exploited, between the oppressors and the oppressed’.207  The 

often-repeated mantra ‘The duty of every revolutionary is to make revolution’ was not just 

rhetoric.  It was a deeply held belief that action would change the world.  To enact this 

program, Cuba began providing training and education to Latin American revolutionaries as 

early as 1960.  The Organization of American States’ (OAS) Special Consultative Committee 

on Security reported: 

‘Communism, through an appropriate system of selection, chooses the most capable individuals for 

the ends it seeks. Then, in schools or training centers, these individuals are prepared as activists of all 

kinds: leaders, orators, and propagandists; experts in sabotage, espionage and terrorism in all its 

forms; specialists in the handling of arms and radio equipment, in guerrilla warfare, etc’.208 

In 1963, Director of Central Intelligence (DCI) John McCone testified before Congress that 

in 1962 1,000 to 1,500 ‘young Latin Americans from every country with the possible 

exception of Uruguay went to Cuba for training and indoctrination’.209  He added that many 

more had arrived in 1963.  A 1963 US Senate report listed the names and locations of nine 

training camps or schools in Cuba that the DGI used specifically for training revolutionaries 
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from the developing world.210  Moreover, a US News and World Report article claimed in 

early 1964 that Cuba had at least nine and possibly as many as thirty training centres 

established that provided training to as many as 1500 revolutionaries at any given time.  The 

article also stated that the Cubans trained an estimated 5000 revolutionaries in total and then 

dispatched them back to their home countries.211  Cuba funded the travel expenses and 

provided various training courses at no cost to the Latin American dissident groups.  The DGI 

was the lead agency in this effort.  On 12 October 1964, the CIA published details of the 

training program, based on debriefings of a defector, in a classified document called 

‘Selection and Training of Cuban Intelligence Agents Abroad’.212  Historians have verified 

many of the assertions in the report, which confirms that the CIA had a good understanding 

of the Cuban efforts to export revolution to Africa and Latin America. 

The Cubans had separate training programs for its two types of agents that supported 

different focus areas. This first type was the intelligence collection agent that also conducted 

sabotage. There are only fragments of evidence that the Cubans employed this type of agent 

in Peru during the 1960s.  The second type of agent specialized in revolutionary activity with 

an emphasis on rural guerrilla warfare.  The DGI referred to them as ‘guerrilla agents’.  The 

ELN and MIR members who travelled to Cuba fell into this category.  Upon arrival in 

Havana, groups of trainees were arranged in groups based on their nationality and sponsoring 

organization.  A DGI case officer from the Departamento Liberacion Nacional (National 

Liberation Department, LN) looked after their basic needs and coordinated their training.  

The training courses and instruction were the responsibility of the DGI Departamento de 

Escuelas Especiales (Department of Special Schools, SS), and many of the instructors were 

members of the Cuban Army.  Various course options lasted from three to six months.  The 

military aspect of the training included ‘all aspects of guerrilla warfare, weapons handling, 

explosives, sabotage, demolition, military tactics, combat engineering, etc., as well as means 

of countering anti-guerrilla activities’.213  The small arms instruction included both US and 

Soviet bloc models.  Latell adds that ‘The DGI taught them how to acquire weapons and 
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ammunition from the uniformed services of their countries and to rob banks for funds’.214  To 

this list of subjects, Juan Sanchez, former bodyguard of Castro, adds, ‘…hijacking of boats 

and planes, interrogation and torture techniques, logistics, and political strategy…’ as well as 

instruction in Marxism.215  Towards the end of the course, the SS trainers took the students to 

Las Villas province for practical exercises and survival training in the Escambray Mountains.  

Some trainees had the opportunity to participate in counterguerrilla operations with the 

Cuban Army against anti-Castro insurgent groups.216  The instructors enforced a high 

standard, and the training was challenging and intense.  Individuals who did not meet the 

standards were required to repeat portions of instruction or were removed from the training 

and sent home. 

The Cubans made significant advancements in revolutionary theory that was adapted for 

Cuba specifically, and Latin America in general.  On 29 January 1959, Guevara explained the 

significance at a meeting in Havana, ‘The example of our revolution for Latin America, and 

the lessons it implies, have destroyed all the café theories.  We have shown that a small group 

of resolute men, supported by the people, and not afraid to die if necessary, can take on a 

disciplined regular army and completely defeat it’.217  They eschewed orthodox Marxist-

Leninist theory and its application by the communist parties throughout Latin America.  

Because of this, the Soviets considered Castro and Guevara heretics and adventurists.  There 

are many parallels between the Cuban foco theory and the Chinese People’s protracted 

warfare.  (See table two above.)  In general, the Cubans have held that they did not have 

knowledge or access to Mao’s writings on guerrilla warfare until very late in the insurgency, 

and it did not have an impact on their thinking or strategy.  Johnson summarizes, ‘One can 

detect a certain defensiveness in regard to the suggestions that they borrowed heavily from 

the military writings of Mao Tse-tung. Guevara denied at least three times that the Cubans 

were influenced by the Chinese example’.  He continues, ‘As a matter of fact, he asserted that 

they knew nothing about Mao’s theory of guerrilla warfare while they were actually fighting 

Batista.  But during an interview granted in June 1959, to Chinese journalists in Havana, he 

admitted that guerrilla commanders had studied Mao’s works’.218  Guevara established the 
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basis of the foco theory in his book Guerrilla Warfare that he published in 1960.219  Many 

consider that writing a collection of techniques and not a significant contribution to Marxist 

thought.  However, trainees used it as a textbook during courses in Cuba, and Latin American 

revolutionaries consulted it during many insurrections throughout the 1960s. 

Regis Debray, a young French philosopher and confidant of Castro, developed and better 

explained the theory and its possible practical application across Latin America in Revolution 

in the Revolution?, which he published in 1967.  Debray attempted to distinguish the foco 

theory from the Chinese model and blame the failure of Latin American revolutions, such as 

in Peru because revolutionaries followed the Chinese way and not the Cubans.  His dissection 

of nuanced aspects of the theories only showed that he did not actually understand Mao’s 

flexible approach.  Mao held that first, one must understand warfare; then one must 

understand revolutionary warfare; finally, one must apply this knowledge to the current 

situation.  Debray focuses on China and Vietnam and does not mention early theories of 

Marxist-Leninist methodology.  Johnson asserts this is because Debray ‘apparently regards 

the Soviet model as totally irrelevant to conditions existing in Latin America’.220  He goes on 

to stress that Debray though that the Chinese model would be attractive to Latin American 

because on the surface the conditions between China and Latin America were similar.  While 

this is accurate on some levels, there are two significant differences between the Chinese and 

Cuban models. 

The first significant difference is the relationship between the guerrilla fighters and the 

political leadership of the organization.  In the Marxist-Leninist and Chinese versions, the 

guerrilla force or rebel army is subservient to the Party.  Mao wrote, ‘Our principle is that the 

Party commands the gun, and the gun must never be allowed to command the Party’.221  In 

the case of Cuba, the Party was the Popular Socialist Party (PSP), which held no control or 

influence over Castro.  The foco theory holds that the guerrilla army is the vanguard, and the 

Party will later come from the rebel army leadership following the successful revolution.  The 

instructors continually reinforced this vital point to young revolutionaries during guerrilla 

training courses in Cuba.  The second significant difference is the use of ‘armed propaganda’ 

in the early stages of the insurgency.  Armed propaganda, or political indoctrination, is a 

technique that employs the guerrillas to conduct agitation, propaganda, and education 
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sessions with the population to show them how communism could provide them with a better 

life.  In the Cuban model, there was no time for this, and the guerrilla should concentrate on 

fighting.  A successful battle against the government forces would demonstrate the 

commitment of the guerrilla to the peasant and win him over to the cause.  Debray points out 

that ‘During two years of warfare, Fidel did not hold a single political rally in his zone of 

operation’.222  Johnson concludes, ‘Debray does not attack the notion of armed propaganda 

per se, but he does contend that the revolutionaries in Latin America at present are so weak 

that they cannot at this time afford to pursue this tactic’.223  These two significant differences, 

first written about by Guevara following the Cuban insurgency, and later elaborated into a 

more advanced theory by Debray, were the mainstay of Cuban Army training for Latin 

American revolutionaries.  Upon successful completion of training, the DGI facilitated the 

movement of the guerrilla agents back to their home countries. 

The Czech intelligence service had worked with Fidel since 1957.  Clandestine collaboration 

between the two countries continued in the form of Operation Manuel, which was active from 

1962 until 1969.  The Cuban section of the I. Branch, 1st Administration of the Czech 

Ministry of Interior, managed the project in coordination with the Czech rezidentura in 

Havana.224  The primary purpose of the project was to facilitate the movement of Latin 

American revolutionaries from their home countries to Cuba and back.  This was required 

because the international community secured borders to isolate Cuba.  The mechanism 

moved a total of 1,179.225  Javier Heraud and a small group travelled through Prague on their 

return to Peru in 1963.226  A partial manifest uncovered in the Czech Security Service 

Archive in Prague shows that sixty-five Peruvians travelled from Cuba through Prague and 

back to Peru between 1964 and 1969.227  Many of these were ELN and MIR members.  Until 

1964, it was relatively easy for Peruvian insurgents to travel from Cuba to Peru.  However, as 

the various security services in South America began to increase border security, the 

insurgents required a more secure method of travel.  The operation was successful because 
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there were direct flights between Havana and Prague.  The only other city in a socialist state 

that had direct flights was Moscow.  Prague is centrally located in Europe and proved to be a 

good transit point for Latin American travellers.  Moreover, there were significant numbers 

of legitimate travellers moving through Prague, which provided cover for the 

revolutionaries.228  The Cubans, nor the Czechs, required the dissidents to be members of the 

official communist party of their respective nations in order to receive assistance.  Operation 

Manuel supported any person who was fighting against the US regardless of whether they 

were socialist, communist, nationalist, or even Maoist.   

The Cuban Insurgency and Revolution had a profound effect on the Western Hemisphere 

during the 1950s and 1960s.  As shown above, Fidel, with assistance from the KGB, Czech 

Intel Service, and the Stasi, quickly assembled a formidable world-class intelligence service 

to support its foreign policy aim of exporting the revolution. This leads to a perplexing 

question:  How did a small Lima-based group of idealistic young students transform 

themselves into a rural insurgent group that overmatched local security forces and required 

one of Latin America’s most competent armies’ counterinsurgency capabilities to defeat it?  

In the two subsections below, I will examine Peru’s two main insurgent groups of the 1960s 

and explain how they went through this transformation process.   

Formation of the ELN 

Following the Cuban Revolution, many Peruvian Communist Party (PCP) members became 

disillusioned with the pro-Soviet leadership and looked to the Cuban model of revolution for 

answers.  The Sino-Soviet split and ideological differences of the pro-Soviet and pro-China 

members exacerbated the situation and drove some members towards the Cuban way.  Many 

believed ‘Cuban socialism made the problems of revolution of immediate concern and did 

not allow them to be postponed to a more or less distant future’.229  They began to question 

and debate Marxist-Leninist doctrine.  They studied Alberto Bayo’s essay One Hundred and 

Fifty Questions for a Guerrilla and concluded that guerrilla warfare was the correct path.  

Hector Bejar recalled, ‘even if we did not articulate it, we all understood in those years that a 

new revolutionary period had begun and that the revolution, if it were achieved, would not 

necessarily develop according to the models we had in our heads’.230  The infighting among 

the left, combined with the lethargic stance of the PCP leadership, caused Bejar and his 
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cohorts to break away for the PCP and form the National Liberational Army (ELN).  They 

travelled to Cuba to study the revolution and obtain training in the foco method of 

insurgency. 

In September 1962, with the assistance of the Cubans, three elements established the ELN.  

The core consisted of Bejar and five others and became known as the Grupo Bejar.  Students 

who had travelled to Cuba on scholarships formed the second, and the final was a random 

collection of individuals who by happenstance were in Cuba and linked up with the group as 

it was forming.  Bejar’s group included Guillermo Mercado, Juan Pablo Chang, Julio 

Dagnino, Luis Zapata, Alian Elias, Mario Rodriguez, Vladimiro Gallegos, and Fernando 

Tello.  In late 1961, they travelled from Lima to Havana, Cuba via Mexico City.  Violeta 

Valcarcel, a PCP member, facilitated their travel.  This was a risk for her because PCP 

leaders directed members not to support the ELN.  While Khrushchev’s rhetoric seemingly 

supported Wars of National Liberation, Moscow wanted communists parties in Latin 

America to avoid armed insurrection and support to militant groups, such as the ELN.  

However, Valcarcel later explained that she wanted the PCP to be at the forefront of the 

revolution and not to be left behind.231  This is the first instance of a significant trend that 

emerged during the ELN’s existence.  Individual members of the communist parties 

throughout Latin America sometimes supported the ELN against party orders.  This solidarity 

among rank-and-file members of the Left was crucial to the limited successes of the ELN.   

The Bejar group’s journey to Havana was challenging, and they faced additional delays once 

they arrived.  In 1961 most countries in Latin America did not have open diplomatic relations 

with Cuba.  The security services of these nations closely monitored international travel to 

and from Cuba in an effort to thwart communist expansion.  Bejar and his cohort flew via 

commercial airlines from Lima to Mexico City.  Valcarcel provided them with a secret 

message, and upon arrival, they presented it to a successful businessman called Ignacio 

Magaloni.  Magaloni, an associate of Valcarcel, provided the group accommodation at a hotel 

he owned while they waited for conveyance to Cuba.  In December 1961, they finally made 

their way to Havana and were excited to begin training immediately.  However, Bejar ran 

into Ruben Mollepaza in the lobby of the Hotel Habana Riviera, where they were staying.  

Mollepaza was a leader of the PCP and interfered with the guerrilla warfare training of the 

group. Moreover, there was infighting among various Castroites and the Cuban communists.  

 
231 Interview with Violeta Valcarcel in Lust, Lucha Revolucionaria Perú, p. 140. 
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Bejar recalled, ‘when we arrived in Havana there was much tension between July 26th 

Movement and the members of Anibal Escalante’s group.  That was what prevented us from 

starting the training, and we began immediately after the Second Declaration of Havana’, 

which was Castro’s address to the Cuban people on 4 February 1962, in response to OAS’s 

expulsion or Cuba.232  With the delays sorted out, they started their preparation for guerrilla 

warfare.  On 18 July 1962, the Peruvian military conducted a coup d’état, which caused an 

upheaval in the political system.  As journalist Jon Anderson concluded, ‘For Peruvians 

seeking to apply the Cuban model to their nation, it was time to strike’.233  However, 

additional delays would prevent them from taking advantage of this political situation. 

A group of Peruvian students merged with Bejar’s core before the guerrilla warfare training 

course and significantly added to the size of the ELN.  The students were openly recruited 

from universities across Peru from various positions on the social-economic strata.  However, 

the majority of the students were from the University of San Marcos in Lima, which was a 

well- known incubator of revolution.  Many of them were members of the PCP’s student 

group Juventud Comunista Peruano (Peruvian Communist Youth, JCP).  Similar goings-on 

took place across Latin America.  The leftist group Federacion de Estudiantes 

Revolucionarios (Revolutionary Student Federation, FER) used posters, flyers, newspaper 

advertisements, and radio announcements on Peruvian stations as well as Radio Havana to 

attract applicants.  The Cuban government offered becas (scholarships) to travel and study in 

Havana.  There was no effort to conceal this activity, and the internal security forces took 

notice.  FER leaders reviewed the students’ academic records and screened their cognitive 

ability, but this was only the initial requirement.  During the interview process, there was a 

litmus test for sympathy for and admiration of the Cuban Revolution.  One of the students, 

Federico Garcia, explained, ‘firstly, we should send people of a social extraction that 

deserved assistance, and secondly, those who were committed to the student fight, and that 

had a progressive mindset’.234  Lust added, ‘However, to obtain a scholarship, it was not a 

requirement to be a member of the PCP or their youth organization’.235  This allowed for a 

larger pool of applicants for the scholarship program.  

 
232 Lust, Lucha Revolucionaria Perú, p. 140. 
233 Jon Anderson, Che Guevara: A Revolutionary Life (New York: Grove Press, 1997), p. 534. 
234 Interview with Federico García in Lust, Lucha Revolucionaria Perú, p. 149. Spanish version: ‘debíamos 

enviar allá primeramente a gente de una extracción social que mereciera este tipo de apoyo y, en segundo lugar, 

que se hubiera comprometido en la lucha estudiantil, que tuviera una mentalidad progresista’. 
235 Lust, Lucha Revolucionaria Perú, p. 149. Spanish version: ‘Sin embargo, para obtener una beca no era 

requisito ser miembro del PCP o de su organización juvenil’. 
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The students’ journey to Havana was more perilous than Bejar’s group.  The FER leadership 

completed the selection process, and notified the selectees, who became known as Los 

Becados.  They consolidated in Lima and waited to travel to Cuba.  Their route required them 

to go to Arica, a town in northern Chile, to meet a plane that would take them to their final 

destination.  They moved in small groups in buses or taxis to Tacna, a small town on the 

Peruvian side of the border with Chile.  At the border crossing point, Customs Officers 

detained Rafael Vilcapoma and Carlos Mantero y Palermo along with two others.  Vilcapoma 

recalled, ‘The police threatened us and took us to a place and stepped on us to the maximum.  

They threatened us because it was prohibited to travel to Cuba.  They knew we were traveling 

to Cuba, we could not deny it.  They knew our names.  They knew everything’.236  The 

authorities collected their biographical data and took pictures and fingerprints, and then 

released them.  

Upon arrival in Arica, the local Communists looked after the students.  They were members 

of the Partido Communista Chileno (Chilean Communist Party, PCC) and the Partido 

Socialista de Chile (Socialist Party of Chile, PS).  As the Becados were traveling to Cuba 

ostensibly for educational purposes, there were no prohibitions against supporting them, as 

was the case with Bejar’s group.  Accepting a certain level of risk, various PCC and PS 

members welcomed students into their homes, while others stayed in local hotels.  This is 

another example of the solidarity of communist party members supporting the New Left.  The 

first flight departed Arica on 4 April 1962.  On route to Cuba, the aircraft stopped for fuel in 

Guayaquil, Ecuador.  This was problematic because Ecuador had broken relations with Cuba 

two days earlier.  The Ecuadorian military detained the aircraft for a short time.  Philip Agee, 

a CIA officer, posted to the US Consulate in Guayaquil at the time, recalled that they knew 

there were Peruvian students on the plane and that it was bound for Cuba.  They requested the 

passenger manifest from the Ecuadorians and forwarded it to the CIA station in Lima.237  The 

aircraft was later allowed to refuel and depart for its destination.  Some of the students, such 

as Milciades Ruiz and Manuel Cabrera, arrived a few days after the flight left.  They were 

disillusioned and did not know what to do and considered returning to their respective 

universities, but they had no money.  Ruiz remembered, ‘My idea was to work in order to 

gather enough for a return ticket and continue studying at the University of Trujillo, but the 

 
236 Interview with Rafael Vilcapoma in Lust, Lucha Revolucionaria Perú, p. 149. Spanish Version: ‘La Policía 

nos amenazaba, nos llevaron a un lugar y nos pisaron al máximo. Ellos nos amenazaban porque estaba prohibido 

viajar a Cuba. Ellos sabían que viajábamos a Cuba, no pudimos negarlo. Sabían nuestros nombres. Sabían todo’. 
237 Agee, Inside the Company, p. 233. 
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problem was resolved at that moment’.238  PCC members contacted Chilean Senator Salvador 

Allende, who was the coordinator for Arica, and he arranged a second flight for six remaining 

students two weeks later.239  On 21 April 1962, the second flight arrived in Havana without 

incident. 

Hundreds of students from across Latin America were arriving in Havana in the spring of 

1962, and they entered an elaborate plan that the Cuban’s employed to radicalize them.  

Approximately eighty of the students were from Peru.  Anderson explains that there were two 

sub-groups within the student population.  The first sought academic education and 

knowledge of the Cuban government.  He recounts an interview with one of the Becados 

called Roberto, who explained that the other group, ‘wanted to take advantage of Cuba’s 

revolutionary experience to learn from it, and return to our own country to carry out our own 

revolution’.240  While the majority of the students arrived with intentions of studying in 

Cuban institutions such as the University of Havana, the Cuban revolutionary spirit 

influenced their thinking.  One day Castro himself came to speak with them and offered them 

military training.  Antonio Pacheco, one of the Peruvian students, recalled Castro saying, ‘All 

right, those who would like to [participate in military training] can, but first get to know the 

island, I want that you see what socialism is, see Marxism up close and in real life’.241  There 

was no pressure to accept the offer.  Castro wanted them to travel the island and encouraged 

them to speak with peasants, workers, militiamen, and party leaders.  In a letter to his mother, 

Javier Heraud explained, ‘We have had a wonderful tour of Cuba. We have visited and 

admired very closely all of the extraordinary work of the revolution.  I will tell you the things 

you like to hear.  The have put us up in the neighbourhood called Vedado, which is like 

Miraflores [an upscale area in Lima], in two large houses’.242  While the materialistic 

comments of the young socialist are curious, the important aspect is that Castro was 

encouraging them to choose the path of violence. 

 
238 Interview with Milciades Ruiz in Lust, Lucha Revolucionaria Perú, p. 150. Spanish version: ‘Mi idea era 

trabajar para juntar para el pasaje y regresar a seguir estudiando en la Universidad de Trujillo, pero había que 

resolver el problema del momento’. 
239 Heraud, Vida y Muerte de Javier Heraud, p. 8. 
240 Interview with Roberto in Anderson, Che Guevara, p. 534. 
241 Interview with Antonio Pacheco in Lust, Lucha Revolucionaria Perú, p. 150. Spanish version: “Bueno, los 

que quieran ir puedan, pero primero conozcan la isla, quiero que ustedes vean que es el socialismo, el marxismo 

en vivo y directo’. 
242 Heraud, Vida y Muerte de Javier Heraud, p. 166. Spanish version: ‘Hemos tenido un maravilloso recorrido 

por Cuba. Hemos visitado y admirado muy de cerca todo el trabajo extraordinario de la revolución. Te diré las 

cosas que te gusta escuchar. Nos han colocado en el barrio llamado Vedado, que es como Miraflores, en dos 

casas grandes’. 
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The group travelled around the entire island and carefully examined the Cuban version of 

socialism, and this prepared them for the next phase of Castro’s scheme.  On 24 April, their 

guides took them to a house in the Nuevo Vedado neighbourhood of Havana.  Castro met 

with the students again, however, this time he was very direct and pressured them to decide.  

Carlos Mantero recalled, ‘In the same meeting, Fidel presented the idea that the way to 

participate and support the revolution in your country, in this case Peru, is in two ways.  One 

is military, and the other is professional.  He was direct and said, do not think too much about 

the matter, it’s that simple’.243  Mantero and his fellow students were surprised by Castro’s 

bluntness.  They choice was clear, go to study and become a professional, or join the 

revolution and save your homeland from the oppressive Oligarchy and US imperialism.  

About half of the Peruvians decided to take up arms, and Castro persuaded most of them that 

violence was the only way to improve their country.  The tipping point for Antonio Pacheco 

was his observations during the tour of Cuba.  He stated, ‘the Cuban Revolution convinced 

me when I saw it up close and in real life’.244  Milciades Ruiz was a poor kid from a 

disadvantaged area in Peru but was able to work his way into medical school.  However, he 

could not afford the tuition, so he sought the opportunity to study in Cuba so that he could 

complete his education and obtain a well-paying job and help his family.  But Castro 

converted his thinking.  Ruiz recalled, ‘my logic was, I could fight for myself, or I could take 

this opportunity and fight for every young person in my situation’.245  The Cubans separated 

those who choose revolution and took them away for training. 

The DGI’s cadre united the three Peruvian elements that would form the ELN and prepared 

them to begin training.  The Grupo Bejar and Los Becados were joined by other Peruvians 

who took various paths to the training centre.  Abraham Lama was a journalist working for 

the Cuban news organization Prensa Latina.  In 1959, they shut down their office in Lima, 

and he went to work in Havana.  In an effort to complete his education, he joined the 

students, but later decided to take the military route.  Nestor Guevara was a PCP member 

from Cuzco who was sent to Cuba to learn from the Revolution.  He ran into Bejar in Havana 

 
243 Interview with Carlos Mantero in Lust, Lucha Revolucionaria Perú, p. 151. Spanish version: “En la misma 

reunión, Fidel planteo que la manera de participar y apoyar a la revolución de su país, en este caso del Perú, era 

de dos maneras. Una como militares, y otra como profesionales. Él fue directo, o sea, no daba muchas vueltas al 

asunto, así de simple’.  
244 Interview with Antonio Pacheco in Lust, Lucha Revolucionaria Perú, p. 153. Spanish version: ‘A mí me 

convenció la revolución cubana al verla en vivo y en directo’.  
245 Interview with Milcíades Ruiz in Lust, Lucha Revolucionaria Perú, p. 153. Spanish version: ‘mi lógica era, 

en vez de luchar para mí mismo, yo tengo la oportunidad de luchar para todos los jóvenes que están en mi 

situación’. 
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and decided to join him in military training.  Others, such as Edilberto Marquez, Gonzolo 

Fernandez, and Dario Acurio were members of MIR and decided to switch to the ELN.246  

This was a common occurrence among the various leftist groups.  For example, Guillermo 

Lobaton Milla, a senior ELN member switched to the MIR and led a guerrilla column in the 

central highlands.247  This influx was due to personality conflicts, ideological stances, and 

differences in tactical approaches to the future insurrection.  These three elements would 

coalesce to establish the ELN. 

The DGI assigned the Peruvian trainees to the National Liberation Department for 

administrative and logistical support, while the Department of Special Schools conducted the 

training course.  The core of the Special Schools cadre was from the Cuban Army, but 

Russian, Czech, and Spanish advisors assisted them.248  Officially, the Minister of Interior 

Ramiro Valdes and DGI Director Manuel Pineiro oversaw the training.  However, Guevara 

involved himself in the smallest of details when it came to the revolutionaries.  DGI officer 

Orlando Pantoja was the primary person who looked after the ELN members while they were 

on the island.  He was a close confidant of Guevara and died with him in Bolivia in 1967.  

The training went from 5 AM until 10 PM and included Marxist-Leninist theory, weapons 

and marksmanship, use of explosives, physical conditioning and hand-to-hand combat, 

survival, guerrilla tactics, as well as infiltration and exfiltration techniques.  The cadre 

designed the course based on their practical experiences gained during the Cuban insurgency.  

After the introductory phase, they moved to the mountains and conducted long, arduous 

marches in the hot and humid climate.  The Special Schools instructors devised this activity 

to build stamina in the students and weed out those who did not have the physical or mental 

resolve that mountain warfare required of a guerrilla fighter.  The cadre expelled those who 

could not keep up with the course. 

The ELN participants had differing opinions about the quality of the training.  Julio Dagnino 

claimed that the training totally prepared him to go anywhere in Latin America and initiate 

the revolution.  Writing in 1989, Bejar provides hour by hour detail of the training course.  In 

a bizarre and almost loving way, he described the ‘joyful design and perfect balance of the 

 
246 Interviews with Nestor Guevara and Edilberto Marquez in Lust, Lucha Revolucionaria Perú, p. 157. 
247 Anderson, Che Guevara, p. 678. 
248 CIA, ‘Selection and Training of Cuban Intelligence Agents Abroad’, p. 5; Latell, Castro’s Secrets, p. 93, 

Anderson, Che Guevara, p. 535. 
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FAL … beautiful, black UZI … ugly and complicated San Cristobal carbine’.249  Ruiz and 

Pacheco both recalled that the training prepared them for the revolution.  Despite these 

positive reviews, Antonio Li, a former paratrooper in the Peruvian Army, was not impressed.  

He argued that the political theory aspect was adequate, but the military training was limited, 

rushed, and superficial.  Li stated, ‘I was in the Army, and the process to prepare a good 

soldier is much longer.  In two months, you cannot do anything, having many ideas, illusions, 

and much enthusiasm is not sufficient because, in two months, you cannot do anything’.250  

As a counterargument, Lust offers that Castro and Guevara only trained for four months and 

were not wholly prepared militarily when they departed Mexico.  The DGI expedited the 

training for two reasons.  Firstly, the Peruvian Junta had announced there would be 

presidential elections held in the spring of 1963, and the ELN needed to act before that 

happened.  Secondly, there was increasing tension, which eventually led to the missile crisis, 

among the USSR, Cuba, and the US. 

The ELN established itself in September 1962, and this led to a debate over who should 

provide the leadership and direction.  The four emerging leaders were Bejar, Alain, Lama, 

and Nestor Guevara.  According to Ruiz, these four stood out because they were older and 

more experienced and had a deeper theoretical understanding of revolution.  The rank-and-

file ELN members accepted the direction of this senior group.  Li recalled, ‘We, the members 

of the base, simply obeyed nothing more, we obeyed the directives’.251  Bejar argued that 

everyone in the organization had a voice.  He wrote, ‘discipline and democracy are not 

opposed in a revolutionary military organization.  Its internal life can combine subordination 

of lower to higher ranks in military questions, and democracy and freedom of expression in 

political matters’.252  Of course, at the tactical military level, there must be a commander in 

charge because you cannot debate the next action in a firefight.  Nevertheless, he maintained 

that when it came to debating political theory and revolutionary strategy, the ELN was a 

democracy.  During this period, the MIR made a power play to gain control of the ELN and 

attempted to get the Cubans to subordinate the ELN to the MIR leadership.  Che Guevara 

 
249 Héctor Béjar, El primer día, historia interior de una guerrilla Andina, (Lima, 1989) unpublished monograph, 

quoted in Lust, Lucha Revolucionaria Perú, p. 142. Spanish version: ‘FAL, joyas de diseño, perfectamente 

equilibrado … USI, bellas, negrísimas … la fea y complicada carabina San Cristóbal’. 
250 Interview with Antonio Li in Lust, Lucha Revolucionaria Perú, p. 154. Spanish version: ‘Yo estaba en el 

Ejercito y un proceso de preparación para un buen soldado es mucho más largo. En dos meses uno no hace 

nada’. 
251 Interview with Antonio Li in Lust, Lucha Revolucionaria Perú, p. 160. Spanish version: ‘Nosotros, la gente 

de base, simplemente obedecíamos nada más, obedecíamos directivas’. 
252 Béjar, Perú 1965, p. 65. 
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interceded and took the side of the ELN for which he had a strong affinity.  Although the 

Cubans’ welcomed any anti-imperialist organization to come to the island for training, 

Guevara detested the MIR.  For one, they were not a communist group, but also because they 

were not interested in taking immediate action like the ELN.  Ruiz stated, ‘We were the 

group that was ingratiated with Che.  Che was practically our godfather’.253  The ELN was 

now an official organization.  However, they would remain underground and not officially 

announce themselves to the public until October 1965.     

Members of the ELN came from varying backgrounds and social-economic classes.  There 

were workers, peasants, students, intellectuals, as well as older members with significant 

experience leading political organizations.  Wherever they came from, the common ground 

was the desire for action over talk and their disdain for politics as usual.  They did write a 

manifesto but did not promulgate it widely.  It was debated and argued over, and many of the 

drafts were lost.  Bejar recalled, ‘most members felt that the Left had already drawn up 

enough programs without their writing yet another one’.254  Alian Elias stated, ‘we did not 

have time to write, but we knew exactly what we wanted, what we thought’.255  The main 

focus was that it was broad enough to be inclusive of large sections of the Peruvian 

population and simple enough that the population could understand it.  By 1964, the main 

points the ELN called for were: ‘People’s government; Expulsion of all foreign monopolies; 

Agrarian revolution; Friendship with all the peoples of the world; National sovereignty’.256  

In the simplest form, they wanted socialism for Peru.  They determined that two key areas 

would be necessary for success: armed struggle and popular unity.  Additionally, they desired 

a broad coalition across the Marxist Left and understood that this was their only chance at 

achieving their goal.  This is an essential point because it shows that the ELN members 

understood early in the process that disunity among the Left would hamper their chances of 

changing the political course of Peru.  Ultimately, this would become one of the four 

orthodox reasons that the New Left did not achieve its goal. 

For the ELN leaders and rank-and-file members, a violent insurrection was the only 

appropriate method of political change in Peru.  They wholeheartedly accepted the Cuban 

 
253 Interview with Milcíades Ruiz in Lust, Lucha Revolucionaria Perú, p. 194. Spanish version: ‘Nosotros 

éramos el grupo engreído del Che. El Che era prácticamente nuestro padrino’. 
254 Béjar, Perú 1965, p. 61. 
255 Interview with Alian Elías in Lust, Lucha Revolucionaria Perú, p. 161. Spanish version: ‘No tuvimos tiempo 

de escribir, pero estaba claro lo que queríamos, lo que pensábamos’. 
256 Béjar, Perú 1965, p. 62. 
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model and sought to establish a guerrilla foco in the Andes to begin the process.  There was 

no political party at this point, as it would develop out of the military core of the foco just as 

it had in Cuba.  They eschewed the voting process and did not believe that the Peruvian 

Oligarchy, whose power was underwritten by the Peruvian Armed Forces, would ever allow 

significant reform through the ballot box.  In this aspect, they were correct, as evidenced by 

the 1962 coup d’état, which ended the hope of APRA gaining power in the country.  For the 

New Left in general and the ELN specifically, the peasants were central to the armed 

struggle.  Bejar wrote, ‘guided by the Chinese and Cuban examples, all of these new groups 

gave the peasantry a very important role in the first phase of the evolution, and organized 

their major activities accordingly’.257  They carefully examined the history of peasant 

mobilization in Peru and sought to build upon agitation and uprising that were happening in 

the Andes at the time  In sum, the strategy they developed was that of armed insurgency 

supported by the peasantry to overthrow the Oligarchy and put an end to oppression and US 

imperialism.  

After completing the overall strategy for Peru, the ELN turned to its tactical plan of action to 

begin the revolution.  They debated this at great length and finally decided to establish two 

separate fronts initially, one in Cerro de Pasco y Junin and the other in Cusco.  This decision 

reflected a growing rift between the Grupo Bejar and los Becados, and the leaders divided the 

ELN into two fronts along these lines.  Bejar and Elias would lead the front in Pasco.  This 

area was a logical choice because it was a historical hotbed of revolt.  Moreover, it was 

relatively close to Lima, and any action taken there would strike at one of the economic 

centres of the Oligarchy.  Lama and Nestor Guevara emerged as the leaders for the Cusco 

front.  Nestor Guevara recalled that Castro suggested establishing a front in Cusco.258  Cusco 

was also a good choice because Hugo Blanco’s uprising was ongoing, and he could use 

assistance with additional guerrilla fighters to battle the increasing number of Peruvian 

military forces deployed to the area.259  The ELN members, with their strategy and tactical 

plans completed, readied themselves to travel back to Peru.  In parallel with the ELN’s 

preparations, Luis de la Puente’s Movement of the Revolutionary Left (MIR) was also in 

Cuba receiving guerrilla warfare training. 

Formation of the MIR 

 
257 Ibid., p. 49. 
258 Interview with Néstor Guevara in Lust, Lucha Revolucionaria Perú, 174.  
259 Blanco, Land or Death, 28. 
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Luis Felipe de la Puente Uceda was one of the most outspoken APRA members against the 

conviviencia, which was when, in the 1950s, APRA deradicalized and became a mainstream 

political group.260  He was born on 1 April 1926 in the northern Peruvian town called 

Santiago de Chuco.  His family was wealthy and owned a large tract of land.  He entered the 

University of Trujillo, where he studied and became the president of the university student 

association.  He was related to APRA leader Victor Haya de la Torre and joined the Peruvian 

APRA branch in 1942.  He was involved in the 1948 mutiny attempt and consequently jailed 

for seven months following the event.  In 1953, he was again incarcerated for subversive 

activities for four months and then exiled to Mexico.  While there, he studied Marxism at the 

National Autonomous University in Mexico City.  He also showed interest in the Soviet, 

Chinese, Mexican, and Bolivian revolutions.  Mario Antonio Malpica recalled, ‘Luis de la 

Puente was not really an ideologue, but a political leader’ showing that he was searching for a 

revolutionary method and not just interested in the theoretical.  De la Puente was raised 

Catholic and never gave up his faith.  Malpica continued, ‘Until the end, he maintained his 

belief in the Catholic religion. It was a contradiction’.261  Manuel Pita confirmed, ‘Lucho [De 

la Puente’s nom de guerre] was a man who sustained a deep faith and commitment to the 

Catholic religion’.262  Ricardo Gadea recalled that although he never observed De la Puente 

participate in Catholic rituals, ‘like 90% of Peruvians, most of the MIR members considered 

themselves Catholic even though they only went to church for major life events such as 

baptisms and weddings’.263  De la Puente was thoughtful and studious but did not possess the 

patience that Haya demanded of his followers. 

The deposed Apristas were not content with studying revolution in Mexico, and they decided 

to act.  De la Puente, along with fifteen others, began to plan for revolution in Peru, although 

only three, Guillermo Carnero, Carlos Castaneda, and De la Puente, would actually take part.  

The plotters coordinated the plan with high-ranking members of APRA in Lima, including 

Armando Villanueva, Manuel Seoane, and former Peruvian Army General Juan de Dios 

Cuadros, but without the knowledge of Haya.  They gained support from President Victor Paz 

Estenssoro in Bolivia and President Juan Domingo Peron in Argentina.  De la Puente 

 
260 APRA Rebelde, ‘La Realidad Nacional y la Línea Política de la Convivencia’, 10 October 1959, p. 7. 
261 Interview with Mario Antonio Malpica in Lust, Lucha Revolucionaria Perú, p. 235. Spanish version: ‘Luis se 

la Puente no era un ideólogo realmente, sino un dirigente político’. 
262 Interview with Manuel Pita in Lust, Lucha Revolucionaria Perú, p. 235. Spanish version: ‘Lucho era un 

hombre sostenido por Fe profunda, comprometido con la religión católica’.  
263 Ricardo Gadea. Telephone Interview. 9 April 2020. Spanish version: ‘como el 90% de los peruanos, la 

mayoría de los miembros del MIR se consideraban católicos a pesar de que solo iban a la iglesia para eventos 

importantes de la vida, como bautizos y bodas’. 
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summarized the attempt, ‘in 1954, we clandestinely entered Peru from our exile in Mexico, as 

part of a revolutionary plan whose principal mentor was Manuel Seoane and a distinguished 

chief from our [Peruvian] Army who was actually retired’.  He continued, ‘After a few 

months of clandestine work, we were betrayed, and we suffered in prison the entire year of 

1955’.264  Pita recalled that De la Puente attempted to gain broad support among the APRA 

leadership in Lima.265  This led to the plan’s compromise because may APRA members were 

staunchly against any form of violent action and wanted to work through the legal and 

political system.  This was De La Puente’s second unsuccessful involvement in armed 

insurrection.  However, it would not deter him from his goal of social-political reform in 

Peru. 

The APRA leadership in Lima secured the release of the jailed members before the election 

of 1956.  De la Puente returned to his studies at the National University in Trujillo’s Law 

School and graduated in 1958.  His thesis was titled La Reforma del Agro Peruano (The 

Peruvian Agrarian Reform).  He was adamant that it should not be communist reform and 

wrote, ‘it is not communist, it is antiimperialist, antifeudalist, it has indeoamericanist ideals; 

it is aprismo’.266  This was congruent with APRA’s platform that it was not a communist 

movement, and that it was a nationalist, anti-imperialist organization. (See table one.) De la 

Puente still believed in APRA’s platform. It was APRA’s deradicalization that he abhorred.  

After graduation, he began working in northern Peru as a legal adviser to peasant farmer 

organizations fighting against their exploitation.  On 26 July 1958, in the town of Chepen, the 

police confronted a meeting of peasant workers.  De la Puente and another legal adviser 

called Gonzalo Fernandez were speaking to the group when a GC detachment, commanded 

by Colonel Oscar Arteta Tersi, moved in to disperse the assembly.  The GC officers fired into 

the crowd and killed three peasants and wounded approximately a dozen others.  The 

community leaders, along with De la Puente and Fernandez, escaped in the melee.  However, 

the authorities arrested De la Puente two months later.  The community placed intense 

 
264 MIR, Obras de Luis de La Puente Uceda (Lima: Voz Rebelde, 1980), p. 69. Spanish version: ‘En 1954 

entramos clandestinamente al país desde nuestro destierro en México, dentro de un plan revolucionario cuyo 

mentor principal era Manuel Seoane y en el que participaba, en primer plano, un distinguido jefe de nuestro 
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fuimos traccionados, sufriendo prisión todo el año 1955’. 
265 Interview with Manuel Pita in Lust, Lucha Revolucionaria Perú, p. 237.  
266 Luis de la Puente Uceda, La reforma del agro peruano (Lima: Ediciones Ensayos Sociales, 1966), p. 79. 

Spanish version: ‘no es comunista, es antiimperialista, antifeudalismo, es ideal indoamericanismo: es aprismo’. 
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pressure on the local government, who released him a few days later.267  This episode 

provides another example of De la Puente’s fearless defense of the Peruvian people.    

In July 1959, De la Puente traveled with a delegation to Havana to represent the Peruvian 

APRA Party at the National Agrarian Reform Forum.  There he debated with Cuban 

President Oswaldo Dorticos over the nature of the reform implementation in Cuba.  De la 

Puente claimed that the agrarian reforms were capitalist and that it was for the best.268  There 

was no indication that the communists influenced De la Puente towards their position.  

However, he became an outspoken supporter of the Cuban Revolution and was critical of the 

conviviencia. APRA leaders held their Fourth Convention 10-13 October 1959 and banned 

De la Puente from attending.  Following the convention, they expelled him outright from the 

organization.269  In November, he and a small group of followers in Trujillo established the 

Comité Aprista de Defensa de los Principios Doctrinarios de la Democratica Interna Aprista 

(Committee for the Defense of the Doctrinal Principles of Internal Democracy, CDO).  

Sigifredo Orbegoso recalled that they carefully selected the name to reclaim the original 

mission of APRA in Peru.  This was necessary because the Haya and other leaders had 

‘abandoned the founding principles and fundamentals of anti-imperialism and revolution’.270  

The CDO established the newspaper Voz Rebelde and, in its first edition, explained its goals 

of freeing the peasants from their feudal existence and expelling the foreign imperialists.271  

De la Puente was cautious not to become the overbearing leader of the group and focused on 

presenting the divergent position of the CDO.   

APRA Rebelde 

On 26-29 May 1960, the CDO held a congress and voted to change its name to Comité APRA 

Rebelde.  The members of the congress voted De la Puente to be the Secretary-General.  They 

also changed the name of their newspaper to Voz Apra Rebelde.  The congress did not have 

an ideological shift.  They changed the names to distance the group from the Peruvian APRA 

that had expelled all the CDO members.  Orbegoso explained that APRA Rebelde was 

 
267 Walther Palacios, ‘Luis de la Puente in Chepén. La Lucha por la Tierra’, La Marka, Lima, 9 December 1985, 

p. 11. 
268 Malpica, Biografía de la revolución, p. 501.  
269 CIA, ‘Pro-Castro Activity in Peru’, in Current Intelligence Digest, 1 July 1960, p. 9, CREST, FOIA 

electronic reading room, https://www.cia.gov/library/readingroom/docs/DOC_0000134248.pdf, (accessed 11 
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270 Interview with Sigifredo Orbegoso in Lust, Lucha Revolucionaria Perú, p. 241. Spanish version: 
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headquartered in Trujillo and concentrated its involvement in northern Peru, including 

Cajamarca, Chepen, Chiclayo, Chimbote, Julcan, Piura, and Santiago de Chuco.  They also 

maintained a smaller presence in Arequipa, Cusco, Lima, and Huancayo.272  Malpica 

recalled, ‘Basically, all of the members were middle class, professionals’.  He added that after 

they established the organization, ‘a good quantity of students from San Marcos and other 

Universities joined, along with some lawyers’.273  De la Puente and other APRA Rebelde 

members continued to organize the rural workers in northern Peru, but the core members of 

the group were from the disenfranchised middle class. 

De la Puente traveled again to Cuba in June 1960 and met with Guevara.  He may also have 

met with Castro.274  A Peruvian revolutionary called Ricardo Napuri facilitated the meeting 

along with Guevara’s Peruvian wife, Hilda Gadea.  Napuri ingratiated himself with Guevara 

by getting to know his mother.  During this period, Guevara oversaw the exporting of the 

Cuban revolution across Latin America.  He initially rejected Napuri’s suggestion to meet 

with De la Puente because he remembered De la Puente speaking out against the Cuban 

method during the National Agrarian Reform Forum.  However, Guevara conceded after 

Napuri convinced him that De la Puente was changing his line of thought.  This is the first 

instance in De la Puente’s ideological shift towards Marxism, but it is unclear if his thoughts 

were evolving.  De la Puente explained to Guevara the ongoing crises inside the Peruvian 

APRA and its conviviencia with the Oligarchy.  Guevara was impressed by De la Puente’s 

granular knowledge of the agrarian reform issue in Peru and Latin America in general.  De la 

Puente explained that the peasants in Peru already had their organizations and traditional 

ways of resisting the landholders and government.  If APRA Rebelde was to instigate an 

uprising, they would have to take this into account.  Napuri recalled, that this caused Che to 

doubt the idea of a pure guerilla foco in Peru.275  As a result of this encounter, Guevara sent 

Napuri to Peru to coordinate Cuban support for APRA Rebelde. 

De la Puente continued to develop his organization with the Cuban financial assistance.  

Napuri coordinated the support for APRA Rebelde through the Cuban Embassy in Lima.  He 

 
272 Interview with Sigifredo Orbegoso in Lust, Lucha Revolucionaria Perú, p. 244. 
273 Interview with Mario Malpica in Lust, Lucha Revolucionaria Perú, p. 244. Spanish version: ‘Básicamente 
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275 ‘A 30 años de la muerte de Ernesto Guevara’, Interview with Ricardo Napuri in Herramienta, 8 October 
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remembered, ‘we began to receive various types of support, [including] money’.276  The CIA 

assessed, ‘Pro-Castro Cubans in Peru are encouraging extreme leftists students and political 

groups which oppose the conservative regime of President Manuel Prado’.  The funding 

supported ‘antigovernment organizational activity and propaganda media’.  They added, 

‘Cuban Ambassador Luis Ricardo Alonso is directly involved in these activities, and 

dissident pro-Castro elements frequently meet at the embassy’.277  The majority of the APRA 

Rebelde members welcomed Napuri.  However, Gonzalo Fernandez Gasco considered him a 

communist infiltrator.  Napuri became disillusioned with the state of the organization and 

found that reality did not reflect what De la Puente had described to Guevara.  He recalled, ‘It 

was an organization that was very decomposed as they were expelled members of APRA’.  

He estimated that there were less than 200 members but added that this core was devoted to 

De la Puente.  Moreover, he explained, ‘there did not exist any serious implantation in the 

rural areas or with the campesino communities’.278  APRA Rebelde only had limited political 

influence in the small towns and with the rural population.  This began three years of 

Guevara’s frustration with De la Puente and his organization. In 1963, after three years of 

financial support, Napuri recalled Guevara ranting that the MIR was still not ready for 

action.279  This is another example of the infighting and lack of cohesion among the New 

Left. 

The Cubans sponsored the First Congreso Latinoamericano de Juventudes (Latin American 

Youth Conference, LAYC) in Havana 26 July to 4 August 1960.  The communists controlled 

the preparations and hosted the event, but non-communist groups fought to manage the 

agenda.  In a report released in anticipation of the conference, the CIA opined that the 

communists would attempt to influence the others to their ideology.  The report read, ‘Its 

targets have been the key student, labor, and political party youth organizations - particularly 

those of the well-established non-Communist left, such as, APRA (Peru), AD (Venezuela), 

and MNR (Bolivia)’.280  A second report following the conference read, ‘virulent attacks on 

other hemisphere governments delivered by “Che” Guevara and others during the 
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Communist-dominated Latin American Youth Congress have further aroused other Latin 

American governments against the Cuban regime’.281  The Cubans provided a guerrilla 

warfare demonstration to some of the attendees in an attempt to entice them to remain on the 

island and attend military and political training courses.282  A small group of APRA Rebelde 

members attended the conference, and this allowed them to observe the Cuban Revolution 

personally.  Malpica explained that this contributed to the leftward movement of APRA 

Rebelde.  He wrote that the members of the delegation were ‘impressed by the Cuban 

nationalization of North American companies’.  He continued, ‘The group returned to Peru 

with a completely different tone about what they had to do’.283  While it was still unclear if 

De la Puente was moving left or just using Cuban support as a means to an end, Castro, and 

Guevara, were influencing the APRA Rebelde membership.   

On 29 October through 1 November 1961, APRA Rebelde held a conference in Chiclayo in 

northern Peru.  Napuri led the proceedings because De la Puente was in jail for killing APRA 

member Luis Sarmiento during a confrontation in Trujillo on 11 March 1961.  During the 

conference, they wrote the Manifesto de Chiclayo.  The forty-seven-page manifesto was 

critical in the development of the group because it codified its principles and distinctly 

separated it ideologically from APRA.  It read, ‘In consequence the core of the national 

revolution is imprinted with socialism in its guts’.  The Peruvian APRA leaders eschewed 

socialism, therefore for APRA Rebelde to make it a central principle was a clear demarcation.  

The manifest continued, ‘The achievement of this superior goal assumes that each country 

has specific characteristics, but it takes a general line that private domination of the methods 

of production is banished, that is to say, that the exploitation of man by man is liquidated’.  

To highlight this point the authors wrote, ‘To re-affirm the necessity to restore the base 

Marxist theories one does it with the conviction - proven by history - that only a 

revolutionary theory can be the base of a revolutionary action’.284  As De la Puente was not 
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present at the drafting of the manifesto, it remains unclear as to whether he would have 

restrained the leftward drift and extreme separation from APRA. 

APRA Rebelde held its second national congress following the Chiclayo conference and 

formally approved the Manifesto of Chiclayo.  They established a central committee and re-

elected De la Puente as the Secretary-General.  Ricardo Gadea explained that the transition to 

Marxism was not a simple matter among the members of APRA Rebelde.  He wrote, ‘As a 

result of this ideological struggle, some members were left on the margins because they only 

had minor divergences with APRA and opposed the inclusion of Marxism and ideas of 

insurrection’.285  In April 1962, Castro announced that the Cuban Revolution was based on 

socialism, and this had a direct impact on APRA Rebelde members.  Elio Portocarrero 

recalled, ‘When Fidel declared in Havana the Cuban Revolution was socialist, the groups 

around the Cuban Revolution also began to accelerate to this ideological point of view’.286  

Ricardo Napuri stated, ‘In April 1962, Cuba proclaimed itself socialist and that is how the 

local group viewed the island –Cuba almost decided that we had to be socialist–, this made 

the internal battle [within the MIR] very easy’.287  Despite these comments, some APRA 

Rebelde did not take the socialist point of view. This tension would continue until the group 

broke all ties with APRA.   

On 12-13 March 1962, APRA Rebelde held its last meeting and changed its name to MIR.  

De la Puente was not present because he was still in jail.  According to Hector Cordero, the 

name change was meaningful for two reasons.  First, it symbolized a clean break from 

APRA.  Second, it showed the ideological development from the APRA anti-imperialism 

stance towards socialism.  They reviewed the MIR-Venezuela break from Action 

Democratica (Democratic Action, AD), a Venezuelan group similar to APRA.  They 

considered many name combinations before settling with MIR.  One option the group 

debated was Partido Proletario but discarded it because of the significant rural component of 
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their revolutionary plans.  Nor did it highlight their insistence on armed insurrection.  

Cordero recalled that the term movement in the name was due to ‘the influence that Fidel 

commenced and terminated the revolution with the name July 26 Movement and not with the 

name of the Party and that implicated the organic construction much better’.288  The decision 

to move towards socialism finally came to a head.  As a result, up to 30% of APRA Rebelde, 

now MIR, members left the organization and returned to APRA, or maintained their political 

independence.  However, the transition to MIR also attracted many new members.  The MIR 

did not maintain personnel lists, and it is difficult to accurately determine the exact number of 

members or categorize them between militants or supporters.  Following the shakeup, MIR 

members provided estimates that varied from 200 members to as high as 1000.289  The break 

from APRA and formalization of the MIR was a significant step towards the coming armed 

insurrection. 

The MIR received training from China, Cuba, North Korea, and North Vietnam.  Of these 

countries, Cuba provided political development and guerrilla warfare training to the largest 

number of personnel.290  In April through June 1962, seventy-two MIR personnel traveled to 

Havana.  De la Puente was not among them because he was still in a Lima prison.  As with 

the ELN, DGI assigned the MIR trainees to the National Liberation Department for 

administrative and logistical support, while the Department of Special Schools conducted the 

training courses.  Most of the instructors were from the Cuban Army, but they were assisted 

by Russian, Czech, and Spanish advisors.291  The theoretical training included conferences 

and classes on Marxism and Leninism, Cuban revolutionary theory and guerrilla strategy.  

The practical application focused on guerrilla tactics, weapons maintenance and firing, 

wilderness survival, communications, and integration with the local populace.  In accordance 

with the guerrilla dogma, sometimes called the myth of the guerrilla, courses did not include 

how to develop urban groups to support the fighters in the rural areas.  Throughout the 

summer of 1962 MIR personnel intermingled with ELN personnel in Havana and the rural 

training areas.  A few switched groups, notably Guillermo Lobaton Milla who was a senior 
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ELN leader who would go on to lead the MIR front in the central Andes.292  The ELN was 

the clear favorite of the Cuban leadership because of its communist ideology.  While the MIR 

had certainly shifted its thinking to the left and adopted the Cuban model of revolution in 

general, there was still significant tension.   

The main point of contention was that the MIR intended to build a social base and organize 

the population to support the revolution before commencing violent action.  The Cubans 

insisted that the MIR went into action immediately and thought that the people would then 

begin to support the MIR’s activities.  This was foco theory in its most basic form, and the 

Cubans could not accept any deviation.  The second point of contention concerned how to 

move back to Peru once the MIR personnel had completed their training in Cuba.  The 

Cubans insisted that they move in a large group to Bolivia, they would then receive weapons 

and equipment from the Partido Communista Boliviano (Bolivian Communist Party, PCB), 

and then cross the border into Peru as a column.  The Cubans even directed, who would carry 

which weapons and specialized equipment.  However, the MIR operatives thought it was best 

to travel in small groups of two or three, through various countries, and assemble in Peru 

after safely crossing the border.  In the end, MIR personnel used this method, primarily 

because the ELN infiltration into Peru using the PCB mechanism in early 1963 was a 

catastrophe.  These strategic and tactical disagreements exacerbated the situation, and the 

Cubans eventually marginalized the MIR.  When the ELN departed for Peru in November 

1962 to begin the revolution, the MIR stayed in Cuba.  To end the stalemate, De la Puente, 

went to Havana in June 1963 to arrange the return of the MIR personnel.293  He was 

successful, and they returned to Peru over the summer. 

The MIR members travelled in small groups using various conveyances through multiple 

countries including, Ecuador, Bolivia, Brazil, and Chile.  Gadea flew from Havana to Paris 

where he spent two months.  While there MIR supporters, among them Peruvian writer Mario 

Vargas Llosa, provided him food and protection.  He then flew to Brazil, and from there to 

Lima, using fake documents the Cubans provided him.294  De la Puente, Tulio Galvez, and a 

few others travelled through Europe before flying to Ecuador.  They visited Paris and Prague 

likely to meet with international supporters.  Elio Portocarrero recalled, ‘Entering through 
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Ecuador was normal’ because they had an extensive support mechanism there.295  The 

Ecuadorian authorities detained Tulio Galvez and two others when they landed in Guayaquil.  

After a period of questioning by the border control service about who was supporting them, 

they were set free.  Their original plan was to fly directly to Lima from Guayaquil, but due to 

the security incident, they chose an alternate route.  Galvez remembered that they moved 

from Guayaquil, ‘to Cuenca, then to Loja and from Loja to a town called La Tina in Peru’.296  

All of the others, with one significant exception, arrived in Peru without incident. 

One MIR operative returning through Ecuador on 2 April 1963 chose a path that would have 

far-reaching negative repercussions for the revolution.  A Peruvian who used the name 

Enrique Amaya Quintana walked into the US Consulate in Guayaquil and offered to work 

with the US government.  CIA Case Officer Phillip Agee met him that day.  Amaya claimed 

to be returning from a guerrilla warfare training course in Cuba, where he became 

disillusioned with the revolution.  However, Agee suspected that ‘he’s lost his nerve now that 

he is almost on the battlefield’.297  They met twice more over the next few days before 

Amaya travelled on to Lima.  Agee debriefed Amaya on the MIR organization, and the 

training in Cuba, and provided him with a method of contacting CIA agents based in Lima.  

He then turned the case over to the Lima Station.  On 3 November 1963, Agee claims he met 

with the Deputy Chief of Station in Lima, who spoke positively about the amount and quality 

of information Amaya was providing about MIR.298  On multiple occasions, Amaya’s 

information made it directly into the CIA daily reading material for President Johnson, 

known as the President’s Intelligence Checklist.299  This shows that CIA analysts and senior 

leaders believed in the veracity and importance of the information.  Following the 

insurgency, three MIR members vehemently defended Amaya arguing that he was not the 

CIA’s source.300  Regardless, of whether it was someone else claiming to be Amaya, or 

Agee’s faulty recollection, the CIA quite clearly had a well-placed source inside the MIR.  
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China provided extensive support to the MIR, while North Korea and North Vietnam 

contributed limited political and military training.  The MIR established relationships with 

these countries through the respective Embassies in Havana.  While the tension between the 

MIR and the Cubans was a factor, this represents another pragmatic move by De la Puente to 

garner international support for his movement.  Elio Portocarrero recalled, ‘We did not start 

with the Cubans and then change to the Chinese like we were changing a shirt; that was not 

the process. We continued our relationship with the Cubans after establishing a relationship 

with the Chinese. We never broke political relations with the Cubans’.301  In May 1962, Jorge 

and Olga Hammar travelled to China to facilitate the movement of MIR trainees to the 

country.  The route to China, as well as North Korea and North Vietnam, included stops in 

Paris and Moscow.  MIR facilitator Carlos Flores lived in Paris during this period and 

assisted MIR personnel during layovers on the long journeys.  De la Puente travelled to China 

in November 1963.  He met with Mao and discussed the merits of Maoist People’s Protracted 

Warfare theory.302  Some aspects of this theory were better suited for De la Puente’s plans in 

Peru.  They also discussed the similarities of the demography and social situation between 

pre-revolutionary China and 1960s Peru.  One critical aspect of the interaction with the 

Chinese is that Mao did not pressure De la Puente to follow the Maoist doctrine.  This was 

vastly different from the experience in Havana.  Portocorrero recalled, ‘Following this 

process of discussion, the Chinese government definitively decided to support the MIR’.303  

However, De la Puente was not able to take full advantage of this support and parlay it into 

success. 

There were similarities and differences between the training in China and Cuba.  Around 

thirty to forty MIR personnel travelled to China for revolutionary warfare training.  At the 

tactical level, guerrilla warfare techniques were similar, focusing on surprise attacks against 

enemy weak points.  The Chinese trained them in weapons handling, marksmanship, and 

survival skills.304  At the strategic level, MIR trainees did not seem to grasp the Chinese 

theory beyond the guerrilla warfare phase, when later the guerrilla army grows in strength to 
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a point it becomes a conventional army and marches to victory.  They did, however, gain a 

nuanced understanding of the political indoctrination aspect of People’s Protracted Warfare.  

Portocorrero explained the differences between the Chinese and Cuban methods, ‘The 

Chinese planned a process of war that was very long’.  He continued, ‘the Chinese had a 

much more developed conception of how the military integrated with the masses.  For 

example, the political party controlled the employment of the guerrilla … the guerrilla force 

was an adjunct’ to the revolution.305  This differentiated the Chinese method from the Cuban, 

which held that the party developed out of the guerrilla leadership.306  Despite this training, 

the MIR was not able to integrate it into their armed struggle in Peru.  Arturo Aranda stated 

that of those who trained in China, only eight participated in the insurgency.  The guerrilla 

training served as a wakeup call for many of the young revolutionaries, and although a few 

were detained while returning to Peru, many chose not to go to the mountains with their 

comrades.  The group that went to North Vietnam received political training.  Twenty-three 

MIR personnel went to North Korea and undertook political and tactical training.  They also 

received weapons that they smuggled back to Peru.307  However, like their contemporaries 

that went to China and Vietnam, very few fought with De la Puente in 1965. 

The MIR also received ideological and material support from many countries in Latin 

America and Europe.  In addition to the countries mentioned above where they trained, MIR 

operatives established support cells in Czechoslovakia, France, Spain, Switzerland, Italy, 

Argentina, Brazil, Chile, and Mexico.  The structure of the cells differed depending on the 

country and varied in size from a single person to a team of five.  The purpose of the cells 

was to coordinate with the Leftist groups in the respective countries for financial and 

ideological support.  The cell members facilitate the travel of MIR members as they passed 

through Latin America and Europe to and from the countries providing training courses.  This 

support included providing safe houses to stay in, money, clothing, and forged travel 

documents.  The cells maintained relationships with journalists so that De la Puente and other 

leaders could transmit communiqués and garner supportive press accounts.  Paul Escobar and 

Teresa Pardo led the largest and most connected cell in Paris.  They oversaw MIR’s 

international relations in Europe.  Pardo recalled, ‘The roll undertaken by our base was the 

 
305 Interview with Elio Portocarrero in Lust, Lucha Revolucionaria Perú, p. 283. Spanish version: ‘Los chinos 
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lucha guerrillera … la guerrilla como complemento’. 
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centralization, coordination, and facilitation of information’.308  On 22 June 1965, just after 

the beginning of guerrilla operations, the cell facilitated a press release written by a group of 

backers most notably Hugo Neira and Mario Vargas Llosa that explained the MIR 

insurrection and aimed to gain the support of the international community.309  In September, 

they published another article in Sous le Drapeau du Socialisme that read that Peru ‘will 

become one of the essential foundations of the Latin America Revolution and will stimulate 

the struggle in Bolivia and Brazil’.310  It also condemned the repression of the Peruvian 

government and its detainment of the wives of guerrilla leaders.  MIR’s most extensive base 

in Latin America was in Ecuador, where they received assistance from the Union 

Revolucionaria de Juventudes del Ecuador (Revolutionary Union of Ecuadorian Youth, 

URJE).311  When not working in China, Jorge and Olga Hammar provided support in their 

home country of Argentina.  Buenos Aires was a frequent stop to and from Europe.  Hammar 

remembered the logistical support they provided ‘we received them, dressed them, and 

prepared them [to travel to] Paris so they would not attract attention’.312  These support cells 

located throughout the world were critical in facilitating MIR training and preparation for the 

revolution.  Like Bejar’s ELN, De la Puente’s group benefited from international support. 

In 1963, following his travels, De la Puente spent some time writing to formalize the political 

and ideological aspects of the MIR.  Monthly Review published these writings in English and 

Spanish in an article titled ‘The Peruvian Revolution: Concepts and Perspectives’.313  The 

article distilled many of the debates, previous writings, and speeches of De la Puente, and 

other MIR members, into a single document sixteen pages in length.  Rodolfo Arrigorriaga 

completed the translation from Spanish to English.  De la Puente began with an analysis of 

the geography and topography of Peru and explained how this exacerbated the social-

economic situation.  He described the miserable conditions of the poor, including the Andean 

Indians and those living in squalor in the urban slums.  Concerning control of land, he wrote: 

 
308 Interview with Teresa Pardo in Lust, Lucha Revolucionaria Perú, p. 287. Spanish version: ‘EL rol de nuestra 
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CIA, multiple boxes. 
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‘The concentration of land ownership, according to official statistics, is as follows:  in the coastal 

area 10 percent of the owners control 89 percent of the agricultural land; in the Sierra, three per cent 

of the land owners own 83 percent of the land, and in the Selva another three percent owns 93 percent 

of the areas allocated to colonization grants’.314   

Astiz and Werlich provide similar statistics that confirm the article’s data.315  While De la 

Puente did acknowledge the efforts of the Peruvian government to redistribute the lands, he 

considered them too little, too late, and hypocritical.  Hypocritical because the lands belonged 

to the Indians in the first place and had been stolen from them by the landholders.   However, 

he did not seem to consider what impact this may have had on the revolutionary potential of 

the population.  Perhaps he should have because the land reform efforts are one of the 

orthodox explanations for the insurgency’s failure.  De la Puente explained that foreign 

corporations were extracting Peru’s natural resources, but that this did not benefit the 

population.  He stated that wages in the coastal areas and the mines were between 20 and 40 

Soles a day (equal to US$0.80 and $1.60 in 1965), and as low as one Sole per day in the 

Andes.  He wrote, ‘Our poverty is so extreme that in certain regions peasant families give 

away or sell their children in order to save them from starvation’.316  He stated that Peru had 

one of the worst nutritional indexes in the world at 1920 calories per day and one of the 

highest rates of infantile death.  He quoted a 62 percent illiteracy rate and a lack of access to 

primary and advanced education.317  The low literacy rate exacerbated the issue because 

Article 86 of the 1933 Constitution reads that literacy is a voting requirement.318  This 

resulted in the fact that the government excluded the poorest sector of society from the 

electoral process. 

De la Puente argued that the bourgeoisie and the landowners controlled the political parties, 

the masses in the coastal areas, and to some extent, in the rest of the country.  He explained 

that the fractured Communist Party was useless as a vehicle for change in Peru and that the 

Oligarchy was in firm control.  He wrote, ‘The executive represents certain sectors of the 

national bourgeoisie and the big bourgeoisie; while the latifundists, big bourgeoisie, and 

servants of imperialism are fundamentally represented by parliament’.319  This statement is 

not accurate because anti-imperialist APRA controlled the parliament and exerted substantial 
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318 Astiz, Pressure Groups and Power Elites in Peruvian Politics, p. 50. 
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power over the Belaunde administration.320  He wrote of the extreme pessimism of the 

Peruvian people, ‘The phrase “No one can save Peru” expresses a general conviction’.321  

Following Kennedy’s death, MIR leaders perceived a change in US foreign policy towards 

Latin America and Peru: 

‘we have seen Kennedyism buried together with its creator, and American policy is more and more 

evidently dictated from the Pentagon, that is, toward more irreconcilable positions regarding the 

defense of their interests and our country’s submission, and toward an indiscriminate selection of 

puppets, accepting or fostering whatever military coups may suit the self-interest of the United 

States’.322 

He went on to cite the US intervention in the Dominican Republic as evidence of this shift in 

policy.  De la Puente acknowledged that the conditions were not ripe in Peru (See point 1 

below.) and argued that that the Communist Party was using this as an excuse to delay the 

revolution.  Marxist theory holds that certain conditions must be in place before a revolution 

can begin.  Nevertheless, Guevara insists, ‘It is not necessary to wait until all conditions for 

making revolution exist; the insurrection can create them’.323  In a move towards the Cuban 

foco theory, he wrote, ‘Fortunately for Peru, these theories [Marxist-Leninist] are now being 

discarded and displaced by the idea that insurrection and armed struggle must be the order of 

the day’.  He continued, ‘and that the exploited masses should immediately pose for 

themselves the task of seizing power’.324  After the buildup of doom and gloom, in the final 

section of the paper, he explained how the MIR would approach the revolution. 

They took the best of the theoretical and practical training they had acquired over the past 

few years and developed this insurrectional scheme: 

(1) ‘The objective and subjective conditions are present, and the latter, even if they are not fully ripe, 

will mature in the process of the struggle 

(2) The exploited masses must immediately propose the seizure of power through armed struggle 

(3) The strategy and tactics must in the first stage be those of guerrilla war, and later those of 

maneuver, or even positional warfare 

(4) Given our conditions as mainly a peasant country and our geographical features, insurrection 

must start in the Sierra or in the eastern Andean escarpments 

(5) Given the size of our country and its lack of geographical integration and transportation systems, 

its multiplicity of languages, races, and culture, it is advisable to organize several guerrilla 

centers to initiate and develop the struggle 

(6) The impact of guerrilla actions will serve to build and develop the party and to start mobilizing 

the masses, stimulating their consciousness, and incorporating them in the struggle, both in the 

countryside and in the city 
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(7) Due to our conditions as an underdeveloped country suffering from the combined oppression of 

latifundists, big bourgeoisie, and imperialists, it is essential to ignite the exploited sectors:  

peasants, workers, petty bourgeoisie, within a united front led by the worker-peasant alliance 

represented by the revolutionary Marxist-Leninist party 

(8) The Peruvian revolution is part of the continental and world process, which demands 

progressive forms of integration in every aspect and stage, in order to defeat the 

oligarchic and imperialist forces which are working together all over the continent’325 
 

These eight points clearly show a mixture of influence from the Cuban and Chinese 

revolutionary theories.  The MIR leadership devoted an impressive amount of intellectual 

effort into developing their strategy.  They then explained how, at a practical level, they 

would go about their work of developing the insurrection. 

The Editors of Monthly Review wrote an introduction to the article and took exception 

concerning one point of De la Puente’s analysis.  The issue concerned his use of the terms 

feudal and semi-feudal.  The Editors argued that these terms did not accurately reflect the 

social-economic structure in Peru.  They wrote, ‘Their situation and mode of behavior, in 

other words, is typically capitalist, and it can only lead to confusion to introduce the concept 

of feudalism in analyzing their class position and historical role’.326  This criticism aside, the 

Editors were supportive of the MIR’s plans, and appeared excited about the possibility of 

success. 

The MIR considered the urban areas of the country critical to its revolution.  They cited the 

slums that surrounded the cities as a potential recruiting ground for revolutionaries due to the 

high level of unemployment and repression by the police.  They seemed hopeful that the 

working class, although it ‘is still controlled by the bourgeoisie parties, through its 

consciousness is reaching higher levels everyday’, and will eventually be ready to use 

violence.  They noted that Leftists controlled twelve of Peru’s sixteen national universities, 

and ‘both university and high-school students continuously foment mass action in the 

cities’.327  However, outside of Trujillo, the MIR did not have the capacity or influence to 

organize the urban masses.  APRA controlled the worker’s parties and unions, while the 

Communist Party controlled the universities and student organizations.  Moreover, APRA 

and the Communist Party were loath to allow the MIR to make inroads into their respective 

strongholds.  Aside from a few support cells that operated in Lima, the MIR never gained 

widespread urban support for the revolution. 
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Similar to the urban strategy, the MIR leadership underwrote its rural plan with hope and 

optimism.  MIR aimed to establish three guerrilla focos in the Sierra.  One in the north, a 

second in the central, and the third in the south.  In these areas, the MIR cadres would 

establish security zones and begin to integrate with the local populations.  They intended to 

begin with secret propaganda and then employ overt armed propaganda.  The locals would be 

‘impressed by the presence of armed groups in the mountains and by our intense ideological 

work, begin to drop their skepticism, their dread and the deceit which formerly braked their 

profound eagerness to struggle’.  This would motivate the Campesinos to invade and take 

over the large estates and then form militias to protect the land they had recovered.  They 

noted that eighty percent of the Peruvian security forces are Campesino conscripts ‘a fact 

which renders them quite unsafe for the repression of a social agrarian movement centered in 

the Sierra’.328  Further, the article explained that the insurrectional process would unite the 

disparate Peruvian Left.  Leaders will emerge, and the Party will build itself during the 

revolution.  The final paragraph was a call to arms and promised that through sacrifice, the 

MIR would be the vanguard of the Peruvian revolution.  De la Puente’s group did set up the 

three focos, integrate with the population, conduct propaganda, and gained support from the 

population.  However, popular support was not enough to make the revolution successful.  In 

chapter four, I will show that neither the idea that the soldiers with a Campesino background 

would not fight nor the aspiration of uniting the Peruvian Left came to fruition. 

Accordingly, there was only one path forward, and it was through armed insurrection.  This 

aspect had developed since the time they established APRA Rebelde.  Hector Cordero 

recalled that during the final APRA Rebelde conference, they discussed the subject of 

elections, ‘There were two positions:  to participate or not to participate’.329  When the group 

transitioned to the MIR, they discarded any potential for using non-violent means of 

resistance, such as voting.  In the end, they decided to take up arms.  The 1962 military coup 

d’état was an essential factor in this decision.  Haya would have most likely won the election, 

but the military stepped in and prevented APRA from gaining the presidency.  This 

convinced most MIR members that the election process would not allow them to change the 

system in Peru.  They understood that political power in Peru allowed the elite to control 

economic power, which the military protected.  Therefore, the Oligarchy must be destroyed 

and replaced by a new system that was fair to the poor and disenfranchised.  To explain why 
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the people had been participating in elections, the MIR offered this explanation, ‘If the people 

participate - in the elections – it is not because they believe in them. The people participate 

because, until now, there has not been another way’.330  The MIR offered the people another 

method, and it would begin with guerrilla warfare in the Andes. 

Between 1959 and 1963, APRA members who were distrustful of the conviviencia and 

wanted to act broke away from APRA and formed the CDO, APRA Rebelde, and finally, the 

MIR.  De la Puente emerged as the clear leader of the organization.  While he was a member 

of APRA, he was a staunch anti-communist and supported APRA’s anti-imperialist platform.  

He was also a practicing Catholic, which would have been at odds with communism.  Absent 

from the historiography is the question of whether De la Puente’s position drifted towards 

communism in the early 1960s.  While there is some evidence that he did, I maintain that De 

la Puente made practical decisions to appease the communists to garner support for the MIR’s 

revolutionary activities.  His pragmatism gained significant support from China and Cuba, 

limited support from North Vietnam, North Korea, Czechoslovakia, Mexico, Ecuador, Brazil, 

Argentinian, and Chile, as well as social groups in Western Europe.  This support would 

prove to be crucial, but not sufficient, as they transitioned to guerrilla warfare.     

Conclusion 

This chapter looked at Cuba’s foreign policy during the early 1960s, and the intelligence 

service it developed to support its aim of spreading the revolution in Latin America.  Cuba 

was Bejar’s ELN primary benefactor.  Although, a trend emerges that individual communists 

of various Latin American Communist Parties, against direction from Moscow, assisted ELN 

members as they set up their organization.  This trend begins to show the individual agency 

that party members exercised despite the control the Soviets attempted to exert in Latin 

America.  Cuba provided less support to the MIR, but De la Puente was able to build an 

extensive international network of support cells to provide logistical and ideological backing.  

De la Puente demonstrated pragmatism in his effort to secure support from the Cubans.  

While he remained a nationalist and anti-imperialist, he did, on the surface at least, drift 

towards Cuban socialism and revolutionary theory to gain support.  As this dissertation will 

show in chapter five, once they were back in Peru, MIR leaders decided the tactics they 

would employ in the mountains.  By 1963, both organizations had developed their 
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revolutionary strategies.  With the support of the Guevara and the DGI, the ELN would 

attempt to infiltrate back into Peru to aid Hugo Blanco, who had organized a peasant uprising 

near Cusco.  I will examine these events in chapters three and four. 
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Chapter three:  Development of Peru’s counterinsurgency capability 

Truman and Eisenhower built a foundation of military assistance in Latin America that 

allowed Kennedy to proliferate counterinsurgency methods.  The first section of this chapter 

will examine the Kennedy administration’s efforts in the development of Peru’s internal 

security capability.  I will then turn to Hugo Blanco’s Campesino mobilization in the valleys 

north of Cusco, which was the first serious attempt at guerrilla warfare in Peru during the 

1960s and provided the Peruvian security forces their first opportunity at conducting 

counterinsurgency.  The final section of the chapter will look at the Johnson administration’s 

commitment to continuing the Alliance for Progress in the honour of Kennedy, and how, 

when development failed, they resorted to supporting counterinsurgency.  The reader should 

not consider this chapter to be wholly about American foreign policy, although that is an 

aspect of it, as the title suggests, the main focus is on the development of Peru’s 

counterinsurgency capability, of which the US played an important role. 

Kennedy administration 

John F. Kennedy was inaugurated on 20 January 1961 and immediately made it clear that 

Latin America would be a top concern for his Administration.  Kennedy specifically 

emphasized Latin America as a priority in his inaugural address.331  Former presidential 

advisor Arthur Schlesinger Jr. traces Kennedy’s interest in this topic to a tour of South 

America in the 1940s and notes a speech he gave in 1958 in Puerto Rico calling for the US to 

place a higher priority on Latin America.332  Stephen Rabe has emphasized Kennedy’s 

concern that ‘Latin America was the most dangerous place in the world’.  He also asserts this 

corresponded with the theme that if the US could not confront communist expansion in the 

Americas, it would not be able to do so in other areas of the world.  Rabe wrote, ‘Fighting 

and winning the Cold War in Latin America was Kennedy’s paramount concern’.333  Unlike 

the rhetoric of many other U.S presidents, Kennedy’s actions demonstrated he was genuinely 

passionate about Latin America.  He initiated and strongly advocated for the Alliance for 

Progress, which was an ambitious development program that I will discuss in more detail 

below.334  He hosted more Latin American leaders in the White House than any other 
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previous president.  Moreover, he travelled to Latin America multiple times, including visits 

to Colombia, Costa Rica, Mexico, and Venezuela.335  Many Latin Americans still remember 

him with affection, partly because of his charisma, but also because of his hard work on their 

behalf.336  A US Army officer working in Chile when Lee Harvey Oswald assassinated 

Kennedy recalled, that ‘the entire city of Santiago mourned’.337  Moreover, senior 

government officials concerned with Latin America had unfettered access to the president.338  

Throughout his time in office, he continually focused on development and anti-communism 

in Latin America.  This evidence clearly shows Kennedy’s high level of interest in America’s 

backyard. 

To convert his ideas to policy, Kennedy brought in the so-called ‘best and brightest’ from 

academia and industry.  Most US presidents have done the same thing, but historians have 

given special attention to Kennedy for doing it.  Walt Rostow was at the Massachusetts 

Institute of Technology as a Professor of Economic History when Kennedy called him to 

serve as the chairman of the State Department’s Policy Planning Council.  In June 1961, he 

gave an influential speech to a group of US Army and international officers who were 

studying counterinsurgency at Fort Bragg, North Carolina.  He referenced Khrushchev’s wars 

of national liberation speech and the communist strategy of revolutionary change and how the 

US could leverage modernization theory, which I will explain below, to thwart the guerrilla 

menace in the developing world.  He stated, ‘From our perspective in Washington, you take 

your place side by side with those who are committed to help fashion independent, modern 

societies out of the revolutionary process now going forward’.339  The Peruvian Army 

translated this speech and published it in its professional journal Revista Militar del Peru.340  

Kennedy appointed Roger Hilsman as director of the State Department’s Bureau of 

Intelligence and Research, which supported diplomats with intelligence analysis.  He was a 
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graduate of the United States Military Academy and fought against the Japanese as a guerrilla 

in Burma during World War II.  Hilsman was also on the speech circuit, and on 10 August 

1961 gave a speech called ‘Internal War – The New Communist Tactic’ at the Institute of 

World Affairs in San Diego, California.  He explained the new developments in Soviet 

strategy and explained how the US must work with friendly governments to defeat the 

communists.  He explained modernization theory but countered that in the short-term, the US 

must rely on counterguerrilla warfare tactics to allow time for development to take hold.  

Hilsman concluded with the warning, ‘The Communists are already committed everywhere, 

and unless we approach the problem in a systematic way, with considerable thought, we will 

simply be paving the way for Mr. Khrushchev in his new and potent tactic – internal war.’341  

The Peruvian Army also translated and published this speech in Revista Militar.342  Kennedy 

relied on Rostow, Hilsman, and Robert Kennedy, among others, to institute change among 

the interagency and prepare the US to defeat communist insurgents throughout the world. 

The Alliance for Progress underpinned Kennedy’s foreign policy towards Latin America.  He 

announced the Alliance with much fanfare on a 13 March 1961 in a speech at the White 

House followed by a reception for 250 people, including many of the Latin American 

diplomats who were in Washington.343  Some compared it to the Marshall Plan, which was an 

unfair analogy because of the significant differences between Latin America and Europe.  

The Alliance was based on economic and social development and had overly optimistic goals 

for what the designers called the decade for progress that was to take place during the 1960s.  

Herbert May, a former US government official, asserted, ‘President Kennedy’s proposal for 

the Alliance for Progress electrified the continent’.  Moreover, he added, ‘it was taken as 

evidence of a sharp revision of US policy and as the augury of a great improvement in inter-

American relations’.344  The Organization of American States (OAS) convened a conference 

in August 1961 in Punta del Este, Uruguay, to design the framework of the Alliance and 

layout its goals.  Schlesinger wrote in his memoir, ‘The Charter of Punta del Este was a 

summons to a democratic revolution – nor was revolution a word feared by the architects of 
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the Alliance, even though it continued to dismay the Department of State’.345  In addition to 

most of the heads of State, Che Guevara attended and petitioned the OAS to include Cuba in 

the Alliance, which they rebuffed.   The US government representatives committed $20 

billion to the program, and Latin American countries were to match this four-to-one.346  

These loans and grants were to be used to develop industry, agriculture, education, and health 

programs, as well as infrastructure, with the aim of improving the lives of the impoverished. 

The Alliance for Progress incorporated modernization theory, which was then popular with 

US social scientists, some of whom were close advisors to Kennedy, as its theoretical 

basis.347  The theory grew out of sociology, political science, and developmental economics.  

Michael Latham explains, ‘As modernization grew in popularity as an intellectual model, its 

authors also rode a powerful wave generated by heightened expectations of what science 

could provide in service to American society’.  He continued, ‘By the time modernization 

theorists made specific policy recommendations to Kennedy planners, they had found 

positions in a strong network between professional scholarship and government 

patronage’.348  The theory held, in parsimonious form, that economic development could 

advance traditional societies to modern societies.  In turn, these new modern societies would 

be democratic and capitalist.  One unintended, yet beneficial, aspect of the theory was the 

grassroots efforts.  In 1963, Peruvian President Belaunde encouraged this move forward.  

Teodoro Moscoso, Kennedy’s coordinator for the Alliance, returned from a trip to South 

America and reported that Belaunde ‘is spreading the gospel of “minga”, an old Inca word 

meaning community spirit.  In the Alliance tradition of self-help, the president urges villagers 

to move ahead on local projects without waiting for outside help’.349  In Peru, the theory was 

not effective.  Firstly, the economic development that did occur mostly benefited the wealthy.  

Secondly, at the beginning of the decade of development, Peru was a democracy.  In the end, 

Peru was a military-controlled autocracy.   

Despite the initial euphoria, the Alliance for Progress was not the hemisphere-changing 

program as Kennedy and many Latin Americans had hoped.  As Andrew Preston has noted, 

 
345 Schlesinger, A Thousand Days, p. 655. 
346 Brands, Latin America’s Cold War, p. 46. 
347 Latham, Modernization as Ideology, p. 6; Andrew Preston, Sword of the Spirit, Shield of Faith: Religion in 

American War and Diplomacy (New York: Alfred A. Knoft, 2012), p. 510; Amanda Kay McVety, ‘JFK and 

Modernization Theory’, in Andrew Hoberek (ed.), The Cambridge Companion to John F. Kennedy, p. 105; 

Brands, Latin America’s Cold War, p. 46. 
348 Latham, Modernization as Ideology, p. 46. 
349 The Miami Herold, ‘The Incas Had A Word For It’, 12 September 1963, LBJL, Papers of John Wesley Jones, 

Box 8, folder 3. 



101 
 

Kennedy’s ‘vision remained trapped between the imperatives of security and the ambitions of 

idealism’.350  Schlesinger explained in his 1975 retrospective of the Alliance that the primary 

objectives were ‘economic growth, structural change, and political democratization’.351  He 

wrote that they understood there would be contradictions between these three goals in the 

short-term.  As the Alliance developed, the competing goals did collide.  The instability 

caused by the social evolution aspects precluded investment from the private sector that 

would drive economic growth, which was a primary measurement of effectiveness for the 

plan.  The Alliance did have limited success, such as Johnson explained to Congress in 1967, 

‘Per capita growth rates for Latin America show that more countries have broken the 

economic stagnation of earlier years’.352  However, it failed to meet the goals that the 

organizers set forth in Punta del Este.353  Observers have attributed multiple factors to the 

failed policy, including Kennedy’s assassination, the US government’s bureaucratic malaise, 

corruption and incompetence in the execution, and the population explosion in Latin America 

during the 1960s.  Perhaps the most significant factor was that the Alliance could only meet 

its goals if the Latin American elites and bureaucrats embraced it, but they did not.354  The 

irony that the Alliance that was designed for Latin Americans, and needed to be led by Latin 

Americans, but was launched from the White House is not lost on historians.355  However, the 

Alliance for Progress was only one aspect of Kennedy’s policy to prevent another Cuba. 

The Kennedy administration also used covert paramilitary and intelligence operations and 

provided overt military and police assistance to internal security forces, to help achieve its 

policy aims.  In January 1961, Soviet Premier Khrushchev gave a speech titled ‘Wars of 

National Liberation’ that disclosed the use of subversion to gain influence in the developing 

world.356  Christopher Andrew shows that Kennedy believed the Russians ‘had become 

experts in subversive warfare’.  He continued, ‘The United States must therefore beat them at 
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their own game’.357  On 20 January 1961, during his inauguration address, Kennedy 

emphasized the US commitment against hostile threats to the change in Latin America.  He 

stated, ‘But this peaceful revolution of hope cannot become the prey of hostile powers.  Let 

all of our neighbors know that we shall join with them to oppose aggression or subversion in 

the Americas.  And let every other power know that this Hemisphere intends to remain the 

master of its own house’.358  Kennedy’s first significant attempt to check Soviet influence in 

America’s backyard was the ill-fated Operation ZAPATA in Cuba, which is better known as 

the Bay of Pigs invasion.  This fiasco was a major setback for the young President but did not 

deter the use of covert operations during the remainder of his time in office.  As Ted Gup 

shows, ‘the Bay of Pigs had not put a damper on covert operations.  Far from it.  Between 

1960 and 1965, the CIA expanded its operations in the Western Hemisphere Division by 

forty percent, reflecting a perceived increase in Soviet activity in Peru, Bolivia, Colombia, 

and elsewhere’.359  One effect it did have was that he tightened his circle of trusted advisors 

in matters of national security.  He came to rely on his younger brother, Attorney General 

Robert Kennedy, to manage certain aspects of foreign policy.360  In addition to covert 

operations, the administration employed counterinsurgency and civic action to thwart 

communist subversion. 

Counterinsurgency and guerrilla warfare enthralled Kennedy, a fact that is apparent in his 

speeches and conversations.  As early as 1958, Kennedy told the US Senate the most likely 

threat would be ‘limited brushfire wars, indirect non-overt aggression, intimidation and 

subversion, internal revolution’.361  Moreover, Andrew asserted, ‘He read the works of Mao 

Zedong and Che Guevara, amusing his wife, Jackie, during weekends at their Virginia retreat 

at Glen Ora’.362  Political scientist Michael McClintock argued, ‘the counterinsurgency 

dimension of political warfare, became a principal public plank of Kennedy’s foreign 

policy’.363   On 21 July 1961, the New China News Agency (NCNA) in Beijing translated an 
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article from the US weekly National Guardian that outlined the expansion of 

counterinsurgency, guerrilla warfare, and unconventional warfare including the ‘150-percent 

increase’ within the 43-billion-dollar defence budget for these programs.  This shows that the 

Chinese were closely watching the Kennedy Administration’s policy shift.364  On 12 October 

1961, Kennedy visited Fort Bragg, and met with Brigadier General William Yarborough, 

commander of the US Army Special Forces, an element that specialized in unconventional 

warfare.  The two developed a close relationship.365  On 6 June 1962, Kennedy gave the 

commencement speech at the United States Military Academy at West Point, New York.  He 

contrasted guerrilla warfare with massive nuclear retaliation:  ‘This is another type of war, 

new in its intensity, ancient in its origin - war by guerrillas, subversives, insurgents, assassins, 

war by ambush instead of by combat; by infiltration, instead of aggression, seeking victory by 

eroding and exhausting the enemy instead of engaging him’.  The US warfare experience was 

most recently WW1, WWII, and Korea, which were conflicts between states engaged in 

conventional military warfare.  So, guerrilla warfare did represent a new arena at the time.  

To win at this type of warfare, he called for a ‘new and wholly different kind of military 

training’.366  Kennedy’s interest in guerrilla warfare was not limited to rhetoric or theory.  It 

was the primary driver of policy. 

The National Security Action Memorandum (NSAM) was an essential tool for directing 

policy from the White House.  During the Kennedy and Johnson administrations, there were 

372 NSAMs signed by the presidents or their respective National Security Advisors.  Forty-

six of the NSAMs during Kennedy’s time in office were directly related to guerrilla warfare 

or Latin America.367  McGeorge Bundy, Kennedy’s Special Assistant to the President for 

National Security Affairs, signed NSAM 2 just thirteen days after the inauguration, which 

demonstrated the importance of counterinsurgency.  Titled ‘Development of Counter-

guerrilla Forces’, it directed the Secretary of Defense and other departments and agency 
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heads to place ‘more emphasis on the development of counter-guerrilla forces’.368  Secretary 

of Defense Robert McNamara provided an interim response to Bundy on 23 February 1961 

and explained the addition of 3,000 Army Special Forces personnel and a budget increase of 

$19 million to expand the existing counter-guerrilla capability.  Counter-guerrilla operations 

are a sub-component of counterinsurgency. (Refer to table three in the introduction)   He also 

explained that the Joint Chiefs of Staff were preparing a study to ‘be used as the basis for the 

development of a joint State-Defense-CIA action program in this field’.369  Additionally, 

numerous NSAMs were concerned with the development of Latin American internal security 

forces to counter the communist threat.  The National Security Council’s emphasis on this 

issue shows its importance and that policymakers wanted the US to be ready to conduct 

counterinsurgency warfare when required.  

Despite the responses to NSAM 2, Kennedy was not satisfied with the speed that the 

government reacted to his guidance.  As a result, he established the Special Group – 

Counterinsurgency (SG-CI) with NSAM 124 on 18 January 1962, to expedite action.370   A 

series of four additional NSAMs including, NSAM 165 (16 June 1962), NSAM 180 (13 

August 1962), NSAM 184 (04 September 1962), and NSAM 204 (07 November 1962), 

directed modifications to NSAM 124.  The purpose of the SG-CI was to ‘assure the unity of 

effort and the use of all available resources with maximum effectiveness in preventing and 

resisting subversive insurgency and related forms of indirect aggression in friendly 

countries’.371  The group consisted of principal deputies to the members of the National 

Security Council.  General Maxwell Taylor, the military representative to the President, 

chaired the group.  The addition of the Attorney General gave Kennedy a close confidant 

inside the group, which is significant considering the fallout from the Bay of Pigs.372  Robert 

Kennedy surpassed his brother’s zeal for the dark arts and took the nickname ‘Mr. 

Counterinsurgency’ within the beltway.373  In response to NSAM 131 (13 March 1962), he 

took an unusual step for an Attorney General and directed the national security apparatus to 

establish a counterinsurgency course.  As a result, in 1962, a joint committee formed the 
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Senior Interdepartmental Counter-insurgency School at the Foreign Service Institute in 

Arlington, VA.374  The State Department mandated that all senior officials attend the five-

week course before reporting to Embassy assignments in the developing world.  Ernest 

Siracusa, deputy chief of mission in Lima, recalled, ‘After attending the Bobby Kennedy-

mandated Counter-Insurgency Course at the Foreign Service Institute, I arrived in Lima in 

early October 1963’.375  In September 1962, the SG-CI promulgated the Overseas Internal 

Defense Policy (OIDP) document, which articulated the overall US government strategy to 

defeat insurgencies.  It read: 

‘This document is concerned with the prevention and defeat of (1) communist inspired, supported, or 

directed subversion or insurgency and (2) other types of subversion and insurgency which are 

inimical to U.S. national security interests in all countries of the free world, primarily those that are 

underdeveloped, whether they are pro-Western, or basically neutral’.376   

The later NSAMs added multiple Andean countries to the SG-CI’s responsibly including, 

Venezuela, Colombia, Ecuador, and Bolivia.  The exclusion of Peru is likely because Luis De 

la Puente’s Movement of the Revolutionary Left (MIR) and Hector Bejar’s National 

Liberation Army (ELN) had not yet surfaced as belligerent forces by the fall of 1962.  

However, the policies and doctrine that resulted from the SG-CI would guide the US 

contribution to Peru’s development of its internal security forces. 

The Kennedy fanaticism with insurgency and counterinsurgency caused a title wave across 

the national defence community.  Throughout his tenure, he consistently applied pressure on 

government agencies to change their way of doing business.  Some in the State Department 

considered the focus on counterinsurgency a distraction from high-level diplomacy.  The US 

Agency for International Development (AID) primarily conducted economic and technical 

development projects.  Many of its employees ‘resisted suggestions that it abandon its 

traditional long-term development projects for more short-term, civic action activities – 

activities that the agency tended to dismiss as gimmickry’.377  Like his brother, Bobby 

 
374 Memorandum for the President, ‘Senior Interdepartmental Counter-insurgency School’, 19 April 1962, 

CREST, FOIA electronic reading room, https://www.cia.gov/library/readingroom/document/cia-

rdp80b01676r001900120032-6 (accessed 22 January 2020). Also see, Freedman, Kennedy’s Wars, p. 288. 
375 Library of Congress, The Association for Diplomatic Studies and Training Foreign Affairs Oral History 

Project, ‘Interview with Ernest V. Siracusa’, June 1989, p. 42, http://hdl.loc.gov/loc.mss/mfdip.2004sir01 

(accessed 13 January 2018); Department of State telegram, Jones to Rusk, 3 November 1965, p. 4, LBJL, NSF, 

Country Files, Peru, box 72, folder 6; NSAM 131, Training Objectives for Counter-Insurgency: Part III: 

Memoranda, 1962: 16 February-22 March, JFKL, NSF, Meetings and Memoranda, National Security Action 

Memoranda, NSAM 131 folder. 
376 White House, National Security Council memo, ‘United States Overseas Internal Defense Policy’, September 

1962, p. 1, http://orchestratingpower.org/lib/COIN/Overseas%20Internal%20Defense%20Policy/OIDP.pdf 

(accessed 12 January 2018). 
377 Birtle, U.S. Army Counterinsurgency and Contingency Operations Doctrine, p. 228. 

https://www.cia.gov/library/readingroom/document/cia-rdp80b01676r001900120032-6
https://www.cia.gov/library/readingroom/document/cia-rdp80b01676r001900120032-6
http://hdl.loc.gov/loc.mss/mfdip.2004sir01
http://orchestratingpower.org/lib/COIN/Overseas%20Internal%20Defense%20Policy/OIDP.pdf


106 
 

Kennedy read Mao Zedong’s, Che Guevara’s, and Ho Chi Minh’s writings on guerrilla 

warfare.  Moreover, ‘Green Berets came to Hyannis Port to show rather than just tell the 

attorney general about their unconventional warfare techniques’.378  The Kennedy brothers 

believed the Special Forces could successfully employ counterinsurgency and civic action 

tactics in Latin America and other troubled spots around the world.  However, following the 

Bay of Pigs fiasco, they were sceptical of senior military and intelligence officer’s promises.  

While they did garner support among Army and Navy special warfare leadership and the 

rank-and-file, they met resistance at the Pentagon.  Most senior officials did not agree with 

Kennedy and felt the military should remain focused on defending Europe.  Moreover, they 

despised civilians questioning their professional military opinions.  Andrew Birtle is critical 

of multiple aspects of Kennedy’s emphasis on counterinsurgency, and concluded, ‘A final 

weakness of Kennedy’s method was that, by politicizing doctrine, he converted it into 

dogma’.379  As a result, he stifled debate within the government, which led to the rise of 

theories and policies that proved to be incorrect. 

While Kennedy’s commitment to Latin America was clear, he placed Peru in a prominent 

position among its peers.  Peruvian President Manuel Prado y Ugarteche was the first Latin 

American head of state to meet with Kennedy in the White House.380  Kennedy named Joseph 

Loeb as Ambassador to Peru.  Loeb was president of Americans for Democratic Action, a 

liberal activist group for anti-communism.  Richard Walter concluded, ‘the appointment of 

such a high-profile personality indicated a certain amount of administration concern for 

Peru’.381  Moreover, the size of the US mission to Peru was much larger than most others in 

Latin America.382  The Kennedy administration saw Prado as an active supporter and 

advocate for the Alliance for Progress.  As a reward for his anti-Castro stance, they gave Peru 

one half-million ton of the Cuban sugar quota, which significantly increased Peruvian sugar 

exports to the US.383  However, Prado’s term was coming to an end.  Kennedy and Loeb 

closely watched the left-leaning, yet anti-communist, Victor Haya de la Torre, the founder, 

and leader of the Popular Alliance of American Revolution (APRA).384  They considered 
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Haya a social progressive who could be an advocate for the Alliance if the Peruvians elected 

him president in 1962. 

The most significant test of US-Peruvian relations during the Kennedy administration 

occurred after the Peruvian military conducted a coup d’état on 18 July 1962.  Loeb predicted 

the military would conduct the coup d’état on 9 June when he wrote to Rusk ‘I believe it will 

be within 24 hours after there are enough election returns to indicate APRA victory’.385  Over 

1.7 million Peruvians voted in the presidential election on 10 June 1962, which resulted in a 

three-way tie between Haya, Fernando Belaunde Terry, and former President (1948-1956) 

General Manual Odria.  As there was no clear winner (Haya received 32.1%, but not the 

required 33.3%), Congress would decide the outcome.386  Haya’s political manoeuvring cut a 

power-sharing deal that would give Odria the Presidency but give effective control of 

Congress to APRA.  The Peruvian military establishment could not accept this.387  They 

despised Haya and employed the excuse of election fraud to justify the coup d’état.388  

General Ricardo Perez Godoy led the Junta and committed to another round of elections in 

1963.  Many Latin American and European countries immediately recognized the Junta.  

However, Kennedy was incensed by the coup d’état, especially after Loeb’s attempts to 

forestall it.  Robert Kennedy recalled that they ‘took a lot of steps, took whatever steps we 

could, to try to bring pressure’ on the Junta.389  Kennedy recalled Loeb to Washington and 

suspended economic and military support to warn other would-be military dictators in Latin 

America not to follow the same path.390  However, many in Peru and some in Latin America 

viewed Kennedy’s response as US meddling in Peru’s internal affairs, which was a clear 

violation of the Organization of the Americas’ (OAS) charter.391  After a few months, the 

tension abated, and the two countries normalized relations. 

The 1963 election of Belaunde would restore US-Peruvian relations and provide the 

conditions for a mutual relationship during the conflict with the ELN and MIR.  During the 

run-up to the election, Kennedy appointed Ambassador John Wesley Jones, a career 

diplomat, albeit not a Latin Americanist, to lead the US mission in Lima.  Jones would serve 
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as Ambassador until the end of the Johnson Administration and guide the US and Peru 

through some difficult times.392  Belaunde took 39% of the vote, defeating Haya, and Odria, 

and went on to be inaugurated on 28 July 1963.393  Belaunde was an enthusiastic supporter of 

the Alliance for Progress, which pleased the Kennedy Administration.394  He had trained as 

an architect at the University of Texas at Austin and had large-scale development plans for 

Peru.  Belaunde wanted to build a trans-Andean highway connecting Lima to the lower 

eastern slopes of the Andes.  Siracusa recalled, ‘Here, he was convinced, was where Peru's 

future lay and he would tirelessly and eloquently expound his theories to all visitors, 

illustrating with elaborate mock-ups in full relief’.395  However, APRA controlled Congress, 

and its political manoeuvring would block some of the projects.  The US State Department 

predicted, ‘Although Belaunde’s government will lack a congressional majority, its elite and 

military backing promises political stability.  The outlook for the government’s reform 

program is complicated by the difficulties of collaborating with APRA as well as by the 

formidable problems of Peruvian society’.   They continued, ‘Meanwhile, the military may be 

expected to take a more active role in reform programs, directly through civic action, and 

indirectly through continuing influence on government policies’.396  The most contentious 

issue between the US and Peru was the protracted dispute over the claims of the International 

Petroleum Company (IPC), which was a subsidiary of the Standard Oil Company based in 

New York.  While the IPC issue would continue to fester, it would not reach critical mass 

until 1968, late in the Johnson Administration.397  Throughout the remainder of Kennedy’s 

term, U.S-Peruvian relations would remain stable.  

Kennedy’s national security policies included the education and training of foreign militaries 

and government officials.  NSAM 131 read, ‘it is in the interest of the United States to 

provide counter-insurgency training to selected foreign nationals, both in the United States 

and in their own countries’.398  It directed the AID, CIA, Department of Defense (DOD), and 

Department of State (DOS) to conduct training in facilities in the US and Panama, as well as 
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in countries with counterinsurgency programs.  The OIDP amplified NSAM 131 and directed 

the government to develop militaries and conduct nation-building in countries where 

insurgencies were in the incipient phase.399  Specific to Peru, AID, through its Office of 

Public Safety (OPS) trained police units, the CIA worked with the Servicio de Inteligencia 

Nacional (National Intelligence Service, SIN), DOD focused on the military, and the DOS 

helped develop various governmental agencies. Peruvian military and police officers, and 

government officials attended a plethora of seminars, training courses, and educational 

institutions in the US during the 1960s.  For example, Peruvian Army Major Victor 

Mendizbal attended the US Army Command and General Staff College at Fort Leavenworth, 

Kansas, in 1963.400  While Truman and Eisenhower built the foundation of military 

cooperation, Kennedy significantly expanded training and educational opportunities for Latin 

American governments.  

The most controversial institution was in the Canal Zone in Panama.  The US Army founded 

its Caribbean School on 1 February 1949 and renamed it the School of the Americas (SOA) 

at Fort Gulick on 1 July 1963.  A US Army colonel commanded the school, but much of the 

staff and instructors were from Latin American militaries.  Its flagship offering was the 

prestigious Command and General Staff course that educated mid-career officers and 

prepared them for battalion command.  Additionally, the school offered a wide variety of 

courses, including counterinsurgency, civic action, intelligence, military police, leadership, 

infantry tactics, combat engineering, communications, supply, and maintenance for vehicles, 

weapons, radios, and other equipment.401  During the early1960s, the school trained 

approximately 1,400 Latin American students per year.  By December 1964, the school had 

taught 16,343 students from nineteen Latin American countries, including 805 Peruvians.402  

On 18 April 1963, Ambassador Jones visited the school and received an honorary degree, 

which increased the legitimacy of the school in the eyes of the Peruvian military.403  In recent 

years, Leslie Gill and William Blum admonished the school and alleged it was responsible 
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for the human rights violations its graduates committed.404  However, congruent with the 

developing counterinsurgent doctrine, much of which the US Army was testing in Vietnam, 

the curriculum emphasized winning the hearts and minds of the local population and de-

emphasized the use of repressive techniques.  It remains unclear whether any of the Peruvian 

graduates were responsible for the human rights violations committed during the conflict with 

the MIR and ELN. 

The Peruvian military sent its highest-performing personnel to the SOA courses as instructors 

and students.  The SOA newsletter El Faro Americano (The American Lighthouse) dated 1 

October 1962, recognized Lieutenant Colonel Leonardo Demartini and Lieutenant Alfonso 

Aguilar as the honour graduates of the military police and engineering for officers’ courses 

respectively.405  The Peruvian Army also sent instructors on two-year assignments.  For 

example, Aguilar returned to teach in the engineering section, and Lieutenant Luis Gavini 

taught in the communications section.406  While attending training at SOA, many students 

took advantage of English language instruction.407  In April 1963, Peruvian Army engineers 

graduated from a construction course where they learned how to operate and maintain heavy 

equipment.408  They later used this in civic action projects across the country.  In October 

1963, Peruvian Army Colonel Luis Trigoso Reyna, chief engineer for the Maranon region, 

visited SOA and gave a guest lecture on how he employed civic action in his area.  US Army 

Colonel Marshall Wallach, SOA’s director of the internal security department, bestowed him 

with an honorary degree for his participation.409  In May 1964, Peruvian Army Captain 

Carlos Luperdi Gonzales was the honour graduate of the Counterinsurgency Operations 

course, which taught students various methods of opposing communist insurgency.410  These 

are but a few examples of the collaboration between the Peruvian military and SOA.  The 
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Peruvian Army leaders were very proud of their involvement in the school, especially of the 

instructors they provided and when their soldiers took honours during training. 

The primary US military element involved in Latin America during the 1960s was the US 

Army’s 8th Special Forces Group – Airborne (SFGA) based at Fort Gulick in the Panama 

Canal Zone.  The 8th SFGA was activated in Panama on 1 April 1963.  In June 1972, it was 

re-designated as the 3rd Battalion, 7th SFGA.  Colonel Arthur ‘Bull’ Simmons was the first 

commander of the unit.  Colonel Magnus Smith replaced him on 23 July 1965.411  According 

to Command Sergeant Major Robert Ramsey, who was a member of the unit from 1962 until 

1966, ‘The 8th SFGA was very active all-over Latin America in the 1960s’.412  Many of the 

SAFLA personnel participated in SOA’s jungle operations course as students and instructors.  

They took this experience with them when they rotated to assignments in Vietnam.  

Kennedy’s most senior military advisor, General Maxwell Taylor, considered Indochina a 

laboratory for counterinsurgency theory and techniques.413  In turn, Special Action Force 

Latin America (SAFLA) personnel used the counterinsurgency experience they gained in 

Vietnam when training Latin American militaries.414  SAFLA was responsible for providing 

special operations expertise in the US Southern Command (SOUTHCOM) area of 

responsibility, which included Latin America south of the Mexico border with Guatemala to 

the southernmost tip of South America.  Its primary mission was ‘to advise, train, and assist 

Latin American military and paramilitary forces in the conduct of counterinsurgency 

activities in support of U.S. national objectives’.  Its secondary mission was ‘to develop, 

organize, equip, train, and direct indigenous forces in the conduct of guerrilla warfare under 

limited or general warfare conditions as directed’.415  The 8th SFGA formed the base of 

SAFLA, which provided SOUTHCOM with the capability to conduct civic action and 

counterinsurgency activities throughout Latin America.  These events were instrumental in 

assisting many countries in thwarting the spread of communism in the region. 

SAFLA conducted a variety of activities across the region including, tactical and technical 

training, and civic action projects.  Civic action included English language instruction, 
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medical, dental, engineering, or construction projects to assist the host nation military in 

building rapport with the local populace.  Tactical and technical counterinsurgency training 

encompassed a wide variety of skills from mission planning, staff operations, intelligence, 

psychological operations, communications, equipment and vehicle maintenance, and 

vocational educational assistance to host nation infantry, commando, and special operations 

units.  The mobile training teams (MTT) formed the basis of the civic action and training 

events.  SAFLA planners designed MTTs specifically for each tasking and staffed them with 

personnel with the required experience and training.416  Sergeant Major Kenny McMullin 

recalled, ‘Mobile training teams were sent throughout Latin America. The most famous of 

these was Pappy Shelton’s mission to Bolivia to train the troops who would eventually track 

down Che Guevara’.417  Across the globe, the regional SAFs conducted a total of 522 MTTs 

in the fiscal year 1963 and 529 in the fiscal year 1964.418  SAFLA conducted 62 in 1962; 73 

in 1964; 106 in 1965; and 76 in 1966.  60 percent of the MTTs were civic action projects, 30 

percent were tactical and technical counterinsurgency training, and the final 10 percent were 

survey and assessment activities.  SOUTHCOM employed these teams as the primary policy 

implementation tool in the region.  Wayne Kirkbride asserted, ‘The impact made by these 

teams is believed to have been of tremendous value to the military, social, and economic 

stability of these countries’.419  In an interview with Alan Hoe, former 8th SFGA member 

Master Sergeant Richard Meadows described a counterinsurgency MTT he had led in the 

Dominican Republic in 1963.  He recalled, ‘Such missions as these took place in Costa Rica, 

Nicaragua, Bolivia, Chile, Peru, and Colombia’.420  SAFLA conducted numerous MTTs and 

civic action projects in Peru between 1963 and 1966, which were instrumental in preparing 

the Peruvian Army to defeat the MIR and ELN. 

In 1962, the Peruvian Army established its Escuela de Comando (Commando School) in the 

Chorrillos area of Lima.  A group of officers that had completed the US Army Airborne and 

Ranger courses at Ft. Benning, Georgia, formed the core of the instructors and developed the 

program of instruction for the Commando course.  In April of 1963, the SAFLA conducted 

an MTT at the Commando School, where its personnel taught a counterinsurgency course.  
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Sergeant Howard, a cameraman from the US Army audio-visual detachment in Panama, 

filmed much of the training.  The films show a Special Forces team instructing Peruvian 

soldiers in the tactical aspect of counterinsurgency such as small unit tactics, mission 

planning, mountaineering, infiltration, rifle marksmanship, sentry neutralization, raids, 

attacks, ambush, use of explosives.  One film shows the final exercise of the course in the 

nearby mountains where the instructors evaluated the students to plan and execute a mission 

by attacking a small outpost and destroying a radio transceiver station.421  An article in 

Actualidad Militar added that the instruction also included intelligence and psychological 

operations as they applied to counterguerrilla warfare.  Members of the Navy and National 

Police also attended the course.  The Commander of the Peruvian Armed Forces, General 

Julio Doig Sanchez, presided over the opening ceremony.  In his speech, he spoke of the 

importance of understanding counterinsurgency and implored the graduates to ‘to lend the 

maximum interest to assimilate the knowledge to be imparted’ during the course.422  A 

second article has a photo spread that shows SAFLA Captain Loorge Stewart at the 

graduation ceremony having a discussion with General Salas del Caprio.423  These photos, 

which show multiple members of the MTT directly correspond with the films, and combine 

with US Army historical records to provide convincing proof of US Army involvement in 

Peruvian Army counterinsurgency training. 

The Peruvian security forces quickly proliferated the tactics and techniques, like those the 

SAFLA team taught during the MTT, by conducting numerous courses at the Commando 

school in the following years.  They also held courses at regional training centres throughout 

Peru, including one in the northern department called Piura in the fall of 1963.  Lieutenant 

Colonel Raul Villaronga of the US Embassy MAAG served as an advisor for the course.424  

These training events were crucial in the development of the counterinsurgency capability.  

Former MIR leader Ricardo Gadea believed that this training provided a significant 

advantage to the Peruvian Army over the rural insurgent fronts.  He explained that for the 

most part, the insurgents relied on guerrilla warfare tactics that dated back to the Cuban 
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insurgency (1956-1959).  In contrast, the Peruvian Army significantly improved and updated 

its tactics between 1959 and 1965, based on lessons from the conflict in Vietnam.425  This 

suggests that the Peruvian Army’s integration of evolving counterinsurgency techniques 

allowed them to defeat the guerrillas.   

The Peruvian Army was conducting civic action projects well before the launch of the 

Alliance for Progress.  However, they did place additional emphasis on small military-led 

development projects during the 1960s.426  Kennedy stated that ‘military forces can 

contribute substantially to economic development’.427  As such, the US provided funding and 

equipment for two additional Peruvian Army engineer battalions under the auspices of the 

Alliance for Progress.  The earliest direct evidence of civic action is found in the September 

1962 issue of Actualidad Militar that has a full-page photo on the cover.  The picture shows 

Peruvian Army engineers building a road a remote area in the jungle called Maranon.428  A 

month later, the cover page featured a small aircraft landing on a remote strip in the Amazon 

that the Army had built.429  The military publications continued to highlight these projects 

throughout the decade.  In 1963, The Army Staff created a General Officer position to 

oversee and coordinate all civic action projects.430  This demonstrates the growing 

importance of civic action among the senior leaders of the army.  In September 1963, SAFLA 

dispatched an MTT, designated 40-MTT 103-64, to Lima for a six-month temporary 

assignment.  Lieutenant Colonel David Meyer led the team that included a public education 

officer, an engineer officer, and a public health officer.  During the trip, they conducted civic 

action training for 223 personnel.  This included personnel from the headquarters, all five 

military regions, the Navy, the Air Force, and the National Police.  Meyer’s team served as 

advisors on thirteen projects and assisted the General Staff in writing a detailed civic action 

plan for 1964 and 1965.  The team also authored an in-depth assessment of the Peruvian 

Army’s civic action capabilities and performance.  One finding of the 65-page report that 

they briefed to Ambassador Jones before they departed was ‘That through civic action 

projects and programs, national unrest of certain element[s] of the people will cease, and the 

masses will assist in the economic development of Peru by actually participating in self-help 
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projects’.431  While it is complicated to measure the effectiveness of these activities, and 

Meyer’s assessment is undoubtedly overly optimistic, the civic action programs likely had a 

positive impact.  As a result of the team’s recommendations, SAFLA conducted a series of 

civic action MTTs in 1964 that focused on preventative medicine, heavy equipment operation 

and maintenance, as wells as warehousing, inventory, and logistics procedures.432  In May 

and August, the MAAG chief Colonel Robert Ingalla travelled to Cusco, Puno, and Maranon 

to inspect various civic action efforts.433  In September, Ambassador Jones travelled to 

Maranon to visit a road construction project, which was part of the colonization initiative in 

the area.434  As the MIR and ELN prepared for war, the Peruvian Army continued to conduct 

civic action projects in every department in the country to win the support of the population. 

AID and CIA worked with the Peruvian national police to develop a counterinsurgency 

capability.  In December 1954, NSC action memorandum 1290-D directed the CIA to 

establish the Overseas Internal Security Program and improve upon a faltering DoD program 

that trained national police forces in counterinsurgency.435  This led to a conflicting mix of 

authorities and responsibilities between AID and CIA that the agencies did not resolve during 

the Eisenhower Administration.  Furthermore, ‘Low budgets and lack of bureaucratic support 

(and lack of sustained executive enthusiasm) limited the scope of the program, and its budget 

declined between 1958 and 1961 to less than $14 million’.436  To remedy this situation, 

Bundy issued NSAM 114 that ordered a review of the police training and periodic reports for 

the President.  The memo added, ‘Latin America should be the first area covered by the 

review’.437  This resulted in NSAM 177 ‘Police Assistance Programs’, which Kennedy signed 
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on 07 August 1962.  As directed, AID established OPS and named Bryon Engle as the 

director.  Engle may have been a CIA employee.438  The CIA used OPS as a cover for its 

officers working in Latin America, and it provided them a valuable link to the remote areas 

away from cities with embassies and consulates.439  AID’s budget for the fiscal year 1964 

allocated $29.5 million to OPS, which included $200,000 for Peru.  For a short period, OPS 

maintained a regional training centre called the Inter-American Police Academy at Fort Davis 

in the Panama Canal Zone.440  However, OPS closed it down and moved the training to the 

International Police Academy (IPA) in Washington, D.C., in 1963.  IPA training focused on 

preparing national police forces to carry out counterinsurgency in their home countries.  On 

27 June 1964, the Peruvian Minister of Government and Police sent a letter to Jones 

requesting ‘assistance to equip and maintain a Special Police Emergency Unit (SPEU) that 

they would for counterinsurgency’.441  Months later, the Special Group (CI) ‘endorsed the 

CIA/AID proposal for a special airborne police unit to be tried out on an experimental basis 

in Peru’.442  OPS worked furiously to establish the capability at a base in Mazamari in the 

Satipo Providence near one of the MIR fronts.443  However, the SPEU was not operational in 

time to participate in the conflict. 

The development of the Peruvian government’s intelligence was also critical to the looming 

conflict with the MIR and ELN.  On 27 June 1960, Prado signed an executive order that 

established the National Intelligence Service (SIN).  Andres Gomez and Arturo Medrano 

showed that ‘One can view the Peruvian National Intelligence Service as a product of the 

Cold War, with its focus on fighting communism and counterinsurgency’.444  The CIA 
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Station in Lima worked directly with the SIN to support the security forces in the fight 

against the insurgents.  The Policia de Investigaciones del Peru (Peruvian Investigations 

Police, PIP) was responsible for investigating subversive groups.  The PIP had 1,370 

investigators, and OPS judged that ‘The training, organization, and morale of this 

organization are only fair’.445  In August 2017, the Peruvian government declassified and 

released a series of SIN and PIP reports that completely change how scholars have viewed 

how well the security services understood the insurgent movement.  These documents show 

that the SIN and PIP had very detailed knowledge of the insurgent elements across the 

country.  We will examine these documents in detail in chapter five.  The Peruvian Army had 

a strategic intelligence group called the Servicio de Inteligencia de Ejercito (Army 

Intelligence Service, SIE) as well as tactical intelligence capabilities embedded with each 

regional and battalion headquarters.  The SIE had a training school in Lima.446  SOA records 

show that numerous Peruvian Army intelligence officers attended training in the Canal 

Zone.447  During the 1960s, the US Army ran the Foreign Intelligence Assistance Program, or 

Project X, which provided training and manuals in Spanish for various intelligence 

operations, including interrogation.  Under the auspices of Project X, SOA conducted some 

of this training in 1965 and 1966.448  It is unclear if this training influenced Peruvian Army 

Intelligence officers during the conflict.  The research conducted for this dissertation did not 

uncover any direct evidence implicating any of the Peruvian Army Intelligence officers in 

human rights abuses.  However, considering the staggering level of repressive techniques the 

security services employed during the conflict, it is possible.  The SIN, PIP, and SIE were 

well prepared to confront insurgent groups by 1963.  

The above examples of AID/OPS, CIA, and SAFLA support of their respective counterpart’s 

development significantly adds to the historiography of this period.  Multiple observers have 
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noted US involvement in Peru, some more accurately than others.  Victor Marchetti and John 

Marks provide an inaccurate example when they claimed: 

‘The agency [CIA] financed the construction of what one experienced observer described as a 

miniature Fort Bragg [stateside home of the US Army Special Forces] in the troubled Peruvian 

region, complete with mess halls, classrooms, barracks, administrative buildings, parachute jump 

towers, amphibious landing facilities, and all the accoutrements of paramilitary operations’.449 

On the surface, this seems significant.  However, they were referring to the OPS base in 

Mazamari, and the National Police counterinsurgency troops that OPS was training there did 

not participate in the conflict with the ELN and MIR.  First, OPS funded the base, and 

second, there is no convincing evidence that US Army personnel participated in the training.  

Lust provides the most comprehensive account of US government support to Peru’s 

counterinsurgency development.450  However, he did not take advantage of US archives, 

aside from online holdings.  Andrew Kirkbride, in his exhaustive account of SAFLA 

activities during the 1960s, only notes one MTT to Peru.451  During the research for this 

dissertation, I consulted the official history of the SAFLA and uncovered audio-visual 

evidence at the National Archives in College Park as well as documentary evidence at the 

Lyndon B. Johnson Library archive of nine SAFLA MTTs to Peru between 1963 and 1966.  

Peruvian newspapers, military journal articles, and unit histories preserved in Lima confirm 

this research.  Due to a freedom of information act request, the Defense Intelligence Agency 

declassified and released order of battle documents concerning the Peruvian Army that 

contributed to the understanding of its force structure.  The sum of this training and education 

prepared the Peruvian security forces for the challenges to come.  Hugo Blanco provided the 

first significant opportunity for the Peruvian Army to test its burgeoning counterinsurgency 

capability. 

Hugo Blanco 

Hugo Blanco Galdos led the most important rebellion of the early 1960s in the fertile valleys 

of La Convencion and Lares, which are sixty miles northeast of Cusco in the southern 

Peruvian Andes.  This episode is significant because it was the first serious attempt to 

mobilize the Campesinos for ideological purposes.  While Victor Haya de la Torre and Jose 

Mariátegui had spoken and written of the potential of the peasantry, Blanco put these 
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concepts into action.  Blanco was more successful than the later attempts by the ELN and 

MIR at mobilizing the campesinos.  A 1963 State Department report read, ‘Communist 

sympathizers promoted favorable publicity for Blanco, the Peruvian ‘Robin Hood’, 

particularly in Cuzco’s daily El Sol, which is reportedly edited by Blanco’s brother-in-

law’.452  He was born on 15 November 1934, in Cusco and raised in a middle-class mestizo 

family.  His father was a lawyer who defended the rural workers in court and Blanco learned 

from an early age about the landowner’s abuses and exploitation of the peasants.  As a child 

he was fascinated by Incan history, he studied archaeology and spent much time among the 

Quechua people learning their language, singing their songs, and experiencing their culture.  

This knowledge and experience combined with his maternal familial ties would have a 

significant impact on his ability to organize and lead the workers in La Convencion and Lares 

to fight for social change.  Along with his father, he also took part in clandestine organization 

and support of the oppressed workers.  In 1954, his family sent him to study agronomy at 

Universidad de la Plata in Buenos Aires, Argentina where he joined the Trotskyist 

movement.  He worked in a meat packing plant and gained experience with organized labour 

through its trade union.453  The situation in Buenos Aires was not conducive for revolution as 

journalist Richard Gott explained, ‘At the time the Argentine Communists were vigorously 

opposed to Peron, whose government, for all its faults, was devoutly anti-imperialist and anti-

American and consequently enjoyed the support of a sizable percentage of the working 

class’.454  These were Blanco’s formative years, and the contacts with Trotskyist leaders, 

especially Hugo Bressano, were influential. 

In 1958, Blanco moved to Lima, found work in a factory, and contacted the Trotskyist 

movement there.  The Grupo Obrero Marxista (Marxist Workers Party, GOM) had been 

active there since 1946 and developed into the Partito Obrero Revolucionario (Worker’s 

Revolutionary Party, POR), which was the Peruvian division of the Fourth International.  

Odria’s anti-leftist repression between 1948 and 1956 almost destroyed the POR.  The 

fragmented POR split into two factions under the two most influential leaders of the time.  In 

his memoir, Blanco recalled: 

‘The great crisis in the world Trotskyist movement during that period had an impact on the exiles, and 

when they returned to Peru after eight oppressive years, two PORs emerged: one was led by [Ismael] 
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Frias and influenced by the Pablo and Posadas tendency; the other, whose best known leader was 

Felix Zelallos, belonged to the tendency which at the time called itself orthodox, and was strongly 

influenced by the Argentine Trotskyist party.  It was in that party, among whose leaders Nahuel 

Moreno [nom de guerre for Hugo Bressano] particularly stood out, that I acquired my Marxist 

education’.455   

The POR detested the APRA and PCP and sought to build a genuine revolutionary party for 

the people and workers of Peru.  Blanco helped organize and participated in violent protests 

against US Vice President Richard Nixon’s visit to Peru in 1958.  The protests caught the 

security forces off guard, but they responded by routing out and arresting the organizers.456  

Before the police could capture Blanco, POR leadership sent him to Cusco, where he would 

continue the struggle against the Peruvian Oligarchy.  

Blanco arrived in Cusco, which in 1958 was a stronghold of communism, with the intention 

of developing the urban workers into a revolutionary force.  He recalled, ‘Naturally, we 

figured my first step was to become a member of the Cuzco Workers Federation (FTC), 

where I would find the most militant workers’.457  However, this did not turn out to be the 

case.  Blanco discovered that the FTC was composed of artisans and peasants, and there was 

not a radical wing of workers.  Moreover, in his opinion, the bureaucrats in charge of the FTC 

were only interested in maintaining the status quo.   He then learned of the Campesino 

organizations in La Convencion and Lares valleys and discussed the concept of working with 

them.  At the time, this was counter to POR’s methods, which focused on organizing urban 

workers.  Blanco’s insistence on pursuing the rural aspect set him at odds with the POR 

leadership.  Before his arrival in the valleys, there had been some Campesino organization, 

but Blanco was the driving force it the expansion.  Small groups of Campesinos, usually 

working in the same cluster of haciendas, joined in unions known as syndicates.  Gott shows 

that there were only six syndicates when Blanco arrived, but within three years, this had 

expanded to 148.  He also argued that the original syndicates ‘were almost entirely 

preoccupied with legal matters … they were of more use for prestige purposes to leftist 

lawyers in Cusco than they were to the peasants themselves’.458  These lawyers from Cusco 

and Lima, only sought to use the Andean people as a means to create social and political 

change in the country.  In contrast, Blanco was also a true believer in the Campesino’s cause, 

with familial ties and a genuine interest in their heritage and language. 
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 In the 1930s, settlers began to arrive in the area, and the indigenous Machiguenga Indians 

scattered into the Amazon.  By 1950 there were sixty one large estates of over 4,300 hectares 

consolidated under the control of twenty five families.459  The principal crops grown in the 

area included sugar, coffee, tea, and cocoa.460  The transportation system was limited and 

unreliable but improved somewhat with the completion of the rail line between Cusco city 

and Aguas Calientes, near Machu Pichu.  The national government had very little oversight 

or interaction in the area.  One contributing factor was that ‘In the early 1960’s the Office of 

Indigenous Affairs had only one person who could translate Spanish into Quechua’.461  

Additionally, unlike in Pasco, where the large mining and agriculture industries had a 

powerful influence in Lima, the settlers in La Convencion and Lares did not.  The hacienda 

owners, or hacendados, were mostly free to exploit the workers as they desired.  The local 

politicians controlled the security forces and usually supported the hacendados.   

There was no native labour source in the area, so the hacendados were required to incentivize 

migration into the area.  They recruited a workforce from Cusco, Apurimac, and Ayacucho.  

As Howard Handelman explained, ‘Highland villagers were offered a plot of land in La 

Convencion on the condition that they render ten to twenty days of free labor per month to 

the hacendado’.462  This was a high price to pay for a plot of land, but many highland 

Campesinos took advantage of the opportunity to build a better life for their families.  By 

1960, Cusco had a population of 611,972, and approximately 62,000 lived in La 

Convencion.463  In general, those who migrated to the area were more socially and politically 

aware with hopes for a better economic future than the average Campesino in the southern 

Andes.  While they were willing to work hard, they did not pledge blind obedience to the 

landowners.  The migrants demonstrated their entrepreneurial spirit within the coffee trade.  

They grew coffee beans on their plots and sold it to coffee buyers from Cusco city.  As the 

price of coffee rose exponentially during the 1950s, this trade became very lucrative.  Some 

hacendados forced their workers to sell their coffee to them at fixed prices, which they would 

then resell for a profit to the coffee traders.  This was an obvious friction point between the 

landowners and the workers.  Some workers invested profits from the coffee trade and hired 
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others to fulfil their labour obligation to the hacendado.  While others sublet sections of their 

plots to migrants who recently arrived from the Sierra, and these sub-letters would then be 

required to fulfil the original tenant’s labour obligations.464  These changes in the power 

structure of the area combined with the economic tensions and created a situation that was 

predisposed to revolution.  

In 1958, Blanco helped the locals form the Provincial Peasant Federation of La Convencion 

and Lares, and they immediately set to work by organizing strikes on the haciendas.  In 1959, 

they conducted work stoppages in Paccha Grande, Chaucamayo, and Chaupimayo to fight for 

better work conditions and treatment for the peasants.465  Victor Villanueva argues that the 

strikes were effective because the tenants could work on their plots making, them more 

productive while the landowners had no labour and lost their crops at great expense.  He 

wrote, ‘The landowners gave way, the peasant triumphed.  As a logical consequence the 

unions spread through the valley like wildfire’.466  The movement took on the slogan: Tierra 

o Muerte (Land or Death).  The POR leadership in Lima observed these successes and judged 

this to be a possible way ahead for political change.  In response, other members of POR 

began organizing peasants in Arequipa and Puno.  In November 1960, the POR held a 

Congress in Arequipa to decide on how they would employ the building peasant 

movement.467  The representatives agreed that they should use guerrilla warfare to meet their 

objectives.  Villanueva explained that the Congress likely did not fully understand or consider 

the conditions in the Peruvian Andes.  However, he wrote, ‘But the fact is that the voting was 

unanimous.  It could also be that the inner voice of conscience of each delegate thought that 

the conclusions at which they have arrived were so utopian that it did not cost much to 

approve the “insurrectional line” which, it could be safely assumed, would never be put into 

practice’.468  There is some debate among scholars as to whether Blanco used guerrilla 

warfare methods in the valleys of La Convencion and Lares to meets his aims.469  However, 

following his capture, Blanco wrote, ‘I am Fidelista and I believe that only a violent 

revolution can improve the situation of this country.  But at no time did I ever think of 
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guerrilla warfare as the solution.  I became a “guerrillero” [guerrilla fighter] because of 

circumstances’.470  Moreover, he wrote in his memoir that they were conducting guerrilla 

warfare and referred to his group as ‘we guerrillas’ and ‘the guerrilla band’.471  Handelman 

argues, however, ‘Blanco’s armed peasant militias, which seized lands that they felt should 

be theirs, were not guerrillas’.472  Villanueva agreed with this point and attempts to parse out 

the difference between the farmer militias and guerrilla fighters.473  This may be accurate for 

the older, lightly armed men of the local peasant militias who only protected their immediate 

lands.  However, as I will describe below, the POR did use urban underground methods to 

finance and supply Blanco’s forces that did create and employ a mobile guerrilla column in 

the later years of the movement. 

The POR sought international support from multiple fronts and found a limited positive 

response.  The Secretarado Latinoamericano de Trotskismo Ortodozo (Latin American 

Secretariat of Orthodox Trotskyism, SLATO) was the group of the Fourth International in 

Buenos Aires, Argentina.  Following its Congress, POR asked for and received an 

endorsement for the planned insurrection, the so-called ‘Peruvian Thesis.’  SLATO also sent 

advisors to Lima and later Cusco.  In 1961, SLATO sent Argentinians Arturo ‘Che’ Pereyra 

and R. Creuss along with a Spaniard called Jose Martorell to Lima.  Martorell gained 

experience in clandestine operations during World War II while working with the French 

Resistance.474  The SLATO members cooperated closely with POR leaders and other 

organizations to consolidate the Left into a single cohesive unit.  This concept failed because 

of the various ideological beliefs of the disparate revolutionaries.  Pereyra was sent to Cusco 

to assist with the nascent revolution.  Gott asserted, ‘Pereyra was to prepare and organize 

guerrilla groups, while Blanco was to turn the existing peasant movement into a more solid 

cohesive force’.475  In addition to the advisors, SLATO likely provided financial assistance to 

the POR, but observers of the events have given a broad range of numbers.476  SLATO was 

the most generous and forthcoming international supporter of the Peruvian insurrection in the 

early 1960s. 
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The Cubans and Bolivians also provided limited support.  The FIR consulted the Cubans, 

who committed to providing direct support.  Blanco recalled, ‘Another favorable factor that 

must be singled out is the Cuban assistance: it seems that the comrades made tremendous 

efforts to have human and material aid sent to us, but nothing arrived’.477  The Cubans sent 

Bejar’s ELN to Peru in an attempt to link up with Blanco and provide assistance with the 

guerrilla war.  However, in May 1963, the Peruvian security forces intercepted them in 

Puerto Maldonado, so they did not reach the La Convencion valley.  I will explain this 

episode in greater detail below.  The Bolivian communists also provided support to this 

operation by facilitating the passage of the group from Cuba into Bolivia and across the 

border into Peru.  From 1960 until his ouster on 4 November 1964, Bolivian President Victor 

Paz Estenssoro tolerated the Bolivian Communist Party’s activities and ‘maintained 

diplomatic relations with Cuba and Czechoslovakia’.478  Blanco concluded that even if the 

Cuban assistance had arrived, it would not have been enough to impact the outcome of the 

insurrection.  He did, however, expound upon the importance of Radio Havana transmissions 

and the example set by the Cuban revolution.  He explained, ‘It was enthusiastic and fervent 

assistance that filled us with emotion and reinforced our resoluteness’.479  In this sense, 

Cuban support, although limited, was helpful to the cause. 

In June of 1961, the POR established a revolutionary front in Cusco.  Blanco wrote, ‘A 

political event of great importance during this period was the constitution of the 

Revolutionary Left Front (Frente de Izquierda Revolucionario–FIR) in Cusco, which united 

the local revolutionary left’.480  The FIR later established its National Directorate in Lima.  

Blanco reflected, ‘Although organizing the FIR did not directly aid the work in the 

countryside, it helped by coordinating it with the urban work’.481  In addition to Pereyra, 

Antonio Aragon, Gorki Tapia, and Hector Loayza arrived in Cusco to assist Blanco.  As they 

set about organizing land seizures and preparing for guerrilla warfare, a major rift began to 

build among POR and FIR leaders.  At the local level, Blanco tended to concentrate on 

working with the syndicates in employing land seizures, while Pereyra was more aggressive 

and desired to use violent means.482  Bressano arrived in Lima from Buenos Aires and was 
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adamantly against using guerrilla warfare methods and wanted to limit the movement to less 

aggressive resistance, such as strikes and land seizures.  His opinion was critical because he 

controlled the allocation of funds coming from SLATO.  The FIR planned two congresses in 

Cusco, and Blanco desperately needed funding to sponsor them.  These meetings were 

important in the fight between the FIR and other leftists’ groups in Cusco and could 

determine the future of the revolutionary movement.  Pereyra was sent to Lima to negotiate 

with Bressano but was unsuccessful in obtaining funding.483  Because of this, he found it 

necessary to explore alternative methods of financing.   

Pereyra decided to resort to robbing banks as a financial mechanism for the revolution.  The 

official Peruvian government version of events noted that the expropriations were to 

supplement the external financial support, not replace it because Bressano withheld funding.  

This showed that the government forces might not have had detailed knowledge of the 

infighting between SLATO and FIR leadership.484  Pereyra intended the funds for the 

purchase weapons, in addition to financing the planned congresses and revolutionary activity 

in general.485  The FIR leadership tasked members of the urban section of the FIR with 

conducting the expropriations in Lima.  The FIR recently recruited many of these individuals, 

but there was no rigorous vetting process for them.  Blanco wrote critically of this, ‘Almost 

immediately, those new members – untested in struggle – were assigned to such a delicate 

task as bank expropriations to obtain the required funds for the sharpening of the class 

struggle in the countryside’.486  On 12 April 1962, they robbed the Banco de Credito in the 

Miraflores District of Lima, and according to Gott, ‘It was a complete success, and the total 

secured was nearly three million soles (about $120,000)’.487  However, the banknotes were 

brand new and sequentially numbered, allowing the police to track the money with relative 

ease.  Tactical errors then followed, SLATO and FIR leadership in Lima directed Pereyra to 

transport the money with a group of FIR operatives scheduled to drive in a rented truck to 

Cusco on 24 April.  The truck arrived in Limatambo, about 80 kilometers west of Cusco, 

after a three-day journey and successfully passing through fifteen police checkpoints.  Local 

leaders from Cusco met them and recommended an alternate plan that avoided directly 

entering the city, but the head of the group from Lima was adamant they continue.  On 28 

 
483 Gott, Guerrilla Movements in Latin America, p. 308. 
484 Ministerio de Guerra del Perú, Las Guerrillas en el Perú y su represión, p. 14. 
485 Blanco, Land or Death, p. 74. 
486 Ibid., p. 51. 
487 Gott, Guerrilla Movements in Latin America, p. 308; De la Pedraja, Wars of Latin America, p. 159. 



126 
 

April, they arrived in Cusco in the early morning hours, where the police intercepted them.488  

Most of the group escaped, but the police captured Pereyra along with nearly all of the 

money. 

 

These activities caused the SLATO and FIR leadership in Lima to make significant changes 

in Cusco.  Bressano demoted Blanco along with other senior leaders in Cusco on accusations 

of lack of discipline.  While the military controlled government had been closely monitoring 

the growing peasant movement in Cusco, they had not yet taken any steps to stop it.  William 

Whyte and Giorgio Alberti assert that the Banco de Credito heist triggered government 

repression, ‘One important factor that precipitated government intervention was the FIR-

organized program of bank expropriations in Lima’.489  They go on to explain that the 
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government’s internal security forces quickly and efficiently dismantled the urban FIR 

organizations in Lima and Cusco city.  Significantly, Hernan Boggio Allende, who was a 

member of the FIR Central Committee and Peruvian delegate to SLATO, voluntarily 

surrendered to the police on 4 May.490  Boggio was involved in the bank robberies, and 

according to Blanco and Pereyra, stole a portion of  the money for personal use.491  

Presumably, he provided the police with information that enabled the successful dismantling 

of the urban FIR.  With the urban situation firmly in hand, the government turned to the 

countryside to deal with the revolting Campesinos and their leader Hugo Blanco. 

The rural unrest in La Convencion and Lares valleys rose to the point that the government 

found untenable.  The land seizures continued, and there were multiple clashes with police as 

they attempted to maintain order.492  In November, a landowner allegedly raped the wife and 

daughter of a peasant called Tiburcio Balanos near the small town of Pucyura.  As was the 

custom, the landowner made counteraccusations against Balanos, and the authorities sent the 

police to detain him but were unsuccessful.  The local union rallied to protect Balanos and 

gathered in the town.  Anticipating a confrontation with the landowner and his men, they 

decided to procure weapons from the local police post.  On 13 November 1962, Blanco went 

into the post by himself and in the ensuing scuffle shot and killed officer Hernan Briceno and 

wounded officer Raul Arellano.493  Blanco and his men then stole weapons, bayonets, 

ammunition, canteens, documents, and medicine from the outpost.494  This was a significant 

turning point for Blanco, who transitioned, whether prepared or not, to guerrilla warfare.  He 

wrote, ‘in reality the guerrilla band was born at that moment’.495  On 18 December, the 

revolutionaries conducted an ambush along the road from Chaully to Chaupimayo and killed 

two more police officers.496  Whyte and Alberti concluded, ‘It was one thing for the local 

police to adapt themselves to de facto control of the valley by peasant leaders, but it was quite 
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another to have police officers killed by peasants’.497  As a result, on 27 December 1962, the 

Army ordered Lieutenant Colonel Enrique Gallegos Venero to coordinate the response in La 

Convencion.498  He grew up in a small town in the highlands and was well acquainted with 

the abysmal social-economic situation.499  Forty-six percent of the Army’s officer corps 

hailed from the sierra, so it was by no means dominated by people from Lima.500  Like the 

guerrilla commanders, many Army officers were from the lower-middle-class strata of 

Peruvian society.  Still, their families were able to cobble together enough money to provide 

them with a decent education, and in turn, social mobility.  Gallegos commanded the 19th 

Commando Battalion, which was Peru’s premier counterinsurgency unit based at the 

Commando School in Chorrillos, where it had been training with SAFLA personnel.  This 

would be the Army’s first test of its maturating counterinsurgency capability. 

Gallegos first employed civic action techniques to win the population over to support the 

government so that the insurgent would become isolated.  As he implemented his strategy, 

Blanco was already losing local backing.  Many of his supporters had a philosophical 

problem with the bank expropriations, and this is where the first negative shift in support 

originated.  Blanco used a significant amount of text in his memoir defending the actions and 

explaining to future revolutionaries to make sure that the population is psychologically ready 

for aggressive action.  He wrote, ‘if they are carried out when the masses have not yet arrived 

at an understanding of their necessity, they play a negative role, for many reasons, and they 

are used by the enemy as the ostensible justification for repressive violence’.501  Whyte and 

Alberti recount an alleged episode implicating Blanco in a revolutionary justice killing based 

on an interview of Gallegos in the Peruvian news magazine Oiga:  ‘Gallegos (1973:7) reports 

that on 18 October 1962, in hacienda Echarete, a local union leader who dared to oppose the 

policies of the Blanco-controlled federation was brutally murdered’.502  If this event took 

place, it could have had negative repercussions for Blanco and cost him the support of the 
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population on some level.  The bank expropriations, the alleged revolutionary killing 

combined with the attacks on the police, must have challenged the resolve of the Campesinos 

who were merely interested in improving their work conditions and gaining control of their 

respective plots of land.   

The government’s response capitalized on Blanco’s mistakes and turned a certain portion of 

the population against him.  They may have even leveraged religion as an adjunct to the 

counterinsurgency strategy.  De la Pedraja asserted, ‘The Catholic Church also condemned 

Blanco and threatened with spiritual punishments Indians who dared support the fugitive’.503  

In early 1962, the Institute of Agrarian Reform and Colonization (IRAC) established a 

presence in La Convencion and began to provide government assistance to the local 

population.  Whyte and Alberti explain that ‘Gallegos’s assumption was that the military and 

the police were in the valley not to fight the peasants but to protect the social reform program 

that was just getting underway’.504  The IRAC, supported by the military, worked long hours, 

and attempted to build rapport with the local workers.  They did not confront the syndicates 

but instead sought to find common ground and establish development projects that would 

benefit the communities.  In February 1963, the government issued Decree Number 14444, 

the Agrarian Reform Law for La Convencion and Lares.505  As the IRAC developed links 

with the community, the locals began to visit the government offices.  The IRAC staff 

worked tirelessly and fined landowners that violated the newly established regulations.  

Whyte and Alberti concluded, ‘Gallegos reports that the manifestations of public support for 

the reform program reached a climax on 1 May 1963, at a meeting at which 7,000 peasants 

who came to hear speeches and join in cheers for the reform were perfectly lined up by their 

[local] unions, carrying flags and posters’.506  While this interpretation may be overly 

optimistic, it is probable that the in-progress reforms and government support enticed some of 

the Campesinos away from Blanco.  Considering, many of the Campesinos only wanted 

better working conditions and perhaps the opportunity to legally and outright own their land, 

it is plausible that they would have been satisfied with the IRAC’s progress.  As Blanco and 

his radical supporters displayed their actual goal of political change at the national level, a 

portion of the local population likely withdrew its support for him.  
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In conjunction with the development and support to the local communities, the government 

forces also employed counterguerrilla tactics to destroy the FIR in La Convencion and Lares.  

They established twelve additional police outposts and increased the number of police to 160, 

which assisted with population control measures.  The brought in two detachments of guardia 

de asalto, or police SWAT teams, to conduct high-risk arrest operations.  The Peruvian Army 

provided overall command and control as well as an intelligence capability.  The security 

forces conducted cordon and search operations and ‘picked up caches of dynamite and arms 

and ample supplies of propaganda’.507  As the conflict escalated, there were open firefights 

between the security forces and the insurgents.  However, the primary target of the military 

was Hugo Blanco.508  He, along with a small column of guerrillas, had been on the move 

avoiding government forces since the incident in Pucyura in November.  The intelligence 

officers worked diligently through a growing source network of locals to determine the 

location of the guerrilla band, but Blanco continued to elude them.  Their source network 

increased due to the shift in popular support for Blanco that IRAC’s civic action projects 

initiated.  Blanco began relying on a young man called Mario Human to serve as a messenger 

to communicate with FIR personnel in Cusco.  In late May, an informant provided this 

information to the security forces intelligence apparatus, and they were able to detain Human.  

He provided the location of Blanco, under allegations of torture.509  Based on this 

information, the security forces conducted an operation and captured Blanco on 29 May 

1963.  

The security forces initially moved Blanco to prison in Arequipa to stand trial.  On 14 

September 1966, the government then sentenced him to 25 years and moved him to the 

notorious El Fronton prison near Lima.510  There, he wrote extensively and attempted to 

motivate the next generation of revolutionaries.  The significance of Blanco is still a matter of 

debate.  Perhaps the most prolific stand comes from Guevara, who wrote from Algiers in 

1963: 

‘Hugo Blanco is the head of one of the guerrilla movements in Peru.  He struggled stubbornly but the 

repression was strong.  I don’t know what his tactics were, but his fall does not signify the end of the 

movement.  It is only one man that has fallen, but the movement continues.  One time, when we were 

preparing to make our landing from the Granma, and when there was a great risk that all of us would 

be killed, Fidel said: ‘What is more important than us is the example we set.’  It’s the same thing.  
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Hugo Blanco has set an example, a good example, and he struggled as much as he could. But he 

suffered a defeat, the popular forces suffered a defeat.  It’s only a passing stage’.511 

The movement in the Andes did not end with Blanco’s arrest.  Handelman acknowledges that 

Blanco was significant because he took action to mobilize the peasants, unlike many who had 

preceded him that relied only on rhetoric and theory.   However, he cautions, ‘Henceforth, 

conservative spokesman, such as Lima’s La Prensa, could associate the peasantry’s 

legitimate desire for land with the threat of revolutionary insurrection’.512  Whyte and Alberti 

concluded, ‘In a sense, Blanco failed for he lost his own freedom and saw his attempted 

revolution aborted by skilful government countermeasures’.513  Lust joins FIR members 

Pereyra, Gorki Tapia Delgado, and Blanco himself in attributing the failure to not 

establishing a functioning party before moving to urban and rural guerrilla warfare. 514  

Another FIR member called Leoncio Bueno Barrantes argued that the failure was because 

Blanco was not an inspiring leader.515  Bob Friedman, a US Peace Corps administrator 

working in Latin America, interviewed Blanco in prison in Arequipa on 7 January 1965 and 

reported, ‘his mind is brilliant.  He has a very likable personality’.516  Despite the disparate 

assessments, Blanco made his mark on the political landscape and improved the plight of 

countless peasants in Peru. 

Blanco also advanced the development of the scholarly understanding of how to motivate a 

population to resist oppression.  He employed a very sophisticated and nuanced approach 

when dealing with the Campesinos.  While his goal was regime change and a communist 

state in Peru, he tempered these long-term ends and spurred on the Campesinos with short-

term achievable goals that were of immediate importance to them.  For example, they wanted 

to sell their coffee harvest on the open market without interference from the hacendados.  

Once they gained this advantage, they agitated for more control of their plots, and once they 

achieved this, Blanco provided them another small step.  This concept of incrementally 

expanding the goal of the insurrection is, perhaps, Blanco’s most significant contribution to 

the theories of insurgency and revolutionary warfare.  However, Blanco went too far, with the 

bank expropriations, killing of police officers, and alleged revolutionary executions, and this 

cost him some support of the population.  As Hobsbawm explained the Campesinos 
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understood they ‘might stand a good chance of getting land and–by his standards–wealth’.517  

Blanco could not motivate the majority of the Campesinos to look beyond these economic 

goals and join him in the fight for nation-wide political change.  In 1963, Blanco changed the 

FIR’s rhetoric.  Norman Gall explained, ‘the Communists orators often harangued the 

peasants on matters they could understand only remotely, if at all–the need for nationalization 

of the Standard Oil subsidiary in Peru and for solidarity with the revolutionary peoples of 

Cuba and Algeria’.518  This confused the Campesinos who were only interested in increasing 

their income and providing for their families.  When Blanco transitioned to guerrilla warfare, 

the security forces were able to work with the segment of the population that did not support 

him, which led to his isolation and eventual arrest.   

The arrest of Blanco and other FIR members was a significant setback for the revolutionaries 

in the Andes, but the uprisings continued.  Belaunde was inaugurated on 28 July 1963.  He 

ran on a platform of change in the Andes and was one of the first Peruvian politicians to 

reach out to the disenfranchised Campesinos and campaign for their votes.  This was 

congruent with a political awakening in the Andes when many Campesinos gained access to 

the system and became able to vote, due to a change in the law.  It is hard to determine the 

significance of the Campesino vote in the outcome of the election, but regardless the 

populations in central and southern Peru expected results from ‘Papa Belaunde’.   In the 

beginning, his administration took a conciliatory policy towards the Campesinos, and the 

Minister of Interior Oscar Trelles led this initiative.  Trelles and other senior government 

leaders met with the peasant organizations and pleaded for their patience and warned that the 

uprisings were impeding progress and change.  However, the land seizures continued at 

unprecedented levels, primarily in Cusco, Junin, and Pasco, but also in Ancash, Ayacucho, 

Cajamarca, Huanuco, and Lima.  This caused a policy shift, ‘Signs of a hardening 

government position appeared in late October as Belaunde and his cabinet suggested for the 

first time that many land seizures were provoked by communist agitators’.519  As political 

pressure on Belaunde grew, he decided to remove Trelles.  His replacement took a hard line 

against the agitators.  The CIA reported that ‘the President’s controversial, but badly needed, 

agrarian reform bill even more difficult to obtain’.520  Belaunde did make some progress and 
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put limited land reform in place; most significant was the opportunity for the Campesinos to 

purchase their land from the hacendados.  However, this would not satisfy everyone, for 

example, Manuel Llamojha, the Secretary-General of the Confederación Campesina del Perú 

(Peasants Confederation of Peru) criticised Belaunde’s action as the ‘Law of Agrarian 

Fraud’.521  The situation eventually calmed by the fall of 1963, but the government never 

resolved the underlying conditions that caused the unrest.  This would leave ample tension 

for future revolutionaries to use as a basis for instigating insurrection in the coming years.  

A final significant point concerning the Blanco case is how it furthered the development of 

the Peruvian Army’s counterinsurgency capability.  As described above, the 19th Commando 

Battalion was well prepared to respond to the insurgent threat by 1963.  Gallegos developed a 

successful strategy based on counterinsurgency doctrine by employing civic action and 

possibly psychological operations to provide intelligence for precise counterguerrilla 

operations.  He also integrated and led multiple government entities into the strategy.  Based 

on this experience, and a keen intellect, Gallegos would become the most prolific writer of 

Peruvian counterinsurgency strategy and doctrine and publish numerous professional journal 

articles.522  While the US provided extensive education and training to the Peruvian security 

forces, the Peruvian commanders and leaders would retain agency in the application of force 

in Peru.  There is no evidence that US personnel participated in the actions against Blanco.  

As the I will show in the next two chapters, while the Peruvians accepted support from the 

US, they did not allow the US Embassy personnel to influence their internal security 

operations. 

Johnson administration 

Judge Sarah Hughes swore in Lyndon Baines Johnson as president on Air Force One shortly 

after Kennedy’s assassination on 22 November 1963.  Before being tapped for Vice 

President, Johnson was a brilliant Senate leader and masterful back-door dealer in 
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Washington as well as an expert on domestic policy.  Although he learned to speak Spanish 

while growing up in Texas, his knowledge and experience of Latin America did not extend 

south of Mexico.  Some observers have argued that he viewed all of Latin America through 

his understanding of Mexico.523  Johnson’s first major foreign policy event, held just four 

days after Kennedy’s death, was to host a group of Latin American ambassadors at the White 

House’s East Room to explain he would carry on the support, and even expand, the Alliance 

for Progress.  He told the assembled diplomats, ‘So I reaffirm the pledge which President 

Kennedy made last week to improve and strengthen the role of the United States in the 

Alliance for Progress’.  Significantly, he concluded his address with a dedication to Kennedy, 

‘Let the Alliance for Progress be his living memorial’.524  Johnson did put some effort 

towards making the Alliance successful, but other events consumed his time and energy.  

First and foremost was the war in Vietnam, which became the dominant foreign policy issue 

of the period.  However, like Kennedy, practical anti-communist short-term interventions in 

Latin America took priority over the goals of the Alliance.  Johnson also had a closer 

relationship with US companies with business interests in Latin America.525  Moreover, on a 

personal level, Richard Walter asserted that Johnson, ‘did not have the public skills and 

presence of his predecessor, and this proved a serious liability for him when dealing with 

Latin America’.  He continued, ‘In Latin America, in particular, Kennedy was a hard act to 

follow’.526   

In December, Johnson made some significant personnel changes in the senior government 

ranks that would impact US relations with Latin America.  He named Thomas Mann, who 

was serving as Ambassador to Mexico, to be the assistant secretary for Inter-American 

Affairs.  He also designated Mann, who would be known as ‘Mr. Latin America’, to be the 

coordinator of the Alliance for Progress, which put him in charge of the majority of Latin 

American policy.527  In his memoir, Johnson referred to Mann as ‘our top man on Latin 
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American affairs’.528  Mann was a career diplomat and experienced Latin Americanist, and 

his appointment placed him on the cover of Time magazine, which was not common for an 

official below the cabinet-level.  This appointment infuriated Kennedy’s loyalists, who 

predicted that Mann would dismantle the Alliance for Progress.529  Some have pointed to the 

fact that he was from Texas and, therefore, must have been close to Johnson.  However, 

Walter LaFeber argues, ‘Mann was apparently not so much a presidential intimate as a 

proponent of the President’s view of Latin American strategy’.530  On 18 March 1964, Mann 

guided a closed-door meeting with US Ambassadors to Latin American countries.  This 

guidance became known as the Mann Doctrine, ‘whereby private United States investment 

would be protected; economic growth, furthered; and social reforms, not overly stressed’.531  

Walter explained, ‘The application of the doctrine and other policies pursued by Johnson and 

Mann could be seen in some ways as a change of emphasis rather than a radical break with 

the past’.532  Mann would retire after a year as assistant secretary and would be followed by a 

succession of three others during the remainder of the Johnson Administration, but his 

doctrine would continue until 1970. 

The Mann Doctrine would result in a hard-line against the government of Peru when it 

concerned the business interests of US companies.  Belaunde was under extreme domestic 

pressure regarding the IPC issue, as well as others.  ITT, another publicly traded US 

company, controlled much of the telecommunications infrastructure in Peru.  Both IPC and 

ITT faced threats of nationalization.  Mann withheld economic aid to Peru under a thinly 

veiled threat of what was called the Hickenlooper Amendment, which the Congress passed as 

part of the Foreign Assistance Act of 1962.  It required the executive branch to cut off foreign 

aid from any country that nationalized US owned property without fair market 

compensation.533  Ambassador Jones noted that the leveraging of the Hickenlooper 

amendment was dangerous and could cause significant problems between the US and Peru.  

In the context of the Alliance for Progress, this did not bode well for democratic institutions 

because while the US was withholding economic aid from Peru, it was increasing funding to 
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the dictatorship in Brazil.534  Jones endorsed the Belaunde government in a telegram to Mann 

in January 1964, stating it was ‘respectable, democratic and progressive [with] every 

evidence of a desire for close collaboration and warm friendship with [the] U.S.’.535  On 5 

December 1964, Mann travelled to Peru and met with Belaunde regarding these issues.  

During the beginning of the meeting, Belaunde stated that since he had taken office, ‘he had 

significantly reduced the attraction that many young Peruvians felt for Castroism to the point 

that it was no longer a threat’.536  As the discussion turned toward the issue of nationalizing 

the IPC, neither leader changed their respective position, nor was the problem resolved.  

These issues concerning the IPC and ITT, among others, continued until the October 1968 

coup d’état that removed Belaunde from the presidency.537  Despite this, US support for 

Peru’s developing counterinsurgency capability continued. 

Policy directives are not worth the paper the executive branch writes them on if Congress 

does not authorize funding for them.  The Congress was also much concerned with 

communist expansion in Latin America.  On 3 October 1963, they published a joint 

resolution demanding action ‘to prevent by whatever means may be necessary, including the 

use of arms, the Marxist-Leninist regime in Cuba from extending by force, or the threat of 

force, its aggressive or subversive activities to any part of the Hemisphere’.538  Until the late 

1960s, Truman’s Military Assistance Program (MAP) remained the primary funding vehicle 

for supporting Latin American militaries.  From 1950 until 1964, the U.S provided Peru 

$66,776,000 in MAP funds, only Brazil and Chile received more.  In 1965, the US provided 

Peru $1,707,000, which was only less than Brazil and Argentina.539  These funding levels 

show a high degree of cooperation and commitment between the US and Peru.  The US 

Embassy in Lima published its Internal Defense Plan (IDP) in December 1964.  The IDP’s 

policy objective for the military read: 

‘Development of more adequate capability and willingness on the part of Peru’s armed forces to 

preserve the constitutional and democratic order, to maintain internal security against anti-
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democratic and subversive threats, to participate in civic action projects, and to make a realistic 

although limited contribution to hemispheric defense, with the size of the armed forces limited 

essentially to these purposes and their orientation directed toward the U.S.’.540 

The Embassy executed $7.2 million in the fiscal year 1964 and $7.0 million in the fiscal year 

1965, of DoD funding, for internal military security and civic action.  They also allocated 

$575,750 in the fiscal year 1964 and $487,000 in the fiscal year 1965, of AID funding, to 

police training with ‘a special emphasis on internal security capabilities’.541  The US mission 

in Peru set a clear policy and adequately resourced it, the Military Assistance and Advisory 

Group (MAAG) and AID/OPS now had the responsibility to carry it out. 

Considering the significant US investment in the Peruvian military, Johnson’s national 

security team sought to employ it for regional and international contingencies.  In October 

1964, SOUTHCOM and the US Embassy in Bolivia were planning ‘Operation Mountain 

Goat’ that was a contingency for the evacuation of US citizens and embassy personnel from 

La Paz due to the threats.  The MAAG in Lima prepared to ask the Peruvian Air Force for 

logistical support.  However, in the end, the operation did not happen.542  Moreover, the US 

Air Force’s 605th Air Commando Squadron, which directly supported the SAFLA, regularly 

used Peruvian air bases for logistical support when transiting to the southern cone countries 

from Panama.543  Later that fall, DOS requested a Peruvian Military contribution to the 

‘Vietnam More Flags’ initiative that sought to bring additional countries into the anti-

communist alliance fighting in the Second Indochina War.  DOS directed Jones to ‘convey at 

the highest possible GOP [government of Peru] level importance attached to this matter by 

highest level USG [US government]’, and added this was due to the ‘…known competence 

and prestige [of the] Peruvian military forces’.544  Jones met with the Minister of Foreign 

Relations multiple times in late December and formally requested Peruvian civic action 

expertise, and other non-combat troops, to be sent to Vietnam.  Following some diplomatic 

machinations, Belaunde declined to participate because of ‘political implications 

 
540 ‘Internal Defense Plan for Peru’, December 1964, p. 13, NARA, RG 306 Records of the U.S. Information 

Agency, Counterinsurgency in Peru, box 4, folder 10. 
541 Memorandum, Martin to Special Group (counter-Insurgency), Transmittal of Internal Defense Plan for Peru, 

17 December 1964, p. 2, NARA, RG 306, Records of the U.S. Information Agency, Counterinsurgency in Peru, 

box 4, folder 10. 
542 Department of State memo, Dean Rusk to McGeorge Bundy, 5 November 1964, LBJL, NSF, Country Files, 

Peru, Box 72, folder 6. 
543 Charles Fry. Personal Interview. 11 March 2020. 
544 Department of State telegram, For Amembassy Lima action, 19 December 1964, LBJL, NSF, Country Files, 

Peru, Box 72, folder 6. 



138 
 

domestically he wished to avoid’.545  Although these two requests did not come to fruition, 

they demonstrate the US’s belief in Peru’s competence in hemispheric and international 

security matters. 

As 1965 approached, the US Embassy in Lima positioned itself to manage multiple issues in 

the country.  Jones and the State Department’s economic and political officers concentrated 

on negotiating with the Peruvians concerning mineral and fishing rights.  In 1965, with the 

insurgency underway, Jones wrote, ‘I am aware of no conflicts between any of the agencies 

regarding counterinsurgency and all the elements of the country team here cooperate 

effectively.  We are all agreed as to nature of threat and pull together in plans and programs 

to combat it’.546  Of the Peruvians, he wrote, ‘Our relations with military are close enough 

they have [been] unusually secretive about their anti-guerrilla actions in the field and have 

not allowed our attaches to visit operational units’.547  Lust’s interview with former Peruvian 

Army Lieutenant Colonel Ramon Miranda confirmed that there were no North American 

advisors involved in the operations.548  US Army Colonel James Akins was the primary 

interlocutor between the Embassy and the Ministry of War.  He attended briefings concerning 

the counterinsurgency and shared the information with the country team, that is the senior 

leadership in the Embassy.  Jones wrote,  

‘Shortly after his arrival, the Peruvian Army became engaged in an all-out campaign against 

Communist guerrillas in the Central and Southern Sierra.  I always found Colonel Akins well-

informed on operations and personalities involved, even from the beginning of the assumption of 

duties.  He contributed substantially to our knowledge and understanding of the anti-guerrilla 

campaign and early on won the confidence and esteem of me and my colleagues in the Embassy’.549 

William Dentzer was the head of AID in Peru and kept the country team informed of its 

activities.  Jones also had a close relationship with his CIA chief of station and noted that he 

and his staff had previous counterinsurgency experience that allowed them to understand the 
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situation.550  According to Jones, he had a capable team in place that would be able to 

observe the coming insurgency. 

Conclusion 

This chapter traced the development of Peru’s counterinsurgency capability from 1961 until 

1964.  The Kennedy and Johnson administrations invested heavily in Peru’s security forces, 

who were ready when Hugo Blanco began the first significant episode of guerrilla warfare in 

1963. Another noteworthy point explained above is that Blanco advanced the development of 

the scholarly understanding of how to motivate a population to resist oppression.  Despite 

Blanco’s successes in mobilizing the workers in La Convencion and Lares valleys, the 

government was able to conduct counterinsurgency operations that captured him and 

destroyed his group the FIR.  In the end, however, the government did little to address the 

underlying conditions that perpetuated the uprising in the first place.  While many scholars 

have claimed that US Army Special Forces assisted the Peruvian Army during the 1960s, 

they only provide limited and sometimes inaccurate evidence.  My research uncovered 

numerous primary sources from multiple archives and interviews with former US Army 

personnel that prove that this was the case.  However, as was shown in the Blanco example, 

the Peruvian military retained agency over its counterinsurgency operations.  By 1964, the 

Peruvian security forces had a formidable counterinsurgency capability, the MIR and ELN 

could not have chosen a worse time to incite revolution. 
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Chapter four: Conflict with the ELN 

The National Liberation Army (ELN), under the leadership and direction of Hector Bejar 

Rivera, was one of the two most significant guerrilla groups in Peru during the mid-1960s.  

The ELN emerged as a leading entity of the New Left when its leaders broke away from the 

Peruvian Communist Party (PCP).  The ELN and the Movement of the Revolutionary Left 

(MIR) were competitors amongst the political space of the New Left, but they were able to 

find common ground and worked together to a certain extent in pursuit of their respective 

goals.  As the ELN prepared in La Mar, they were caught off guard when MIR leader 

Guillermo Lobaton decided unilaterally to begin the armed conflict and conducted the first 

attack of the campaign on 9 June 1965.551  This chapter will examine an emerging trend in the 
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historiography that argues the ELN was the primary element in Ernesto Guevara’s strategy to 

topple capitalist regimes across Latin America.   

Return to Peru 

In late 1962, international and national tensions pressured the ELN to get out of Cuba for 

three reasons.  First, the US and the Soviets just resolved the Missile Crisis, and the Cubans 

feared that the US would invade the island.  Second, Cuba still maintained official relations 

with Bolivian President Victor Paz Estenssoro administration and his left of centre 

Movimiento Nacionalista Revolucionario (National Revolutionary Movement, MNR) 

party.552  In addition to diplomatic relations, the MNR tolerated Cuban activity because Paz 

was under extreme pressure from MNR Leftists.553  However, the domestic political situation 

in Bolivia was fleeting, and it was time to act.  Fourth, the Cuban wanted to use the ELN to 

support Hector Bejar’s uprising in La Convencion and Lares Valleys near Cusco.  Finally, 

Bejar wanted to take action before the Peruvian national elections scheduled for the early 

summer of 1963.554   The international security situation in Latin America severely restricted 

travel options.  The best chance for a successful infiltration was for the ELN members to 

move to Bolivia and then cross the border into Peru with the assistance of the Partido 

Communista Boliviano (Bolivian Communist Party, PCB).  Mario Monje Molina was the 

Secretary-General of the PCB and was beholden to the Soviets for direction and guidance.  

He had learned of Cuban plans to establish a guerrilla foco in Bolivia.  The foco was the 

revolutionary core of dedicated fighters that went to the mountains and created the conditions 

for revolution.555  The PCB Politburo held a meeting and unanimously decided against a 

violent uprising in their country.  Monje and his colleague Hilario Claure travelled to Havana 

to meet with Castro.  He explained that the Cuban experience was unique, and they could not 

replicate it in Bolivia and that the PCP felt the same way and was against the ELN strategy.  

Castro responded, ‘I understand your position, but I think we have to help those who are 

going to be arriving in your country now.  I’m not asking for the help of the Peruvian party. 

I’m asking for your help’.556  Monje reluctantly agreed to assist the ELN and believed he had 
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554 Lust, Lucha Revolucionaria Perú, p. 175.  
555 Guevara, Guerrilla Warfare, p. 37; Debray, Revolution in the Revolution, p. 19. 
556 Anderson, Che Guevara, p. 558. 
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directed any revolutionary activity away from Bolivia.557  However, he did provide PCP 

leaders with detailed information concerning ELN plans.  

The journey home to Peru would prove to be more treacherous than the previous trip to Cuba.  

From November 1962 until January 1963, the ELN members travelled in small groups to La 

Paz in Bolivia.  Lust explained that the CIA closely observed these movements.  Based on the 

1964 CIA report titled ‘Selection and Training of Cuban Intelligence Agents Abroad’, he 

goes on to argue that the ELN personnel moved through Prague under the auspices of 

Operation Manuel.  This is a logical assumption considering the limited information in the 

report.  Based on a debriefing of a former DGI official who defected in 1964,  the report is 

very general in its explanation of how the system worked and does not provide names, 

aliases, passport numbers, or dates of travel.558  However, recently declassified evidence 

uncovered in the Ministry of Interior archive in Prague disputes this argument.  The Czech 

Intelligence service maintained detailed records of every person for whom they facilitated 

travel.  The manifest reads that the first person, a Bolivian called Morales Rodriguez Ricardo, 

did not arrive in Prague until 1 November 1963.  The first Peruvian to travel through Prague 

was Jorge Hurtado Pozo on 20 February 1964.559  Moreover, during late 1962 and 1963, the 

Bolivian government was tolerant of Cuban activities, so it would not make sense to spend 

additional time and resources that would be necessary for the revolutionaries to travel 

through Prague.  Although it is doubtful that the ELN members used the Operation Manuel 

mechanism to move to La Paz securely, what is certain is that they crossed international 

borders and arrived without incident.   

While they were in Bolivia, Bejar’s ELN personnel relied exclusively on the support of the 

PCB.  Monje showed indignation about the situation in his actions toward the ELN.  He 

reluctantly supported them, and at least from the perspective of the ELN, did many things to 

make their success as difficult as possible.  On a positive note, the PCB arraigned for secure 

locations, in most cases the homes of members, for the ELN members to stay as well as 

provided adequate meals, while they were in La Paz.  The PCB did not handle the weapons 

procurement task as efficiently.  The Cubans provided the PCB with sufficient funds to 

purchase weapons and ammunition for the ELN.  Bolivia, at the time, was flush with modern 

military-style weapons that one could purchase at reasonable prices.  La Paz was a well-

 
557 CIA Intelligence Report, ‘Weekly Cuban Summary’, 27 January 1965, p. 12, LBJL, NSF, Country Files, LA-
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known place for revolutionaries and criminals alike to acquire weapons.560  However, the 

weapons the PCB provided were in poor repair and were old models from the time of the 

Mexican Revolution, and the First World War.  Alain Elias was one of the first to arrive in La 

Paz, and his job was to organize the purchases.  He recalled that the PCB was acting in a very 

peculiar way, but that they eventually complied with the requirement.  He stated, ‘They 

bought us bull shit weapons, but at least they were weapons of some type’.561  The poor 

quality of the weapons was a severe issue, but Monje’s next roadblock would set the ELN 

stratagem back two years. 

Without consulting the ELN leaders, Monje changed the border crossing location and 

significantly altered the plan to infiltrate Peru.  The original concept was for the ELN 

members to make the crossing in small groups near the town of Reyes, which would have 

allowed them to move directly into the department of Puno near Lago Titicaca.  This would 

have taken only a few days, and then they could move to their locations in Pasco and Cusco.  

The new route took the ELN through a town called Guayara-Mirim in the far north of Bolivia 

in the department of Beni, where they would have to traverse a rugged Amazon jungle 

environment to enter the Peruvian Department of Madre de Dios.  This route would add 

weeks if not months to the infiltration time and 2000 km to the distance.  There were two 

reasons for the change.  The first was that the Peruvian Communist Party (PCP) leaders were 

vehemently against the ELN entering Peru because they did not want the government to 

blame them for any violence caused by the rebel group.  They believed that this would be 

detrimental to their ability to work through the legal system to achieve their goals.  The 

second, which Monje proffered was that the Puno routes were not feasible.  He informed 

Bejar that he had sent a reconnaissance team to check the routes, and they reported that they 

were ‘absolutely inhospitable, inaccessible’, and it was not possible to enter there.562  There 

was also, supposedly, a Bolivian Communist Party (PCB) Congress in Reyes, and the police 

and military saturated the area with personnel.  At any rate, Monje had already ordered PCB 

support agents to begin moving the ELN personnel to Cochabamba on route to Guayara-

 
560 State Department intelligence report, ‘Clandestine Arms Traffic in Latin America and the Insurgency 
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562 Héctor Béjar, El primer día: historia interior de una guerrilla andina (Lima: 1989) unpublished copy quoted 

in Lust, Lucha Revolucionaria Perú, p. 182. Spanish version: ‘absolutamente inhóspitos, inaccesibles’. 
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Mirim.  By the time the ELN discovered the change, it was too late to go back.  They were 

furious with the PCB leadership, but the only viable option was to move to Peru as directed. 

The stress of the clandestine infiltration manifested in a security breach that was the first of 

the mistakes that would culminate in the defeat of the ELN’s 1963 campaign.  Long periods 

of isolation and hiding took their toll on the young revolutionaries.  The first serious 

compromise occurred in Cochabamba.  One night two of the ELN members, Alcides Rivas 

Paredes and Genaro Arze Pineda (possibly false names), left the PCB safe house and went 

out to a bar to consume alcohol.  After getting drunk and making a scene, the police arrested 

them.  Bejar recalled, ‘It was not possible for the [PCB] organizers to do anything, but they 

discovered that the Bolivian police beat them and returned them to Peru, believing that they 

were illegal immigrants.  From that point, we lost contact with them’.563  Paz had the two 

quickly deported and turned them over to the Peruvian military.  Thomas Field determined: 

‘Weeks later, Lima reported that Rivas and Arze confessed to have been part of a large-scale, Cuban-

sponsored guerrilla operation termed Operation Matraca that was planning to enter Peru via Puerto 

Maldonado, an isolated Amazonian military outpost just across the border with Bolivia’.564 

Victor Zannier, a newspaperman and close associate of President Paz, owned the safe house.  

The police searched the house and discovered Cuban propaganda and weapons.  However, 

they did not share this information with the US Embassy in La Paz, which suggests that there 

was a high-level cover-up of this potentially explosive event.  This was the first of many 

breaks in security measures that would paralyze the ELN and was likely due to the 

immaturity and inexperience of the organization.   

A second compromise soon followed.  After travelling from Cochabamba to Chapare and 

then to the small town Riberalta near the Brazilian border, the military discovered a small 

ELN element. Some of them escaped across the border and hid in the Brazilian jungle.  The 

police detained the others and took them to the police station in Guayara-Mirim.  The police 

did not torture or mistreat them. The local population believed they were members of Hugo 

Blanco’s band from La Convention escaping the Peruvian government’s repression.  The 

locals provided them food and other necessities, which was significant for their well-being, as 

Latin American jails at the time did not provide sustenance for prisoners.  Lust asserted that 

 
563 Héctor Béjar, El primer día, historia interior de una guerrilla Andina, (Lima, 1989) unpublished monograph, 

quoted in Lust, Lucha Revolucionaria Perú, p. 180. Spanish version: ‘A los organizadores no les fue posible 
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‘The police station was quickly converted into a sort of hotel where the guerrillas could come 

and go freely’.565  This was not as uncommon as it may seem.  In Peru, the Campesino 

organizer Llamojha found himself in similar situations numerous times.  While in various 

jails, in remote villages, he would gain sympathy from the guards, and they would let him 

walk the town streets in the evenings.566   After a few weeks, they received a message to 

move to a rendezvous point to join up with the larger group.  According to Lust, Orlando 

Pantoja, the DGI officer who looked after the ELN during their time in Cuba, delivered the 

message.567  The scene in Guayara-Mirim is an example of a population and local security 

forces supporting a guerrilla element and shows how complicated the situation in the region 

was at the micro-level. 

In February 1963, without further incident, the ELN members gathered in San Silvestre, near 

the Peruvian border.  Bejar arrived a few days later on a boat called el Lumumba with the 

weapons that the PCB procured for them in La Paz.  As the guerrillas prepared to move into 

Peru, the PCB instigated another setback.  Bejar wrote that PCB member Luis Telleria, also 

known as Manzanita, who had facilitated the movement of the weapons, informed him of the 

bad news.  Telleria stated, ‘Comrades, we have received an order from the party in La Paz, 

we cannot act as guides, we cannot compromise our people if you want to enter [Peru]’.568  

Eliberto Marquez recalled Telleria told them not to enter because ‘inside there are problems 

that the party is fixing, the reform will come, and they expect general amnesty’.569  He may 

have been referring to the Peruvian government’s general promise of land reform, or more 

specifically, the changes they made in La Convencion and Lares in response to Hugo 

Blanco’s uprising.  Pedro Marote remembered, Manzanita ‘asked that we did not enter [Peru], 

under the pretext that Peruvian leftist leaders, especially the [Peruvian] Communist Party, had 

been captured, and if we entered, we would surely also be captured’.570  His comment is 

 
565 Lust, Lucha Revolucionaria Perú, p. 186. Spanish version: ‘La comisaria se convirtió rápidamente en una 
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in Lust, Lucha Revolucionaria Perú, 186. Spanish versión: ‘Compañeros, hemos recibido una orden del partido 
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nosotros entrabamos iban a quedar indefinidamente presos’. 
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understandable because the government was arresting many members of the PCP.571  At this 

point, the PCB personnel wished their ELN comrades luck and returned to La Paz.  The ELN 

members considered the information that Telleria provided them as well as their current 

situation and agreed to press on.  They found a Peruvian called Jose Pelagio to help guide 

them as well as a Bolivian smuggler called Abelardo Murakami Baca.  Murakami, who was 

also a low-level member of the PCB, provided them refuge at his Hacienda Aposento.  This is 

another example of solidarity among the Left, as seen in chapter two, that was outside of the 

purview of the party leadership. 

Safely concealed in the Hacienda Aposento, the ELN revaluated its plans.  Lust asserted, ‘On 

10 May, they took a decision that largely determined the history of the ELN’.572  Instead of 

crossing the frontier as one large group, they decided to send a small team to verify the route 

and the situation at the border.  They remained committed to developing two separate fronts 

in Pasco and Cusco.  Alian Elias led the vanguard that consisted of Jorge Alfanzo Guevara, 

Javier Heraud, Mario Rodriguez, Manuel Cabrera, Abraham Lama, and Edilberto 

Marquez.573  Their primary objective was to reconnoitre the border area.  Elias recalled, ‘We 

did not have information. We did not know what was on the other side of the border.  We 

needed information, or we could not advance’.574  Assuming the border area was safe, they 

were to traverse forty kilometres of the Amazonian jungle, cross the border, and avoiding the 

Peruvian town of Puerto Maldonado, move along Highway 1500 to Cusco.  There they were 

to secure transportation and return for the others, they had twenty days to complete these 

tasks.  When the group reunited, they would drive to Cusco and Pasco, pretending they were 

an ‘electoral caravan’ under the cover of the upcoming presidential elections.575  All of the 

vanguard members, except Alfanzo, carried valid driver’s licenses.  Alfanzo, who was blind, 

needed to go with the group because he had contacts in Cusco that would help them purchase 

or rent vehicles.  Murakami arranged for someone to take Alfanzo by canoe separately from 

the main group.  They set off with direct orders from Bejar not to enter Puerto Maldonado. 

 
571 Llamojha and Heilman, Now Peru is Mine, p. 111; Masterson, Militarism and Politics in Latin America, p. 

191. 
572 Lust, Lucha Revolucionaria Perú, p. 187. 
573 Heraud, Vida y Muerte de Javier Heraud, p. 14. 
574 Interview with Alian Elías in Lust, Lucha Revolucionaria Perú, p. 188. Spanish version: ‘No teníamos 

información. No sabíamos que había al otro lado de la frontera.  Necesitábamos información, si no podíamos 

seguir avanzando’. 
575 Lust, Lucha Revolucionaria Perú, p. 187. Spanish version: ‘caravana electoral’. 



148 
 

Four days later, the vanguard had crossed the border and arrived in the vicinity of Puerto 

Maldonado and would make the most critical error in the ELN’s history.  Cabrera later 

explained that when they arrived, there was a large political rally in support of Belaunde 

happening in the town.  They felt that they would be able to blend in because of the influx of 

people visiting the town for the rally.  He recalled, ‘We knew the military tactics, we knew 

the guerrilla code well’, nevertheless, ‘we were hungry and wanted to sleep in a bed’.576  

Therefore, they decided to set aside their discipline, disobey their orders, and on the evening 

of 14 May 1963, they entered the town.  They went to a restaurant to eat, and a former police 

officer noticed them.  He believed they were guerrillas from Hugo Blanco’s group and 

immediately went to the police station to alert them.  Along the way, he encountered police 

sergeant Aquilino San Jara and informed him about the suspicious individuals.  Following 

dinner, Elias and the others went to a hotel to check-in.  At that point, the police arrived and 

apprehended them under the accusation that they were smugglers and began to take them to 

the police station.  Elias began to argue with them, and the guerrillas pulled their pistols out 

from their bags.  In the ensuing melee, someone shot and killed San Jara and wounded police 

corporal Julio Tuestas and private Alejandro Rojos Castro.  The guerrillas escaped, but the 

police captured Lama and Marquez later that night. They also captured 500 dollars, six 

pistols, ammunition, various knives and machetes, canteens, compasses, and a small amount 

of survival gear.577  The security forces would capture the remaining vanguard members over 

the next days.   

Elias and Heraud were able to evade the police through the night and eventually made their 

way to a crossing point of the Madre de Dios River.  They began to swim across but two 

police officers in a canoe spotted them.  Three other officers in a separate canoe joined and 

began to give chase.  Elias and Heraud swam towards two local civilians in a third canoe.  As 

they reached the canoe, the police began shooting at them.  Vargas Llosa claims that Elias 

and Heraud put up a white flag to signal that they wanted to surrender, but the police ignored 

it.  However, this begs the obvious question – where did they get a white flag?  At any rate, 

the officer’s gunfire killed Heraud and one of the local civilians.  The police captured Elias.  

Lust asserted, ‘The intention of the police to kill both of the revolutionaries was 
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unmistakable’.578  To support his assertion, he cites Alias and Salazar, who claim that the 

Captain ordered Elias’ execution, but the police officer refused.579  Another account states 

that the police commander was yelling at the officers to kill them.580  If Lust’s assertion is 

accurate, there is a remarkable similarity between the capture of Hugo Blanco in May and the 

capture of Elias.  Commanding officers ordered both executed, but lower-ranking officers 

refused.  This striking trend did not continue in 1965 and 1966 when the military allegedly 

hunted down and executed ELN and MIR members instead of detaining them. 

Shortly thereafter, police captured the last three members of the vanguard.  Cabrera and 

Rodriguez were able to escape Puerto Maldonado and arrived at a small farm named La 

Pastora were the owner provided them food and helped them cross La Cachuela River in a 

canoe.  On 19 May, they stopped at a house for breakfast.  The owner secretly alerted the 

police.  When they arrived, they captured Cabrera because he could not run due to a wound in 

his leg.  Rodriguez escaped and evaded capture of a few more days, but the authorities 

detained him on 21 May.  Alfanzo, the blind guerrilla, was also captured after crossing the 

border and attempting to make his way to Cusco.  The ELN personnel across the border in 

Bolivia learned of the fiasco from news updated on the local radio station.  For a short time, 

they considered a rescue attempt to liberate their comrades from the Peruvian authorities, but 

they decided it would be impossible.581  Debray reported the most grandiose, albeit 

inaccurate, assessment, ‘At Puerto Maldonado, on the Bolivian frontier, the vanguard of a 

sizeable column was cut to pieces.  The guerrilleros did not even have time to go into 

action’.582  Anderson concluded, ‘The first Peruvian guerrilla venture had failed miserably, 

but Bejar and his comrades began reorganizing, and before long they would try again’.583  

This ended the ELN’s foray into Peru during 1963. 

The ELN was devastated when they learned that Heraud had been killed and immediately 

blamed the PCB for the debacle.  There would be a less emotional post-mortem of the events 

in Puerto Maldonado later, but for now, they attributed the failure to Monje and the change of 

the infiltration route.  They decided that they could not continue with the plan as it was 

because of the heightened levels of security in Peru and decided to move back to La Paz and 
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regroup.  They divided into two elements, Bejar led the first and Nestor Guevara the other.  

They hid their weapons and military equipment.  On 30 May, the Bolivian security forces 

captured Bejar and ten of his men in Manuripi.  Bejar recalled that Major Pepla, a senior 

deputy of Claudio San Ramon, who headed the Paz’s secret police, conducted the 

interrogation.  There was a North American official present.584  This was likely Tom Flores, 

the CIA station chief in La Paz, who was under pressure from Washington to obtain details of 

the group.  However, he noted, ‘not one of them deviated from the group story that they are 

no more than leftwing Apristas trying to seek political asylum in Bolivia’.585  A US Embassy 

cable back to Washington shows that this story withheld scrutiny in the Bolivian justice 

system.  Bejar alleged that Pepla ordered lower-ranking officers to hit him.586  Following the 

initial interrogations, the authorities flew the group to La Paz.  Nestor Guevara’s element, 

under the patronage of low-level PCB member Julio Luis Mendez, arrived back in the capital 

without incident. 

After five weeks, San Ramon released Bejar and the others and allowed them to remain in 

Bolivia.  Bejar wrote that San Ramon told him, ‘You have three minutes to disappear, to be 

non-existent’.587  The reason for this is complex.  Anderson asserted that the authorities 

released them ‘in an apparent goodwill gesture to Cuba by Paz Estenssoro’s government’.588  

Humberto Vazquez Viana added that the Cuban Embassy and the PCB intervened to prevent 

the extradition of the revolutionaries to Peru.589  High-level US government officials doubted 

that the Bolivian security forces did not have the capability to keep track of the ELN 

members.590  However, this assumes that they wanted to, which is not certain.  The level of 

support from the MNR and PCB that the ELN received is difficult to determine.  Paz must 

have known about the ELN activities in some detail.  Field shows that he was a master 

manipulator ‘alternating between double-dealing and thinly veiled blackmail, President Paz 

employed the communist threat to secure even-higher levels of U.S. support’.591  Monje 

intricately balanced his position between the MNR, the Soviets, and the Latin American pro-

Soviet communist parties, all the while appeasing the Cubans.  In an interview with Field, 
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PCB Central Committee member Ramiro Otero Lugones claimed that Operation Matraca was 

‘Monje’s thing’.592  Monje’s close interest in Matraca probably was so that he could control 

and manipulate the outcome of the ELN’s operation. 

In La Paz, the ELN met secretly to review what had gone wrong in Puerto Maldonado and 

debate the future.  They attributed the compromise in Puerto Maldonado to three factors.  

First and foremost was that the Bolivian and Peruvian Communist Parties’ sabotaged their 

plans.  Monje’s change of the infiltration route and last-minute pullback of the guides at the 

border was central to this thesis.  Antonio Li stated, ‘Everyone knew Monje was a traitor’ and 

that he ‘tricked us with the route, he tricked us with the money, he bought weapons that did 

not meet our needs and charged too much for them’.593  Others had a more nuanced 

understanding that Monje provided the minimum support to the ELN to meet his obligations 

to Castro, but not enough that they would be successful.  Milciades Ruiz recalled, ‘It seemed 

like the Cubans compelled the PCB to help us’.  He continued, ‘They completed their 

commitment to Fidel, but did it without enthusiasm’.594  Bejar added that the PCB was in a 

tenuous situation and that they ‘wanted to maintain good relations with the Cubans and, at the 

same time, good relations with the international communist movement, but the movement did 

not tolerate this type of operation [guerrilla warfare]’.595  Elias was the most forgiving of the 

PCB and stated that it ‘was not prepared for this type of work’.596  The ELN also condemned 

the PCP for the compromise in Puerto Maldonado.  Monje did pass information about the 

ELN activities to the pro-Soviet PCP leaders in Lima.  However, it is doubtful that this 

information would have been passed to internal security forces at Puerto Maldonado in time 

to intercept the guerrillas coming across the border.  It is more likely that the Bolivians 

alerted the Peruvians when they turned over Rivas and Arze, the two rabble-rousers the 

police arrested in Cochabamba.  Monje clearly did his part in ensuring the ELN was not 

successful, but he was only partially responsible. 
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The next major factor that caused the fiasco in Puerto Maldonado was a lack of discipline.  

Alfonso Imana deflected part of the blame from the PCB and argued, ‘I did not take part in 

attributing all of the responsibility to the PCB’.597  Marquez claims that Nestor Guevara and 

Dagnino travelled to Cuba to meet with Che Guevara to explain the events directly to him.  

Che Guevara seemed to accept the PCB’s explanation that the ELN members not disciplined 

and did not follow the security rules.  In their conversation with Che, they did not make the 

argument that the PCB was to blame.  Nestor Guevara recalled, ‘they did not have the 

courage to tell him about the long march [change in route] to which we had been 

subjected’.598  Che Guevara also attributed the ELNs limited experience to the failure.  In 

response, Che sent seasoned Cuban guerrillas on the next attempted insurgency, which they 

would establish in northern Argentina.  When this one also failed, Che Guevara did not 

question his theory.  This is where he began to think that only he could lead the revolution in 

the Andes.599  Although we can never know what would have happened if they would have 

bypassed Puerto Maldonado on their way to Cusco, it is clear that they were under direct 

orders not to enter the town.  The security violations in Cochabamba and Puerto Maldonado 

committed by ELN members cannot be blamed on any outside force and were crucial to the 

failed attempt at revolution in 1963.   

The final significant factor was the poor management of the Cuban General Directorate of 

Intelligence (DGI) over guerrilla operations in Latin America.  Anderson argued, ‘In the face 

of persistent and proven inadequacies of the Cuban security apparatus to successfully 

implement Che’s guerrilla programs, a number of former guerrillas, including Ciro Bustos 

and several of his comrades, have singled out [Manuel] Pineiro [the DGI director] for blame’.  

In Pineiro’s defence, Anderson points out that in addition to Peru and Argentina, the DGI was 

also supporting guerrilla operations in Guatemala, Colombia, and Venezuela.  He adds, ‘And 

there were problems arising on every front, ranging from logistical and communications 

difficulties to factional splits, and military and political setbacks’.600  The DGI used ‘telex’ to 

communicate between Havana and the Cuban Embassy in La Paz.  Former Bolivian 

revolutionary Humberto Vazquez-Viana claimed that the US was able to intercept these 

communications, and the CIA was well informed because they made the initial arrangements 

 
597 Interview with Alfonso Imana in Lust, Lucha Revolucionaria Perú, p. 194. Spanish version: ‘Yo no soy 

partidario de atribuir toda la responsabilidad al Partido Comunista Boliviano’. 
598 Interview with Néstor Guevara in Lust, Lucha Revolucionaria Perú, p. 195. Spanish verion: ‘no tuvieron la 

valentía de decirle sobre la larga marcha a la que nos habían sometido’. 
599 Anderson, Che Guevara, p. 594.   
600 Ibid., p. 559. 
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for the ELN in Bolivia over telex.601  However, Pineiro cannot be fully responsible because 

Guevara was very involved in the operations and is also at fault.  This third factor, while it is 

the least compelling, certainly was partially responsible for the failure.  In a broader context, 

the question of blame is directly related to the efficacy of the Cuban revolutionary theory.  

The training the Cubans provided the ELN members taught them to avoid urban areas to 

prevent a security compromise, such as the compromise in Puerto Maldonado.  The ELN’s 

mistakes gave the Cubans a convenient defence for their theory, which in turn, allowed them 

to continue to employ it, despite its flaws, across the developing world. 

After the fiasco at Puerto Maldonado, the ELN members reconstituted in La Paz.  Multiple 

developments, along with the heightened security posture of the Peruvian security forces, 

forced the ELN to postpone the next attempt at insurrection.  On 29 May 1963, the Army 

captured Hugo Blanco in La Convencion valley.  The Peruvian government held elections on 

9 June 1963, and Fernando Belaunde won the presidency, and they inaugurated him on 28 

July, which is Independence Day.  The death of Heraud tested the resiliency of the members, 

and they mostly internalized their grief and did not speak about it.602  It was a wake-up call 

for many of the members and forced them to realize that revolutionary warfare was only for 

the truly committed.  They continued to debate what went wrong and how they could 

improve in the next phase.  Theoretical differences emerged and caused Pedro Morote, 

Alfonso Imana, Marco Antonio Olivera y Rivas, among others, to leave the organization.  

Despite the problems, there was a positive side.  Ruiz stated, ‘The first campaign served as a 

test, [afterward] only the most dedicated remained’.603  Elias argued, ‘we were morally 

tempered, and we learned some things we would use in 1965-1966’.  He explained that 

although 1963 was a failure, it caused an internal consolidation of the group and united 

theory with action.  He concluded that these factors were ‘inestimable in the development of 

the group’.604  Various PCB members aided the ELN personnel over the next months.  The 

ELN maintained a low-profile in La Paz and the PCB controlled mining camps.605  They 

began to plan how to move across the border into Peru.   

 
601 Vásquez Viaña, Antecedentes de la guerrilla del Che en Bolivia, p. 79. 
602 Heraud, Vida y Muerte de Javier Heraud, p. 89. 
603 Interview with Milcíades Ruiz in Lust, Lucha Revolucionaria Perú, 201. Spanish version: ‘esa primera 

campana sirvió para decantar y solo quedaron los mas consecuentes’.  
604 Alían Elías, Apuntes para una estrategia de poder popular (Lima: Horizonte, 1980) p. 129. Spanish version: 

‘templado moralmente y habíamos aprendido algunas cosas que nos fueron útiles en el periodo 1965-1966’. 

‘inestimable en el desarrollo del grupo’. 
605 Field, From Development to Dictatorship, p. 73.  
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Operation Matraca had one unintended consequence in that it drew some attention away from 

the crossing points near Puno and towards Puerto Maldonado.  At the US Embassy in La Paz, 

Ambassador Douglas Henderson requested assistance from the National Security Council’s 

Special Group-Counterinsurgency (SG-CI).  He recalled: 

‘I asked that we be given a strength, a capability in the upper Amazon area of Bolivia to first patrol 

the waterways and to undertake information programs in that area, and to develop a capability of 

monitoring what was going on there; because it was clear to me that this upper Amazon network was 

being used by the Peruvian guerrilla operations, for example, for their access out of Peru through 

Bolivia and through the Amazon system out to Cuba’.606 

The SG-CI members, specifically Robert Kennedy and Averell Harriman, denied 

Henderson’s request for support because they wanted him to concentrate his efforts in La Paz 

and the mining industry.  This frustrated Henderson, because he, as the expert in the country, 

did not think the leftist government or the miners’ unions posed a risk to stability in Bolivia.  

Henderson’s previous assignment was as the Deputy Chief of Mission in Peru, and he 

understood the regional dynamics well. At any rate, while the US officials quibbled over the 

threat, Bejar and his men slipped across the border into Peru. 

Most of the ELN members did not have documents because they had intended to cross the 

border in remote locations that did not have control points.  In an unusual show of solidarity, 

MIR member Gonzalo Fernandez assisted the ELN by flying from Havana to La Paz with the 

appropriate travel documents.  Jorge Torque reconnoitred a route through the Bolivian border 

town called Moho that was adjacent to the Puno department in Peru.  He determined this 

route was feasible for a safe crossing, and some ELN members crossed here by themselves or 

in pairs.  By 1964, all the ELN members had returned to Peru.  Many went to their homes in 

Lima to wait for instructions.  Hector Bejar, Jose Bernabe, Nestor Guevara, Horacio Juarez, 

Antonio Pacheco, Edgardo Tello, Jorge Torque, Gurrionero, and Hermes Valiente remained 

in Cuzco and Puno to conduct assessments of potential areas for establishing a guerrilla foco.  

The first significant assessment they conducted was in La Convencion and Lares, the same 

valleys that Hugo Blanco led the Campesino uprising.  Julio Dagnino recalled, they 

conducted an exploration of ‘political, economic, military, and social issues’.607  They 

determined that this area was not ready to support a guerrilla element.  During discussions 

with local leaders, the ELN members learned that the locals were content with their present 

 
606 Library of Congress, The Association for Diplomatic Studies and Training Foreign Affairs Oral History 

Project, ‘Interview with Douglas Henderson’, 29 April 1988, p. 14, https://tile.loc.gov/storage-

services/service/mss/mfdip/2004/2004hen01/2004hen01.pdf (accessed 9 April 2020). 
607 Interview with Julio Dagnino in Lust, Lucha Revolucionaria Perú, p. 205. Spanish version: ‘de tipo político, 

económico, militar y sobre todo social’. 
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situation, and they were working with the government on land reform.  Moreover, the civic 

action projects that the Army conducted in 1963 still had a positive effect on the local 

population.  Luis de la Puente’s MIR, however, later determined the area was appropriate for 

revolution and established the Pachacutec front here, as we will see in chapter five.  The ELN 

also visited the Laco, Paucartambo, and Vilcabamba areas near Cusco, but determined that 

they were not suitable for their purposes.   

The group departed Cusco for Ayacucho City to visit the surrounding areas and conduct an 

assessment.  They decided that La Mar Province in the Northeast corner of the Ayacucho 

region, which is approximately 500 kilometres southeast of Lima, was the best location to 

establish the front.  San Miguel is the capital of the province and the largest town.  3,461 

people lived in the towns while 35,129 lived in rural areas throughout the province.608  The 

altitude varies from 4000 to 16,500 feet, where the peaks are barren of vegetation.  The thick 

vegetation of the rainforest covered the lower altitudes in the northwest of the province.  The 

various streams flowed from the Andes and fed the Apurimac and Pampas rivers.  On the 

haciendas and in the communal villages, Campesinos grew potatoes, corn, sugarcane, coffee, 

and cocoa.  The province did not have modern roads, so the locals had to transport their crops 

to market by walking or on mules, where the merchants exploited them.  Campesinos who 

grew crops on their small plots on the haciendas, had to sell them to the owner at below-

market prices.  Hector Bejar recalled the factors in their decision to select La Mar, ‘there was 

poverty; there was no agrarian reform; the latifundio was still intact; there was a nascent 

Campesino movement in Chungi, Chapi, and Oronjoy; some Campesinos were imprisoned; 

there had been a confrontation with the police; they disarmed a police major’.609  They 

believed that the rugged mountains favoured guerrilla warfare.  Unlike the MIR, they did not 

intend to create security zones.  They planned to remain mobile because they understood that 

although the remote area was formidable, it was also vulnerable to enemy attack.  The ELN 

leaders studied the topography and knew that if the guerrillas became intimately familiar with 

the terrain, they could use it to their benefit and gain a military advantage over the Army and 

its inevitable attack into the area.   

 
608 Sixth National Population Census, Vol V., quoted in Béjar, Perú 1965, p. 89. 
609 Héctor Béjar, El primer día: historia interior de una guerrilla andina (Lima: 1989) unpublished copy quoted 

in Lust, Lucha Revolucionaria Perú, p. 206. Spanish version: ‘estaba la pobreza; no había habido ninguna 

reforma agraria, el latifundio estaba intacto; había un movimiento campesino inicial, en Chungui, en Chapi, en 

Oronjoy; algunos campesinos estaban presos; había habido un enfrentamiento con la Policía; habían desarmado 

a un mayor de la Policía’. 
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The social conditions in La Mar had been abysmal for decades.  The ELN considered the 

significance of Chungui in Peruvian memory.  In 1922, there was a Campesino uprising in 

the towns called Chungui and Tambo.  They demanded that the local government officials 

stop the abuse and exploitation.  In response, the government sent 150 soldiers to conduct a 

pacification campaign that resulted in 430 dead and wounded Campesinos and 1,400 homes 

burned.610  The oppression continued into 1964 when the ELN visited the area to conduct its 

assessment.  A common scheme during the 1960s was that an Attorney would create fake 

documents that showed land ownership and then take the Campesinos who had lived and 

worked the land for generations to court denouncing them as squatters.  The court, potentially 

motivated by bribes, would rule in favour of the Attorney and order the Campesinos off the 

land.  They would then have to move to less fertile lands higher in the mountains.  If they 

refused, the local police would force them off the land or imprison them.  The Chapi hacienda 

was the largest and wealthiest in the province, and the brothers Miguel Carrillo Cazoria and 

Gonzalo Carrillo Rocha governed it in an autocratic manner.  The brothers forced the 

Campesinos to work on the hacienda in exchange for a small plot of land that they could 

farm.  They also took liberties with the wives and daughters of the Campesinos that worked 

on their lands.  This a was common practice among the haciendas in La Mar as well as other 

areas in the Andean highlands.  When the Campesinos made complaints to the local 

authorities using the legal system, the authorities generally sided with the landowners.611  The 

education system was almost non-existent in the rural areas.  A 1961 census noted that 

40,961 people over the age of five lived in La Mar and that 39,598 could not speak Spanish 

or read and write.612  For these reasons, the ELN believed it could initiate the revolution here.  

Following the assessment, the group returned to Lima to plan for the revolution and establish 

the urban cell.  In early September 1964, ten ELN members met one-night in Chaclacayo on 

the eastern outskirts of Lima. They included Bejar, Edgardo Tello, Guillermo Mercado Leon, 

Luis Zapata Bodero, Manuel Grados, Juan Morales, Horacio Juarez La Rosa, Nemesio 

[Junco], Marx and Alex.  The last two were noms de guerre.  During the meeting, they 

formally established the rural front and named it ‘Group Number 1 Javier Heraud of the 

National Liberation Army’.  They decided that Bejar would be the Commander and Tello and 

Zapata would be second and third in charge respectively.  The group pooled together 8,000 

 
610 Bejar, Peru 1965, 89; Edilberto Jiménez, Chungui: violencia y trazos de memoria (Lima, Instituto de 

Estudios Peruanos, 2009). 
611 Llamojha and Heilman, Now Peru is Mine, p. 50. 
612 Sixth National Population Census, Vol. V, quoted in Béjar, Perú 1965, p. 89. 
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soles of their money to support their operations.613  Bejar explained that the group made these 

decisions by committee.  The group had been working together for years and shared the same 

political views.  They were also in one hundred percent agreement on the location to establish 

the front.614  According to the results of their survey of La Mar, they believed the population 

would support them and take up arms against the oppressive government officials and 

landlords. 

The ELN members also established the urban support element in Lima that they named the 

Movimiento 15 de Mayo (15 May Movement, M15M), which was like the Cuban M267 

organization, in memory of the first ELN fighter killed in the struggle.  Hildebrando Perez 

stated that with the M15M name they meant to honour ‘The death, the sacrifice, and the 

heroism of Javier Heraud’.615  Juan Pablo Chang, Juan Cristobal, Elideberto Marquez, and 

Jorge Salazar were instrumental in establishing the M15M, as was Alain Elias after the 

authorities released him from jail.  The police arrested Elias in Puerto Maldonado in May 

1963 following the clash that ended the life of Heraud.  Chang was the overall leader of the 

group and directly responsible for political activities and maintaining relations with Havana.  

M15M used a cell structure to maintain operational security and to protect the organization in 

the event of a member or cell being compromised or infiltrated by the security services.  They 

were also responsible for recruitment, weapons and equipment procurement, and logistical 

support for the guerrilla front, propaganda, intelligence gathering, and counterintelligence 

activities.  Perez recalled, ‘The underground was totally and directly committed to the 

development and support of the guerrilla [front]’.616  The ELN was not able to develop an 

effective communication system between the urban and guerrilla fronts.  Bejar did not allow 

urban cells in Ayacucho City because he assumed, they would be compromised and, in turn, 

lead the security services to the guerrillas.617  He likely took this lesson from the capture of 

Hugo Blanco in La Convencion in 1963.  This compartmentalization, for valid security 

reasons, also prevented M15M from sending replacements, military equipment, and other 

desperately needed supplies to the guerrillas in the field.  In May, Elias returned from La Mar 

and informed Chang that Bejar needed Cuban advisors to assist with the tactical development 

 
613 PIP report, Atestado No. 9, 4 February 1966, p. 2, CEHMP, Béjar file. 
614 PIP report, ‘Manifestación del Detenido: Héctor Béjar Rivera’, 28 February 1966, p. 5, CEHMP, Béjar file. 
615 Interview with Hildebrando Perez in Lust, Lucha Revolucionaria Perú, p. 217. Spanish version: ‘La muerte, 

el sacrificio, la heroicidad de Javier Heraud’. 
616 Interview with Hildebrando Perez in Lust, Lucha Revolucionaria Perú, p. 218. Spanish version: ‘El 

subterráneo estaba ligado totalmente a la preparación de la guerrilla o apoyo a la guerrilla directamente’. 
617 PIP report, ‘Manifestación del Detenido: Héctor Béjar Rivera’, 28 February 1966, p. 5, CEHMP, Béjar file; 

Béjar, Perú 1965, p. 107 
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of the front.  Chang travelled to Havana to personally pass this request to the Cubans.618  The 

Cubans obliged, but the security forces destroyed the front before the advisors could arrive to 

assist them. 

In late September 1964, Horacio Juarez La Rosa, along with two revolutionaries called 

Alberto and Wilfredo, sat in the Sucre Park in Ayacucho City.  Horacio’s younger brother 

Jose Homero Juarez La Rosa arrived to meet with them.  The two were born and raised in 

Chungui and were 20 and 22 years old, respectively.  They had not seen each other for some 

time because, unbeknownst to Homero, Horacio had been in Cuba to learn the principles of 

guerrilla warfare and had been working with the ELN preparing for the revolution.  Homero 

was living at 108 Manco Copac Street in Ayacucho and studying at the National University.  

The group moved to Hotel Sucre, where Horacio, Alberto, and Wilfredo were staying.  They 

asked Homero about his experience at school and his future.  They were apparently 

attempting to get a feel for him and whether he would assist the ELN.  They did not reveal 

their agenda.  After completing his exams in December, he returned to his family home in 

Chungi.  He then travelled with his friend Alberto Berrocal to Tambo, where they did some 

trading.  There he ran into Horacio and Alberto.  Horacio asked his brother and Berrocal to 

help him move some cargo, on five mules, to Chungui.  They stopped at Berrocal’s house in 

Hotopuquio for the night.  Homero went home to Chungui and returned the next morning, but 

the other two had departed.  In January 1965, Homero was in Ayacucho and met with 

Alberto, who introduced him to another revolutionary called Maxiliano Pena.  Over the next 

few months, Homero helped them move large quantities of supplies from Ayacucho and 

Tambo to Chungi, Chapi, and other nearby locations.  Inocencio Jassani provided the mules.  

Alberto paid Homero 600 Soles and one time gave him a 50 Sole tip.  They hid the supplies 

in abandoned houses and remote locations throughout the region.  Horacio, whom they called 

‘Tiki’, and two other revolutionaries named Rios and Ladron assisted occasionally.  Homero 

noticed that they always used their nicknames amongst each other.  Finally, in May, they told 

Homero that they planned to assist the peasant syndicates to fight against the landowners and 

imperialism, but did not claim to be communists.619  They told him that he could not join 

them because he did not have the required training and experience.  Alberto warned Homero 

these activities ‘were absolutely secret, and in their organization, the punishment for treason 

 
618 Interview with Alaín Elías in Lust, ‘The Role of the Peruvian Guerrilla’, p. 230.  
619 Army intelligence report, ‘Ampliación de la manifestación de Homero Juárez La Rosa’, 11 February 1966, p. 

3, CEHMP, Béjar file. 



159 
 

was death’.  He added that they were ‘fighting for the people’.620  Homero told Army 

interrogators that the ELN members were not forthcoming with detailed information of their 

plans.  Assuming this is true, it demonstrates good operational security on the part of the 

guerrillas.  

In April 1965, Bejar and nine others travelled to La Mar to establish the Javier Heraud front.  

They travelled by various conveyances to Retama and then on foot to Chungui and met with a 

few others bringing their number to thirteen.  They divided into two groups and began to 

move about the area to become familiar with the terrain.  The ELN members attempted to 

avoided contact with the locals by travelling at night and staying away from the towns and 

villages.  Miliciades Ruiz remembered, ‘In the beginning we were clandestine, the people did 

not see us.  We were hidden in the countryside, exploring the nearby areas’.621  However, the 

locals began to take notice of their presence.  Bejar recalled, ‘The rumors spread and fantastic 

explanations are invented:  that we are cattle thieves, pishtacos [murderers who sell human 

fat according to local superstition], Communists’.  He continued, ‘But what do they know 

about Communists except what they have heard from the village priest, the Aprista 

landowner, and the prejudiced schoolteacher’?622  After a few weeks, they ran low on food, 

and their hunger forced them to contact the villagers.  The locals called the guerrillas papay, 

which was a derogatory term for foreigners, including whites and mestizos, and also used 

when referring to superiors.  Over the next few months, as the guerrillas built rapport, the 

locals begin to refer to them as hermanos (brothers), which signified a close affection.  The 

term companero (comrade) was not commonly used between the guerrillas and the peasants 

as hermano demonstrated a closer and more intimate connection.  Horacio was the only 

Quechua speaker in the local dialect, so he was responsible for most of the interpreting.  The 

others, Spanish speakers, or Quechua speakers from other locations in Peru, studied hard to 

learn the local dialect quickly.  They were also cognizant of the differences in culture and 

customs.  Bejar wrote, ‘Discipline, warm affection for the peasants, and modesty are not 

always characteristics of young students or of politicians filled with an intellectual self-

sufficiency that offends simple people and which originates in daily habits that are often just 

 
620 Army intelligence report No. 2000 CRM, 23 February 1966, p. 2, CEHMP, Béjar file. Spanish version: 
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the opposite of the way of life of country people’.623  Despite these challenges, the Javier 

Heraud front began to build support among the local population in La Mar. 

M15M also developed an urban terrorism cell in Lima with the short-term aim of drawing 

attention away from the guerrilla front.  The long-term purpose of the cell was to destabilize 

the governmental structure in preparation for the Revolutionary Army’s inevitable march on 

the capital city.  The cell went into action and employed improvised bombs on 15 May 1965, 

to commemorate the second anniversary of Heraud’s death.  The Lima daily Expreso noted 

that a group of individuals threw molotov cocktails at various locations in Lima including, 

‘the area of the Hipico Club, the offices of the Provisa firm, a building at 1151 Huanuco 

street near the Alameda Movie, and the Santa Rosa Bridge’.624  The following day, Expreso 

reported that the National Police had arrested two individuals suspected of being involved in 

the attacks.  The police did not release their names, but one was said to be a university 

student and the other a relative of a ministerial official.625  The papers did not report any 

casualties from the bombings.  M15M did not conduct any additional attacks.  While M15M 

acted, Bejar’s men in La Mar were still preparing for conflict. 

Lobaton, the commander of the MIR’s central front, began to conduct guerrilla warfare on 9 

June 1965.  By mid-July, the Peruvian government began to take the threat seriously.626  On 

15 July, Belaunde gave a speech at the opening of a General Motors factory near Lima.  After 

praising General Motors for helping develop Peru, he stated, ‘This is where is found the 

greatest difference between this democratic world, which teaches how to use toools [sic] to 

construct, and the other communist world, which tries to sway youth, training it in the 

infamous practice of making bombs and weapons to destroy and to separate’.  Ambassador 

Jones wrote to Secretary of State Rusk, ‘To the Embassy’s knowledge, this remark (which 

greeted with strong applause) is the President’s first public condemnation of communism’.  

He continued, ‘We assume his action is reaction to guerrilla problem and believe it one more 

indication of GOP’s belated but improving comprehension of potential internal security 

problems’.627  The National Security Council took notice and William Bowdler sent a copy of 
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the cable to McGeorge Bundy with a note that read, ‘Statements like this one by President 

Belaunde are most helpful … and hard to come by’.628  As the we will see in chapter five, 

Lobaton’s decision to begin guerrilla warfare before the other rural fronts readied themselves, 

was a significant detriment to the potential success of the insurrection.  It also drew the 

attention of senior Peruvian government officials, including Belaunde, to the coming conflict. 

Initially, the guerrillas remained in the lower altitudes of the mountains because it provided 

much vegetation that allowed them to stay concealed.  However, much of the population 

lived at higher elevations, and to expand their network, and they needed to climb as high as 

15,000 feet.  They did not have proper clothing to withstand the elements, so they learned to 

move at night to stay warm and rest during the day in the sun.  As they continued to make 

new friends and their language skills improved, they began to spread their revolutionary 

message.  Bejar recalled, ‘We don’t need to convince them that the boss is their enemy.  They 

know this and hate him wholeheartedly’.629  The guerrillas promised that they would 

repatriate the haciendas and give the land and spoils to the workers.  He wrote, ‘There are 

discontented people everywhere, and they receive us enthusiastically’.630  He admits that 

some locals may have distrusted or even feared the guerrillas, but that everyone helped them.  

This conflicts with the Fourth Military Region, which was responsible for La Mar, 

Intelligence section that alleged the Campesinos, ‘were obliged to collaborate in different 

activities (providing food or serving as guides) under the threat of death’.631  There is no 

other evidence that the guerrillas coerced the local population for support.  It is more likely 

that the majority of the people willingly supported them, as Bejar claims, or at least remained 

neutral.  However, the security forces soon began receiving information about the guerrilla 

activities, so a segment of the population did not appreciate the ELN fighters in the area.  On 

8 July, La Prensa reported that an indigenous person told the police that there was a group of 

men carrying weapons near Yanamonte.632  This led to the speculation that they were 

university students from Ayacucho attempting communist agitation amongst the Campesinos. 
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The Javier Heraud front chose to strictly follow the Cuban model of insurgency that the DGI 

taught to them in Havana and that Guevara described in his guide to guerrilla warfare.  This 

contrasts with the MIR leaders that developed a hybrid version of the Chinese and Cuban 

models combined with their understanding of the situation in Peru.  The ELN did not employ 

the concept of security zones, as did the MIR.  The ELN leaders believed that at the 

beginning of the conflict, small groups of guerrillas the constantly moved, and received 

information from locals on the whereabouts of the security forces, was the best technique to 

survive.  When they located a secure place to stop and rest, they would set up their 

hammocks, and cover themselves with ponchos to keep the rain out.  They stayed in these 

locations less than twenty-four hours and then moved on.  Bejar stated, ‘We did not adopt a 

system of installing camps because it is very dangerous and unsecure, and it is easier to be 

discovered by the army or the police’.633  This idea was taken from their training in Cuba.  It 

was consistent with Regis Debray’s assertion, ‘During this time the guerrilla base is, 

according to an expression of Fidel, the territory within which the guerrilla happens to be 

moving; it goes where he goes.  In the initial stage, the base of support is in the guerrilla 

fighter’s knapsack’.634  While this did provide enhanced security, it also made it more 

challenging to communicate with other guerrilla elements, intelligence sources, or coordinate 

logistical support with the urban front in Lima.  They used messengers to communicate, or 

they met at prearranged locations and times to conduct planning for operations.  They did not 

rely on technical communications means, which were susceptible to interception by the 

security forces.  Despite the Javier Heraud front’s discipline in using these tactics, it would 

turn out that they were no match for the Peruvian Army. 

Logistical support was sufficient for the ELN’s operations.  They had an adequate number of 

weapons, most of which they purchased in Bolivia using Cuban funding and transported to 

La Mar.  They made contacts in La Paz while they were regrouping after the Puerto 

Maldonado incident, so they did not have to rely on the PCB for weapons.  Nestor Guevara 

explained that the ELN brought the weapons and ammunition from Bolivia to Cusco, where 

they stored them and later moved them by car to Ayacucho City.  They then moved them by 

mule train to Chungui.635  Bejar had a Remington carbine.  Tello, Manuel Grados, and Alex 

 
633 PIP report, ‘Manifestación del Detenido: Héctor Béjar Rivera’, 28 February 1966, p. 5, CEHMP, Béjar file. 

Spanish version: ‘No hemos adoptado el Sistema de instalar campamentos porque es muy peligroso e inseguro, 

debido a que es más fácil ser descubiertos por el ejército o la policía’. 
634 Debray, Revolution in the Revolution, p. 65. 
635 Interview with Néstor Guevara in Lust, Lucha Revolucionaria Perú, p. 208. 
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had Czech made Pistan machineguns, each with a thirty-round clip.  Horacio, Juan Morales, 

Nemesio, and Marx had Mauser rifles.  Zapata and Mercado purchased shotguns in Lima and 

transported them to La Mar.636  It is not clear how they provided weapons to newly recruited 

personnel.  While they had weapons, there was a very limited stockpile of ammunition.  Their 

level of proficiency with the weapons in unknown, while they received weapons instruction 

and participated in range firing in Cuba, there are no reports of how much time and effort 

they spent on weapons training in La Mar.  After the guerrillas consumed the initial stock of 

food, they relied on foraging and hunting or the locals to provide sustenance.  Bejar wrote, 

‘The provisions were easy, especially for a group as small as ours’.637  The ELN had 

difficulty obtaining medical supplies in La Mar.  Bejar recalled, ‘In respect to medicines 

when we exited the Capital in April 1965 we brought antibiotics, analgesics, disinfectants, 

and equipment for injections, but once we terminated this provisioning we were left without 

medicine, and we cured ourselves with “home remedies”, herbs, etc’.638  The ELN members 

also shared their limited medical supplies with the local population.  The sharing of medical 

supplies enhanced rapport and endeared the Guerrillas to the Campesinos. 

For the ELN leadership, personnel issues became a concern.  Alian Elias did not adapt well to 

the guerrilla way and could not tolerate the harsh conditions in the mountains.  Bejar sent him 

and Edilberto Marquez back to Lima to assist Chang with the urban front.639  Horacio, who 

was a key to integrating with the local population, departed in July.  He went with Bejar to 

reconnoitre Celestino Manchego’s Hacienda in Sinto, Castrovirreyna province, in the 

Huancavelica department because they were considering attacking it.  On their way back to 

Chungui, Horacio parted ways with Bejar to visit his girlfriend in Huanta for the evening.  

The police raided her house, captured Horacio, and took him to the military compound in 

Ayacucho.  There was confusion over jurisdiction between the Army and the National Police.  

He did not return to the guerrilla front or participate in any other ELN activities.  Nestor 

Guevara and Chiquitico attempted to travel to La Convencion to meet with De la Puente.  

Along the way, they learned that the security services were searching for them.  When they 

arrived in Quillabamba, Chiquitico went to a café to eat ice cream.  A person approached and 

 
636 CEHMP, PIP report, Atestado No. 9, 4 February 1966, p. 2. 
637 Béjar, Perú 1965, p. 107. 
638 PIP report, ‘Manifestación del Detenido: Héctor Béjar Rivera’, 28 February 1966. P. 5, CEHMP, Béjar file. 

Spanish version: ‘en lo que respecta a medicinas cuando salimos de esta capital el mes de Abril de 1965 

llevamos antibióticos, analgésicos, desinfectantes y equipo para inyectar, pero una vez se nos terminó este 

aprovisionamiento nos quedamos sin medicinas y nos curábamos con remedios “caseros”, hierbas, etc.’. 
639 Interview with Alian Elías in Lust, Lucha Revolucionaria Perú, p. 217. 
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sat next to him.  He recalled, ‘He referenced that he knew where we were from and that we 

were being followed. First, I denied it, but he was very convincing’.640  Later that evening, 

they got into a confrontation with a drunken police officer.  They departed their hotel early 

the next morning, which was fortunate for them because the police raided their hotel shortly 

after they left.  They made their way through the many checkpoints to Cusco and found 

sanctuary.  Guevara eventually went to Bolivia while Chiquitico remained in Cusco, neither 

had further contact with the ELN. 

In early September 1965, representatives from the MIR and ELN met in Lima to discuss 

methods of collaboration and how they could synchronize operations against the government.  

They signed two documents that the MIR subsequently published in its newsletter El 

Guerrillero.  The first was a manifesto that established the Fuerzas Armadas de Liberacion 

Nacional (National Liberation Armed Forces, FALN) also called the Comando Nacional de 

Coordinacion (National Coordination Command, CNdC).  The document outlined the role of 

the CNdC to direct the actions of the MIR and ELN.  It attacked the Belaunde administration 

and explained how the Oligarchy allowed the wealthy business and landowners to exploit the 

working class and the peasants.  It read, the FALN has ‘as a fundamental objective, the 

liquidation of the feudal system of exploitation from the earth, the destruction of the great 

bourgeoise and the confiscation of the imperialist monopolies; Liquidation of this way and 

forever, the exploitation of man by man’.  It continued, ‘We will build for them a new 

society, one that is based on the worker-peasant alliance; Including all of the exploited 

sectors, applying for them a united political front’.641  The FALN’s National Command 

signed the document.  The second document was a joint communiqué of the MIR and ELN, 

which explained that the revolution had begun, and the historical process was not reversible.  

The authors wrote that the MIR and ELN ‘have agreed to strengthen their relations at the 

coordination level to jointly face the different tasks demanded by the liberation of our 

Homeland’.642  They went on to invoke the revolutionary spirit of the Peruvian people and 

 
640 Interview with Néstor Guevara in Lust, Lucha Revolucionaria Perú, p. 222. Spanish version: ‘El hace 

referencia de lo que hacíamos desde que nos dimos cuenta que nos venía siguiendo.  Primero se lo negué, pero 

él era bien convincente’.  
641 Fuerzas Armadas de Liberacion Nacional manifiesto, September 1965, p. 2, CEHMP, Béjar file. Spanish 

version: ‘como objetivas fundamentales, la liquidación del sistema feudal de explotación de la tierra, la 

destrucción de la gran burguesía monopolista y la confiscación de los monopolios imperialistas; liquidando de 

esta manera y para siempre, la explotación del hombre por el hombre’. ‘Construyendo para ello una nueva 

sociedad, cuyo base estará dada por la alianza obrero-campesino; incluyendo además a todos los sectores 

explotados aplicando para ello una política acertada de Frente Único’. 
642 MIR and ELN ‘Comunicado Conjunto’, 9 September 2020, p. 1, CEHMP, Béjar file. Spanish version: ‘han 

acordado estrechar sus relaciones a nivel de coordinación para enfrentar conjuntamente las diversas tareas que 

demanda la liberación de nuestra Patria’. 
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harkened back to the brave exploits of the Incan warriors, such as Manco Inca, Juan Santos, 

Tupac Amaru, and Pumacachua who fought against the Spanish.  They also mentioned 

Francisco Vallejo, the peasant Mayta, and Javier Heraud, who had recently died for the 

revolution.  They offered other groups the opportunity to join them, ‘This agreement is not 

exclusive or excluding, it is open to any other organization that fully identifies with the 

objectives of the fight and the requirements that it demands’.643  Ricardo Gadea, the MIR 

representative to the CNdC, stated that they also coordinated with the revolutionary Catholic 

priest Salomon Bolo Hidalgo  who was the leader of the National Liberation Front.644  Mao 

Zedong implored the New Left of Peru to coordinated precisely in this manner back in 

February of 1964 because he recognized it was there only chance at a successful 

revolution.645  Despite the grandiose language, the National Command was at best a 

propaganda instrument.  Lobaton’s French wife, Jacqueline Eluau explained, ‘although this 

organization proclaimed in theory, as the pompous title [suggests], the existence of a 

Command, in practice it revealed to be only a bureaucratic apparatus, a bit of service of 

traditional propaganda also in the classical leftist style’.646  Moreover, by the time the two 

guerrilla factions set aside their differences and decided to work together towards a common 

goal, it was too late. 

By the end of the month, the ELN was ready to begin the armed propaganda phase of the 

revolution.  Mao first published the concept of armed propaganda, which followed the 

political indoctrination step of the masses that led to guerrilla warfare.647  The Cubans 

adopted it as a tenet of the foco theory, although it is employed much sooner in the 

revolutionary cycle than it was in China or Vietnam.   The concept has the guerrilla fighter 

demonstrate resolve through action instead of words.  The ELN applied a nuanced aspect of 

the theory in the Peruvian Andes, where the population had been conditioned over many 

decades to fear the landowners, the security forces, and government officials, who are in a 

position of power over the poor and uneducated Campesinos.  Debray argued, ‘This prestige 

constitutes the principal form of oppression: it immobilizes the discontented, silences them, 

 
643 Ibid., p. 1, Spanish version: ‘Este acuerdo no es exclusive ni excluyente, queda abierto a toda otra 

organización que se identifique planamente con los objetivos de la lucha y las exigencias que ella demande’. 
644 Ricardo Gadea. Telephone Interview. 9 April 2020. 
645 CIA report, ‘Plans of the MIR for Revolutionary Action’, 12 February 1964, LBJL, NSF, Country Files, 

Peru, Box 72, folder 7. 
646 Interview with Jacqueline Eluau in Lust, Lucha Revolucionaria Perú, p. 368. Spanish version: ‘Si bien este 

organización pregonaba en teoría, como título pomposo, la existencia de un Comando, en la práctica revelo ser 

solamente un aparato burocrático, un poco al servicio de la propaganda tradicional también en el modio 

izquierdista clásico’. 
647 Mao, Mao on Warfare, p. 185. 
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leads them to swallow affronts at the mere sight of a uniform’.648  This form of power was 

not limited to the police and military, but extended to the landowners and patrons (bosses) on 

the haciendas.  The population in Ayacucho was very sparse, and there were only a limited 

number of government officials.  From most haciendas, workers would have to walk for days 

to reach a town to have access to government services, and the police rarely travelled to the 

haciendas.649  As a result, the hacienda owners became the de facto government on their land 

and ruled unconstrained.  The ELN discovered that the Campesinos were not interested in 

talk, and as Debray described the guerrilla ‘must make a show of strength and at the same 

time demonstrate that the enemy’s strength is first and foremost his bluster.  To destroy the 

idea of unassailability – that age-old accumulation of fear and humility vis-à-vis the patron, 

the policeman, the guardia rural – there is nothing better than combat.’.650  In turn, the 

people will see that the guerrillas are fighting for them and provide additional active and 

passive support.   

On the early morning of 25 September 1965, Bejar, along with his fellow guerrillas Cesar 

Pareja, Tello, Jorge Toque, and Zapata, walked up to the main house of the Chapi Hacienda, 

in the Chungui district of La Mar province.  The remaining ELN members set up a security 

perimeter around the area in the unlikely event that the security forces would come to assist.  

The guerrillas attempted to enter the house silently, but the hacienda owner, retired Army 

Major Gonzalo Carrillo Rocha, noticed them and shot at them with a rifle.  The guerrillas 

fought their way in and murdered Gonzalo Carrillo and his nephew Miguel Carrillo Cazorla 

in their bedrooms.651  Gonzalo Carrillo was shot four times, once on the left side of the neck, 

twice in the chest, and once in the left shoulder.  He was 64 years old.  Miguel Carrillo was 

shot twice, once in the left thigh, and once in the left chest.  He was 52 years old.  There were 

four bullet holes in the wall of his bedroom.652  During the melee, the guerrillas also killed an 

18-year-old peasant domestic worker called Alberto Arone Tello, who was sleeping in the 

house.  A stray bullet killed him, but Correo reported that he was a ‘faithful peon’, 

suggesting the guerrillas may have killed him intentionally.653  Arone’s mother, Carmina 

 
648 Debray, Revolution in the Revolution, p. 51. 
649 Llamojha and Heilman, Now Peru is Mine, p. 26. 
650 Debray, Revolution in the Revolution, p. 52. 
651 PIP report, ‘Manifestación del Detenido: Héctor Béjar Rivera’, 28 February 1966, p. 3, CEHMP, Béjar file; 

La Prensa, 25 September 1965, translated in CIA, Press information Relating to Insurgency and 

Counterinsurgency: Latin America, 18 October 1965, p. 5; Correo, ‘La confesión de Béjar: Yo Dirigi El Asalto 

a La Hacienda Chapi’, 2 March 1966, CEHMP, Béjar file. 
652 PIP report No. 430, 21 October 1965, p. 5, CEHMP, Béjar file. 
653 Correo, 29 September 1965, translated in CIA, Press information Relating to Insurgency and 

Counterinsurgency: Latin America, 18 October 1965, p. 5. 
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Tello Orihuela, was sleeping in a nearby building, and the commotion woke her from her 

sleep.  She was devastated when she later discovered the body of her son.  She took his body 

to their home village of Pante, where they laid him to rest.654  The guerrillas stole 100,000 

soles worth of gold along with three rifles, two pistols, and ammunition.  Nacional explained 

that the gold was from a recent cattle sale, and Bejar may have learned of this from an 

informant and alleged that the motivation behind the attack was to steal the gold.655  

However, this is inconsistent with the ELNs strategy.  The guerrillas gathered the workers 

outside of the house and explained their actions.  On the patio, they ceremonially burned the 

letters of debt that the Carrillo’s had used to hold the workers in servitude, among other 

documents they discovered in the house.  They distributed the animals, foodstuffs, and other 

supplies, to the workers and told them they were now the rightful owners of the land and no 

longer had to serve the criminal Carrillo family.  At ten in the morning, the guerrillas loaded 

their portion of the supplies on a stolen mule and departed the hacienda for a mountainous 

area known as Tincoy to hide from the authorities.   

This first episode of armed propaganda won over many of the Campesinos in the area.  Bejar 

targeted the Chapi hacienda because it was the largest and most prosperous in the Ayacucho 

department, and its owners were among the most brutal.  El Guerrillero reported, ‘The 

execution of the assassins Gonzalo and Miguel Carrillo, owners of the Chapi hacienda, in the 

province of La Mar, department of Ayacucho, is a historic act of justice, comparable with the 

hanging of Corregidor Ariaga by Tupac Amaru’.  The article went on to describe the crimes 

the Carrillo’s committed against the workers over the years and how the authorities failed to 

act.  It concluded with the rhetoric question, ‘Is there any doubt in the justice of executing 

these criminals?’. 656  In his memoir, Bejar did not seem to place the attack on Chapi in such 

high regard.  He relegated the event to a footnote written in a dry matter of fact tone, ‘The 

capture of Chapi, in which the hated Carrillo landowners died, took place on 25 September 

1965’.657  Oddly, he did not take credit for this episode of revolutionary justice.  Especially 

considering, by 1969, when he published his memoir from a Lima prison, various authors had 

 
654 PIP report, ‘Manifestación de Carmina Tello Orihuela’, 7 October 1965, p. 2, CEHMP, Béjar file. 
655 Nacional, ‘PIP Investiga Asesinato de Hacendados: Creen Que Campesinos Asaltaron la Had. Chapi’, 4 

October 1965, CEHMP, Béjar file. 
656 El Guerrillero, ‘Pene de Muerte a los Explotadores’, No. 6, 3 October 1965, p. 2, reprinted in Mercado, Las 

Guerrillas Del Perú, p. 187. Spanish version: ‘¿Cabe alguna de la justicia de la ejecución de semejantes 

criminales?’.  
657 Béjar, Perú 1965, p. 99. 
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publicized the events at Chapi in newspapers and journal articles.658  Moreover, he had 

described the events himself to the police following his capture.659  Perhaps he was 

attempting to protect the ELN members whom the government had not detained.   

Thirty police officers arrived at Chapi on 1 October.  PIP Officer Rolando Huerta Conde led 

the investigation team and discovered the Carrillo’s bloated and decaying bodies in the 

bedrooms where the guerrillas had left them.  They completed a detailed forensic report of 

the main house, including photos of the corpses, the battle damage the ELN caused, and the 

propaganda they left behind.  They interviewed nine persons who were present during the 

attack.  The Peruvian government used the report, which was dated 21 October 1965, as 

evidence at Bejar’s trial.  Arturo Carrillo Cazorla, the brother of Miguel Carrillo, was not 

present at the hacienda during the attack.  He later returned and to take over the management 

of the hacienda and selected his most trusted workers to assist him.660  The PIP team 

photographed the propaganda messages scribbled on the walls of the main house.  The 

various inscriptions included: ‘National Liberation Army – Land or Death – We will be 

victorious; Armed detachment Javier Heraud – Long live the peasant struggle’.661  The Javier 

Heraud front announced its arrival on the Peruvian revolutionary scene, and the government 

now considered them a threat. 

The PIP team also discovered a two-page manifesto titled ‘New Front of Guerrillas in 

Ayacucho’.  De la Pedraja shows the importance of such documents to the insurgent 

organizations and explained that ‘manifestoes were indispensable to differentiate the noble 

rebels from common criminals.  The manifesto magically transformed the use of violence and 

senseless killing to a sacred cause’.662  The ELN’s manifesto began by directly attacking the 

Belaunde government for not fulfilling election promises made to the Peruvian people.  

Specifically, for not reforming the agriculture, petroleum, and mining industries, and 

allowing the North American monopolies to continue to exploit Peru’s natural resources.  To 

ignite a sense of urgency, they claimed that this was one of the most critical times in Peruvian 

history.  They wrote, ‘The pillage and pitiless exploitation of our country have not stopped, 

 
658 Ricardo Letts Colmenares under the pen name Américo Pumaruna, ‘Perú: revolución, insurrección, 

guerrillas’, Pensamiento Critico, Havana, No. 1, February 1967; Correo, ‘La confesión de Bajar: Yo Dirigí El 

Asalto a La Hacienda Chapi’, 2 March 1966, CEHMP, Béjar file. 
659 PIP Report, ‘Manifestación del Detenido: Héctor Béjar Rivera’, 28 February 1966, p. 4, CEHMP, Béjar file. 
660 CEHMP, PIP report No 430, 21 October 1965, p2. 
661 PIP report No. 430, supporting documentation, 21 October 1965, p. 12, CEHMP, Béjar file. Spanish version: 

‘Ejército de Liberación Nacional – Tierra o Muerte – Venceremos’ ‘Destacamento Armado Javier Heraud – 

Viva La Lucha Campesina’. 
662 De la Pedraja, Wars of Latin America, p. 160. 
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even more, it continues.  The people have complained and say: Enough with the Pillage and 

Exploitation!’.  The authors were attempting to demonstrate that Belaunde had not enacted 

his promised reforms, and the Andean Campesinos still lived an oppressed existence.  They 

explained that only ‘popular unity had the capacity to destroy the powerful forces of the 

Oligarchy’.663  It announced the establishment of the Javier Heraud guerrilla front in 

Ayacucho and named Bejar as its commander.  The second page of the document served as 

an indictment of the Carrillo’s and attempted to justify their extrajudicial killing.  The 

manifesto concluded with calls for the death of imperialism and the Oligarchy and long life 

for the ELN. 

Immediately following the ELN’s attack on the Chapi hacienda, the Army began moving 

troops to deal with the emerging guerrilla front.  The Army tasked the Brigade General 

Enrique Valdez of the Fourth Military Region, who was also running operations in Mesa 

Pelada against De La Puente’s MIR front, to command the counterinsurgency in La Mar.  On 

29 September, the Prefect of the region, Dr Leoncio Miranda, announced that the government 

dispatched two units to the area.664  The Peruvian Air Force (FAP) worked efficiently to 

move the troops into the area by plane and helicopter, including the Army detachment Sota 

(Cat) and Civil Guard (rural police) detachment Potro (Colt).  They arrived ‘at the junction of 

Apurimac and Pampas rivers, with the mission to pressure the extremists from east to west in 

the general direction of Torobamba river staying north of the Pampas river’.665  As the 

security forces prepared, the guerrillas continued the revolutionary struggle.  Bejar wrote, ‘It 

hasn’t taken us long to expel the large landowners, many of whom fled before we reached 

them.  The workers are beginning to realize how different it is to live without bosses’.666  

Additionally, Lust asserted that between September and December, ‘various haciendas were 

emptied: Esmeralda, Muyoc, Sojos, and Cohaiyhuay’.667  As the Army and Civil Guard units 

entered the area, the guerrillas used their intimate knowledge of the terrain along with 

information the locals provided to outmanoeuvre them.  When the security forces occupied a 

 
663 ELN Manifiesto, ‘Nuevo Frente Guerrillero en Ayacucho’, October 1965, p. 1, CEHMP, Béjar file. Spanish 

version: ‘El saqueo y la explotación inmisericorde de nuestro país no pare, más aun, ello continua. El pueblo 

reclama y dice: ¡Basta ya de saque y explotación!’ ‘pueblo unido y organizado será capaz de derrotar a las 

poderosas fuerzas de la oligarquía’. 
664 Correo, 29 September 1965, translated in CIA, Press information Relating to Insurgency and 

Counterinsurgency: Latin America, 18 October 1965, p. 5. 
665 Ministerio de Guerra del Perú, Las Guerrillas en el Perú y su represión, p. 68. Spanish version: ‘la 

confluencia de los ríos Apurimac y Pampas, con la misión de presionar a los extremistas de E a O en la 

dirección general del rio Torobamba y curso N del rio Pampas’. 
666 Béjar, Perú 1965, p. 99. 
667 Lust, Lucha Revolucionaria Perú, 226. Spanish version: ‘varias haciendas das fueron vaciadas: Esmeralda, 

Muyoc, Sojos y Conaiyhuay’, 
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key terrain feature, the guerrillas simply moved around it.  After years of reflection, Bejar 

concluded that they should have moved out of the region until the security forces departed.  

However, his group became complacent and created a security zone without realizing it, 

although they believed that if they constantly moved, they would be safe.  Bejar wrote, ‘But 

when a guerrilla thinks that he controls the terrain and is perfectly familiar with it, he begins 

unconsciously to fix himself to that area.  And then he is lost, because not all of the 

information he has received is correct, and he does not have all of the information about his 

enemy that he ought to have’.668  As the security forces patrolled the area, the guerrillas 

began to have security problems.  The ELN members, over the past months, had openly and 

publicly consorted with the villagers and hacienda workers.  Everyone knew the locals that 

were directly supporting the guerrillas, and it did not take long for the security forces to 

penetrate this network.   

Although the guerrillas were under constant pressure from 19 November 1965, Radio Habana 

announced that Peru had a new guerrilla front called the National Liberation Army.  The 

transmission stated, ‘the new guerrilla front was under the command of the Hector Bejar and 

was baptized with the name Javier Heraud, the young poet that lost his life in Puerto 

Maldonado’.669  Six days later, a letter from Bejar was presented at the Tenth National 

Students Conference in Lima.  He offered them a warm and fraternal greeting from the Javier 

Heraud front and explained what actions they were taking in La Mar for the revolution.  Bejar 

thanked the students for their moral support and implored them to keep fighting to improve 

the universities and the overall education system in the country.  He wrote, ‘I would like to 

remind you, dear communist colleagues, that the struggle for university reform is intimately 

linked to the general action of the Peruvian people for its definitive and total liberation’.670  

He did not ask, or even suggest, that the students should go to the mountains and take up 

arms with the guerrillas.  He wanted them to complete their educations and continue the civil 

resistance in the universities.  In contrast, a source close to the military leaked that the ELN 

was attempting to recruit students in Ayacucho and offering them 3,000 soles to join.  La 

Prensa wrote, ‘The informant pointed out that the offer by the guerrillas to the students 

 
668 Béjar, Perú 1965, p. 108. 
669 La Prensa, ‘Cuba Anuncia Otro Frente De Guerrillas en el Perú’, 19 November 1965, front page. 
670 ELN document dated 25 November 1965, CEHMP, Béjar file. Spanish version: ‘Quisiera recordarles, 

queridos colegas comunistas, que la lucha por la reforma universitaria está íntimamente ligada a la acción 

general del pueblo peruano por su liberación definitiva y total’. 
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probably indicates that the Communists are suffering from manpower shortages’.671  There is 

no evidence to support this claim, but if it was true, it was a risky move that was outside of 

the ELN’s operational pattern.   

The ELN had mixed success with the recruitment of new personnel.  Chang was able to 

recruit aspiring revolutionaries in Lima.  However, after the initial infiltration of the 

guerrillas into La Mar in April, there was no apparatus to send the recruits to link up with 

Bejar and the guerrilla column.  Moreover, after the ELN initiated actions in September, it 

would have been complicated to infiltrate new members into the area because of the 

population control measures and scrutiny the security forces placed on people entering the 

area.  As a result, Bejar’s only option was to recruit guerrilla fighters from the local 

population, which was probably better for the movement than bringing in more outsiders that 

did not speak the language or understand the local culture.  Bejar recalled, ‘The recruiting 

was feasible, but it was too lengthy a process due to the slowness with which the peasant 

makes a decision’.672  A few locals did join the ELN as fighters after the armed propaganda in 

Chapi, but most waited to see if additional actions would be successful as the ELN promised.  

Bejar asserted that the ELN needed to be able to recruit at a faster pace and that because of 

the length of the peasant’s decision-making cycle, they could not.  Therefore, the size of the 

guerrilla column remained small and prevented it from conducting offensive operations 

against the security forces.  A mestizo ferryman who worked on the Sojos hacienda was the 

first brother the ELN recruited in 1965, and he later died in battle.  Of the local recruits, Bejar 

wrote, ‘They were seized by the new possibilities that guerrilla warfare opened before them 

and by the truth that suddenly appeared in all its stark reality before their primitive eyes.  

They were our best propagandists’.  He continued, ‘They had an unforgettable way of lifting 

their rifles in their strong, work-hardened hands as they talked to their brothers in their native 

tongue and said: “Brothers, the landowners are through. This is respect!”’.673  This must have 

been a powerful message, but it is puzzling why it did not attract more Campesinos to the 

cause.  This offers a case study for future research into recruiting and motivating indigenous 

peoples to support revolutions. In the end, the ELN was not able to recruit enough fighters to 

support its goal of changing the political landscape in Peru. 

 
671 La Prensa, ‘Guerrillas Attempt to Attract Students With Wage Offers’, 21 December 1965, translated in 

CIA, Press information Relating to Insurgency and Counterinsurgency: Latin America, 12 January 1966, p. 9. 
672 Bejar, Peru 1965, p. 108. 
673 Ibid., p. 105. 
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By late November, the security forces gained an understanding of the situation and brought 

more units into the area to help encircle the guerrillas.  The Army moved the following 

detachments from Mesa Pelada into La Mar: Torpedo to Luisiana; Ronco to San Miguel; 

Rodillo to Occbamba; Rombo and Topo to the intersection of the Pampas and Apurimac 

rivers.  These units were operational on 6 December and began to patrol their sectors for the 

guerrillas.  They paid close attention to the villages of Anko, Chungui, and Punqui.674  As 

more troops moved into the area, the guerrillas separated into three groups.  They also began 

to take certain Campesinos with them, so the security forces could not harm them.  On 17 

December, the Potro detachment surprised a guerrilla element near Tincoj and killed Edgardo 

Tello, Ricardo Leon, and Juan Zapata Bodero.  Bejar and the others survived, but they were 

scattered and unable to reconstitute as a force.  Bejar wrote, ‘with the guerrilla unit dispersed, 

its men left to die one by one under the guns of their hunters.  The individual’s fate of each of 

the comrades is not known.  Some died in combat, while others were captured, jailed, and 

then shot by Army Intelligence’.675  Meanwhile, the Rodillo detachment advanced on Socos 

and Moyoc villages, where they encountered a guerrilla element and, in the ensuing firefight, 

killed three ELN members.  The final engagements between security forces and the guerrillas 

involved the Rodillo and Ronco detachments between 24 December 1965 and 5 January 

1966.  The detachments killed twelve, including Carlos Edwin Garcia Miranda, Nemesio 

Unco Escobar, Juan Morales, Jorge Hernan Zapata Bodero, Jorge Toque Apaza, Jose Bernabe 

Gurreonero Castro, Hermes Agapito Valiente Granados, Guillermo Mercado Leon, Hugo 

Ricra Corrales, Celestino Valencia, Julio Oscco, and Pedro Haway Junco.676  Bejar and the 

rest of the guerrillas escaped from La Mar to various places such as Lima and Cusco.  The 

official Ministry of War report read: ‘Like in the Central Sierra and La Convencion, thanks to 

the intervention of the Armed Forces, the region returned to normal, and under the law, the 

people calmly returned to their labors’.677  Although this language overstates the tranquillity 

of La Mar, the security forces were able to destroy the ELN guerrilla column efficiently.  

Bejar was able to slip past the security force’s cordon of La Mar and make his way back to 

Lima.  Following the ambush on 17 December, Bejar and Edgard de la Sota found 

 
674 Ministerio de Guerra del Perú, Las Guerrillas en el Perú y su represión, p. 68. 
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Béjar file; PIP report No. 158, 10 May 1966, CEHMP, Béjar file. 
677 Ministerio de Guerra del Perú, Las Guerrillas en el Perú y su represión, 69. Spanish version: ‘Como en la 
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themselves isolated from the rest of the guerrillas, so they decided to make travel to 

Ayacucho, where they would hopefully meet up with their comrades.  During the trek, they 

were split up.  Bejar eventually found refuge with a local villager in Anco who sheltered 

him.678  At one point in January 1966, he secretly met with a journalist from the Lima weekly 

periodical Gestos and sat for an interview.  He explained that if the guerrillas, or even 

himself, were killed the revolution will continue.  He stated, ‘The road of violence, when it is 

travelled by the people, is the road to victory’.679  Bejar also noted the irony of the fact that 

they were attempting to use violence to end violence.680  He also provided the reporter 

photographs of the guerrilla band from April 1965 so that they could publish them to show 

the people in Lima the Javier Heraud front members were indeed guerrillas and not thieves or 

cattle rustlers as the government had described them.  On 26 February, Bejar departed Anco 

in a truck to Chinchibamba and then got a ride on another vehicle to Ayacucho.  In 

Ayacucho, he boarded the Pullman bus service under the assumed name Raul Vargas Leon 

and false identification document #2443383.681  At 2330 that evening, Bejar arrived at the bus 

station at Junior Gamarra area in the capital at the intersection of Bolivar Avenue and 

Humboldt Street.   

Bejar first contacted Mario Alvarez, who offered a room, but he would have to share it with 

an actor from Argentina.  He declined and went to see his former colleague and professor at 

San Marcos University, Virgilio Roel Pineta, who lived at 353 Manuel Segura, Apartment B, 

Lince.  Roel was an old friend and best man at Bejar’s wedding.  Roel later told the police 

that Bejar arrived at ‘four in the morning, dirty, fatigued, without socks, sick’.682  Roel agreed 

to let him stay for one day.  Julio Dagnino and Gonzalo Manrique arrived at 0700 to take 

Bejar to another safe house, but Roel sent them away because he was sleeping.  Alian Elias 

stated that eight people who knew where the ELN leader was hiding.683  At 1800 that 

afternoon, the PIP arrived and arrested Bejar and Roel.  Bejar has a severe cutaneous 

leishmaniasis lesion on his right foot.684  The court found him guilty and he served five years 

in prison before the Velasco government released him on 24 December 1970.  Five theories 

 
678 Héctor Béjar, El primer dia: historia interior de una guerrilla andina (Lima: 1989) unpublished copy quoted 
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681 Bus Manifest, ‘Empresa de Transporte Ayacucho, S. A.’, 27 February 1966, CEHMP, Béjar file. 
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684 Ministerio de Guerra, Servicio de Sanidad report, 20 May 1966, CEHMP, Béjar file. 
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explain how the PIP tracked down Bejar so quickly.  The first is that one of the eight 

provided the authorities with the location.685  Second, the PIP had Bejar’s wife under 

surveillance and followed her to the apartment.686  Third, according to Roel, the PIP were 

looking for student leader Licurgo Pinto and stumbled across Bejar.687  Fourth, Harry 

Villegas wrote from Bolivia in his war diary on 6 August 1966, ‘Based on how events have 

unfolded, it appears Calixto [Bejar’s nom de guerre], using a doctor as an intermediary, 

might have surrendered, perhaps in exchange for guarantees for his life’.688  Finally, taking a 

more strategic view, Lust argued the police discovered Bejar because the ELN did not build 

an urban support structure capable of handling the situation.689  Regardless, the Peruvian 

government had captured the guerrilla, which put an end to this chapter in the ELN’s history.   

In an interview with the Havana based journal Pensamiento Critico, Bejar made serious 

accusations against the Peruvian government and armed services.  Specifically, of the Army, 

he wrote, ‘it ruthlessly massacred the population, in a genocidal operation that had the 

objective of causing panic and punishing exemplarily the peoples who had helped us’.  He 

added that the Army ‘killed innocents, raped women, destroyed villages and crops’.690  The 

journalist asked Bejar about the counterinsurgency strategy and techniques the Army used in 

La Mar.  He replied that they employed ‘indiscriminate repression’ and alleged torture, 

assassination, and genocide.  About the torture, he wrote, ‘the tortures inflicted on the 

detainees illustrate the behavior of the henchmen with regard to the prisoners’.691  The reports 

of torture are difficult to corroborate.  It is doubtful that the Peruvian government would 

produce documents that would support these claims.  He stated that the Peruvian government 

assassinated Maximo Velando, Edwin Garcia, Tomas Salazar, Aniceto Flores, Eramos Flores, 

and their children.  He added, Walter Palacios would have been assassinated if not for the 
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‘rapid intervention by various democratic personalities’.692  On 21 December 1967, Bejar sent 

official correspondence to the legal officer of the Army’s second judicial zone.  He wrote, 

‘Edwin Garcia Miranda, Luis Zapata Bodero, Ricardo Amaya Quintana, and Carlos 

Valderrama died in the dungeons of the PIP and the Armed Forces intelligence service, these 

bloody facts have to date not been clarified nor sanctioned’.693  Moreover, there are many 

inconsistencies in the government documents that exist.  For example, there is a PIP report 

from 21 May 1966, stating they captured Edwin Garcia Miranda, but does not provide the 

date.694  There is also a death certificate signed by the Army Commander in the region that 

states Carlos Edwin Garcia Miranda died in combat at 1800 hours on 30 December 1965.  

However, Brigade General Enrique Valdez Anculo signed it on 10 April 1968, long after the 

event supposedly took place.695  Lust wrote, there are ‘many doubts about the dates that these 

different guerrillas were killed’.696  A close review of the available documents leads one to 

think that the government was hiding something.  However, an alternative explanation that 

does not involve conspiracy could be that it was bureaucratic incompetence and general 

confusion or the fact that the security forces could not positively identify dead individuals.  

Like the events involving the MIR that I will describe in chapter five, the security forces may 

have tortured detainees and committed extrajudicial killings.  However, the allegations of 

genocide are questionable.  Bejar explained, ‘Indiscriminate repression has only one name: 

genocide.  Communities like Pucuta, Anquea, Chungui, Muyoc, Palljas, etc. were razed and 

destroyed without differentiating between guerrillas, sympathizers, or simply suspicious 

[people]’.697  The United Nations defines genocide as ‘any of the following acts committed 

with intent to destroy, in whole or in part, a national, ethnical, racial or religious group’.698  

The Army and the Civil Guard certainly employed brutal counterinsurgency tactics in La 
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Mar, but it is difficult to conclude that they were attempting to wipe out the Andean Indians 

for ethic and racial reasons.  The simplest explanation is that the landowners, to whom, 

according to the leftists, the security forces were beholden, needed the Campesinos to provide 

inexpensive labour.  Therefore, it makes no sense to wipe them out.  It is understandable that 

the locals did not complain about the abuses, because after all, to whom would they 

complain?  However, Bejar is the lone voice in making these events known to people outside 

of La Mar.  The security forces tightly controlled press access to La Mar, but, surprisingly, 

news of genocide did not make its way to journals and newspapers.  Similar events show that 

it is challenging to cover up large-scale atrocities that occur during counterinsurgency 

operations.  For example, the My Lai massacre in Vietnam and the Accomarca village 

massacre in Peru on 14 August 1985, during the internal conflict with the Shining Path.699  

Moreover, many Peruvian service members have come forward and testified about atrocities 

they participated in or observed during the 1980s and 1990s, but none have come forward to 

speak about the events in La Mar.  The fact that the ELN committed extrajudicial killings 

does not exonerate the security services.  As far as the public record can discern, the Peruvian 

government did not conduct investigations into Bejar’s allegations.  This is curious and leads 

one to believe that there was something to hide.   

Conclusion 

This chapter reviewed Bejar’s ELN attempt to incite revolution in Peru during the 1960s.  

This was an integral part of the Cuban plan to liberate South America.  The intelligence 

services of Latin America and the US closely observed the ELN’s movement back to Peru 

from Cuba.  Bolivian Communist Party leader Mario Monje’s assistance was contentious and 

unreliable, but the rank-and-file PCB members provided the ELN support, sometimes against 

Party orders, and almost always at great risk from the security forces.  Despite the failure and 

loss of Javier Heraud at Puerto Maldonado, the ELN gained valuable experience, tested the 

will of its fighters, and in the words of Alian Elias merged ‘theory with action’.  In 1964 and 

1965, the ELN members established the M15M urban front in Lima and the Javier Heraud 
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rural front in La Mar.  Bejar, in consultation with other ELN leaders, selected La Mar 

because the government’s land reform programs had not been instituted there.  They assumed 

this would increase the Campesino’s willingness to support the revolution.  While this turned 

out to be partially true, in the end, the Peruvian security forces overmatched them.  The 

Peruvian Army and Civil Guard, underpinned by the US government, were fully prepared to 

move in and destroy the guerrilla threat.  Moreover, the National Police were able to control 

ELN attempts to subvert the government in the capital.  They captured Hector Bejar within 

twenty-four hours of his return to Lima.  Human rights abuses occurred on both the 

government and guerrilla side of the conflict.  Unfortunately, there were no serious 

investigations or truth commissions that considered the events of 1965.  Regardless of the 

security forces victory, the local population in La Mar still suffers to this day.  
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Chapter five: Conflict with the MIR 

 

In 1964, Movement of the Revolutionary Left (MIR) personnel were making the final 

arrangements for their violent insurrection.  While scholars have written extensively about 

the central and southern fronts, recently declassified documents and multi-archival research 

has revealed new insight into the importance of the MIR’s northern front and urban 

operations.  Although the Belaunde administration initially quibbled over the MIR threat, it 

was the largest and most competent guerrilla group in Latin America during the 1960s.  



180 
 

However, as former MIR senior leader Ricardo Gadea cautions us, it was primarily a political 

group, with a military arm, that had a distinct set of goals to reform the country.700  As such, 

its activities would have a long-term impact on Peru’s social-economic development.  

The MIR Threat 

Peruvian government officials disagreed about the efficacy of the MIR threat.  Until June 

1965, Belaunde discounted the guerrilla menace and claimed they were cattle rustlers.701  The 

Lima biweekly newsmagazine Caretas ran a cover story that dubbed the MIR operatives ‘Los 

Gerrigeos’, which combined the Spanish words for guerrilla and cattle rustler.702  In response, 

the Peruvian Investigations Police (PIP) published a six-page assessment of the rising 

insurrection titled ‘About no existence of guerrilla warfare in the country’.  The report shows 

that the PIP intelligence analysts understood that the MIR had three clandestine bases, and 

that they knew the locations, in addition to the names and backgrounds of most of the senior 

leaders.703  Moreover, the National Intelligence Service (SIN) determined the MIR was ‘the 

best prepared [insurgent] organization in the country with permanent centers of activity in 

Piura, Cajamarca, Bagua, in Amazonas, Lambayeque, La Libertad, Lima, Junin, Arequipa, 

Cusco, and Puno’.704  The CIA assessed, ‘The best organized and best trained of any 

revolutionary group in Peru is the Movement of the Revolutionary Left (MIR).  The MIR has 

about 1,000 members, at least 150 of whom have received extensive guerrilla training in 

Cuba, Communist China, and North Korea. The MIR has the potential to become a very 

serious insurgent threat’.705  The Country Team at the US Embassy added that the MIR ‘is 

still the best organized and best-trained revolutionary group in Peru but it is now having 

financial difficulties and effective police action has kept this group off-balance’.  They 

continued, ‘this situation possibly could force the MIR into some move if only to attempt to 

show its backers that it is capable of action and deserves further support’.706  All of these 

reports concurred that while the MIR had the capability to conduct guerrilla warfare, it was 
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not likely that it was strong enough to defeat the security forces.  On 24 June, the US 

Embassy deputy chief of mission Ernest Siracusa recommended to a senior Peruvian official 

that they should take the threat seriously.707  Despite high-level government member’s failure 

to recognize the problem, the military and security services had an acceptable level of 

understanding of the MIR and its capabilities.  

As the MIR continued to organize its personnel and the local populations near their security 

zones, they brought in weapons, equipment, and money from neighboring countries.  MIR 

operatives had been clandestinely transporting items into Peru in preparation for the guerrilla 

war since 1963.  On 28 October 1963, Bolivian police arrested Peruvian MIR members Mario 

Castrillo Rios and Juan Caravajal Rodriquez in Santa Rosa, a remote town in the Department 

of Beni in the Amazon basin.  The authorities accused them of transporting ‘Czech light 

machine guns and pistols’.708  CIA informant DUHAM-1 (Enrique Amaya Quintana) 

reported in February 1964 that ‘The MIR had arms in Colombia, Brazil, Argentina, Chile, 

and Ecuador, and these will now be brought into Peru.  There are 17,000 dollars worth of 

arms in Chile, 20,000 worth of arms in Brazil, and 7,000 dollars worth in Argentina’.709  Two 

days later, he reported, ‘De la Puente said that arms coming from Brazil would be used in 

support of the northern and central departments, such as Junin.  These arms will be brought 

through Manaus, Brazil on the Amazon’.  He continued, De la Puente, ‘said that in each 

instance where arms are brought into Peru from a neighboring country, they would serve the 

needs of the MIR in departments bordering on that country’.710  He went on to detail the 

methods that MIR operatives Edmundo Cuzquen and Maximo Velezmoro employed to traffic 

arms from Arica, Chile, across the border to a rented safe house in Tacna.  The SIN reported 

a Peruvian smuggler called Juan Florentino Carrion oversaw a facilitation network in Puno 

near Lake Titicaca and the Bolivian border.  This network moved weapons and other supplies 

across the border and to the De la Puente’s central front in Mesa Pelada.711  This may have 

been part of the same network the Army Intelligence Service (SIE) was monitoring in the 
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Saihua northeast of Puno that was transporting military equipment.712  The MIR used a 

variety of networks and techniques to move the required items into the country.  While the 

authorities showed some success in disrupting these facilitation networks, the MIR moved a 

sufficient quantity of material to the guerrillas in the field. 

The Central Front 

The longest surviving and most successful of the guerrilla fronts was the Tupac Amaru in the 

central Peruvian highlands.  The front took its name from an Incan warrior who led an 

insurrection against the Spanish in the late Eighteenth Century.713  Guillermo Lobaton Milla 

commanded the Tupac Amaru.714  He was of Haitian descent and had black skin.  He was 

born in 1927 and raised in the urban slums of Lima, where he experienced social injustice.  

He had a keen intellect and studied literature and philosophy at the University of San Marcos.  

He was active in student politics and was imprisoned and then exiled by the Odria 

administration in 1954.  He settled in Paris and continued his studies at the Sorbonne.  He 

worked odd jobs to finance his studies.  Gadea noted, ‘At that time it was common for Latin 

American students in Paris to work in the ramassage of used newspapers and magazines, 

which were later sold by the kilo’.  In the summers, he went to Geneva, where the pay was 

much higher, Lobaton once explained to Gadea, ‘that with the July and August salary in 

Switzerland they could live almost all year in Paris, eating in the University Dining Hall’.715  

Many French people at the time looked on him with suspicion because of the racial tension 

caused by the war in Algeria.  He married a French woman called Jacqueline Eluau.  He then 

earned a scholarship to study economics in East Germany but was expelled for his criticism 

of Stalin.  In 1961, he travelled to Cuba and began training with the Peruvian students.  He 

initially joined the ELN, but later changed to the MIR.  However, Lobaton was not a blind 

follower of De la Puente and criticized him in private.  Despite his concerns, he respected the 

support that the MIR had developed in Peru and saw it as the best chance for a successful 

revolution.  His wife recalled, ‘He had to assist and develop the struggle. He dissented only in 

a solitary way, always trying to prevent disunity’.716  Within the MIR, he would rise to be a 

near-peer rival to De la Puente and commanded the Tupac Amaru front with impunity.  
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Unlike other MIR leaders, he was not a longtime friend and confidant of De la Puente, and he 

earned his position based on skill and leadership ability.717  The Peruvian Ministry of War 

described him as ‘cunning, cold, calculating, and bloodthirsty’.718  Although others have 

described him as a ‘Passionate man capable of fierce loyalty and love’.719  Of all the MIR 

leaders, the Andean Campesinos and Amazonian Indians trusted Lobaton the most, perhaps 

because of his dark skin. 

Tupac Amaru fighters began to prepare for guerrilla warfare in the Conception and Satipo 

provinces in early1965.  Lima reporters first noted this activity in April and explained, ‘the 

Reds are said to be planning to open a guerrilla front’.720  Conception province is in the 

central Andes and included MIR camps in Ajospampa, Intihallamuy, Jatunhuasi, Pucuta, and 

Yugurpampa.  Satipo province is on the eastern slope of the Andes and descends into the 

Amazon basin, Tupac Amaru personnel did not formally establish camps there, but they 

continued to develop inroads with the Campas Indians in the Amazon.  Four of the camps 

were in remote areas, apart from Pucuta, that was near a village of the same name, high in the 

mountains, and the MIR leadership determined that the location was ideal for guerrilla 

warfare.  They thought the high altitude and constant fog and cloud cover would negate the 

military’s advantage of fighter-bombers and helicopters.  Although, the US determined that it 

would be easy for the Peruvian to send troops into the area because it would only take one 

day to travel there from Lima by road or rail.721  Lobaton oversaw Intihallamuy and Maximo 

Velando Galvez, the second in command, led the preparations in Pucuta.  The local 

population provided passive and active support to the MIR.  A MIR member recalled, ‘The 

peasantry helped us enthusiastically.  They helped us carry provisions, arms, medicines, to 

take us from one site to another, to show us places and trails with great enthusiasm’.722  

However, Armando Artola asserted that the guerrillas exploited the peasants and forced them 

to work the fields under inhuman conditions to supply the MIR with sustenance.  He wrote, 

‘That is to say, in practice, the guerrillas did the same thing as the exploiters and hacienda 

owners of the area’.723  While most locals remained skeptical of the MIR’s revolutionary 

 
717 Caretas, ‘Los Gerrigeos’, 25 June 1965, p. 13. 
718 Ministerio de Guerra del Perú, Las Guerrillas en el Perú y su represión, p. 46. Spanish version: ‘astuto, frio, 

calculador y sanguinario’. 
719 Brown and Fernandez, War of Shadows, 103. 
720 La Prensa and El Comercio, 13 April 1965, translated in CIA, Press information Relating to Insurgency and 

Counterinsurgency: Latin America, 28 April 1965, p. 25. 
721 Department of State Intelligence memo, Allan Evans to Dean Rusk, ‘Guerrilla Attack in Central Peru’, 11 

June 1965, p.1, LBJL, NSF, Country Files, Peru, Box 72, folder 6. 
722 Interview in Brown and Fernandez, War of Shadows, p. 99; Brown, Cuba’s Revolutionary World, p. 324. 
723 Artola, Subversion!,  p. 51, as translated in Brown and Fernandez, War of Shadows, p. 98. 



184 
 

promises, a small number did join the guerrillas as fighters.  Guillermo Loardo recalled, ‘they 

spoke to me of misery and inequality and their cause’.  He continued, ‘I found out that there 

is misery and inequality because there are people with great property, and the immortality of 

public officials favors those who have large landholdings’.724  It is difficult to quantify the 

level of support Tupac Amaru gained from the population.  However, inevitably, it was not 

enough to protect them from the military.  As soon as the Army would enter the area, the 

local population turned on the guerrillas. 

In May and early June, Tupac Amaru and the newly recruited Campesinos prepared for the 

start of the guerrilla warfare phase of the insurrection.  One observer estimated that Tupac 

Amaru recruited 120 guerrilla fighters, which was ‘the greatest increment of peasant support 

of the three MIR contingents’.725  Two of the Campesino fighters were female.  The first was 

Victoria Navarro, a seventeen-year-old schoolteacher from Huancayo, who, according to 

Ricardo Gadea, the military ‘captured, tortured, and buried her alive’.726  The second was 

Eusebia Bravo, a thirteen-year-old that Froilan Herrera ‘brought’ to the movement, the 

security forces captured her in Anapati.727  A former MIR member recalled that his guerrilla 

element in Andamarca was only ‘thirteen persons, but with the peasants we were more than 

sixty or seventy’.728  They conducted weapons training, long marches through the mountains, 

and simulated attacks on future targets.  On 17 May, they went on a forced march from 

Yugurpampa to Pucuta to punish Marcielino Alverez, a Campesino, for a revolutionary 

infraction.729  As they prepared, De la Puente held a high-level meeting at his headquarters in 

Mesa Pelada, near Cuzco, and the MIR Central Committee decided to delay the onset of 

guerrilla warfare.  Lobaton was not present, nor was the leadership for the northern front.  

Hector Cordero recalled they decided to ‘slow slightly the process of armed struggle in order 

to find a more propitious moment’.730  Yet, this decision was not conveyed to Lobaton before 

he ordered the onset of hostilities.  Despite the communication issue, some MIR members 

blamed the failure of the revolution on Lobaton for beginning early.  Gonzalo Fernandez 

Gasco, leader of the northern front, argued that there was an agreement that they would not 
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commence armed action until they thoroughly prepared all three rural fronts, ‘However, 

Lobaton, without communicating, took the decision to begin’.731  Carlos Flores agreed and 

stated that Lobaton’s decision, ‘Frustrated, practically, the entire guerrilla movement’.732  The 

Tupac Amaru was clearly further ahead in preparations than the other MIR elements, and 

because of this, the local authorities were beginning to take notice.  The intelligence services 

closely followed the increasing activity in the area.  The Civil Guard planned to establish a 

new post in Bangoa to help control the central front.  A local official told La Prensa that ‘the 

Huancayo-Pariahuanca highway is under control of the police and that it would be very 

difficult for guerrillas to transport foodstuff easily’.733  He would soon learn that he was 

overstating the capabilities of the local authorities. 

On 9 June, Lobaton’s Tupac Amaru guerrillas conducted multiple attacks in Conception 

province.  One element hijacked a truck with driver in Chapicancha and used it to raid the 

Santa Rosa mine, which the Cercapuquio Company owned and operated, where they took an 

engineer hostage and captured twenty-two boxes of dynamite along with blasting caps and 

detonation cord, among other tools and supplies.  After departing Santa Rosa, the same 

element used the explosives to partially destroy a bridge over the Maraniyoc River.  The 

captured miners explained that the guerrillas transferred the supplies to a mule caravan and 

went off into the mountains.734  They later returned the vehicle undamaged and released the 

hostages unharmed.  A second element raided the Runatullo hacienda and captured food, 

weapons, and ammunition.  According to the Ministry of War report, a third element raided 

Andamarca’s Civil Guard post and captured additional weapons and ammunition.735  Carlos 

Busso, one of the Civil Guards at the post, recalled that the insurgents did not just capture the 

police station, the captured the entire town.736  If this is accurate, it shows that the central 

front had developed into a significant force.  Whenever the guerrillas encountered the local 

population, they ‘issued revolutionary proclamations to the somewhat bewildered 
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onlookers’.737  They also dispersed leaflets explaining their cause.  There were no casualties 

during the attacks on the first day, and when the news reached Lima, Belaunde, and other 

senior officials dismissed the events as criminal activity. 

Over the next few weeks, the Tupac Amaru continued to conduct these types of attacks.  

They destroyed three other bridges in the area.  The purpose of the bridge destruction was to 

slow the movement of security forces.  However, this annoyed the local population because it 

clogged the limited transportation network in the region and slowed commerce.  The military 

took advantage of this mistake and rapidity brought in an engineer unit to repair the bridges 

under the auspices of civic action.738  The rebel group raided three other haciendas called 

Alegria, Armas, and Punta, and redistributed the animals, food supplies, and farming 

equipment to the locals.  The MIR considered these actions ‘armed propaganda’, a technique 

they took from Maoist revolutionary theory.  In a letter to De la Puente dated 20 June, 

Lobaton explained, ‘We held meetings and gave out food from the stores, all along the road, 

from the lorry which we captured and returned undamaged.  All the next day, we were 

masters of our zone of influence’.  He added concerning the Hacienda Alegria, ‘which 

belonged to one of our worse enemies and a scourge of the poor, Raul Ribeck.  The police 

were already in Andamarca, one day away from the hacienda.  We turned it into a commune, 

and the goods were shared among the peasants’.739  The first bloodshed occurred on 15 and 

16 June when Tupac Amaru ambushed two separate police patrols.  The police fought back 

and did not sustain any casualties.  However, they killed five guerrillas in the clashes.  On 27 

June, Civil Guard Major Horacio Patino commanded a patrol of twenty-nine that were 

searching the area near Yahuarina for insurgents.  Velando and his group of guerrillas, along 

with thirty Campesinos, set an ambush along a narrow gorge and opened fire.740  They killed 

Patino and eight of his personnel and captured the others.  Velando lectured the senior 

surviving officer, Lieutenant Edilberto Terry, and instructed him to ‘Cease serving the 

rich’.741  The guerrilla element took the Civil Guard’s weapons, ammunition, and equipment, 
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and released all but two of the prisoners.  According to David Laughlin, a US AID, Office of 

Public Security (OPS) police advisor who was working in Peru at the time, ‘Two of the Civil 

Guards were brutally tortured before they were killed’.742  Normally, outspoken on matters of 

human rights, Lust and De la Pedrala do not mention the allegations of torture and murder 

and claim the guerrillas set the prisoners free.743  Only Rogger Mercado denied the 

allegations and wrote that they were ‘absolutely false’.744  This was a watershed event in the 

conflict and demonstrated to senior government officials that this was more than criminal 

activity and beyond the ability of local law enforcement to control. 

The Peruvian Army had anticipated its involvement for some time and was preparing for 

action.  Belaunde finally publicly acknowledged the guerrilla threat.745  On 2 July, by 

Supreme Decree, Belaunde placed the Army in command of counterinsurgency operations.  

The Decree also placed the Air Force (FAP), Navy, and Reserve units necessary for the 

operations at the disposal of the Army.  The Peruvian Congress formalized this executive 

order on 20 August by enacting Law 15590 and 15591.746  The government never used the 

term guerrilla preferring to label the MIR fighters extremistas comunistas, or communist 

extremists.  The Army headquarters tasked the Second Military Region with coordinating and 

executing the operations against the Tupac Amaru from the airbase in Jauja and heliport in 

Chilifruta.  They developed a strategy called el Gran Cerco (the big fence, or encirclement) 

to surround the guerillas in Andamarca and Satipo and then close with and destroy them.  The 

Army was responsible for the mountain areas, while Navy riverine units prevented the 

guerrillas from escaping into the Amazon, the FAP provided rapid air movement of troops 

and close air support, and the Police and Civil Guard established checkpoints along the roads.  

As the units assembled in the area, the Army began a psychological operations campaign 

directed at the local population, ‘giving out messages in the native languages through 

loudspeakers installed in airplanes and helicopters, and dropping thousands of leaflets so both 

the literate and illiterate peasants of the area would not co-operate with the guerrillas through 
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ignorance or fear’.747  The Army controlled the information sphere by only allowing select 

members of the press into the area, which led to random speculation by the Lima 

newspapers.748  The Second Light Infantry Division troops made their way from Jauja by 

truck and then entered the guerrilla security zones on foot.  

On 20 July, Loma and Zorro companies began to move toward the Tupac Amaru bases.  They 

questioned Campesinos along the way and gained detailed information about the locations.  

On 30 July, the guerrillas ambushed Zorro company with small arms, dynamite, and 

homemade bombs.  The Army killed four guerrillas and did not sustain any casualties.  The 

Second Division commander then ordered both companies to converge on Pucuta village, 

which the SIE had determined to be the most important guerrilla base.  Along the way, one of 

the elements came across the bodies of Civil Guard officers Diogenes Valderrama and 

Eusebio Galves Silvera, whom the guerrillas had captured during the fighting at Yaguarina.  

Velando allegedly tortured the officers to death and dumped their bodies in the mountains.749  

Meanwhile, Lobaton made a bold decision to go on the offensive and attack an unprotected 

Army base in Balcon.  However, as his small group moved into the area, one of the guerrillas 

defected and warned Army personnel, and as a result, Lobaton cancelled the attack.750  On 1 

and 2 August, the FAP bombed and strafed Pucuta with Canberra jets to prepare the way for 

the infantry troops.  British Aerospace produced the jets in the UK and then sold them to the 

Peruvian government.751  This bombardment was the first reported use of napalm in the 

conflict, which the FAP dropped from C-46 aircraft.  A guerrilla later recalled, ‘The bomb 

fell and burned an immense stretch of ground, maybe a hundred meters around … There was 

a huge hole, and the rest blackened.  Snakes and toads were swollen up from the flames … it 

was a terrible fire’.  He also alleged that the air attacks only killed innocent peasants.752  The 

troops entered Pucuta on 3 August, but only engaged in limited fighting.  Tupac Amaru 

personnel separated into two columns, the first with Lobaton, the second with Velando, and 
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moved east towards Satipo in the Amazon basin.  Tupac Amaru lost seven fighters in the 

battle, while the Army suffered four dead and three injured.753  The Army confronted the 

guerrillas who remained in Intihallamuy, killing eight, and Santa Rosa killing three but 

suffering six casualties and three dead.754  Some units from the Second Division remained in 

the highlands to consolidate their gains and conduct Operation Limpieza (Cleanup), they 

conducted small-scale civic action projects to assist the local population and endear them to 

the government.755  Tupac Amaru attempted to return to the highlands and conduct 

counterattacks against the remaining government forces, but they were not successful. 

From the beginning, Lobaton planned to expand the Tupac Amaru into the Amazon basin.  

There is uncorroborated information that the MIR began developing inroads with the 

Ashaninka Indians, referred to by outsiders as Campa, in Satipo province in 1963.  However, 

as Brown and Fernandez assert, ‘But while there were probably some contacts between 

radicals and Indians prior to 1965, there is little evidence that the MIR had laid a strong 

foundation among the Ashaninkas’.756  On 27 June, Lobaton sent Froilan Herrera and Juan 

Paucarcaja to prepare an evacuation route to Satipo in case the Army forced the Tupac 

Amaru from its security zone.  They were also to establish rapport with the Ashaninkas.  

They quickly gained an understanding of the Indian’s history, grievances, needs, and 

superstitions that would allow them to manipulate them to support the MIR’s cause.  

Paucarcaja was the primary facilitator of this and had extensive knowledge of the region.  He 

was married to an Ashaninka woman, and spoke the local language, he owned a small farm in 

the area and was active in supporting the Indians.  The Indians and the settlers had been at 

odds for some time, the landowners and local government officials abused Indian women and 

forced the men to work on the farms for very little pay.  The MIR’s propaganda to end this 

exploitation and ideas of land redistribution resonated with the Indians, but they did not seem 

to understand the higher-level Marxism and promise of utopia.  Lobaton played the part of 

the Sun God, and the other MIR members came to be called Itomi Pava, Sons of the Sun.  

They were fascinated by his dark skin and thick beard and noticed that he was very different 

from the other guerrillas as well as the white and mestizo landowners in the area.757  While a 

few of the Indians were skeptical, a fair number became supporters of the Tupac Amaru. 
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One late night in early August, Herrera and several guerrillas were drinking with some 

Indians they had recruited and began to discuss potential targets.  Alfredo Atiri proffered a 

hacienda called Cubanita, which was owned by an Italian coffee grower named Antonio 

Favaro.  Atiri described the crimes Favaro has committed against the locals, which drove the 

guerrillas into a drunken frenzy.  Lobaton was not with them because he had returned to 

Pucuta to conduct a counterattack on the Army unit that had remained there.  The security 

forces were expecting attacks in Satipo and had placed Civil Guard elements at many of the 

haciendas.  Cubanita had a twenty-five-man detachment, as well as a short-wave radio and 

airstrip.  The Katari Hacienda was the nearest help with a small Civil Guard contingent that 

was twelve kilometers away over an ill-maintained jungle road.  The first attempt to attack 

Cubanita was thwarted by a braying donkey that compromised the attackers and woke the 

guards out of their early morning slumber. 

On 9 August, the guerrillas returned to the Cubanita hacienda and threw grenades at the main 

building.  After an exchange of gunfire, they withdrew into the jungle and set up an ambush 

along the road in case reinforcements came to assist the hacienda’s inhabitants.  The attack 

sent the authorities into a panic.  Favaro desperately called for assistance over the radio.  A 

small aircraft landed by mid-morning, and the pilot flew Favaro around to surveil the area.  

He dropped a message to warn Ismael Castillo, an agriculture engineer, and manager of 

Katari.  Castillo loaded his family in a truck to escape but offered to drop a few of the Civil 

Guards at Cubanita on his way out of the area.  As the truck approached, where the guerrillas 

set up an ambush along the road that connected the two haciendas, they fell a tree across the 

road and exploded dynamite to stop the vehicle, and then threw grenades into the back of the 

truck.  A Correo reporter explained, ‘Engineer Castillo, who was much loved by the Campa 

Indians, got out of his truck to speak with them and avoid any incident’.  However, he was 

unable to defuse the situation, ‘One of the Campas shouted, “Die you wretch!” and there 

were gunshots.  At the same instant, two machine guns opened fire from the bushes, and it 

was a true massacre’.758  Castillo and three others died in the ambush.  A woman, a child, and 

one Civil Guard officer survived.  Atiri later confirmed the murder of Castillo as he begged 

for his life, ‘But those who were most drunk shouted “Damn! You are helping them! That’s 

why those soldiers were coming to kill us.” So they killed him. Who? It’s unknown’.759  A 

guerrilla using the pseudonym Elias Murillo, admitted to another extrajudicial killing during 
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the attack.  As he approached the vehicle, he recalled, ‘I got there and put a bullet in the guy 

who was [he pauses]. The grenade had emptied his guts, and he asked, please would I finish 

it, so I gave him the coup de grace’.760  These interviews confirm the information in the War 

Ministry’s official account of the event, which lists the dead Civil Guards as Guillermo 

Alcantara Mena and Jose Del Carmen Huaman.761  Significantly, the Indians directly 

participated in the ambush and killings.  The guerrillas took the weapons and supplies and 

returned to their camp.  This is important because it demonstrates that the Indians were not 

just observers of the fighting but were active participants.  It also shows that the MIR was 

able to recruit locals and gain the support of the population in the Satipo area, which 

contradicts the orthodox reason for the New Left’s failure. 

The FAP responded immediately and sent Canberra jets to bomb and strafe the guerrilla 

encampment and a C-46 to drop napalm.  Like the air attacks in Pucata, non-combatants, in 

this case, the Indians took the brunt of the damage because they hid in their houses.  

However, the guerrillas were successful in persuading some of the locals to hide with them in 

the jungle to avoid the bombing.  The FAP expended almost all of its napalm stockpile in this 

attack, only four of sixteen canisters remained.  The International Petroleum Company (IPC) 

likely provided the initial supply, which came in fifty-five-gallon drums.  As a method of 

delivery, the C-46 crews lit a fuse connected to the drums before pushing them out the back 

of the aircraft.  However, crude the weapon was, it terrified the local population.762  The 

Peruvian government sent an official request for additional napalm bombs, but the US 

government was not forthcoming.763  As the FAP fought the war from the air, the other 

security forces prepared for ground combat in the Satipo region. 

As combat forces moved into the region, the Army employed civic action and psychological 

operations to separate the Indians from the guerilla fighters.  The Special Police Emergency 

Unit (SPEU) in Mazamari provided medical care to locals nears its base.  Like in the 

highlands, the Army dropped fliers and flew aircraft over the villages, and using loudspeakers 

warned the Indians not to support the insurgents.  They offered $1,100.00 to locals who 

 
760 Interview in Brown and Fernandez, War of Shadows, p. 126. 
761 Ministerio de Guerra del Perú, Las Guerrillas en el Perú y su represión, p. 60. 
762 Department of State telegram, Jones to Rusk, 25 August 1965, p. 3, NARA, NARA, RG 306 Records of the 

U.S. Information Agency, Counterinsurgency in Peru, box 4, folder 12; Victor Villanueva, 100 Años del 

Ejercito Peruano: Frustraciones y Cambios (Lima: Liberia Editorial Juan Mejia Baca, 1971), p. 152; Interview 

in Brown and Fernandez, War of Shadows, p. 114. 
763 Special Group (Counterinsurgency) memorandum, 22 July 1965, quoted in Brown and Fernandez, War of 

Shadows, p. 113. 



192 
 

turned in a guerrilla.  There were multiple instances of Ashaninka Indian’s providing 

locations of the guerrillas and one event where they detained a guerrilla and brought him to 

the authorities.  However, it is unclear as to whether this was a direct result of the rewards 

program.  Army personnel did not have a nuanced understanding of Ashaninka history and 

culture but were able to gain limited influence via simplistic means.  Anthropologists Brown 

and Fernandez explained that some Army personnel thought the Ashaninka had an infantile 

intellect and that petty materialism was their primary motivation.  Army personnel attempted 

to win over the Indians by giving them radios, flashlights, machetes, and other goods seem to 

confirm this theory.764  However, Fernandez’s fieldwork in the Satipo region led him to the 

realization that the Ashaninka considered the Inca as a higher form of civilization and that the 

Inca rulers were powerful because of their material wealth.  They felt that gathering material 

belongings would allow them to become more powerful than the outsiders and give them 

agency over their situation.  Brown and Fernandez assert, ‘This is not to deny that the Indians 

wanted the goods as goods.  But the goods defined a semiotic field much larger than 

immediate material needs’.765  As with the military’s other attempts, it is difficult to 

determine the impact of the psychological operations and civic action projects, but a portion 

of the Indian community worked with the security services against the insurgents.  

The 19th Commando Battalion, of the newly established Peruvian Army Special Forces 

Command, was the primary unit conducting counterguerrilla operations in Satipo.766  

Lieutenant Colonel Carlos Arrisueno Escudero was the commander.767  He was unable to 

effectively combine civic action with counterguerrilla operations under the umbrella of 

counterinsurgency doctrine.  The former commander of the 19th was Lieutenant Colonel 

Enrique Gallegos Venero who successfully did this in 1963 against Hugo Blanco in La 

Convencion, it is unfortunate that he did not pass his knowledge and tactical acumen to 

Arrisueno.  The Army did bring the 3rd Engineer Battalion to the region in November to build 

roads, but by then, the major fighting had concluded.768  The following example shows that 
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aggressive Army commanders did not want to wait for civic action and psychological 

operations programs to take hold and resorted to repressive counterguerrilla tactics.   

The Commando units pursued the Tupac Amaru elements deeper into the jungle, while the 

Navy patrolled the rivers.  The Second Infantry Division’s 43rd Infantry Battalion, under the 

command of Lieutenant Colonel Luis Vela Emanuel, blocked escape routes to the south 

towards De la Puente’s southern front in Cusco.769  The resulting pressure forced the Tupac 

Amaru fighters’ motivation and discipline to break down.  Lobaton and Velando were at 

odds, and Lobaton was furious with Herrera for the attack on Cubantia.  One Indian who 

fought with the guerrillas recalled Lobaton saying to Herrera, ‘Damn, why did you do this? I 

didn’t give the order to do this.  Now they’re going to kill the poor Indians.  The Indians need 

to be taught first.  They need to learn first, then they can attack’.770  Norman Gall, one of the 

few journalists to gain access to the guerrilla zone, confirmed this issue.  He wrote that 

Lobaton, ‘was apparently attempting to work with the warlike Campas the way General Vo 

Nguyen Giap worked with the mountain tribes of northeastern Vietnam during World War II.  

The difference, however, is that Giap worked politically with his tribesman for two years 

before entering into combat’.771  While there are other differences, Gall’s point is valid and 

relevant.  However, the MIR was mostly following the Cuban foco method, which did not, 

despite Lobaton’s frustration, allow for extended periods of political indoctrination before 

beginning guerrilla warfare. 

The SIE began to receive reports that a Tupac Amaru element was preparing a stronghold in 

Shuenti, which had a hill that jutted up to 3,000 feet.  The guerrillas thought they would be 

able to defend the terrain feature because it was very rugged and difficult to approach.  Lomo 

company and Commando detachment Leon took part in the campaign that began on 27 

September and concluded on 2 October 1965.  The Army killed eleven guerrillas and 

captured 17, Velando was not there, and Lobaton escaped towards the Sonomoro river.772  

Throughout October and November, there were small ambushes and attacks in the Satipo 

region as the military pursued the guerrillas from location to location.  The guerrillas forced 
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Ashaninka villagers and hacienda owners to provide them with food and temporary shelter 

before moving again to stay ahead of the Army forces.   

Non-Peruvian civilians, clergy, and missionaries participated in various roles in the conflict 

in Satipo.  There are many unconfirmed reports that protestant missionaries provided 

information to the security forces as well as logistical support to antiguerrilla hacienda 

owners in the region.773  David Pent was one colourful character who may have supported the 

guerrillas.774  He was born in the US; his parents were missionaries in Peru, where he spent 

his youth.  He moved to the US and attended a boarding high school.  As an adult, he 

returned to Peru and purchased a farm he called Fronta Alegre, which was located along the 

Upper Ucayali river in the Amazon basin.  He drew in investors from the US and used the 

money to buy influence in the region.  In 1962, after a run-in with law enforcement in Iquitos, 

he was deported.  He lost all of his belongings in Peru.  By 1965, Pent had made his way 

back to the Peruvian Amazon and was supporting the MIR insurgency.  The fate of Pent 

remains a mystery.775  In November 1965, Tupac Amaru invaded a Franciscan missionary in 

Obenteni.776  Padre Donato Lecuona recalled that the guerrillas called him out of bed one 

morning, ‘There was a zambo, a black man, who pointed a machine gun at me.  I wanted to 

say, “Jesus have mercy on me” because I thought they were going to riddle me with bullets.  

Then the black man said, “Well, Padre, we won’t hurt you if you don’t try anything.  All 

right?”’.777  Thus began a three-day siege, and the guerrillas politely forced the missionaries 

to provide food and shelter to them.  Lecuona held mass one morning, and most of the 

guerrillas attended.  They even held a soccer match between the guerrillas and the locals.  

The above-mentioned black man was Lobaton, who spent a good amount of time conversing 

with Lecuona.  Of the guerrillas, Lecuona remembered, ‘They were exhausted, disillusioned. 

Lobaton was very sick’.778  The Tupac Amaru fighters departed for another missionary called 

Shumahuani.  Lecuona warned the other missionaries in the region but did not alert the 

security services of the guerrilla presence, perhaps, because he feared reprisals by the 
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military, or maybe because he wanted to buy some time for Lobaton and his followers to 

leave the area. 

In December and January, the Army killed all of the Tupac Amaru senior leaders.  Like the 

demise of each of the leaders, Velando’s is controversial. An Ashaninka Indian provided the 

Army information that led to Velando’s capture near Puerto Bermudo.  They moved him to 

Satipo, and according to the Army, he attempted to commit suicide, he died later when they 

tried to evacuate him to Huancayo for medical care.779  The MIR claims that he was tortured 

and interrogated about the whereabouts of Lobaton, and ‘as it was impossible to make his 

death look natural, he was put in a helicopter and thrown out, while still alive, but 

unconscious, into a ravine in the Andes’.780  On 22 December, the Army conducted an attack 

in Kuatsirqui, and during the combat, they killed Herrera.781  However, on 28 December, the 

US Embassy wrote that he was captured on the 21st  and executed on the 22nd.782  On 7 

January 1966, Lobaton and a small group of guerrillas ambushed a Commando squad near 

the Sotziqiui river.  The Army claimed that they killed Laboton in the melee.783  Many have 

speculated on the actual events leading to Lobaton’s death.  The various accounts contradict 

each other, and all show bias from their respective points of view.  Gott asserted in 1970, 

‘Whatever the exact story – capture, torture and disposal would seem most likely – the Latin 

Left and his French wife still believe that he may be alive’.784  Lust argued the Ashaninka 

chief Alejandro Calderon betrayed Lobaton, and the Army approached him while he was 

bathing in a river and executed him.785  Apart from the above atrocities, Indians reported 

many instances of Army personnel committing human rights abuses.  Atiri alleged that a 

Ranger squad accused an Indian boy of guiding the guerrillas and hung him from a tree by his 

testicles.  Basic knowledge of human physiology makes one question the validity of this 

claim, but one cannot discount the widespread accusations of abuse.  The ley de fuga (law of 

flight) provided legal protection for the security forces and allowed them to shoot fleeing or 

escaping suspects.786  Former guerillas have alleged that the security forces applied this law 

liberally in Satipo.  Brown and Fernandez provide some anecdotal evidence that there was an 
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unwritten rule of executing guerrillas instead of detaining them.  However, there is no 

convincing evidence that it was an official government policy, as was the case during the 

Belaunde Administration’s conflict with the Shining Path in the early 1980s.787  The well-

respected Lima weekly newsmagazine Caretas acknowledged and denounced the atrocities 

committed by both sides of the conflict.788   The security forces and the guerrillas both 

committed human rights violations and extrajudicial killings.  This is an unfortunate fact that 

often corresponds with this form of warfare. 

Lust is the only author who has written about this conflict and considered international law, 

the Geneva Conventions, and the Law of Armed Conflict.  In 1949, the Geneva Conventions 

delegates wrote four international treaties, and Peru became a signatory to the treaties in 

1956.  Civilians are protected under the treaties if they do not participate in combat.  

Belligerents are afforded prisoner of war (POW) status upon capture.  The third treaty affords 

POW status to ‘members of other militias and members of other volunteer corps, including 

those of organized resistance movements’.789  In order to gain POW status, MIR members 

must have complied with the following four criteria.  First, be commanded by a person 

responsible for his subordinates; the MIR was a hierarchal organization with a clear 

command structure.  Second, have a fixed distinctive sign recognizable at a distance; MIR 

members had a designated uniform that met this requirement.790  Ironically, it included US 

brand blue jeans, a worldwide symbol of capitalism.  Third, carry arms openly; they did in 

rural areas.  Fourth, conduct their operations in accordance with the laws and customs of war; 

multiple examples above clearly show that MIR members did not comply with this criterion.  

Therefore, under the Geneva Convention, the Peruvian government was not required to afford 

POW status to MIR personnel following capture.  While military leadership considered the 

conventions, they did not have detailed knowledge of treaty.  Retired General Edgardo 

Mercado explained, ‘If we called them guerrillas, they would have rights under the Geneva 

Convention.  If they were taken prisoner, they would only have to give their name, rank, and 

mission, and they would be subject to a series of considerations’.791  The Peruvian 
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government could have invited inspectors from the International Committee of the Red Cross 

to visit detention facilities, or members of the press, which would have given credibility to 

their counteraccusations of human rights abuses. 

The Southern Front 

Near Cusco, the MIR National Revolutionary Command and the independent Pachacutec 

foco, or southern front, were located together.  Lobaton caught them off guard when he 

ordered the central front to begin its armed insurrection, and they were not prepared to 

engage in combat with the Peruvian security services.  Therefore, Lobaton’s decision forced 

them to react to the military offensive.  De la Puente headed the National Revolutionary 

Command along with Ruben Tupayachi, Enrique Amaya (CIA informant DUHAM-1), Paul 

Escobar, Antonio Guevara, Albino Guzman, and Enrique Rueda.  Tupayachi commanded the 

southern front.  MIR sources trace the group’s involvement in the Department of Cusco back 

to 1960.792  By 1963 little work had been done, Jacqueline Eluau recalled, ‘the structure was 

very weak and with deficiencies in the work related to the indigenous populations’.793  

Moreover, in 1963, De la Puente declined to join forces with or provide support to Hugo 

Blanco’s insurrection in La Convencion and Lares valleys.  In early 1964, De la Puente, 

along with fifteen MIR personnel, departed Lima and moved into the area to prepare for the 

coming insurrection.   

De la Puente and Tupayachi chose Mesa Pelada to serve as the security zone, which they 

called Illarec Ch’asca, for a variety of reasons, but primarily because they believed it would 

be inaccessible to the security forces.  A Caretas reporter visited the area in June 1965 and 

interviewed De la Puente, who explained that ‘because of the topography and geography, it 

was virtually inaccessible’.794  It was close to La Convencion valley where Hugo Blanco was 

successful in organizing Campesinos in 1963, and located north of Machu Picchu and Cusco 

city, in the Department of Cusco.  There were also many haciendas in nearby towns such as 

Quillabamba, Ocobamba, Maranura, Santa Maria, Huayopata, and Amaybamba that could be 

raided and turned over to the Campesinos.  The sparsely populated plateau was at 12,000 feet 

above sea level and was forty miles long and twelve miles wide and covered with thick ichu 

grass.  Steep and jagged cliffs dropped to the surrounding valley floors at 3,000 feet above 
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sea level.  Amazon tributaries and thick jungle-covered the valley floors, and the vegetation 

grew about halfway up the cliffs.  The average temperature in the valleys was 75 degrees 

Fahrenheit, while the plateau dropped to below freezing.  Clouds, torrential rains, and thick 

fog permeated the area year-round.795  Seemingly, this terrain and climate would be 

beneficial to guerrilla warfare.  However, not all the southern front members agreed.  Hector 

Quiroz thought, ‘Mesa Pelada was difficult to defend and simple to isolate’.796  Carlos 

Morillo added, ‘the access routes were easy to control’.797  The MIR leaders must have 

realized this at some point because they sent teams to reconnoiter alternate security zone 

locations in July and August.798  By then, it was too late to make any significant changes. 

When the MIR arrived, it focused on two areas of development, the first was political, and 

the second was military.  They attempted to build rapport with the local peasants and 

indoctrinated them in the revolutionary ideology.  De la Puente explained that the guerrillas 

were the armed element of the population, and ‘The peasant masses were their [the guerrillas] 

support, their source of sustenance, information, and their bond’.799  Abraham Risco 

remembered, ‘First we tried to win their appreciation, helping them with their agricultural 

work; looking after the coca and other work they had to do, helping them grow and harvest 

the coffee.  This way, like collaborators, comingled in the agricultural work, we could then 

talk to them of other subjects’.800  Blanco employed this approach effectively in the early 

1960s, and it is an essential contribution to revolutionary theory, although it takes much 

longer than other methods.  It probably would have been more successful than the more direct 

armed propaganda technique used by Lobaton in the central highlands.  However, following 

Blanco’s uprising, the Peruvian government instituted land reform in the Cusco area, and this 

adequately resolved the Campesino’s major grievance.  This continued on a broader scale 

throughout the mid-1960s, although many Peruvians criticized the government for not doing 
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enough.801  In response, the MIR conducted a propaganda campaign to mitigate the effects of 

the land reform.802  The peasants had other minor complaints, but they were not significant 

enough to predispose them to take up arms.   

While the MIR did receive active and passive support from the local population for its cause, 

it was not sufficient to facilitate the success of the guerrilla front.  The only female fighter, 

Cornelia Bravo from village called Colpani Chico, joined the front along with her brother 

Antonio.803  The MIR provided the Campesinos that choose to actively participate with 

general education classes as well as ideological indoctrination.  They also provided military 

training.  The second focus was military preparation for the coming conflict.  They 

constructed seven camps on the plateau, and each had a specific purpose.  Camp one was for 

logistical coordination; two held ideological classes; three was for planning and supporting 

reconnaissance missions; four was a gathering place for the committee and party meetings; 

five and six were general defensive positions; seven was for weapons training.  The MIR 

operatives quickly became intimately knowledgeable about the terrain and built secret trails 

to move about the area, as well as cached ammunition, food, and other supplies.  They 

debated strategy, conducted weapons training, and practiced guerrilla tactics.  Their activities 

first appeared in the press in April of 1965, La Prensa wrote, ‘The guerrillas are said to be 

inciting the peasant masses to create an atmosphere of uneasiness and disorder’.804  While 

Expreso noted, ‘Cusco is being disrupted by news that extremist groups, directed by 

Communists trained in Cuba, are operating in the zones of Echarte and Mesa Pelada in the 

valley of Quillabamba’.805  Into mid-1965 they continued to prepare for the conflict.   

Observation posts overlooked the routes of approach to the plateau.  Additionally, 

Campesinos, who lived in the valley floors and a network of informants in the nearby towns, 

provided an early warning network in case security forces moved towards Mesa Pelada.  

Carlos Morillo was a MIR counterintelligence specialist and worked in a nearby town called 
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Quillabamba.  His cell’s mission was to observe the police and determine if they were 

attempting to penetrate the guerrilla’s organization, as well as advise the southern front 

leadership of any security forces movements in the region.  They took their job one step 

further and penetrated the PIP element in the town.  Many of the PIP personnel were from 

Lima and assigned to Quillabamba on a temporary status.  Some of them were homesick and 

missed their families who stayed behind in Lima, and the situation drove them to drink in the 

local bars.  Morillo explained, ‘We became friends with them, we drank beer with them, we 

connected with their sentimental side.  Through the beer we found out everything, they told 

us everything’.806  The intelligence network extended to Cusco city, where MIR operated a 

cell based at the University of San Antonio.  Among other duties, the MIR tasked the cell 

with reporting on military movements in the city.  The early warning network provided ample 

notice of the coming Army campaign against the southern front, but it could not prevent the 

inevitable outcome. 

The front had an extensive logistical support network that personnel working at camp number 

one coordinated.  The Cusco cell sent food and other supplies, as well as facilitated the 

movement of personnel from Lima to Mesa Pelada.807  In Quillabamba, Morillo’s duties 

included obtaining medical supplies for the guerrillas in the field.  De la Puente had asthma 

and ulcers that impeded his ability to lead the organization.  The security services were aware 

of his ulcer condition and were vigilant for anyone obtaining medicines for this ailment who 

did not have a valid reason for the purchase.  Morillo found a sympathetic medical doctor 

called Arturo Plaza Valdivieso who ‘diagnosed him’ with ulcers and wrote him a prescription 

for the medication that De la Puente required.  Morillo also collaborated with Dona 

Venezuela de Sumarriva at the Venezuela pharmacy who provided medications for the 

guerrillas.808  In addition to Cuzco and Quillabamba, MIR logistical personnel developed 

active and passive support networks in the surrounding towns and villages of Alta, Beatriz, 

Huayanay, Huyro, Ocabamba, Pucayara, and San Lorenzo.  In April 1965, Civil Guard 

Colonel Humberto Canales reported that his men intercepted an arms shipment from Bolivia 

that was bound for the MIR guerrillas.809  They may have also implemented a scheme to 
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counterfeit Peruvian currency to fund operations.  Ultima Hora reported that counterfeit 

money was circulating the country, and it may be ‘part of a communist plot to weaken the 

national economy.  Security agents have traced some of the monies to the guerrilla infested 

zones of Andamarca and Quillabamba’.810  The MIR’s extensive logistical network provided 

the required food, medicine, and other supplies for the guerrillas. 

The 2 July Supreme Decree and subsequent Laws 15590 and 15591 applied to Cusco as well 

as the other areas of guerrilla activity.  The Army assigned the Fourth Military Region the 

responsibility to plan and execute operations against the Southern Front.  Military 

Intelligence personnel could not have planned for a better situation.  Enrique Amaya (CIA 

informant DUHAM-1), a close confidant of De la Puente and member of the National 

Revolutionary Command, was in Mesa Pelada and had intimate knowledge of the plans and 

preparations.  However, it is unclear if he had the means to communicate with his handlers 

from Mesa Pelada, or if the CIA would have passed the information to the military personnel 

preparing for battle.  More critical was guerrilla leader Albino Guzman’s defection.  In a 

1966 post-mortem of the events, the MIR determined Guzman’s role in establishing the 

security zone and ‘his personal knowledge of the party organization, made him the enemy’s 

most effective weapon for locating and destroying the main group’.811  Guzman did not adapt 

well to the spartan living conditions in Mesa Pelada, and he lost his revolutionary zeal.  The 

MIR stated, ‘This individual, incapable of putting up with the privations of guerrilla warfare, 

his morale shattered, surrendered to the forces of repression and gave away all the military 

secrets of the guerrilla group, thus making the enemy’s task that much easier’.812  In early 

August, MIR leaders had serious concerns about the mental stability of Guzman.  They 

detained him and planned a trial, ‘In Mesa Pelada, Albino Guzman repeatedly demonstrated 

indiscipline and created serious inconvenience inside the organization for which he will be 

judged in the second half of August’.813  Before Guzman could be judged by the 

revolutionary court, he escaped and fled to the police office in Huyro.  The officials 

transported him to Chaullay and turned him over the Army element in charge of the 
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counterinsurgency operations.  He arrived there on 15 August and provided detailed 

information concerning the situation on the plateau.   

The Peruvian government prepared the population, local government, and military for the 

operation.  On 26 August, the SIN Director Jose Benavides, an Army colonel, dismissed the 

Prefect of Cusco, Luis Felipe Paredes, because he was ‘indecisive and tolerant with the 

Communists’ and the Sub-Prefect of La Convencion, because he was sick and away in Lima 

for treatment.814  This cleared the way to appoint pro-counterinsurgency officials.  He also 

directed the Civil Guard elements to conduct physical training and automatic weapons 

training and to reinforce the physical security of critical government facilities.  Three days 

later, the Army moved Detachments Leopardo (Leopard) and Tigre (Tiger) to Ocobamba to 

the east of Mesa Pelada.  They also moved Army Detachments Condor, Aguila (Eagle), Lince 

(Lynx) as well as Civil Guard section Cernicalo (Kestrel) to Chaullay to the west of Mesa 

Pelada.815  They began a psychological operations campaign similar to the operations in 

Pucuta and Satipo.  They used Radio Quillabamba to transmit messages to the local 

population that warned them to distance themselves from the guerrillas, so they would not be 

harmed in the coming fighting.816  They also dropped flyers and passed messages over 

loudspeakers mounted on helicopters.  The Ministry of War claimed the presence of the 

troops in the area ‘produced a favorable effect on the population, which was efficiently 

stimulated by the treatment given to them and by the campaign of persuasion immediately 

initiated by the respective commandos’.817  Three Campesinos leaders resigned and 

denounced the MIR.818  The military quickly prepared for the offensive.  

The Commando units began to conduct scout missions to determine the locations of guerrilla 

defenses and minefields.  FAP aircraft conducted reconnaissance missions to confirm the 

information provided by the MIR informants.  The first contact occurred on 9 September 

when the guerrillas ambushed the Condor detachment.  The detachment killed five guerrillas, 

and a land mine that the guerrillas had emplaced, exploded and injured two Army 

 
814 SIE document #447, ‘Sugiere la subrogación de autoridades políticas que indica y recomienda intensificar 

instrucción de personal de la GC y P’, 26 August 1965, p. 2, JNE, 1960s file. Spanish version: ‘indeciso y 

tolerante con los comunistas’. 
815 Ministerio de Guerra del Perú, Las Guerrillas en el Perú y su represión, p. 65. 
816 Artola, Subversión!, p. 95. 
817 Ministerio de Guerra del Perú, Las Guerrillas en el Perú y su represión, p. 65. Spanish version: ‘produjo 

efecto favorable sobre la población, la que colaboro eficientemente estimulada por el trato que se les dio y por la 

campana de persuasión iniciada de inmediato por los respectivos comandos’. 
818 Expreso, ‘Three Peasant Leaders Resign from MIR’, 12 September 1965 translated in CIA, Press information 

Relating to Insurgency and Counterinsurgency: Latin America, 8 October 1965, p. 13. 
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personnel.819  On 20 September, the entire force converged on Mesa Pelada.  Condor 

detachment attacked camp number six and killed two guerrillas before the remainder escaped.  

They captured a large stock of weapons, ammunition, and explosives, which they destroyed.  

Aguila detachment did not make enemy contact, but they lost three soldiers due to the 

extreme weather conditions, which they were not prepared for, in the Andes.  On 24 

September, Lince detachment captured camps numbers three and four.  The guerrillas 

mounted an unsuccessful counterattack on camp four, but the Army killed three of them and 

repelled the attack.  The next day, Lince detachment engaged in heavy fighting with a 

guerrilla element and killed three before the others escaped.  Later that week, two soldiers 

killed themselves while firing a 120mm mortar system to harass the guerrillas during the 

night.  Skirmishes continued into October.820  The official Ministry of War account does not 

mention aerial bombardment at Mesa Pelada.  However, various press accounts and books 

claim the FAP conducted attacks and dropped napalm on innocent civilians.  Considering the 

number of accusations of napalm bombings, either the reporters exaggerated, or the Peruvian 

military must have had more than sixteen napalm drums in its inventory.  The fighting 

continued over the next few weeks while the Army destroyed the camps and cleared out the 

last few pockets of guerrillas. 

De la Puente’s death is as controversial, and the facts are as murky as with the case of 

Lobaton.  Accusations and counteraccusations of human rights abuses prevail.  According to 

the Ministry of War, De la Puente and a small group of guerrillas, including Raul Escobar 

and Ruben Tupayachi, were escaping to the south of Mesa Pelada near the Amaybamba 

village.  They approach a hacienda of the same name and requested help from three 

Campesinos.  The Campesinos refused, so the guerrillas killed them with weapons fire and 

homemade grenades.  The noise drew the attention of a nearby security detachment, and the 

commander immediately sent a squad to investigate.  They engaged in a firefight with the 

guerrillas and suffered three killed in action.  Among the fifteen MIR dead were the three 

guerrilla commanders.  The official account reads, ‘With this last action, the MIR command 

 
819 Expreso, ‘Armed Forces Clash with Guerrillas in Cuzco Area’, 13 September 1965 translated in CIA, Press 

information Relating to Insurgency and Counterinsurgency: Latin America, 8 October 1965, p. 13; La Prensa, 

‘Land Mines Slow Advances in Mesa Pelada Area’, 25 September 1965, translated in CIA, Press information 

Relating to Insurgency and Counterinsurgency: Latin America, 14 October 1965, p. 7. 
820 La Prensa, ‘Army Units and Guerrillas Clash in Cuzco and Piura’, 12 October 1965, translated in CIA, Press 

information Relating to Insurgency and Counterinsurgency: Latin America, 27 October 1965, p. 14. 
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and the guerrilla “Pachacutec” were destroyed’.821  Artola echoed the official account.822  

Various press accounts and the books alleged that the government murdered the guerrilla 

leaders in cold blood.  One account explained that the security forces compromised the 

guerrillas when they sent two of their group to a store in the village to purchase food items.  

The security forces followed them back to where the group was hiding.  Gott wrote, ‘The 

guerrillas were either captured or killed.  There is some doubt as to what happened to De la 

Puente and Tupayachi, but it seems probable that they were captured and shot in captivity 

two days later.  The group had barely seen a month’s action’.823  Significantly, two 

government officials have recently added to this line of reasoning.  Former SIE Colonel 

Rafael Cordova stated that the government detained De la Puente and interrogated him for 

two weeks before executing him.  Former Civil Guard officer Alejandro Hernandez, who 

commanded the Cernicalo detachment in Mesa Pelada, recalled that the security forces 

detained and interrogated the guerrilla commanders, and after: ‘Ley de Fuga’.824  Meaning 

the security forces killed them while they supposedly attempted to escape.  The government 

did not give their remains to their families.  Assuming the security forces executed them, as 

the preponderance of the evidence shows, the Peruvian government cost itself a great deal of 

credibility for minimal gain.  

The Northern Front 

Of the MIR’s three rural fronts, observers have given the least attention to the Manco Capac, 

or northern front.  This is understandable considering the dearth of primary source material 

until now.  However, this did not preclude Gott from asserting, 

‘For some reason, the Manco Capac group in the far north on the Ecuadorian border, led by 

Gonzalo Fernandez Gasco, never went into action at all.  Six guerrillas were captured during 

the period between 18 October and 5 November [1965], and they provided the army with 

their first knowledge that a guerrilla group was planning to operate in their area’.825  

Gott’s criticism supports the belief that the government was not competent to defeat the MIR, 

and therefore, the MIR failed for internal reasons.  The recently released Peruvian national 

intelligence documents show that 18 October was not the security forces’ first knowledge of 

the front.  Moreover, a 2018 interview of a retired Peruvian military officer and an 

 
821 Ministerio de Guerra del Perú, Las Guerrillas en el Perú y su represión, p. 68. Spanish version: ‘Con esta 

ultima acción quedan destruidos el Comando del MIR y la guerrilla “Pachacutec”’. 
822 Artola, Subversión!, p. 96. 
823 Gott, Guerrilla Movements in Latin America, p. 358. 
824 Lust, Lucha Revolucionaria Perú, p. 366 
825 Richard Gott, Guerrilla Movements in Latin America, p. 367. 
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examination of local newspapers reveal that the front did go into action against the 

government.  The new research shows the security forces defeated the northern front.   

As the MIR established its northern front, the intelligence services closely observed them.  

De la Puente may have met with Castro in 1960 about spreading the revolution across Latin 

America.  The CIA reported, ‘In preparation for this outbreak Castro received such important 

APRA Rebelde [the former name of the MIR] leaders as Luis de la Puente Uceda and ordered 

reconnaissance of northern Peru to select a proper location for an uprising’.826  The MIR 

named the northern front ‘Manco Capac’, but some referred to as the César Vallejo group.  

They set up their security zone near Cerro Negro in the Ayabaca province of the Piura 

Department.  The leaders calculated that the proximity to Ecuador would provide an 

international aspect to the conflict with the goal of spreading the fighting across the border.827  

Gonzalo Fernandez Gasco was the political leader and overall commander of the Manco 

Capac as well as a senior MIR leader.828  Elio Arturo Portocarrero Rios, a native of Piura, 

was the military commander of the front.  He was from Ayabaca City, where his wife and 

children lived.  La Prensa wrote, ‘Portocarrero has been directing training of armed guerrillas 

in different parts of the country for the last three years’.829  While the Lima daily Correo 

reported he ‘is a Communist, an expert in terrorism and has been trained in Moscow and 

Havana’.830  Cerro Negro was remotely located in the Andes mountains, and MIR leaders 

estimated it was suited for guerrilla warfare.  Portocarreo recalled, ‘The geographic 

conditions were adequate for the formation of a guerrilla group considering a military point 

of view’.831  They focused their efforts in the nearby towns of Indio, San Pedro, San 

Sebastian, and Pato Piedra.  Like the other areas where the MIR established security zones, 

Manco Capac personnel began to organize revolutionary elements in Ayabaca during 1964.  

The Peruvian National Investigations Police (PIP) surveilled the developing front and gained 

insight and knowledge of its organization and plans when they detained five MIR personnel 

 
826 CIA memorandum, ‘Cuban Subversive Activities in Ecuador’, 22 June 1961, p. 15. 
827 Ministerio de Guerra del Perú, Las Guerrillas en el Perú y su represión, p. 70. 
828 Correo, ‘Ferando Gasco Leads Guerrillas in Ayabaca’, 28 August 1965, translated in CIA, Press information 

Relating to Insurgency and Counterinsurgency: Latin America, 15 September 1965, p. 5. Ricardo Gadea. 

Telephone Interview. 9 April 2020. 
829 La Prensa, ‘Guerrilla Chief in Ayabaca Identified’, 15 July 1965, translated in CIA, Press information 

Relating to Insurgency and Counterinsurgency: Latin America, 28 July 1965, p. 10. 
830 Correo, ‘Ferando Gasco Leads Guerrillas in Ayabaca’, 28 August 1965, translated in CIA, Press information 

Relating to Insurgency and Counterinsurgency: Latin America, 15 September 1965, p. 5. 
831 Interview with Elio Arturo Portocarrero Ríos in Lust, Lucha Revolucionaria Perú, p. 313. Spanish version: 

Las condiciones geográficas eran adecuadas para la formación de un grupo guerrillero desde el punto de vista 

militar’. 
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in October 1964 with weapons, military equipment, and propaganda materials.832  The 

newspaper articles and intelligence documents show that the security forces had knowledge 

of the northern front before 1965. 

The PIP developed a viable informant network, which is a precursor to successful 

counterguerrilla operations, and produced detailed intelligence on the insurgent situation in 

the area.  In a report that consolidated information from eight informants, the analysts 

described the MIR organization with a level of detail that identified Elio Portocarrero as the 

commander of an extremist group based at the Hacienda Tapal in Ayabaca.  The members 

included: Mario Calle, Pancho Calle, who was married to Dona Castillo Zegarra, El Chino 

Aguilera, Eloy Jaramillo, Ramon Morocho, Alfonso Morocho, Galvez Rios, Julio Rojas, 

among others that remained unnamed.  The members all wore beards.  The group was 

working to recruit young men from the area.  Portocarrero maintained a house in Ayabaca on 

San Sebastian street across from the old cemetery.  The mayor Horacio Camino Flores and 

lieutenant mayor Horacio Calle were communists.  The communist Carmen Saaverdra 

Zegara, the girlfriend of Ramon Morocho, was a teacher in Cuevas.  She had hidden Ramon 

Morocho from the police on multiple occasions.  She travelled to the hacienda Tapal to teach 

the children of the extremists.  Another example of the detailed level of intelligence reporting 

was that the MIR had a base in Cerro Negro, and they hid their weapons in a cave and 

covered the opening with rocks.  In October, a small aircraft flew low over the camp and 

dropped a package to the extremists.  The men always carried weapons, and the locals, who 

they often robbed, were scared.  The report also noted that the extremists spent their time 

having discussions about Marxism and speaking with the locals about improving the political 

situation in Peru.833  The PIP shared their intelligence with the military as they prepared for 

action.  A retired Peruvian Army officer recalled that the successful counterinsurgency 

operations against the Northern Front were a direct result of this detailed intelligence.834  

These examples together show that, far from an incompetent military, the Peruvian forces, at 

least on the intelligence front, were more than adept at understanding their enemy.  

The Peruvian Communist Party (PCP) was also organizing workers in Piura, and the two 

groups competed for the disenfranchised people of the region.  The PIP also closely followed 

the PCP’s developments in the department, including the Drivers Syndicate of Piura and its 

 
832 PIP report, ‘Sobre no existencia de Guerra de guerrilla en el país’, 6 June 1965, p. 3, JNE, 1960s file. 
833 PIP report ‘Actividades Extremistas en Ayabaca’, 1965, pp. 1-3, JNE, 1960s file. 
834 Herrmann Hamann Carrillo. Personal Interview. 28 August 2014. 
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Secretary Abdon Suaerez Farfan.  The Youth Circle of Journalism ‘Jose Carlos Mariategui’ 

and its President Manuel Eduardo Velarde Bogiano.  Its editor, Jorge Merino Guerrero, had 

links to MIR.  They also watched the Workers Federation of Piura and its President Gabino 

Vilela Guzman and Secretary Luis Atarama Chavez.  Directly in the MIR’s operational area, 

the PIP was interested in PCP delegate Timoteo Rodrigo Villavicencio.835  On 13 May 1965, 

a group of workers invaded the Hacienda San Rosendo and occupied it for twenty-four hours 

before peacefully dispersing.  The departmental level government in Piura dismissed the 

workers’ claims and ruled that the land belonged to Hacienda’s owners.  The police detained 

three of the invasion leaders overnight in the Piura jail.836  Unlike the MIR, the PCP was 

organizing the people to work through the legal system to improve their situation, which was 

in line with the Soviet leadership’s direction.  These developments, revealed in the newly 

released intelligence documents, are essential to this dissertation because they show the PIP’s 

competence in following multiple threats in the area. 

Until mid-1965, the Northern Front personnel spent most of their time developing syndicates 

among the rural workers and did not place much emphasis on military training or 

preparedness.  On 09 June, Lobaton’s central front raided a mining centre in the central 

highland town of Satipo.  After learning of these actions, the northern front personnel set 

aside organizing syndicates and accelerated military preparations for the conflict.  The onset 

of hostilities also gave the police justification to crack down on left-leaning MIR 

sympathizers in Piura.  Their first contact with security forces occurred in July when Expreso 

reported, ‘New arrests have been made in Sullana and in Ayabaca in the continuing round up 

of extremists’.837  Rodigo Villavicencio, the former prefect of Ayabaca, was among them.  

However, Portocarrero was not.  Also arrested were Juan Parihuaman Alvarado, Isabel Flores 

Avilas, her father and brother, twelve in total.838  Also, in July, the people in Piura heard the 

first propaganda transmissions from a transmitter that was in Cerro Negro.  La Prensa 

reported one of the transmissions said, ‘in Peru, there are five centers of Peasant rebellion, 

two of them are in action.  Elio Arturo Portocarrero is the chief of the popular guerrillas in 

Peru.  Luis de la Puente commands the guerrillas in south Peru and Guillermo Lobaton in the 

 
835 PIP report 1009, 10 December 1965, p. 10, JNE, 1960s file. 
836 La Prensa, ‘Comuneros Withdraw After Invading Piura Hacienda’, 15 May 1965, translated in CIA, Press 

information Relating to Insurgency and Counterinsurgency: Latin America, 03 June 1965, p. 3. 
837 Expreso, ‘Round Up of Extremists in Piura Continues’, 16 July 1965, translated in CIA, Press information 

Relating to Insurgency and Counterinsurgency: Latin America, 28 July 1965, p. 11. 
838 La Prensa, ‘Apresan en Ayabaca 12 Agitadores Rojos’, 16 July 1965, front page; Lima newsmagazine 

Presente Nacional, ‘Universidades: Foco de Subversiones Comunistas’, September-October, 1965, No. 102, p. 

36. 
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center of the same country’.839  On 29 August, the police arrested five MIR personnel for 

agitation.  They were Lino Jimenez, Samuel Nizahuanca, Felix Repeto Campoverde, 

Conception Reira, and Santo Reyes. They had a large amount of propaganda in their 

possession.840  In response, Dr Octovio Mongrut, the Minister of Government, assured the 

public that the government had the situation in control.  He stated, ‘the zone of Ayabaca is 

completely under the control of the Military Command which will be able to prevent 

subversive actions’.  He continued, ‘in the northern sector the Armed Forces will prepare to 

control any outbreak of Communist-inspired violence’.841  The Army placed the First 

Military Region in charge of the strategy to counter the guerrillas in Ayabaca, while the First 

Calvary Division would execute the tactical level counterinsurgency operations.  Mongrut’s 

confidence may have come from the in-depth knowledge that the security forces had 

developed concerning the northern front. 

As an example of how seriously the government finally responded, on 22 September 1965, 

Corley Smith, of the British Embassy in Ecuador, reported to the Foreign Office talks 

between the General Staffs of Ecuador and Peru.  The purpose of the talks was to coordinate 

efforts against the MIR element operating in Northern Peru near the border with Ecuador. 

These high-level discussions were an important adjunct to the on-going tactical level 

coordination at the local level between the police, border patrol, and military units.842  On 5 

October 1965, Patricia Hutchinson, of the British Embassy in Peru, referenced the Corley 

dispatch and provided amplifying information.  She noted that the Commanding General of 

the Peruvian Army, and former commander of the Piura Military Region in northern Peru, 

General Julio Doig confirmed the coordination to British Embassy representative John White.  

Paraphrasing the General, Hutchinson wrote, ‘Desultory conversations about the guerrilla 

problem – for there has been a little encampment of the MIR near Ayabaca since 1962 – 

sharpened into purposeful discussions with the outbreak of guerrilla activity in the Peruvian 

Central Sierra in June’.  She continued, ‘the Peruvians have therefore asked the Ecuadorians 

to do what they can on their side of the border to prevent the MIRistas from finding a safe 

 
839 La Prensa, ‘Cuba Dice que Ayuda Subversión en el Perú’, 17 July 1965, front page. Spanish version: ‘en el 

Perú hay cinco centros de rebelión campesina, dos de los cuales ya se encuentran en acción. Elio Arturo 

Portocarrero es el jefe de las guerrillas populares del Perú. Luis de la Puente Uceda comanda las guerrillas en el 

sur del Perú y Guillermo Lobatón en el centro del mismo país’. 
840 La Cronica, ‘Five Extremists Captured in Ayabaca’, 30 August 1965, translated in CIA, Press information 

Relating to Insurgency and Counterinsurgency: Latin America, 15 September 1965, p. 5. 
841 La Prensa, ‘Army Said to Have Subversive Groups Under Control’, 29 August 1965, translated in CIA, Press 

information Relating to Insurgency and Counterinsurgency: Latin America, 5 September 1965, p. 5. 
842 Correspondence from Corley Smith, British Embassy in Ecuador to Foreign Office, 22 September 1965, UK 

National Archive at Kew AE105/40. 
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refuge in Ecuador’.  There was good reason for the Peruvian concern because Leftists in 

Ecuador provided support to the Ayabaca Front.  Portocarrero recalled, ‘We had a support 

structure in Ecuador that practically arrived in the guerrilla zone.  We had support people in 

various cities in Ecuador, from Quito, Guayaquil, Loja, to Cuenca’.843  This network 

consisted of the remnants of the Union Revolucionaria de Juventudes de Ecuador 

(Revolutionary Union of Ecuadorian Youth, URJE), which was a significant insurgent group 

in Ecuador during the early 1960s.844  On a strategic note, Hutchinson determined that the De 

la Puente is not spreading his revolution across the region.  She concluded, ‘While one of the 

basic themes of the MIR is, in conscious or unconscious tribute to Leon Trotsky that the 

revolution cannot succeed in one country alone, we here have seen no signs that the Peruvian 

MIR leadership is yet ready to begin an export drive’.845  Contrary to the views of the 

literature, these communications suggest that the Peruvian government had moved beyond 

military preparedness to international coordination in its efforts to defeat the guerrillas. 

The MIR personnel in Ayabaca furiously prepared for armed conflict and completely set 

aside all other activities.  They set up their guerrilla base in Cerro Negro and patrolled the 

surrounding area to gain familiarity with the terrain.  There was a nascent guerrilla front in 

Jaen that was not having success establishing itself, so many of the MIR members there 

moved to Ayabaca to join forces with the MIR’s Northern Front.  The influx of personnel led 

to a powerplay by Portocarrero to displace Fernandez as the overall leader.  A vote by the 

members relegated Portocarrero to his place as second in command.  They received an 

adequate level of support from the local population in the form of food, medicine, and other 

necessary supplies.  Their critical shortage was weapons and ammunition.  Portocorrero 

recalled, ‘We had completely deficient weapons. This was one of the problems that could not 

be solved’.846  They were limited to some older model revolvers, shotguns, and rifles, which 

they understood were not sufficient to take on the well-equipped military.  The Cubans and 

Czech intelligence services provided weapons to the URJE in 1961.847  Apparently, none of 

 
843 Interview with Elio Arturo Portocarrero Ríos in Lust, Lucha Revolucionaria Perú, p. 279. Spanish version: 

‘Teníamos una infraestructura de apoyo en Ecuador, que llegaba prácticamente hasta la zona guerrillera. 

Teníamos gente de apoyo en varias ciudades de Ecuador, desde Quito, Guayaquil, Loja hasta Cuenca’.  
844 CIA memorandum, ‘Cuban Subversive Activities in Ecuador’, 22 June 1961, p. 6; Agee, CIA Diary, p. 112; 

Lust, Lucha Revolucionaria Perú, p. 288. 
845 Correspondence from Patricia Hutchinson, British Embassy in Peru to Foreign Office, 05 October 1965, Kew 

FO371/179379. 
846 Interview with Elio Arturo Portocarrero Ríos in Lust, Lucha Revolucionaria Perú, p. 326. Spanish version: 

‘Nosotros teníamos armas completamente deficientes. Esto fue uno de los problemas que no se lograron 

resolver’. 
847 CIA memorandum, ‘Cuban Subversive Activities in Ecuador’, 22 June 1961, p. 7. 
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these made their way into the hands of the MIR.  This lack of arms forced them to turn away 

volunteers from the local population that wanted to join as guerrilla fighters.  Gerardo 

Benavides remembered, ‘There were many people we wanted to incorporate.  The youth in 

Ayabaca came up in groups of ten and twenty and wanted to incorporate into the guerrilla, 

but we could not accept them because we did not have weapons’.848  One local they did 

accept was Aurora Chanta, the only female fighter to join the front.849  To obtain military-

grade weapons, the leadership began planning an attack on a Civil Guard outpost.  This 

evidence directly conflicts with Leon Campbell’s point that the guerrillas did not receive 

popular support.  The northern front did receive a high level of support.  However, the 

limiting factor in the group’s expansion was the availability of weapons for new fighters. 

The press noticed this increased activity.  La Tribune reported, ‘Military spokesmen in Piura 

have expressed their opinion that Ayabaca, in the mountainous and remote Piura Province, is 

today a Communist boiling pot’.850  Ultima Hora added, ‘The Headquarters of the red 

extremists is said to be at Cerro Negro, said to be ten hours by muleback from the city of 

Ayabaca’.  They continued, ‘In this city, it is not unusual to hear radio broadcasts of speeches 

by Fidel Castro and calls to subversion by the guerrilla leaders of Ayabaca.  These broadcasts 

are said to come from a transmitter installed on Cerro Negro’.851  Both accounts greatly 

exaggerated the number of guerrillas in Piura, citing 300 and 1500, respectively.  However, 

the MIR’s ability to set up a radio transmitter and broadcast propaganda show that they had 

the capability to organize and conduct activities usually associated with national militaries.  

In early October, the northern front conducted their only offensive operation when they 

raided a Civil Guard post in Paltachaca, in the Santa Catalina de Moza District of Morropon 

Province.  The guards successfully defended the outpost but requested reinforcements.852  A 

few days later, a group of eight MIR personnel, along with two local guides, conducted a 

reconnaissance patrol along the border with Ecuador in an area called Salala.  They ran out of 

provisions and decided to enter a small town in search of food.  Five of them entered, and the 

 
848 Interview with Gerardo Benavides in Lust, Lucha Revolucionaria Perú, p. 327. Spanish version: ‘Había 

mucha gente que quería incorporarse. Los jóvenes de Ayabaca subían, grupos de diez, de veinte, que querían 

incorporarse en la guerrilla, pero no los aceptaban porque no tenían armas’.  
849 Ricardo Gadea. Telephone Interview. 9 April 2020. 
850 La Tribute, ‘Ayabaca Becomes New Center of Subversive Activity’, 18 September 1965, translated in CIA, 

Press information Relating to Insurgency and Counterinsurgency: Latin America, 11 October 1965, p. 6. 
851 Ultima Hora, 16 September 1965, translated in CIA, Press information Relating to Insurgency and 

Counterinsurgency: Latin America, 11 October 1965, p. 6. 
852 La Prensa, ‘Army Units and Guerrillas Clash in Cuzco and Piura’, 12 October 1965, translated in CIA, Press 

information Relating to Insurgency and Counterinsurgency: Latin America, 27 October 1965, p. 14; La Prensa, 

‘Chocan con Guerrillas En el Cuzco y Piura’, 12 October 1965, front page. 
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remainder stayed hidden in the mountains.  They found a few locals who provided them food 

and shelter.  However, one local who thought they were cattle rustlers reported them to the 

police.  This may have been the result of the government’s media campaign denouncing the 

guerrillas as thieves.  The police captured them while they slept in a house on 18 October.  

On 05 November, the police then tracked down and captured the other five.853  These are the 

operations quoted in Gott in the opening paragraph of this section.  It is apparent that the 

Peruvian security forces had significant knowledge of the MIR’s norther front before these 

arrests. 

By early November, the Peruvian Army, with its accurate intelligence picture and well-

trained counterinsurgency forces, was prepared to go on the offensive while the US military 

monitored the situation.  The US Department of Defense National Military Command Center 

reported that Peruvian Police had knowledge of approximately twelve guerrillas of the 

revolutionary left operating in northern Peru.  The report stated, ‘some are said to have been 

trained in Cuba, North Korea, and China’ and that the Air Force was investigating a 

clandestine airfield that was under construction in the same zone.854  The Peruvian military’s 

First Regional Command was responsible for the northwestern section of the country and had 

been training its forces in counterinsurgency since 1963.855  It deployed three counterguerrilla 

detachments from the First Cavalry Division to the area and surrounded Cerro Negro.  The 

Pacaso detachment moved to Huancabamba, while Lagarto (Crocodile) and Iguana 

detachments arrived in Ayabaca.  On 11 December, the three elements converged on Cerro 

Negro and continued to patrol the area until the end of the month, but they did not encounter 

significant resistance from the guerrilla forces.856  There were a few skirmishes in the area, 

but no major combat.857  The guerrillas had departed the security zone before the arrival of 

the army after deciding it would be better to live and fight another day.  They took this 

decision with the members of MIR’s Central Committee in Lima.  Portocarrero alleged the 

army committed human rights violations during the search operations.  He wrote, ‘Numerous 

Campesinos and some combatants were victims of the military campaign.  Among them, 

 
853 Ministerio de Guerra del Perú, Las Guerrillas en el Perú y su represión, p. 70; Lust, Lucha Revolucionaria 

Perú, 1958-1967, p. 323; La Prensa, ‘Guerrilleros Asaltan Pueblo de Morropon’, 18 October 1965, front page. 
854 Department of Defense, National Military Command Center message, 06 November 1964, p. 2, LBJL, NSF, 

Country Files, Cuba, box 22, Exile Activities, Vol. 2; Rene De La Pedraja, Wars of Latin America, p. 160.  
855 Defense Intelligence Agency, Order of Battle Summary, Foreign Ground Forces: Peru, 1 December 1966, p. 

2 and p. 9, Defense Intelligence Agency archive, series 600 AWC, box 6, folder 54, Peru; ‘Piura: Clausura del 

Ciclo de Guerra Anti Subversiva’, Actualidad Militar, Lima, 15 December 1963, p. 17, CEHMP, military 

journal collection. 
856 Ministerio de Guerra del Perú, Las Guerrillas en el Perú y su represión, p. 70. 
857 Rossevelt Bravo Axedo. Personal Interview. 14 August 2017. 
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Basilio Chanta, [father of Aurora Chanta] the stupendous collaborator, and Campesino 

organizer, was captured, tortured, and murdered’.858  The official Ministry of War account 

does not mention these events.  I was not able to assess the validity of the claims of human 

rights abuses by the military.  However, such abuses, wrong as they would have been, are a 

testament to the argument that the military was serious in its response, not incompetent or 

unaware of the threat.  At the very least, it suggests that the guerrillas understood they faced 

lethal force, not an incompetent military. 

In late December, the Peruvian National Police (PNP) detained three guerrillas, Juan and 

Ursulo Chanta Grande, and Isidro Pastor, at a checkpoint while they attempted to make their 

way back to Jaen.859  The other northern front members travelled in groups of two or three 

and made their way across the border and into Ecuador, where they found refuge among their 

support network.  Fernandez recalled, ‘We conducted a strategic withdrawal to Ecuador 

where we stayed for one month’.860  They did not return to take up the revolution in Piura.  

The MIR Central Committee announced, ‘In spite of these setbacks, both the political and 

military parts of our organization have stayed in the area and have achieved such a level of 

cohesion and entrenchment that the armed forces have been unable to destroy them’.861  In 

1967, during an interview, a former MIR operative explained that the local population 

assisted them in evading the security forces.  He stated, ‘This also explains how the guerrilla 

of the North managed to elude three circles of the Peruvian Army in a joint operation with the 

Ecuadorian Army’.862  The civilian support must have been a factor, but the technique of 

moving in small groups was instrumental in passing through the army pickets and across the 

border.  In early 1966, press accounts varied concerning the status of the guerrilla front.  La 

Cronica reported that the group was still operational as late as 11 January.863  On 27 January, 

Correo wrote that there was a firefight between the military and Portocarrero and a few 
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guerrillas.864  On 29 January, Colonel Rodolfo Acevedo, the First Military Region’s Chief of 

Intelligence, denied they had been killed and stated that Portocarrero and Fernandez Gasco 

had fled to Ecuador.  La Prensa wrote, ‘Acevedo added that the clean-up operations in the 

zone of Ayabaca and Huancabamba were concluded on 4 January and that permanent control 

posts had been established in the area’.865  He also mentioned that the Peruvian government 

was working with Ecuador and seeking extradition of the extremists.  On 25 February 1966, 

Caretas reported that a government official close to the Joint Command pronounced the 

actions against the MIR over and that the group was no longer a threat.  However, they 

received a letter from the commander of the northern front, Gonzalo Fernandez Gasco.  He 

wrote that the group was still operational and that they renamed it ‘Cesar Vallejo’ for the 

fallen MIR leader De la Puente.  He also stated that Lobaton was still alive.  Caretas wrote 

that this might be accurate, considering the government had not been forthcoming with 

information.  The article concluded that Fernandez was hiding and only fighting an ‘offensive 

of paper’.866  In the end, the northern front did little to advance the revolutionary cause 

because the military was good at rooting them out and limiting their capabilities. 

This section brings to light three factors that change our understanding of the MIR’s northern 

front.  First, the local population did support them, and provided them with food, shelter, 

medical supplies, and guide services.  This contradicts Campbell’s second reason for the 

guerrilla failure.  Moreover, the above narrative shows the front’s shortage of weapons forced 

them to turn away recruits who were willing to take up arms against the government.  

Secondly, the newly released Peruvian government documents show that the intelligence 

services had an in-depth understanding of the northern front and were monitoring them in 

early 1964.  This was long before Gott’s assertion that the first government knowledge of the 

front was in October 1965.  The government’s accurate intelligence picture allowed the Army 

units to conduct precise counterguerrilla operations.  Finally, in contrast to Gott’s assertion, 

the northern front personnel did go on the offensive, but they were not successful in their 

attack on the Civil Guard post.  When the army entered the guerrilla stronghold in Cerro 

Negro the MIR personnel lost the initial skirmishes and quickly decided to retreat across the 

Ecuadorian border.  This shows that the northern front did not implode due to internal 
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mistakes, but rather the Peruvian security forces, armed with accurate intelligence, were able 

to defeat the guerrillas outright. 

Urban Front in Lima 

The MIR’s Lima-based urban front is almost absent from the historiography.  Only a few 

authors even mention it.  For example, Brown explained, ‘As the Peruvian summertime 

passed into January 1966, MIR operatives in Lima attempted to divert government forces by 

exploding bombs and scattering leaflets proclaiming the Peruvian revolution’.867  Brown and 

Fernandez dismiss the urban front and downplay it as a support element.868  Jan Lust devotes 

seven pages to the ‘Fight in the city’, but does not consider the urban front’s activities central 

to the MIR’s insurgency.869  The lack of emphasis concerns because the Central Committee, 

the urban front, and its attack cell were critical components to the MIR’s plans for a 

revolution in Peru, and the events bear directly on the question of whether the military did 

indeed defeat the MIR.  This section will focus on the activities of Ricardo Gadea’s attack 

cell and what the Peruvian government and press labelled a terrorism campaign in Lima 

during late 1965 and early 1966.  As with the rural fronts, when the urban front went into 

action, the Peruvian security forces quickly penetrated the organization and arrested the 

operatives. 

Further evidence makes clear that the MIR was organized enough that a competent military 

could only accomplish its defeat.  In 1964, De la Puente and most of the MIR personnel 

moved to their respective locations throughout Peru to begin the rural phase of the 

insurgency.  A three-person element from the Central Committee remained in Lima to 

coordinate urban operations.  The Central Committee organized the personnel who remained 

in Lima into cells.  Carlos Flores explained that each cell had a specific task on which to 

focus.  These included finance, weapons and ammunition procurement, intelligence 

gathering, counterintelligence, recruitment, logistics, propaganda, and media relations.870  

Gonzalo Fernandez recalled that the urban cells were ‘improvised because they did not have a 

prolonged formation’.871  This contrasted with APRA and the PCP, who had been organizing 

in Lima for decades.  MIR personnel attempted to build relations with the unions and workers 
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organizations, but APRA had strong historical ties with this segment and kept the MIR out.  

The PCP historically controlled the leftist student groups at the major universities, but the 

MIR distributed propaganda flyers at University Park to draw students to its cause.872  The 

cell structure allowed the MIR to remain relatively obscure until they committed crimes and 

bombings that drew the attention of the National Police. 

There was an extremist group in Lima called Alianza de Liberacion Nacional (National 

Liberation Alliance, ALN) that was not directly part of but supported the MIR.  Former ALN 

member Luis Alberto Arana claimed they had twenty-five operatives in the city.873  Their 

first attack was on 31 January 1965 when they attempted to burn down the office building of 

the US military mission.  A US State Department intelligence memo noted, ‘The perpetrators 

of this unsuccessful attempt probably were members of the extreme leftist Revolutionary 

Movement (MIR), which has long been planning to initiate guerrilla activities in the 

mountains’.874  On 4 July, during the evening, two bombs exploded in Lima.  The first was at 

the entrance to the Crillon hotel, which during the time was the best hotel in Lima, and where 

many foreigners stayed, the explosion seriously injured three people.  The second was at the 

National Club, where there was a high-society debutante ball that evening.  The doorman 

noticed the bomb as someone threw it in, and he grabbed it and threw it out of the building.  

As a result, there were no significant injuries.  Richard Walter explained that these two 

locations were ‘the principal social institutions of the nation’s elite’.875  Later, in the evening, 

MIR supporters and students held a rally at the Plaza San Martin.  La Prensa reported, 

‘Armando Villanueva, Secretary General of APRA, said that he had learned that the 

Communists were planning to begin terrorist activity in the cities to coincide with guerrilla 

activity in the country’.876  Following each of these events, the PNP made arrests and began 

to gain an understanding of the ALN.   

ALN and MIR operatives robbed the Banco de Credito in the La Molina district of Lima on 

16 July to provide funding to the guerrillas in the field.  They initially escaped with 365,000 

Soles (approximately $100,000.00 in 1965).  However, the Civil Guard arrested Jorge Nako 
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the same day with part of the money.  He provided the officers with information that led to a 

police raid on a safehouse where they arrested Luis Alberto Arana and confiscated the 

getaway car, weapons, and dynamite.877  It is unknown what happened with the remainder of 

the money, but the investigation provided the PNP with the information they needed to arrest 

most of the ALN members.  The Lima news magazine Presente Nacional speculated that the 

group was responsible for two earlier bank robberies in Lima.878  The police never captured 

Hector Cordero, also known as Comrade Pedro, a close confidant of De la Puente and 

suspected planner of the robberies.879  However, after the raid on the safehouse, the ALN did 

not conduct any other operations, the PNP had successfully dismantled the group. 

The capital city was relatively quiet until October when the information reached the city that 

De la Puente was dead.  In response, the MIR established the Milicias Urbanas Luis de la 

Puente (Urban Militia of Luis de la Puente) to begin a bombing campaign in Lima to 

continue the fight against the Peruvian government.880  Ricardo Gadea, the brother-in-law to 

Che Guevara, commanded the cell, which the CIA considered an ‘urban terrorist militia’.881  

They had a training camp called ‘Ancalayo’ located in a remote area east of Lima near 

Huancayo in the Junin region to train, plan, and prepare for operations.882  The PNP 

subsequently identified and surveilled the location.  The first attack occurred on 29 October 

at the home of Augusto Wiese and the Center for Reeducation.  La Prensa reported, ‘The 

bombs caused slight damage.  Almost simultaneously, this newspaper received a call from a 

self-styled member of the urban militia of the Movement of the Revolutionary Left, which 

said that these terrorist acts are the prelude of the revolutionary war in the city’.883  This 

bombing was the urban militia’s only attack during 1965.  The PNP investigated the incident 

and began to gather evidence that would allow them to dismantle the cell as they had the 

ALN. 
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Gadea’s cell accelerated its bombing campaign in the new year.  On the early morning of 2 

January, operatives exploded two bombs in the lower-class neighbourhood called San Luis.  

The frontpage story in La Prensa showed a picture of fourteen-year-old Dominica Pena 

Ricse, one of the explosions had permanently disfigured her face.  The police stated they 

thought the MIR intended to use the bombs to start a fire in the neighbourhood.884  On the 

evening of 10 January, the cell attacked five separate locations with bombs, including 

military sites, the homes of high-level government officials, and the residence of the 

Venezuelan Embassy.  The bombs injured one baby and two young children but did not result 

in any deaths.885  The following day, the PIP director Javier Campos Montoya announced that 

they detained six suspects, four of whom are university students and the other two workers 

from Surquillo.886  The results of these bombings bring into question the strategic aim of the 

MIR’s urban campaign.  Assuming they did not intend to attack and injure children, one must 

conclude that the cell’s operational capability did not meet its aspirations. 

On Sunday, 16 January 1966, the MIR cell destroyed the vehicle of the editor of Caretas, a 

Lima-based weekly news magazine.  In the early evening, Enrique Zileri Gibson worked at 

his home in the upscale Lima neighbourhood called San Isidro.  Meanwhile, MIR operatives 

quietly installed a bomb on his car that he had parked along the street outside.  The bomb 

exploded later that evening but did not result in any injuries or fatalities.887  Ironically in the 

final issue of Caretas in 1965, Zileri had named De la Puente ‘Man of the Year for Peru’ 

alongside Pope Paul VI, who took the honour for the world.  They gave De la Puente the 

award because he was the most influential person in Peru that year.888  However, Zileri’s 

magazine took a hard stance against the violence of the New Left, and this drew the enmity of 

the remaining MIR members.  The 20 January edition of Caretas had a picture of the 

destroyed vehicle on the cover.  On page 14, Zileri published an oped that read, ‘We are, in 

truth, in the middle of a small wave (17 bombs in the last five weeks) produced by the MIR’.  

He went on to denounce the café Marxists and thank the journalist community in Lima for 

their outpouring of support.889  The leftist weekly magazine Oiga offered an alternative view 
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of the bombing and questioned the motivation of the MIR in attacking the person who just 

named De le Puente ‘Man of the Year’.  They suggested that the attackers could have been 

from several different groups and cautioned, ‘The Police should investigate, capture, and 

punish the author, or authors, of the attack, whomever they are’.890  Despite this impassioned 

defence, all of the evidence point towards MIR’s urban militia.  The police continued to 

investigate, and they gained vital intelligence that would allow them to disrupt the cell. 

The cell continued to prepare for future attacks in Lima.  On 20 January, the PIP announced 

that it had evidence that they could attribute the recent bombings to the MIR, including that 

attack against Zileri.  They also reminded the public that the MIR had distributed propaganda 

leaflets stating that they would ‘initiate a series of reprisals’ for the death of their leaders.891  

The cell conducted an attack on 18 February when they placed five bombs at various 

locations across Lima focused on military and economic targets.  The bombs did not produce 

any casualties.892  Three days later, the CIA reported, ‘Eight sticks of dynamite with a fuse 

detonator were discovered on 21 February in the garden of the Colombian residence, but 

were safely removed by police’.893  During the ensuing investigation, the PIP obtained 

evidence that allowed them to capture cell members, and in turn, dismantle the cell.  In early 

April, the PIP arrested the cell leader Ricardo Gadea, who was by then the senior MIR leader 

in the country.  He provided information that led to the raid of two safehouses, one in El 

Ermitano neighbourhood, and the second at kilometre 4 of Canta Road.  At these locations, 

the PIP arrested Luciano Murrugarra, Angel Valverde, Silvio Horna, Filiberto Ramos, and 

Alonso Falcon Campos along with discovering eighty-seven homemade perro caliente (hot 

dog) bombs.  The PIP Director stated that the bombs would not have been harmful and were 

meant to scare and that the MIR planned to use them on 24 and 30 April to protest the war in 

Vietnam.894  This ended the attack cell’s activities and the MIR’s participation in the New 

Left’s revolutionary movement. 

No previous author has emphasized the activities of the MIR’s Central Committee, the urban 

front, and its attack cell.  Gadea’s Lima-based attack cell and its actions were critical 
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components to the MIR’s plans for a revolution in Peru.  In the words of its spokesman, the 

attacks were ‘the prelude of the revolutionary war in the city’.895  However, this would not 

come to fruition.  Like how the security forces responded to the rural fronts, the Peruvian 

security forces quickly penetrated the organization and arrested the operatives once they 

exposed themselves in the conduct of the bank robberies and bombings.  The urban front was 

well organized and employed a cellular structure to maintain security and remain hidden from 

the Police.  However, once they commenced operations, they left behind a trail of evidence 

that led to their downfall. 

Conclusion 

In December 1965, the MIR claimed they had met their initial objectives of the revolution.  

These included: ‘To survive by establishing themselves in the countryside, obtaining control 

of land in certain territorial zones, evading attempts at encirclements, and striking blows 

against the mercenaries of the Oligarchy’.896  Despite this optimistic view, by March 1966, 

the security forces had dismantled all three rural fronts and the urban militia.  A CIA report 

read, ‘The Peruvian government’s recent successes against guerrillas of the Movement of the 

Revolutionary Left (MIR) has caused serious disarray in the MIR organization.  Insurgency is 

now so limited that most of the army troops have returned to their barracks’.  The report 

concluded, ‘The MIR will undoubtedly have to go through a lengthy period of retrenchment 

and reorganization before it can again operate effectively’.897  In a 1967 interview, a former 

MIR operative reflected, ‘In the first place it is necessary to establish with absolute clarity 

that the revolution is a process, that it is an uneven and complicated phenomenon that 

develops in the middle of ups and downs, ebbs and flows, advances and regresses’.  He 

continued, ‘The term defeat is not the most just, we prefer to call it a setback’.898  The group 

was never able to reconstitute its military arm.  However, as I will show in the conclusion, the 

MIR was partially responsible for the 1968 coup d’état that brought major economic, social, 

and political change in Peru. 
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This chapter reviewed the elements of the MIR’s insurrection against the government of Peru 

in the 1960s.  While Leon Campbell’s four explanations for the guerrilla’s failure are each 

partially valid, I advance the literature with new primary sources that confirm Jonathan 

Brown’s assertion that the guerrillas were no match for the army, which shows that even if 

the guerrillas had not made fundamental mistakes, the government forces still would have 

defeated them.  All three rural fronts received substantial support from the local population in 

their respective areas.  Gott’s assertion that the Peruvian security forces were not aware of the 

existence of Gonzalo Fernandez’s northern front in the northeastern most department called 

Piura along the border with Ecuador before the 1965 commencement of hostilities has been 

definitively proven false by newly released documents.  These Peruvian intelligence 

documents show that the security forces were tracking Fernandez’s group in early 1964.  This 

understanding was critical for the army to conduct precise counterguerrilla operations that 

forced the northern front to retreat across the border to Ecuador.  Secondly, MIR leader 

Ricardo Gadea’s attack cell, along with the Central Committee and the urban front in Lima, 

has been curiously excluded by most writers and observers of these events.  However, the 

events provide critical support for the argument that the military means defeated the MIR.  

The cell began a bombing campaign upon learning of the death of De la Puente, the overall 

leader of the MIR, in October 1965.  The cell was able to cause havoc in the capital city, but 

the National Police quickly investigated and arrested the cell members.  This also adds to 

Brown’s argument and expands it to the National Police and shows how it had the capability 

to dismantle urban insurgent groups.  My international multi-archival research is vital to 

furthering the knowledge of the MIR’s insurgency and challenges the orthodox explanations 

of the failed Peruvian guerrilla experiment. 
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Conclusion 

The chapters herein have told the story of a tragic period in Peruvian history.  There is much 

blame on both the side of the government, as well as the guerrillas.  Ultimately, the Oligarchy 

‘won’.  President Belaunde prematurely concluded in 1966, ‘We have beaten the Communists 

once and for all.  We are sure they won’t be back’.899  Nevertheless, finite terms such as 

‘beat’, ‘success’, ‘winning’, ‘victory’, and ‘defeat’ do not tell the entire story.  Many innocent 

civilians were caught in the middle and suffered human rights abuse or death.  Fortunately, 

some of the Peruvian commanders, such as Lieutenant Colonel Enrique Gallegos in La 

Convencion, were clever and flexible enough to employ all the facets of counterinsurgency to 

isolate the guerrillas and conduct precise counterguerrilla operations without having to resort 

to repressive measures.  During the 1960s, the New Left attempted six mini insurgencies 

against the Peruvian government in an effort to change the socio-economic and political 

landscape of the country.  I distilled key points from each episode through the re-

interpretation of available primary and secondary sources, as well as the incorporation of 

previously unexamined documents.  This conclusion will look at agency, religious factors, 

the role of females, and then survey each of the four orthodox explanations for the guerrilla 

failure in turn and challenge their importance, and then argue that it was the Peruvian security 

force’s competence, not the guerrilla’s incompetence, that created the results. 

The question of agency, that is, the capacity to act without external control, warrants more in-

depth discussion here.  Many of the New Left revolutionaries were adept at securing 

international, national, and local support, yet when it came time to execute operations, they 

retained agency at the tactical level.  Hugo Blanco fought with the Trotskyist movement over 

strategy and tactics, yet in the end, used tactics as he saw fit in La Convencion and Lares.  

Fidel Castro withheld support from Blanco because of his political orientation.  However, it is 

doubtful the Cubans had the capability to assist him even if they wanted to, especially 

considering Hector Bejar’s failed attempt to infiltrate Peru and come to Blanco’s aid in 1963.  

Bejar’s National Liberation Army (ELN) was Castro’s and Ernesto Guevara’s favourite 

group and received extensive support and guidance.  Even so, once they returned to Peru, 

ELN leaders were free to make their own decisions.  Luis de la Puente’s Movement of the 

Revolutionary Left (MIR) case is a bit more complicated.  De la Puente was not a communist, 

and therefore Castro did not trust him.  The MIR leader showed he could be pragmatic and 
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adjusted his position numerous times to secure international support.  In the end, the MIR 

commanders employed a hybrid strategy that neither the Chinese nor the Cubans would have 

approved.  Finally, many individual members of the communist parties in Bolivia, Chile, 

Ecuador, and Peru demonstrated agency when they supported Peruvian revolutionaries 

through individual acts of solidarity against the direction of party leadership. 

For the Peruvian government’s part, they did accept a significant amount of aid and training 

from the US yet retained agency in the execution of the counterinsurgency operation in the 

1960s.  The Peruvian Ministry of War limited the US Embassy to receiving reports via its 

Army attaché.  Many authors cite Marchetti’s and Marks’ assertion that US Army Special 

Forces personnel participated in the counterinsurgency from a mini-Fort Bragg in the jungle.  

Chapter three of this dissertation shows that the US Aid for International Development, 

Office of Public Safety, built this base for the Peruvian Special Police Emergency Unit 

(SPEU).  The SPEU was meant to be a counterinsurgency capability but was not ready in 

time for operations against the ELN and MIR.  Moreover, Walter makes a convincing case 

that US personnel were not involved in planning and executing counterinsurgency operations.  

Concerning CIA involvement, he interviewed Ambassador Jones, who stated he had ‘a very 

good relationship with my CIA chief … and was kept informed of all principal plans and 

actions and projects that were going to be developed and carried out in a covert manner’.900  

In an interview with Lust, Ramon Miranda, a former Peruvian Army Lieutenant Colonel, 

stated, ‘the CIA participated always’ but does not provide any supporting evidence.901  

Perhaps the most compelling reason concerning the credibility of the non-US involvement 

argument is that in a similar conflict in Bolivia in 1967, when the Bolivian Army, whom the 

US Army and CIA directly supported and advised, killed Guevara, the US government did 

not keep its involvement a secret.  Therefore, it is difficult to conclude that the US 

government would, in the case of Peru.  A final point is that the Peruvian Army and President 

Fernando Belaunde domestic political opposition put him under significant pressure to fight 

the guerrillas so it is unlikely that he would have been influenced by US Embassy personnel. 

Religion in Peru is wide-ranging and profoundly ingrained in politics and society.  As Jeffery 

Klaiber shows, ‘Religion and politics are so deeply intertwined in Peru that government 

officials automatically seek the support of the church in order to win religious legitimacy, 

 
900 Walter, Peru and the United States, p. 77. 
901 Interview with Ramon Miranda in Lust, Lucha revolucionaria Perú, p. 432 Spanish version: ‘la CIA ha 
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without which their political influence would be seriously limited’.902  Sociologist Milagros 

Pena identified the roots of liberation theology in the insurgent activities of the 1960s, but did 

not explore it in-depth.903  Of the political thinkers and guerrilla leaders, only Bejar eschewed 

religion as a contributing aspect to the revolution.  While religious leaders did not provide 

active support to the revolutionaries, Padre Donato Lecuona provided food and shelter to 

Guillermo Lobaton’s men in Satipo, perhaps under coercion, and did not report the guerrilla’s 

presence to the security forces.  Some religious people took notice as the insurgent activity 

drew attention to the socio-economic conditions in the Andes.  Father Salomon Bolo Hidalgo 

was the leader of the National Liberation Front, which Carlos Astiz described as a ‘pro-

Castro organization’.904  In 1963, Bolo wrote, ‘I consider that it is absolutely necessary for 

the clergy to place themselves on the side of the peasants, on the side of the unprotected and 

the forgotten, instead of prostituting themselves before grants spotted with blood’.905  He was 

a harsh critic of the Church hierarchy and its support of the Oligarchy, and Church leaders 

forced him underground for his actions.  In 1966, Romeo Luna Victoria, a Jesuit priest and 

university professor wrote Ciencia y Practica de la Revolucion (Science and Practice of the 

Revolution), which was a manual of strategy and tactics.  He argued that not only was it 

acceptable for Catholics to engage in social revolution, but it was also their duty.906  Father 

Gustavo Gutierrez distilled these ideas into liberation theology in 1971, which held that the 

church should engage in political activism to improve the lives of the oppressed.  While 

Camilo Torres, a Catholic priest, and Colombian National Liberation Army commander, was 

the most well know practitioner of the doctrine during the 1960s in Latin America, Peru’s 

revolutionaries also hold a prominent position in its development.  

Most of the females who appear in these pages were relegated to supporting roles.  However, 

although they were few, they made a significant impact on revolutionary activities.  A notable 

example is Hilda Gadea, who influenced Ernesto Guevara’s early thinking on the integration 

of religion and revolution in Latin America.  There were only four female fighters in the rural 

fronts.  All of them were locally recruited and very young, ranging from thirteen to seventeen 

years old.  Other females filled critical roles providing logistical support, often at extreme 
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904 Astiz, Pressure Groups and Power Elites, p. 183; Also see, SIN report, ‘Infiltración en el Campo Laboral y 

Campesinado’, 15 May 1965, p. 7, JNE, 1960s file. 
905 Translated in Astiz, Pressure Groups and Power Elites, p. 184. 
906 Astiz, Pressure Groups and Power Elites, p. 185; Dan McCurry, ‘U.S. Church-Financed Missions in Peru’, 

in Sharp (ed.), U.S. Foreign Policy and Peru, p. 385. 
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personal risk.  In the rural areas, they tended to the children of the guerrillas and provided 

supplies and communications.  In Lima, and in the international cells, they provided food, 

shelter, and transportation, as well as ideological support through liaison with news outlets.  

The Peruvian government detained many of the wives and girlfriends of the guerrillas and 

imprisoned them without a trial.  These aspects of the conflict necessitate further research 

that could illuminate the indispensable contribution of these revolutionaries. 

The primary argument that previous authors have employed to explain the events of the 

1960s was the ideological differences of the Peruvian Left.  This theme is present throughout 

this dissertation and is certainly worth looking at here.  The Soviets openly committed to 

supporting Wars of National Liberation, but their actions were not congruent with their 

rhetoric.  They could ill afford another Cuba in the region and did not desire to be so 

provocative in America’s backyard.  Instead, they ordered the Muscovite Peruvians to work 

through legal and democratic methods towards their desired outcomes.  The Cubans, as well 

as the Czechs, supported most anti-US groups regardless of whether they were communist, 

Trotskyist, or non-communist anti-imperialists.  However, the ELN was Castro’s and 

Guevara’s preferred group because of its close ideological alignment with the Cuban 

Revolution.  The Chinese also supported any group that was willing to use violence to initiate 

political change.  Ego was a factor and contributed to many of the rifts between the 

charismatic and influential leaders of the Peruvian Left, and most of them were genuinely 

committed to their respective places on the political spectrum.  As was shown throughout this 

dissertation, the infighting occurred in the party halls and coffee shops of Lima to meeting 

places in Trujillo and Cusco to the guerrilla camps in the Andes and the Amazon basin.  At 

times these disparate groups came together and set aside their differences to form alliances; at 

other times, they figuratively stabbed one another in the back.  As early as February 1964, 

Mao Zedong identified this issue and implored the Peruvian Left to unite.  Moreover, in 1965 

the Peruvian Investigations Police determined, ‘For the moment, none of the national parties 

of the extreme left has an upcoming leader with the capacity to unite all of the left’.907  This 

brings one to consider the counterfactual that if the Left, or even just the New Left, could 

have united, would they have been strong enough to overthrow the Peruvian government?  To 

which, I give an emphatic no.  Therefore, while it is essential to understand the political 

 
907 PIP report, ‘Sobre no existencia de Guerra de guerrilla en el País’, 4 June 1965, p. 4, JNE, 1960s file. 
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differences and disparities among the political parties and insurgent groups, this is not the 

critical factor in their failure to topple the government. 

The second common explanation for the failure is that the guerrillas did not secure the 

support of the population.  While this is accurate, it merits unpacking.  Hugo Blanco was the 

most successful person in regards to building rapport and support among the population in 

Cusco.  His mother was indigenous to the area, and he spoke fluent Quechua, deeply cared 

for the peasants, and toiled with them on the haciendas before becoming a syndicate leader.  

Blanco developed a method to incrementally increase their awareness to build animosity 

towards the landowners and the government.  Everything was going according to plan when 

he turned to violence and, worse, employed revolutionary justice against the locals.  These 

miscalculations coincided with the masterful counterinsurgency strategy employed by 

Gallegos when he incorporated psychological operations and civic action with intelligence 

collection to enable a precision counterguerrilla operation and captured Blanco.  

Unfortunately, other Peruvian Army commanders did not replicate Gallegos’ methods and 

resorted to repressive techniques.  The four rural fronts that the MIR and ELN established in 

1965 all had some level of success in winning over the local population in their respective 

areas.  Many have asserted that the locals respected Lobaton the most because he had dark 

skin, and they did not consider him as much of an outsider as the mestizo or white 

revolutionaries.  Lobaton was successful in building rapport with Andean peasants in the 

central highlands as well as the Campas Indians in the Amazon basin.  Across the four rural 

fronts, there are countless examples of locals providing passive and direct support, as well as 

taking up arms and fighting with the guerrillas.  Hector Bejar insisted that there was no better 

recruitment tool than a local fighter imploring his brothers to join the cause.  Regardless of 

the amount of support the guerrillas engendered, it could not withstand the pressure of the 

security forces.  As Jonathon Brown concluded, ‘The Peruvian case of 1965 points out that an 

army well prepared and well-disposed to confront the guerrilla foco can destroy the potential 

of the guerrilla to garner support among the Campesinos’.908  Whether it was through 

psychological operations, civic action ploys, intelligence tricks, brutal, repressive means, or 

even torture, the tenacity of the Peruvian counterinsurgency forces overcame the protection 

that the local population could have provided to the insurgents.  

 
908 Brown, Cuba’s Revolutionary World, p. 339. 
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Leon Campbell described the third explanation, ‘the Peruvian guerrillas displayed confusion 

about the exact nature of the society which they were attacking, as well as a 

misunderstanding of the Cuban and Chinese models for guerrilla warfare which they 

professed to follow’.909  Moreover, Edgardo Mercado Jarrin, a Peruvian Army general who 

went on to be the Minister of Foreign Affairs in 1968, wrote: 

‘The solidarity of communism has suffered notably as a result of the number of groups, the 

ideological conflict between Moscow and Peking, the differences between Fidel Castro and the 

orthodox parties of Latin America regarding tactics to be used, the lack of doctrinal and directional 

unity, and the diversity of the support’.910 

These arguments are important to scholarly understanding of the events.  However, there is a 

significant counterargument.  David Chaplin has shown how the Popular Alliance of 

American Revolution (APRA) insulated ‘Peru’s industrial proletariat from communist 

influence’.911  Furthermore, the Peruvian Communist Party (PCP) had firm control over the 

students in left-leaning universities.  The Cuban myth of the guerrilla aside, ELN and MIR 

leaders understood this and attempted to make in-roads with the industrial workers as well as 

university students in the urban areas to garner support from these segments of society.  

Additionally, many ELN and MIR documents show that the leadership knew that the 

objective and subjective conditions did not exist in Peru in 1964, but they believed, as the 

Cubans had taught them, they could create these conditions through action.  To date, no 

author has examined the five-rural guerrilla fronts in Peru on a case by case basis.  In doing 

so, I discovered that the respective leaders of each mini insurgency were well versed in the 

Chinese and Cuban models of revolutionary warfare.  Moreover, they did as Mao Zedong had 

recommended in his writings and used this knowledge to develop a specific strategy for the 

situations in which they found themselves.  Regis Debray has been the most virulent critic of 

Peruvian guerrilla tactics and has blamed the defeat on the use of ‘security zones’.912  

However, only Luis de la Puente and Ruben Tupayachi’s southern front used this method in 

Mesa Pelada, where they believed that had a location that was so remote and rugged that it 

was impenetrable to the security forces.  In the central highlands, Lobaton’s element would 

stand and fight when they could and then move to secondary and tertiary positions to prevent 

direct engagement with the military.  In La Mar, Hector Bejar followed the Cuban theory 

closely and constantly moved using their familiarity with the terrain to evade the security 
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forces.  In the end, the Peruvian Army defeated each of these tactics, which illuminates 

weakness in the theoretician’s critique from the outside.  Ironically, the Bolivian security 

forces captured Debray as he violated the principals he espoused in his writing.   

Finally, national political events and local-level politics in the Andes coincided with the rise 

of the guerrillas and tamped down some of the angst among the population.  Campbell 

explained: 

‘The belief of many Peruvians that Belaunde’s politics represented an emerging new order was 

reinforced by the passage of a moderate agrarian reform bill which may have considerably eased 

peasant discontent and thereby prevented the subjective conditions favorable to a guerrilla war from 

materializing between 1963 and 1965’.913 

The cycle of hope amongst the peasant population during Belaunde’s campaign and early 

presidency and the legal changes mitigated the rural people’s desire to revolt.  Moreover, 

journalist Luis Mercier noted that in 1965, ‘President Belaunde’s popularity was not at the 

time entirely used up and there was still a reserve of confidence in his agrarian, housing and 

social reform programme’.914  Bejar and his inner circle understood this and specifically 

chose La Mar because the government had not undertaken land reform in that area.  The MIR 

acknowledged the agrarian reform measures taken in rural Peru but did not believe that it was 

enough.915  However, the Campesinos proved the MIR wrong in Mesa Pelada when they 

seemed content with the current situation and failed to revolt against the government.  The 

Peruvian military’s civic action projects may have appeased some.  However, it is not very 

easy to determine the level of impact of the development projects on the local population.  

This line of explanation ties back to the second and third discussed above and may have been 

more about guerrilla strategy and winning over the population.  Eric Hobsbawm, a critic of 

the Cuban inspired insurgencies, argued: 

‘With the emergence of the Indians into political visibility in the 1960s, the parameters of Peruvian 

politics changed.  For the first time, the rumblings of the social volcano had to be taken seriously: it 

had shown it could erupt.  At the same time, the possibility of bypassing the political system now 

existed, and with it the possibility of hauling Peru out of its state of backward dependence, an aim 

with which all except the Oligarchy sympathized’.916  

He went on to state, ‘The Peruvian generals were and are afraid of a social revolution that one 

day might be led by the left, for – as Bejar also shows – the potential peasant support for 
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insurrection was substantial’.917  In response, the Revolutionary Government of the Armed 

Forces (1968-1980) ‘transferred more than 9.5 million hectares of land to more than 370,000 

Peruvian families’.918  Despite this massive land redistribution, the Shining Path terrorist 

group (1970-1993) employed the Chinese people’s protracted war revolutionary strategy and 

almost toppled the government.  Considering this, it is difficult to conclude that Belaunde’s 

charm and limited reform had a significant impact on Campesino discontent.   

The above four points are not without merit, and while they each contribute a partial reason 

for the guerrilla defeat, there is room for additional explanation.  I argue that the Peruvian 

security forces were responsible for the defeat of the FIR, MIR, and ELN.  Before Brown, 

only a few authors made vague references to this theme, while the majority disregarded the 

effectiveness of the military.  In 1966, the Peruvian Ministry of War released an eighty-six-

page document that described the government’s response to the MIR and ELN.  Apparently 

written by military officers, the congratulatory tone does heap praise on the army and offers 

the only argument that the military defeated the insurgents.  Surprisingly, retired Peruvian 

Army General Armando Artola Azcarate’s does not take the opportunity to trumpet the 

success of the army in his book about the conflict.  Campbell only devotes one sentence to 

this idea in his historiography of the events.  Bejar concedes, ‘The ELN’s guerrilla unit, like 

all the others operating that year, did not possess these qualities to the degree required to 

overcome the inevitable problems and face a large, well-trained enemy force’.919  However, 

this did not prevent him from advising future guerrilla leaders how to overcome the four 

orthodox explanations in an effort to topple the government.  Brown shows that ‘The White 

House, though distracted by the Vietnam War, had been keeping track of the guerrilla 

problems in Latin America’.920  For example, US National Security Council Staffer William 

Bowdler understood the importance of this theme and wrote to President Johnson, ‘Peru’s 

record in dealing with insurgency at the incipient stage is the best in the hemisphere’.921  The 

Peruvian government’s success can be explained by four factors. 

The first factor was that the Peruvian Army possessed a formidable counterinsurgency 

capability in 1965.  In fact, the guerrillas could not have chosen a worse time to begin their 
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insurrection, and while they were able to outmatch the rural Civil Guard detachments, they 

could not withstand the full force of the military.  I explained the development of this 

capability in chapter three and the employment of the operations in chapters four and five.  

The second factor was the national, army, and police intelligence service’s ability to penetrate 

and understand the insurgent groups.  While this occurred in all six of the mini insurgencies, 

the penetrations were most notable in the southern, northern, and Lima fronts.  Heretofore, 

unexamined documents from the national and police intelligence services clearly show the 

extent of the Peruvian government’s knowledge of the rural and urban elements.  The third 

factor was the integration of civic action and psychological operations into the 

counterinsurgency strategy.  When commanders used these adjuncts efficiently, they were 

able to conduct precise counterguerrilla operations and minimize collateral damage.  The 

final factor was that Peruvian government officials, military commanders, and individual 

soldiers willingly violated international norms and laws in their haste to defeat the guerrillas.  

This led them to use repressive counterinsurgency techniques such as torture, extrajudicial 

imprisonment and killings, and indiscriminate aerial bombing with both conventional 

munitions as well as napalm.  If the widespread allegations of these crimes were not true, one 

must wonder, why the government did not demonstrate transparency by allowing the press or 

international observers such as the Red Cross or Amnesty International into the conflict 

zones.  While the guerrillas are not without blame, there is no legal or moral justification for 

the government’s use of these methods, even if they were effective.  

The final question that remains is whether any good emerged from this conflict?  From a 

regional standpoint, Brown shows that ‘Within two decades of Castro’s victory speech in 

Santiago de Cuba, the vast majority of Latin American citizens lived under dictatorship’.922  

In this view, it is not possible to consider the spread of the Cuban Revolution a success.  In 

March 1966, the CIA wrote, ‘With the insurgency problem well under control, the 

government hopes to be able to concentrate its resources and attention more fully on socio-

economic reform and development programs’.923  This did happen to an extent, but domestic 

political pressure and divisive issues such as the controversial International Petroleum 

Company’s land and mineral rights, led to the 1968 coup d’état, which ousted Belaunde and 

placed the military in charge of the government for the next twelve years.  The Velasco 

regime distanced itself from the US and built a close relationship with the Soviets.  Many 
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have argued that some of the Peruvian military officers involve in the guerrilla conflict of the 

1960s came away with an appreciation of the poor condition of the country outside of the 

prosperous areas in Lima and a few other cities.924  This may have engendered empathy 

among the officer corps and support for Velasco’s massive land reforms, and other attempts 

to improve the socio-economic system, so that is was fair for all.  Unfortunately, these actions 

did not do enough to prevent the Shining Path from mobilizing much of the population 

against the government.  This dissertation examined the New Left’s insurrection in 1960s 

Peru and the government’s response to provide scholars with a case study of 

counterinsurgency strategy and techniques.  I hope to have made a timely and original 

contribution to the existing corpus of Latin America’s Cold War historiography. 
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